


Caution regarding forward-looking statements

From time to time, National Bank of Canada makes written and oral forward-looking statements, included in this Annual Report,
in other filings with Canadian regulators or the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, in reports to shareholders, in press
releases and in other communications. All such statements are made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of the United
States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include, among others, statements
with respect to the economy, market changes, the achievement of strategic objectives, certain risks as well as statements with
respect to our beliefs, plans, expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions. These forward-locking statements are
typically identified by the werds "may,” "could,” "should,” "would,” "suspect,” “outlook,” "believe,” "anticipate,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” "plan,” and words and expressions of similar import.

By their very nature, such forward-looking statements require us to make assumptions and involve inherent risks and uncertainties,
both general and specific. There is significant risk that express or implied projections contained in such statements wilt not
materialize or will not be accurate. A number of factors could cause actual future results, conditions, actions or events to differ
materially from the targets, expectations, estimates or intentions expressed in the forward-looking statements. Such differences
may be caused by factors, many of which are beyond the Bank’s control, which include, but are not limited to, changes in
Canadian and/or global economic and financial conditions [particularly fluctuations in interest rates, currencies and other
financial instruments], liquidity, market trends, regulatory developments and competition in geographic areas where the Bank
operates, technological changes, consolidation in the Canadian financial services sector, the possible impact on our businesses
of international conflicts and other developments including those relating to the war on terrorism and the Bank's anticipation
of and success in managing the risks implied by the foregoing.

The Bank cautions that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. Investors and others who base themselves on
the Bank's forward-looking statements should carefully consider the above factors as well as the uncertainties they represent
and the risk they entail. The Bank therefore cautions readers not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
The Bank does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements, whether written or oral, that may be made from time
to time by or on behalf of the Bank.

.

Communication with Shareholders This Annual Report is published by the Public Relations

For information about stock transfers, address changes, dividends,
lost stock certificates, tax forms and estate transfers, shareholders
are requested to contact the Transfer Agent, National Bank Trust Inc.,
at the address or telephone numbers opposite.

Other shareholder inquiries

can be addressed to:

Investor Relations

Nationat Bank of Canada

National Bank Tower

600 de La Gauchetiere West, 7th Floor
Montreal, Quebec H3B 4L2
Telephone: (514) 394-0294

Fax: [514) 394-6196

E-mail: investorrelations@nbc.ca
Website: www.nbc.cafinvestorrelations

Department, National Bank of Canada.

Design and Theme
€G3 inc. | Communications | Graphisme

Photography
Carl Lessard Photographe, 2M2

Printing
Transcontinentat Litho Acme

Legal Deposit

4th quarter 2004

Bibliothéque nationale du Québec
Printed in Canada

ISBN 2-921835-37- 1

Head Office

National Bank Tower

600 de La Gauchetiére West
Montreal, Quebec H3B 4L2
Canada

Pour obtenir un exemnplaire de la version francaise
du rapport annuel, veuillez vous adresser a :
Service des relations publiques

Banque Nationale du Canada

600, rue de La Gauchetiére Ouest, 10e étage
Montréal (Québec] H3B 4L.2

Canada




Highlights

L

NATIONAL
BANK
OF CANADA

oIala
L \J \J

P B

=
: Percentage
' change
' 2004 2003 2004/2003
OPERATING RESULTS -
{miliions of dotlars) .
Total revenues : 3,549 - 3,362 6
Total revenues [taxable equivalent basis)i! 3,657 3,459 b
Net income 725 624 16
Return on common shareholders’ equity 18.8 % 16.5 %
PER COMMON SHARE
Net earnings
Basic $ 410 3.37 22
Dituted 4,05 3.34 21
Dividends declared 1.42 1.08 31
Book value 22.87 21.32 7
Stock trading range )
High _ $ 4878 41,19
Low ) : A 4017 29.95
Close o 48.78 40.91
FINANCIAL POSITION
{millions of dollars) : :
Total assets 88,807 84,931 5
Loans and acceptances 44,574 41,715 7
Deposits o 53,432 51,463 4
Subordinated debentures and shareholders ‘equity 5612 - 5,613 -
Capital ratios - BIS ’
Tier 1 i ; 9.6 % 9.6 %
Total ' A : 13.0 % 13.4 %
Impaired loans, net of specific and general allowances (190) (154)
As a percentage of loans and acceptances {0.4)% [0.40% -
Interest coverage 12.61 ©10.22
Asset coverage 3.42 3.19
OTHER INFORMATION
Number of common shares at end of year {thousands/ 167,430 174,620
Number of common shareholders of record 26,961 27,865
Number of employees 16,555 16,935 {2)
Number of branches in Canada 462 477 (3}
Number of banking machines 770 817 (6)

{1} See "Financial Reporting Method ™ on page 14,
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Message from the Chairman of the Board

As this is my first time addressing you as Chairman of the Board, | would tike to begin by thanking the
shareholders for the confidence they showed in me by electing me to the Board, and my fellow directors,
who have entrusted me with the honour of presiding over the-Board's activities.

National Bank of Canada had another 6thét'anding yearin 2006, On behalf of all the shareholders, | would
like to congratulate the management and employees of the Bank on their stellar performance.

The year’s resultss‘reve'azl,a bus-ifn‘e‘ss that is performing well
on all fronts. They _a'ls"o'}_pro\/i’de excellent stimulus to the
members of the Board, who are naturally eager to play a role
in the Bank's success. And thi-s'['éa‘ds me to reflect on the Board's
contribution to the Bank, which is contingent on the quality of
the men and women seated around the boardroom table.

Jean Douville, Chairman of the Board
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Message from the Chairman of the Board

The role of a board of directors is twofold. It must safeguard the company’s assets while ensuring compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations and the disclosure of timely, meaningful and accurate financial
information. This fiduciary role is very important, especially in light of the events that have shaken the
business world in recent years. As a result, fiduciary responsibilities are increasingly the subject of tegistation
governing businesses and the standards of sound business practices set by financial industry regulators.
Such statutory and regulatory measures have limited practical value, however, unless they are diligently
applied and overseen by highly qualified directors and officers who possess impeccable integrity.

In addition to this fiduciary role, the Board must ensure the Bank's viability, profitability, sustainability and
development in order to maximize its growth potential and the return to its shareholders. To meet this
challenge, teamwork between Management and the Board—and among the Board members themselves—
is absolutely paramount. ‘

While the personal and professional qualities of individual directors are obviously critical to the Board's
ability to participate meaningfully in reviewing results and determining orientations, so is a good understanding
of the banking industry in general and the issues specific to the Bank. Armed with this knowledge, the
Board can go beyond its basic stewardship obligatians'ar_\d discharge its responsibilities effectively.

Such expertise is not innate. The corporate governance environment has become increasingly complex for
large businesses like the Bank due to new standards and requirements. In addition, the scope of the Bank’s
activities demands that directors possess broad-based knowledge and keen intellectual curiosity.

There are several ways in which the Bank's directors hone their skills and thereby gain the expertise needed
to fulfilt their mandate. They benefit from constructive dialogue with Management during Board meetings.
The meetings also provide an opportunity to speak with business-line officers about their mandates, the
issues they face and their projects. ’

The directors also gain expertise by taking part in the work of the various committees, which undertake
detailed analyses of key areas of the Bank's corporate governance, human resources, financial and risk
management practices.

Finally, the directors benefit from training seminars, where specific aspects of the Bank’s operations are
discussed at length.

! would like to point out the significant contribution that the Bank and its Chief Executive Officer, Réal
Raymond, are making in the area of director education. In partnership with McGill University, the University
of Toronto, and the Institute of Corporate Directors, they. have set up the first French-language training
program for corporate directors. Excellence in corporate governance is more than an obligation for the
Bank; it also greatly facilitates the operational decisions the Bank must make as a business that is particularly
dependent on the accuracy of financial information.

With a well-batanced blend of expertise, experience and knowledge of Bank‘operations, the directors have
the confidence they need to fully carry out their duties. They also feel more committed and ready to work
as a team when the time comes to make decisions.

Infiscal 2004, steps were taken to further strengthen corporate governance at the Bank. Atthe last Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, the minimum number of directors permitted on the Board was therefore reduced
from 15 to 12 and the maximum number was cut from 25 to 18. As at October 31, 2004, there were
15 directors, including 11 independent directors, as defined in securities legislation. A smaller Board means
greater participation by each member, which in turn means more effective teamwork.
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Message from the Chairman of the Board

Furthermore, the new provisions governing the exercisé of stock options by senior officers who are members
of the Executive Committee are designed to be more transparent to shareholders. Among other things,
they provide for five business days’ notice prior to exercising options and a holding period for the shares
acquired. ’

As for the Board's internal governance, a self-assessment process was instituted to ensure even greater
engagement from individual Board members. )

The Board also played a key role in setting the Bank's major orientations, particutarly in capital management
and strategic planning.

With the Bank's excellent profitability and sound risk and balance sheet management of the past few years,
the Board has had the enviable task of deciding how best to provide shareholders with the rewards of their
investment. Decisions concerning frequent and substantial dividend increases and the share repurchase
programs have aimed to preserve a balance between available resources, shareholders’ expectations of
a high return and the Bank's capital requirements, while ensuring continued growth and excellent
capitalization. The 120% return that shareholders have received since October 2001 suggests that the
decisions taken have been the right ones.

The Board's participation in the strategic planning process, meanwhile, has never been as important as it
is today. The Board helps to define the issues, major orientations and action plans of the Bank and its
operating units. It also deals with crucial matters such as information technology and key human resources
orientations and oversees the strict monitoring of strategy deployment.

Finally, the Board carefully studies the regulatory environment in which Canadian financial institutions
operate, including prospective rules concerning mergers between large and smaller institutions. It explores
all scenarios, with or without mergers, so as to be prepared for any outcome.

In 2004, the Bank continued on the upward trajectory begun a few years ago. It increased its profitability,
strengthened its financial base, and achieved excellent results for its shareholders. This performance
speaks to the financial robustness of our organization, the soundness of its business plan and, above all,
the commitment of all concerned to the Bank's success.

As Chairman of the Board, | would like to conclude by thanking my colleagues, and especially the chairs
of the Board committees, for their steadfast support and tremendous work. | would also like to take the
opportunity to thank Suzanne Leclair, Dee Parkinson-Marcoux and Jean Turmel for their dedication to the
Bank and invaluable contribution to the work and deliberations of the Board. Ms. Parkinson-Marcoux
stepped down as a director on December 17, 2004, while Ms. Leclair and Mr. Turmel will not be standing
for re-election.

//MQ‘/{{M%

Jean Douville
Chairman of the Board
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Message from the President and Chief Executive Officer

National Bank had an excetlent year in 2004. Not only did we meet or exceed our financial targets, but we
did so by making significant strides in reatizing the Bank's strategic objectives.

Net income reached $725 million, for an increase of $101 million over 2003 and an 18.8% return on common
shareholders’ equity. Earnings per share, meanwhile, amounted to $4.10, up 22% from 2003.

Over the past few years, the Bank’s results and financial soundness indicators have steadily improved, both
in absolute terms and relative to the industry. This sustained performance has been recognized by financial
markets, as evidenced by the sharp rise in the value of National Bank stock. In fact, from 1999 to 2004,
Nationat Bank’s share price soared 173%, from $17.90 to $48.78. This increase—the largest of any major
Canadian bank by far—resulted from a combination of three factors that determine share price.

e First, our earnings per share grew 80%, from $2.28 in 1999
to $4.10 in 2004,

e Second, our dividend more than doubled, from $0.70 per
share in 1999 to $1.42 in 2004.

e Third, these higher earnings per share and dividends led
to an approximately 50% improvement in the valuation
metrics of the Bank’s stock, with the price/earnings ratio
increasing from 7.9 to 11.9 times earnings per share.

Improving the price/earnings ratio to reach banking industry levels has been a major concern in recent
years, not only because of what it means in immediate terms for shareholders, but also because valuation
metrics reflect market recognition of the quality of current and future performance.



o
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Réal Raymond, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Message from the President and Chief Executive Officer -

The Bank earned this market recognition by diligently pursuing
its strategy of being a super-regional bank with steadfast
professionalism, by working tirelessly to convince investors that
this strategy was the right one and, most lmportantly by delivering
the anticipated results.

Fiscal 2004 provides a perfect illustration of how the Bank has gained the confidence of investors. For the
Bank as a whole, revenues grew a solid 6%, productivity remained in line with that of much larger banks,
and specific allowances for credit losses were reduced by 20%. Because of this ongoing improvement in
credit quality, the Bank was also able to reduce its general allowance by $55 mitlion, adding $0.20 after
tax to earnings per share.

Capitalization, for its part, continued to be excellent, enabling the Bank to reconcile a 31% increase in the
dividend paid during the year, a third share repurchase program for 5% of the Bank’s common stock, and
maintaining a Tier 1 capital ratio near the high end of the target range.

All segments of the Bank contributed to this growth by, increasing their net income. For two of three
segments, revenue growth outpaced the rise in expenses: Moreover, there was generalized improvement
in portfolio quality, reflected in an across-the-board drop in allowances for credit losses and impaired
loans.

More importantly, a link can be drawn between the segment results and our strategic priorities. At Personal
and Commercial, for instance, our partnership strategy for. the delivery of bank products proved very
successful, as seen in the rapid growth in loans made through this distribution channel. On the other hand,
commercial loans to energy sector companies showed solid growth. The Bank sought to maintain its spreads
in the face of fierce competition and low interest rates, and was argely successful in doing so.

In addition, our different networks were very effective in managing the sale of wealth management products,
resulting in increased share of wallet for National Bank and its subsidiaries.

Wealth Management performed very well in fiscal 2004." After a fairly difficult few years, full-service
brokerage made a strong comeback. Furthermore, National Bank Mutual Funds sold through our branches
posted the highest ratio of net inflows to assets under managementin the banking industry and the second
highest among the big fund families. Finally, Private Investment Management, a high-end product that has
given us a strong presence on the discretionary wealth management market, was an unmitigated success.

The performance of the Financial Markets segment was no less impressive. Five years after acquiring First
Marathon, National Bank Financial has risen to become one of Canada’s top-tier investment dealers—
especially in advisory services and merger and acquisition financing—adding to its enviable position in
fixed-income securities and as a distributor of equities. This year's results for the Financial Markets segment
once again showed that the strategy of building a vast, diversified portfolio of activities, where risk is
effectively managed, was the best way to ensure solid medium-term gains with acceptable volatility in the
short term.
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Message from the President and Chief Executive Officer

In summing up the performance of the Bank and its segments, | would say that the efforts of the past few
years have been channelled into bolstering the Bank's profitability and strengthening its balance sheet by
focussing, with considerable success, on its natural pathways to growth.

National Bank has consequently made more than satisfactory progress in a fast-changing financial industry.
In the years ahead, the Bank intends to build on these gains by seeking cut new opportunities even more
proactively. Growth will first be generated from within the organization by making profitable use of our
core competencies. Such opportunities for expansion will more than likely be an extension of the super-
regional bank model that has proved to be such a good fit.

Acquisitions, as part of bank mergers or other projects, could step up the pace of internal growth; however,
as | have said many times, the Bank’s future will hinge on its capacity to deploy its own human and financial
resources in a rigorous and disciplined manner.

The Canadian financial landscape is rich with such opportunities: it is up to the Bank and its subsidiaries
to tap them. Our successes in wealth management and automobile insurance show that there is still plenty
of room for growth in our Quebec core market, where the Bank's reputation, loyal customer base and
extensive resources give it powerful leverage.

We will, of course, be prudent in undertaking any such expansion projects, and the principle of diversifying
risk among several new initiatives will continue to be stringently upheld.

Our unwavering focus on quality customer service has been, and will continue to be, a key factor in our
success. In the next few years, this value, which is shared by all National Bank employees, will be backed
up by major investments that willimprove customer service and our sales capability while yielding efficiency
gains. National Bank has become a truly modern enterprise and intends to remain so in every respect.

In conclusion, | would like to commend my colleagues on the Executive Committee and all personnel for
their dedication to the Bank and its clients. Qur employees are without a doubt our most valuable asset in
achieving our business objectives and they have once again surpassed themselves this year. | would like
to thank all the members of the Board of Directors for their generous support and sound advice. | would
also like to thank Jean Turmel, who has played a crucial rote in shaping the Bank into the institution we
know today. We wish him a long and happy retirement. | would like to especially thank our many long-
standing shareholders who put their trust in the Bank and today are reaping the benefits.

Réal Raymond
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Notes to Readers

Compliance with Canadian securities regulatory standards

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis was prepared in
accordance with the requirements set out in Regulation 51-102
respecting continuous disclosure obligations, which came into
effect on March 30, 2004. While these reguirements do not apply
to the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004, National Bank of
Canada has elected to provide additional disclosure of correspon-
ding information in the Management's Discussion and Analysis

for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004 in order to comply-

immediately with the Regulation and facilitate examination of
interim management reports in 2005,

Caution regarding forward-looking statements

From time to time, National Bank of Canada makes written and
oral forward-looking statements, included in this Annual Report,
in other filings with Canadian regulators or the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission, in reports to shareholders, in press
releases and in other communications. All such statements are
made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of the United

States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These

forward-looking statements include, among others, statements
with respect to the economy, market changes, the achievement
of strategic objectives, certain risks as well as statements with
respect to our beliefs, plans, expectations, anticipations, esti-
mates and intentions. These forward-looking statements are typ-
ically identified by the words “may,” “coutd,” “should,” "would,”
“suspect,” “outlook,” "believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” "plan,” and words and expressions of similar import.

By their very nature, such forward-looking statements require us
to make assumptions and involve inherent risks and uncertain-
ties, both general and specific. There is significant risk that
express or implied projections contained in such statements will
not materialize or will not be accurate. A number of factors could
cause actual future results, conditions, actions or events to differ
materially from the targets, expectations, estimates or intentions
expressed in the forward-locking statements. Such differences
may be caused by factors, many of which are beyond the Bank's
control, which include, but are not limited to, changes in
Canadian and/or global economic and financial conditions {par-
ticutarly fluctuations in interest rates, currencies and other
financial instruments], liquidity, market trends, regulatory devel-
opments and competition in geographic areas where the Bank
operates, technological changes, consolidation in the Canadian
financial services sector, the possible impact on our businesses
of internationat conflicts and other developments including those
relating to the war on terrorism and the Bank’s anticipation of
and success in managing the risks implied by the foregoing.

The Bank cautions that the foregoing list of important factors is
not exhaustive. Investors and others who base themselves on the
Bank's forward-locking statements should carefully consider the
above factors as well as the uncertainties they represent and the
risk they entail. The Bank therefore cautions readers not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The Bank
does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements,
whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time by
or on behalf of the Bank.

Financial reporting method

The consolidated financial statements of the Bank are prepared
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples {GAAP). Unless otherwise stated, all amounts presented in
the Management's Discussion and Analysis are expressed in
Canadian dollars.

The Bank uses certain measurements that do not comply with
GAAP to assess results, Securities regulators require companies
to caution readers that net earnings and any other measurements
adjusted using non-GAAP criteria are not standard under GAAP
and cannot be easily compared with similar measurements used
by other companies. Like many other institutions, the Bank uses
the taxable equivalent basis to calculate net interest income,
other income and income taxes. This calculation method consists
in grossing up certain tax-exempt income (primarily dividends} by
the income tax that would have been otherwise payable. An equiv-
alent amount is added to income taxes. The impact of these
adjustments is reversed under the "Other” heading. This adjust-
ment is necessary in order to perform a uniform comparison of
the return on different assets regardtess of their tax treatment.

Since the beginning of the 2004 fiscal year, the Bank has been
measuring the results of its business segments using actual
losses incurred rather than expected losses. The previous year's
data have been restated in order to compare them with this
year's data. :

Factors that could affect future results

As indicated in the caution regarding forward-looking state-

. ments, the inevitable risks and uncertainties of these state-

ments, whether general or specific, could cause the Bank's actu-
al results to be considerably different from those set out in the
forward-looking statements. Some of these factors are discussed
below. Others, such as credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and other risk factors are discussed under Risk
Management on page 61 of the Annual Report.
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Key factors

General economic and business conditions

in regions where the Bank operates

Although the Bank operates primarily in Canada, it also has busi-
ness operations in the United States and other countries.
Consequently, the economic and business conditions in the geo-
graphic regions where the Bank operates can have an impact on its
revenues. These conditions include short- and long-term interest
rates, inflation, fluctuations in debt securities markets and financial
markets, foreign exchange rates, the strength of the economy and
the extent of the Bank’s business operations in a given country.

Monetary policy

The monetary policies of the Bank of Canada and the Federal Reserve
Board in the United States as well as other interventionist measures
in capital markets have repercussions on the Bank’s revenues.

Variations in the exchange rate and the general level of interest rates-

can impact the Bank’s profitability. The Bank has no control over
changes in monetary policies or in capital market conditions.

Competition

The extent of competition on the markets where the Bank operates
has an impact on its performance. Retaining clients hinges on a
number of factors such as the price of products and services, the
quality of service and changes in the products and services offered.

Legislative and requlatory amendments

Various levels of government and regulatory bodies have intro-
duced regulations intended to protect the interests of the Bank's
clients, employees and shareholders. Amended laws and regula-
tions, including changes in the way they are interpreted or
applied, could have an impact on the Bank in that they may limit
its product or service offering or increase competitors’ capacity
to rival it with their own offering. Failure by the Bank to comply
with applicable laws and regulations may result in sanctions and
fines being levelled against it, which coutd have an unfavourable
impact on the Bank’s financial results and reputation.

Accuracy and completeness of information about clients

and counterparties

The Bank relies on the accuracy and completeness of information
on clients and counterparties. In decisions concerning approval of
credit or ather transactions with clients and counterparties, the Bank
may use information provided by them, including their financial
statements and other financial information. The Bank can also refer
to the statements made by clients and counterparties regarding the
accuracy and completeness of such information and auditors’ reports
with respect to their financial statements. In the event that the
financial statements of its clients or counterparties are misleading
or do not present fairly, in alt material respects, their financial position
or operating results, there could be negative consequences on the
Bank’s revenues.

New products and services to maintain or increase market share

The Bank's capacity to maintain or increase its market share depends,
in part, on the way in which it is able to tailor its products and services
to changing industry standards. Financial services companies are

now under growing pressure in terms of product and service pricing,
which can reduce total revenues. Moreover, adopting new technologies,
including web-based services, in order to modify or adapt products
and services can lead to huge expenses for the Bank.

Acquisitions

The Bank's ability to successfully complete an acquisition is often
conditional on regutatory approval, and the Bank cannot be certain
when or under what conditions, if any, approval witl be given.
Acguisitions can affect future results depending on whether
Management succeeds in integrating the acquired company.

Commercial infrastructure

Third parties provide the essential components of the Bank's
commerciat infrastructure, such as Internet connections and
network access. Interruptions in these or other communication
services provided by third parties can adversely affect the Bank'’s
ability to provide products and services to its clients and to other-
wise conduct business.

Other factors

Other factors that can affect the Bank’s future results include its
ability to recruit and retain key personnel, amendments to tax legis-
tation, unforeseen changes in consumption and savings habits, tech-
nological advances, the potential impact of international conflicts or
natural catastrophes on the Bank’s activities, and the Bank's capac-
ity to foresee and effectively manage the risks associated with these
factors against the backdrop of rigorous risk management.

The Bank cautions readers that other factors in addition to those
indicated above could have an impact on its future results. When
relying on forward-looking statements to make decisions con-
cerning the Bank, investors and other stakeholders should care-
fully consider these factors and all other uncertainties, potential
events and industry-related or particular factors at the Bank that
could negatively affect the future results of the Bank. The Bank
will not update forward-looking statements, be they written or
oral, that may be made from time to time by the Bank or on its behalf.

Additional disclosure

Additional information about National Bank of Canada, including
the Annual Information Form, can be obtained from the SEDAR
website at www.sedar.com and the Bank's website at www.nbc.ca.
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OBJECTIVES
AND RESULTS

Profitability
well over target

In its 2003 Annual Report, National Bank published its financial
objectives for fiscal 2004. The targets were set so as to create an
attainable challenge given the prevailing context and ‘the

organization’s strengths. More specifically, the Bank had-committed. -

to grow its earnings per share by 5% to 10%, to offer a return on

common shareholders’ equity (ROE) of 15% to 17%, to maintaina

Tier 1 capital ratio of 8.75% to 9.50%, and to pay dividends
representing between 35% and 45% of net income available to
common shareholders. The Bank delivered on all these
commitments. The table below compares the objectives with the
results achieved as at October 31, 2004. )

Objectives and Results

Results Objectives Objectives
2004 2004 2005
Growth in earnings
per share 22% 5% - 10% 5% - 10%

Return on common

shareholders equity  18.8% 15% - 17% 16% - 18%
Tier 1 capital ratio 9.6% 8.75% - 9.50% | More than 8.5%
Dividend payout ratio 35% 35% - 45% 35% - 45%

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Opérating Results

Looking ahead to 2005, the Bank intends to maintain its objective for
growth in earnings per share at between 5% and 10%, and its dividend
payout ratio at between 35% and 45%. The upper and lower. limits of

the target range for ROE will be increased by 1%, to .betwéen 16%:‘

and 18%. The minimum Tier 1 capital ratio has been lowered to 8.5%:

The Bank has opted to no longer publish medium-term objectives. . -

For fiscal 2004, the Bank posted record netincome of $725 million,

up 16% compared to the $624 million of the previous fiscal year.

Earnings per share reached $4.10 as against $3.37 for 2003, an
increase of 22%. Return on common shareholders’ equity was
18.8% in 2004 versus 16.5% a year earlier. This performance was
achieved while maintaining a capital ratio of 9.6%. In addition, 35%
of net income was paid out as dividends, up 3% from 2003.

| Consotidated Results ! _}

Year ended October 31
{taxable equivaient basisji!
{millions of dotlars)
Change

2004 2003 %
Net interest income 1,445 1,366 6
Other income 2,212 2,093 3
Total revenues 3,657 3,459 6
Operating expenses 2,392 2,257 6
Contribution 1,265 1,202 5
Provision for credit losses 86 177 {51)
Income before income taxes 1,179 1,025 15
Income taxes 426 374 14
Non-controlling interest 28 27 4
Net income 725 624 16
Earnings per share $ 410 $ 3.37 22
Average assets 78,672 71,810 10
Risk-weighted assets 40,823 40,061 2
Average deposits 50,186 48,204 4
Net impaired loans!2 (190} {154] (23}
ROE 18.8% 16.5%
Efficiency ratio 65.4% 65.3%

Fiscal 2004 also saw total revenues on a taxable equivalent basis!!)
reach a new high of $3.7 hillion, which was $198 million or 6%
higher than for the previous year. This increase came equally from
net interest income and other income, with the latter reaching
$2,212 million as at October 31, 2004 or 60.5% of total revenues.
Operating expenses were $2,392 million, up $135 million or 6%.
The efficiency ratic remained relatively stable at 65.4%, versus
65.3% in 2003. In addition, toan losses were down 51% or $91 million
compared to 2003. Reversats of the general allowance for credit

" risk accounted for 60% or $55 million of that reduction. Excluding

the reversals of the generat allowance, loan losses fell by 20% in
2004 and represented only 0.34% of average loans and bankers’
acceptances, signalling a marked improvement in the quality of
the Bank's portfolio. Impaired loans net-of the specific allowances
declined 36% to $160 million as a result of changes to the Bank’s

risk profile and the economy’s continued strength.

"It shoutd be noted that all segments contributed to the Bank’s success

in terms of both revenues and income.

The consolidated results are discussed in greater detail on page 48

of the Management's Discussion and Analysis.

{1) See “Financial Reporting Method” on page 14.

{2} Net of specific and generat allowances
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Year ended October 37, 2004
ftaxable equivalent basisjit

Revenue and Net Income Growth
by Segment from 2003 to 2004 -

S C—

Revenues Netincome
Personal and Commercial +4% + 8%
Wealth Management +13% +28%
Financial Markets + 6% +14%

P—

IMPROVEMENT IN THE BANK'S RISK PROFILE

Loan Breakdown by Risk Type
Net Impaired Loans and Provisioning
imitlions of dullars)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Total loans and acceptances* 50,204 47,958 47,953 51,172 49,931
Personal loans 56% 53% 52% 49% 50%
Business loans 34% 38% 40% 46% 4%
Other loans 10% 9% 8% 7% 6%

Net impaired loans 160 251 246 591 544
Provisioning rate 58.7% 47.3% 51.1% 39.1% 45.2%

General allowance 350 405 408 500 500

Impaired loans, net of specific and general allowances (190} (154) (159 91 44
as a % of loans and acceptances {0.38}%  (0.32)% [0.33)% 0.18% 0.09%

“Including securitization

ONE OF THE MAIN REASONS FOR THE BANK'S STRONG PERFORMANCE IN RECENT YEARS HAS BEEN THE IMPROVED
QUALITY OF ITS LOAN PORTFOLIO. STEADY GROWTH IN PERSONAL LOANS HAS BEEN A KEY FACTOR. ALTHOUGH
THE CONTRIBUTION FROM BUSINESS LOANS HAS FALLEN SHARPLY [FROM 44% IN 2000 TO 34% [N 2004), THIS DOES
NOT MEAN THAT THE BANK HAS BACKED AWAY FROM THE COMMERCIAL LENDING MARKET. INSTEAD, THE DECLINE
REFLECTS WEAK DEMAND FOR CREDIT DUE TO HIGHLY LiQUID CORPORATE BALANCE SHEETS AND THE INCREASED
CAPACITY OF FINANCIAL MARKETS TO ABSORB CREDIT RISKS, PARTICULARLY THROUGH THE USE OF DERIVATIVES.

ADAPTING TO MARKET TRENDS, THE BANK ADOPTED A PRUDENT AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT.
AS A RESULT, NET IMPAIRED LOANS PLUNGED 71% BETWEEN 2000 AND 2004 WHILE THE PROVISIONING RATE
INCREASED SIGNIFICANTLY. SIMILARLY, DESPITE A $55 MILLION DECREASE IN THE GENERAL ALLOWANCE, AGGREGATE
ALLOWANCES EXCEEDED IMPAIRED LOANS BY $190 MILLION, ACCOUNTING FOR (0.381% OF ALL LOANS AND
ACCEPTANCES. THE CANADIAN BANKING SYSTEM SEEMS TO BE IN THE MOST FAVOURABLE PHASE OF THE CREDIT
CYCLE. GIVEN THE POSITIVE GROWTH OUTLOOK FOR THE CANADIAN ECONOMY AS REFLECTED IN EMPLOYMENT
GAINS AND RELATIVELY WEAK INTEREST RATES, COMBINED WITH RECENT TRENDS IN COMMERCIAL BANKRUPTCIES,
THIS LOW-LOSS PHASE SHOULD CONTINUE FOR THE COMING QUARTERS.

L

{1} See “Financial Reporting Methed” on page 14.
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THE BANK'S
STRATEGY

Focussing on
key factors

A super-regional bank... : .

National Bank’s strategy is solidly geared to the Canadjan market,
particularly Quebec. It has adopted the super-regional bank
model, which has proven so successful in the United States. A
super-regional bank concentrates resources in a given area’
rather than deploying them country-wide. In its core market,
National Bank is focussed on building strongholds in retail, SME*
and corporate banking and defending them against larger national
players. ' ' )

Since its introduction during the 2003 advertising campaigns, 6er
new tagline {"Quebec’s leading bank”) has been effective in
ensuring that a growing number of Quebecers consider National
Bank their main financial institution and the best financial
institution in the province.

... with well chosen niches across Canada v
Applying this business model in no way prevents a bank from moving
beyond its core market. When doing so, however, it must be selective
and choose specialized niches that do not require an extensive

~ network of outlets. Capital market activities—-incu‘iding‘full¥ser§/iCe :
brokerage and mutual funds—are among these niches, particutarly
in Canada where the main brokerage firms are bank-subsidiaries.: -

Keys to success

All banks with diversified activities have certain factors of success
in common: a varied palette of profitable products, credit quality, .
operational efficiency and sound financial management. National .
Bank closely manitors all of these aspects. To take full advantage’
of the business model it has chasen, six other factors of success,
which underpin the Bank's various orientations, have been identified.

S

IX EY ACTORS OF SUCCESS

‘Maintain a strong position in Quebec
~ s By far the leading bank in Quebec, approximately double the
size of its main bank competitor
¢ Ranked first or second among all banking institutions present
inits priority markets

"Keep activities outside Quebec very focussed

» Altamira ‘

. Expansionydf‘.the full-service brokerage network

. Finéncing of emerging companies in the energy sector

¢ Niches in commercial financing thanks to high-calibre

. investment bankers recruited by Nationat Bank Financiat

Provide quality service to attain a high level
of customer satisfaction

¢ Marked increase in satisfaction among individuat

- and business clients

» Among the best brokerage firms in terms of research
« First in terms of service quality of online transactions

Create economies of scope through
a comprehensive product offering

* Wealth management services deployed in the branch network
. * Insurance products
 Canadian Blue Chip Portfolio-Linked Note

Maintain an excellent level of capitalization

« Tier 1 capital ratio consistently above the target range

Forge partnerships to increase revenues
and reduce costs

¢ Partnership deployed with Investors Group, Great-West Life
.and London Life

¢ Partnership introduced with MD Management

¢ New partnership with Canada Life
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Organizational capacity

National Bank also assigns a great deal of importance to its

organizational capacity. The nine members of the Executive

Committee meet frequently and mechanisms have been established -

- to facilitate teamwork. For example, business units and support
departments have signed service agreements that set performance
standards for key criteria, such as respdnse time, with a view to
offering superior service. ‘

Recruiting and retaining talented young professionals, as well as
providing training to personnel and planning for succession, are
key to the institution's overall performance. Linking the Bank's
performance to compensation ensures the engégement of
personnel. The Bank’s bonus program based on unit performance
and individual performance, the variable compensation paid to the

sales forces, and the share ownership and stock option plans are

all used to that end. Management also communicates regularly
with employees to promote awareness about the Bank's
performance, orientations and chatlenges. )

SHAREHOLDER
VALUE ADDED

Up 24% per year

As the table below shows, the Bank creates value for its
shareholders. Shareholder value added {SVA} is calculated by

. deducting the cost of capital from available income {before goodwill

charges). The cost of capital is the minimum compensation required
by the Bank’'s common shareholders in light of returns available

. elsewhere on capital markets. In fiscal 2004, the Bank reduced its

estimated cost of capital from 13% to 11%. Value created for
shareholders in 2004 exceeded by $290 million what shareholders
could have expected from investments having a comparable degree
of risk. SVA grew by $162 million compared to the SVA recorded in
2003, with $74 million attributable to the change in the cost of
capital. Over the past five years, Nationat Bank of Canada has
therefore created $546 million of added vatue for its sharehalders,
for avevrage annual growth of 34% (or 24% once the change in the
cost of capital is taken into account). Stock market capitalization,
which broke above the $8 billion mark as at October 31, 2004, grew
at a pace of 16.2%.

Year ended October 31
[millions of doliars/)

Shareholder Value Added ‘

2004 003 2002 2001

2000  AAGRI

Available income

Average common equity used
Cost of capitall?
Shareholder value added -
Stock market capitalization

702 - 599 408 547 500

3,742 3,624 3,628 3,430 3144

412 471 472 446 409

290 128 (64) 101 91 33.6%
8,167 7,144 5366 4,616 4727 16.2%

{11 Average annual growth rate
{2 17% in 2004; 13% from 2000 to 2003
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SHAREHOLDER
RETURN

CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT

Higher than
the industry

310.0 | = NBC
-8~ S&P/TSX Banks
@~ S&P/TSX Composite

260.0

210.0

160.0

110.0

60.0 w w w = .
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Total Return Index {1999 = 100) a

Clearly benefitting
shareholders

B! Tier 1 Capital Ratio !

13% | = Upper limit of target range

—= Lower limit of target range

12%
1%
10%
9%

8%

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Total shareholder return consists of the return on the share
price, assuming dividends are fully reinvested. Over a five-year
period, the Bank posted stronger shareholder returns than the
industry as a whole. Since 1999, the Bank's total shareholder
return has been 219% versus 134% for the Canadian banking
industry, which itselt significantly outperformed the TSX
Composite Index. From October 31, 2003 to October 31, 2004, the
Bank's shareholder return was 23%, or 6 points mare than the
17% recorded for all banks.

Capital management, which is a key component of the Bank's
overall financial management, reflects regulatory requirements
and the Bank’s objectives in terms of business development and

~shareholder expectations.

Banks use their capital mainly to cover risks incurred by their
various operations. Those risks relate mainly to material loan
losses, highly unfavourable developments in financial markets,
negative events such as fraud or errors and poor decisions con-
cernin_g-,operatibns. Although current Tier 1 regulatory capital

" criteria apply only to credit and market risks, the Bank allocates
‘capital to cover operational and business risks as well, thereby

taking the initiative of adopting the capital framework scheduled
to take effect in 2008 under the Basel Il Accord.

As part of its capital management activities, the Bank also takes
into account its current and projected income, its need for capital
to finance internal growth or acquisitions, and the industry’s cap-
italization standards. The Bank's target ratio for Tier 1 regulatory
capital in 2004 {between 8.75% and 9.50%] was considerably higher
than the 7% minimum reguirement as of which level banks are
deemed to be very well capitalized, based on the standards of
sound practice developed by Canadian regulatory authaorities.

*“Since the third quarter of fiscal 2001, National Bank's Tier 1 capital

ratio has been near or above 9.50%, putting it in the upper portion
of the current target range.
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Sources and Use of Common Equity

imillions of dollars}

Available net income -

T AETHRBROM) 2,841
Common share dividends — 19
Common share repurchases net of issues — { yersaan
Increase in Tier 1 capital ratio o (54¢) m..‘:z,::(z?'lm '
Decrease in risk-adjusted assets — L )
Increase in goodwill — (2671} o]
Debenture repurchases and
net issue of preferred shares — |343)§_‘{279‘LE
W Fiscal 2004 Other — B.2%,
£ 2000 to 2004 (1000 (5000 0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3,000

Toraise its Tier 1 capital ratio to this tevel, the Bank used $646 million
to repurchase common equity. Given the role of bank capital, it is
clear that tightly controtling risks is the cornerstone of capital
management because it has a direct impact on the capital levels
required. in that respect, the Bank has made considerable progress
in recent years, not only on the basis of credit quality—the most
visible aspect—but also in other areas of bank risk. Because of
that progress, the capital the Bank needs in order to support each
dollar of assets and revenues has been substantially reduced.
During the past five years, the Bank's inherent risk, as measured
by risk-adjusted assets, fell 8% while revenues and income jumped

Dividend Payout Ratio*

40%
35%
33% 32%

30%
20%

10%

% °

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

*Before the impairment charge on an investment in 2002

49% and 74% respectively. In the process, approximately $264 million
in capital was freed up.

As a result of its excellent profitability during the period and its policy
of rigorous balance sheet management, the Bank was in a good
position to ensure that a growing share of its income was distributed
to shareholders. This is confirmed by the sustained increase in the
target and effective ratio of dividend payouts. During the past five
years, the Bank paid $908 million in dividends on common shares.
An additional $838 million was distributed to shareholders as part
‘of three successive normal course issuer bids to repurchase 5% of
Bank shares outstanding as at the respective commencement dates.
In 2004, 83.2% of the Bank’s available income of $702 million was
“returned to common shareholders as dividends ($243 million) or as
. part of the net repurchase of shares ($340 million).

The Bank intends to continue its current policy of actively managing
its capital and balance shéet. Management does not consider it

" necessary to target a Tier 1 capital ratio that is significantly higher
than the current ratio solely to build up a war chest that can be
used for major acquisitions. It should definitely be possible to
finance such acquisitions on the market, especially since the projects
would not be contemplated unless they added value for
shareholders. In the meantime, the Bank will continue to ensure
that shareholders receive most of the capital not required to fuel
internal growth.
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ECONOMIC
ENVIRONMENT

Canadian economy
buoyed by global growth

Economic growth in 2004 is expected to be 2.9%, in line with our
2003 projections.

Following a slowdown in.2003, the economy benefitted signifi-
cantly from strong global demand and higher prices for com-
modities. The ratio of export to import prices (terms of trade}
reached a record level in 2004. While one might think that energy
prices were the sole contributing factor, in fact a number of other
commoadities, including nickel, lead, zinc, aluminum, steel and
forestry products, made solid gains. )

Consequently, Canadian companies were able to more readily
adjust to the strengthening loonie, which had advanced more
than 21% against the greenback in 2003. Overall, higher world
prices and capacity utilization rates boosted Canadian manufac-
" turers’ profit margins. As a result, commercial bankruptcies con-
tinued to fall in 2004, right across the country. The'Bank has not
experienced a deterioration in the risk profile of its entire loan
portfolio and therefore does not expect loan losses to increase.

One of the downsides of the appreciation in the Canadian dollar
has been the loss of approximately 80,0600 manufacturing jobs
since November 2002 when the sector was at its peak. The job
market nevertheless performed honourably with 1.7% employ-

ment growth and lower unemployment anticipated for 2004

Canada-wide.

Growth in the personal bankruptcy rate, at 5%, was fairly con-
tained in Quebec and Ontario. In Western Car{ada, bankruptcies
were down. This is probably a reflection of the shift in economic
growth in 2004 towards the Western provinces, which have plen-
tiful natural resources and are recovering from a two-year
drought. Economic growth for 2004 is expected to be below 3.0%
in Atlantic Canada, Ontario and Quebec and above 3.0% in
Western Canada.

Outtook

The run-up in energy prices is worrisome because, in the past, oil
shocks have pushed the global economy into a recession.
However, conditions today are fundamentally different. For one
thing, the monetary policies of the major industrialized nations
are now generatly accommodating. Secondly, although the nom- -
inal price of oil topped a record US $50 per barrel in October,
it would have to climb to $80 per barrel in order to equal, on a
constant purchasing power basis, the price attained during the
second oil crisis in the early 1980s.

Like the International Monetary Fund, we believe that global eco-
nomic growth will be 4.3% in 2005, above the long-term trend of

" 3:6%. The U.S. economy, after expanding by 4.3% in 2004, should
* slow to 3.3%, bringing it closer to its potential growth rate.

As in Canada, the U.S. central bank feels that the time has come
to adopt a neutral monetary policy. National Bank anticipates a
hike of about 150 basis points in the target U.S. federal funds rate
in 2005. The increase in the Bank of Canada benchmark rate,
which may not be as high, will be contingent on the economic
impact of any further rise in the Canadian dollar occurring after
fall 2004.

Mortgage rates should therefore remain at affordable levels. With

-a more balanced resale home market in Canada, house prices

rose by less than 10% in 2004 and the trend should continue at
that pace in 2005. Housing starts will taper off somewhat while
remaining at exceptional levels: just over 200,000 units will be
built in Canada as a whole and 50,000 in Quebec. Growth in resi-
dential ‘mortgages is expected to be 10% in 2004 and dip only
slightly in 2005.

Given the substantial budget and trade deficits in the United
States, the greenback is likely to trend downward. Consequently,
the loonie could climb higher and Canadian companies will be
forced to contend with an even tougher competitive environment.
We therefore anticipate modest job growth of 1.3% in 2005.
However, companies will tlikely spend money on boosting produc-
tivity and inventories. With more projects in the energy sector,

: Capital spending will be a key engine of economic growth.
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Canada’s economy should expand by an average of 3.3% in 2005.
Ontario, Quebec and New Brunswick should see their economies
grow by 3.0%. As in 2004, the Bank expects economic growth to
be stronger in Western Canada, particularly Alberta and British
Columbia.

Consequences for the Bank

In recent years, Canadian companies have been more focussed
on amassing profits than investing them. They now have enough
capital to start investing again without turning to external financ-
ing. Overall, commercial and corporate lending, in the form of
debt and equity financing, are not expected to expand.

The rising Canadian dollar will make some sectors, such as tex-
tiles, clothing and furniture, more vulnerable to foreign competi-
tion. The Bank takes a prudent approach to companies in sectors
that use large guantities of raw materials or that are sensitive to

energy prices—manufacturers of transpertation equipment,

machinery, and electrical appliances and equipment. To assist

Quebec exporting companies, the Bank has partneredv'with .

Investissement Québec to provide financing for the equipment
fluctuations. )

After taking off in 2003, stock markets were. flat during the final
three quarters of fiscal 2004. The positive earnings outlook and
anticipated interest rate hikes are pulling markets in opposite
directions. Until stock markets make a definite move in one
direction, investors are likely to play it safe. Consequently, the
Bank expects to post modest gains from wealth management
activities that generate transaction-based revenues. Nevertheless,
those gains will be made from a much higher stafting point than
in 2002.

' STAKEHOLDERS

Across-the-board

performance

Although the raison d’étre of any company is to achieve good returns
for its shareholders, the performance of a bank is measured not
onty in financial terms but also by its ability to meet the expectations
of all partners that put their trust in it.

For a company such as National Bank, success depends on its ability

to forge long-term relations with its clients. Customer satisfaction is

the key to continued growth and profitabitity. That is why the Bank has

‘made quality service and customer satisfaction its top priorities. Each

business unit and alt service centres have an action plan that yields

’ quantifiablé results. The level of customer satisfaction is continually

tracked to evatuate efforts made and identify areas on which the Bank
must focus. For example, branch customers are regularty surveyed
for their opinion on all aspects of the services we offer, from the
courteousness of branch personnel, to their appreciation of automated

~ banking machines and the quality of our advisory services.

The Bank’s customer service efforts in recent years have paid off.
Theincrease in the number of “satisfied” or “"very satisfied” clients
is proof that the Bank is listening to its clients and takes their

. concerns seriously.
- they need to enhance productivity and hedge against currency | |- '

l Putting the focus on clients is also a very effective means of engaging

personnel. it mobilizes everyone within the Bank, from the frontline

- employees who greet clients at the branches to those who input

transactions at the administrative centres. Qur commitment to
clients is echoed at every tevel in the organization. Everyone is bound
by internal service agreements to meet deadlines, eliminate irritants
and minimize errors while increasing productivity. Our commitment
to our clients has a domino effect on the people who work behind
the scenes to help the Bank deliver superior service in every respect.
Needless to say, responding promptly and ensuring total quality
calls for streamtined, yet highly effective, technological processes.

‘In the long run, such discipline translates into lower costs.

Another key factor is the competency of personnel. The Bank has
focussed considerabte resources and attention on developing its
hurmnan capital and instilling a true culture of excellence. The criteria
used in hiring personnel, appraising their performance and
promoting them have been honed and tightened. The progress of
each unit is measured by a scorecard through a process knawn as
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"human resources certification” and, like customer satisfaction.

levels, has a direct influence on the bonuses paid to-supervisory
managers. Training activities offered by the Bank and via external
institutions are available to and recommended for all employees.
Through a partnership with Université du Québec a Montréal, the
National Bank University Program offers courses at the undergraduate

" and graduate levels. In its eight years of existence, this program
has enabled over 5,300 Bank employees to take university»co‘ui‘ses
related to their line of work. As was the case with our emphasis
on customer satisfaction, the results have been positive from the
outset and our personnel continue to strengthen their competencies
year after year. As the baby boom generation prepares to retire,
our training initiatives and our efforts to retain top talent are
particularly important as they enable the Bank to meet the challenge
of replacing numerous management employees with a new
generation of bankers.

Retaining talented employees is a priority for fhe Bank’s -
Management. To meet that challenge, a variety of measures-have .| .
been implemented, such as allowing those employees to con--.

tribute fully to the company’s challenges, acknowledging their
contribution, giving them the opportunity to strengthen their

competencies and creating an environment where it is easier to -

reconcile work and family responsibilities. The Bank also tries to
foster open dialogue between Management and employees and,
in working towards that goal, has taunched programs such as the
Leaders’ Institute. The practices introduced in the past few years
are intended to ensure that the Bank has top-calibre employees
who take pride in belonging to a highly respected company.

 Lastly, the Bank is dedicated to helping the communities it serves.
In keeping with its own business model, the Bank is committed to

listening to the needs of the community. This intimate under- -
standing of its local market not only gives it a definite competitive:

advantage, but also helps it rally “movers and shakers” who can
drive important community projects or fundraising campaigns.

As a financial institution, we can make a difference through the

business decisions we make. Our social involvement can also be -

measured by the financial resources we give to the community

threugh donations, sponsorships and fundraising. Social involve-

_ment goes well beyond relations between the Bank and society.

Many Bank employees are leaders in charity organizations, repre- -
sent community interests, are involved in recreational or support.
groups for people who need a helping hand. The Bank’s Social"

Responsibility Report provides details on the social involvement of
the Bank and its employees. ‘

Service quality: an ongoing commitment
at every level of the Bank

National Bank has launched a quality initiative that reflects

a total commitment to customer service. The success of our
efforts was recognized in 2004 when the Bank received

an horourable mention award at the Grands Prix québécois
de la qualité.

Qur service quality promise is based essentially on ensuring
that a client approach is applied when managing operational
processes. The approach is defined by the fotllowing principles:

¢ Focus on the eight dimensions of our service offering from
the client’s point of view {accessibitity, competency, reliability,
courtesy, speed, convenience, consideration and proactivity).

- The Bank’s goal is to develop a long-term competitive advantage
by reaching exceptional performance levels in three of those
dimensions: competency, accessibility and proactivity.

« Identify “moments of truth”—client experiences that leave
a lasting impression—and deploy high service standards for
each of those moments.

* implement service agreements between support units and
business units that have direct contact with clients. The
agreements enable business units to clearly define their
needs and support units to make a commitment to achieving
outstanding resutlts.

* Make a sustained training effort and provide programs to
enhance personnel satisfaction given that training and employee
satisfaction are essential components of service quality.

s Use an advanced monitoring system that relies on a variety of
instruments:(e.g., client and employee surveys, scorecards for
standards and agreements, efficient complaint management
process).

All the facets of our service quality promise are analyzed on an
ongoing basis in order to ensure superior performance levels for
aur clients and personnel. In an industry such as ours, that is
the best way to guarantee success.
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BUSINESS
SEGMENT
ANALYSIS
BUSINESS MIX

ational Bank of Canada is a well-diversified business
with over half its revenues and income generated by the
Personal and Commerciat segment. Its other two seg-
ments also make significant contributions to revenues
and net income.

Economic capital is allocated to business segments on the basis of
their evaluated risk level. As shown in the table, the Wealth
Management segment uses little capital in relation to the income it

Business Mix(1

Year ended October 31, 2004
{taxable equivalent basis)i?
{millions of dollars}

B Financial Markets
@ Wealth Management
{1 Personal and Commercial

Revenues Income Capital

{1} Excluding the "Other” heading
[2) See "Financial Reporting Method” on page 14.

Shareholder Value Added and Capital Breakdown by Business Segment [

Year ended October 31
{miltions of doliars)
Personal and Wealth Financial
Commercial Management Markets Other Total
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 -~ 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income available 343 314 108 79 253 228 (2) (22 702 599
Cost of capitat 175 209 24 29 119 157 94 76 412 471
RAROC/ROE 21.6% 19.5%  48.8% 352% 23.4% 18.9% (0.2)% (3.7]% 18.8% 16.5%
Shareholder value added 168 105 84 50 134 71 [96) {98) 290 128
Economic capital 1,589 1,611 221 226 1,081 1,205 851 582 3,742 3,624
Allocated to:

Credit risk 78.7% 80.4% 1.4% 3.9% 46.0% 449% 38.8% 37.9% 55.6% 57.0%
Market risk 2.7% 3.1% 2.5% 23% 37.8% 38.1% 382% 490% 20.9% 22.1%
Operational risk 18.6% 165% 96.1% 938% 16.2% 17.0% 23.0% 13.1% 23.5% 20.9%
Efficiency ratio 62.2% b1.9% 77.5% 79.9% 54.8% 56.6% - - 65.4%  65.3%
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generates, giving it an exceptionally high risk-adjusted return on
capital (RARQOC) ratio of 48.8%, an increase of nearly 14 points
over fiscal 2003.

Nevertheless, the three segments present very different risk profiles.
The Persanal and Commercial segment drew the largest share of
econamic capital ($1,589 million) and was affected primarily by
credit risk (78.7%) and, to a lesser degree, by operational risk
{18.6%). The Wealth Management segment consumed $221 million
of capital, and was sensitive to operational risk (96.1%). Contrary
to popular belief, the Financial Markets segment had the most
diversified risk: only 37.8% of the segment’s economic capital was
effectively allocated to the market, whereas 46.0% was attributable
to credit activities and 16.2% to operations. This segment was
allocated $1,081 million of capital. Overall, the Bank made progress
indiversifying its risk for a second consecutive year, reducing credit
risk from 57.0% to 55.6% and market risk exposure by 1%. As a
result, the proportion of operational risk was relatively larger.
Naturally, not all these risks are managed the same way. Risk
management is discussed in more detail on page é1.

Every tine of business added shareholder value for the Bank'in
2004. Personal and Commercial contributed the most ($168 million}.
However, it was the Wealth Management segment that recorded
the strongest growth in its shareholder value added {SVA), with a
13.6% higher return than in 2003. The Financial Markets segment
generated $134 million of SVA. Given the excellent capitalization
and strong profitability of all its business segments, the Bank does
not have any specific plans to reatlocate capital.

The Bank’s average assets amounted to $78.7 billion this past
year, versus $71.8 billion in 2003, an increase of 9.6% primarily
attributable to Financial Markets. Average deposits were up 4.1%
to $50.2 billion in 2004, In addition to the 2.4% and 30% increases
in average deposits in the Personat and Commercial segment and
the Wealth Management segment between October 31, 2003 and
October 31, 2004, average deposits rose $0.8 billion or 4.6% in the
Financial Markets segment. Total risk-weighted assets advanced
1.9% or $0.8 billion to reach $40.8 billion as at October 31, 2004,
chiefly because of higher market risk and commitments to extend
credit.

Average Assets, Risk-Weighted Assets and Average Deposits

Year ended October 31
{millions of doltars)

PERSONAL AND
COMMERCIAL

n many ways, the Personal and Commercial segment is the

Bank's most important line of business since it is responsible

-for the Bank's traditional activities and accounts for the

largest share of employees, revenues, earnings and assets.

The services it provides are constantly evolving. In addition to
its traditional transaction, lending and deposit-taking operations,
the Personal and Commercial segment offers individuals and
businesses new services such as specialized financing, virtual
access, payment options, insurance and international services.
As its name indicates, this segment comprises two major types
of activities—Personal Banking and Commercial Banking—each
with its own senior vice-president.

Personal Banking
Subsegment

Revenues - Personal Banking

{$1,263 million}

Investing activities
12%

Transaction activities
35%

Credit activities
53%-

Personal and Wealth . Financial
Commercial -Management Markets Other Total
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Average assets 40,544 38,679 834 805 42,364 37,819 (5,070) [(5493) 78,672 71,810
Risk-weighted assets 27,007 25,222 554 659 14,600 16,020 (1,338) (1,840) 40,823 40,061
Average deposits 30,063 29,359 2,355 1,812 18,254 17,459 (486) (6426) 50,186 48,204
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The mission of the Personal Banking subsegment is to offer its
clients outstanding transaction, lending, credit card, insurance and
investment solutions that help them to achieve their financial goals.

First and foremost, Personal Banking is more than 8,500 direct or
indirect employees serving in excess of 2.5 million clients across
Canada through a network of 462 branches, 770 banking machines
and virtual service infrastructures adapted to current realities.

In 2004, Personal Banking recorded revenues of $1,263 million, a
7% increase over 2003. Much of these revenues [53%) were gener-
ated by credit activities, which expanded by 12%. Transaction activ-
ities earned $4 million more than in the previous year, accounting
for 35% of 2004 revenues. Investing activities did relatively better
during the year with 4% growth, and at $153 million accounted for
12% of Personal Banking revenues. Most of the revenues from
investing activities were commissions from the sale of products
manufactured by units in the Wealth Management segment.

Revenues ~ Personal Banking

Year ended Dctober 31
{taxable equivalent basis/iti
{mitlions of dollars]

Change

2004 2003 %

Transaction activities 446 442 1

Credit activities 664 592 12

Investing activities 153 147 4
Total

1,263 1,181 7.

-

| A

Transaction activities

In terms of transaction activities, the Bank is faced with a definite
challenge: to increase its revenue per client in a competitive envi-
ronment that is both fierce and highly regulated and in a context
characterized by strong consumer resistance to service charges as

“‘well as low interest rates that generate reduced spreads on trans-

action deposits.

To meet this challenge, the Bank focussed on reengineering its range
of solutions. Its offering has been greatly simplified and optimized
and now consists of six types of accounts (Chequing, Special Project
Savings, Crescende, Strategist, Natcan Strategist and US$ Progress)
and four banking packages [Accessible, Direct Access, AccessPlus
and Virtuoso} that allow for a variety of service combinations cover-
ing every need, from the most economical to the most sophisticated.

I Transaction Deposits '

Year ended October 31
10,000 | M Votumes
9000 -® Spreads
8,000
7,000 5.02% s
! N 3T%
6,000 e 403%
T—
5000 3.60%
4,000
3,000
2.000
1,000
0 s
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

The average volume of transaction deposits rose 4.3% between
October 2003 and October 2004, but the average spread narrowed by
43 basis points, mainly because of declining interest rates in recent
years. This drop in net interest income makes appropriate pricing all
the more necessary, whether through packages or in other ways, for
day-to-day transactions carried out on transaction accounts.

Transaction services have undergone a profound change in recent
years with the deployment of the Internet and other electronic
transaction methods. First of all, the number of transactions has
risen sharply, with the Bank now processing 28% more transactions
than it did in 2000, for almost 295 mitlion transactions annually,
demanding a huge effort in terms of systems and logistics.
Furthermore, there has also been a major migration of clients towards
remote transaction methods. As a result, the annual number of
transactions carried out by non-electronic means dropped from
49 to 44 million between 2000 and 2004, while the number of electronic
transactions soared to 250 million per year, for an average annual
growth rate of 8%. And even within electronic transactions, habits
change guickly. For instance, the proportion of transactions by
telephone seems to be stagnating and even declining, white the
proportion of transactions via the Internet, which accounted for less
than 1% of transactions in 2000, now accounts for close to 4% of the
total; an average annual growth rate of 52%.




" NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA, 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis

{mittions]

400 | M No. of transactions
&= % Electronic

300

200

100

0

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 .

Transactions by Year and Type !

40% | -9 Internet o
-8~ Telephone —
3.0% /,/°/
o
2.0% e el
T —— .
/,/.v’

1.0% o

0 - L o L} L_J L

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

The Bank's Internet strategy therefore has to be aligned to take
advantage of this trend which is likely to lower the unit cost of
transactions. In 2001, we implemented an Internet strategy in
order to provide clients with simplified, reliable access to our
products and services. A technology infrastructure that could
meet current and future needs was developed, making it possible
to update the www.nbc.ca portal, among other projects. All trans-
action activities have been centralized on the Bank's website so
that clients can do their banking online. Clients are particularly
pleased with the site’s transaction functionalities as seen in the
satisfaction rate, which has held steady at close to 100%.

Personal lnternet Bankmg Solutions;ls ;
secure and lets you carry out your bankmg
transactions and manage yourv finances 24/7

» Consult a list of your past transactlons {90 days] :
+ Consult the balance of all your accounts smultaneously

» Transfer funds between accounts. " &

» Export data to.financial planmng software A
» Order.cheques y C , R
* Receive your bills {via webdoxs] from more than 1, 000 sui
and pay them online RE
* View thelist of-your past bill payments ‘ ,'
« Transfer funds to othér National Bank cllents
 Obtain financial information :
* Buy or sell National Bank Mutuat Funds | ‘ _
* Apply for a mortgage or persona{ loan .. o
* Make investments and manage your RRSP R
. Consult the balance of your Natuona{ Bank MasterCa
« Open a bank account C!

The Bank’s website is not the only electronic toot Personal Banking
has to offer. Reflecting its mission to better serve the transaction
needs of its clients, the Bank also features telephone banking services,
the largest banking machine network of any bank in Quebec and
access to The Exchange Network, which serves to extend the Bank’s
banking machine services beyond Quebec.

As a result of this shift in transaction methods, the configuration
of the Bank’s ‘branches is gradually being modified. Special
attention has been paid to the branch layout to bring it in line
with the new vocation which is no longer solely transaction-
based and is increasingly oriented towards advisory services. A
project to update our branch outdoor signage was launched in
March 2004 and should continue until October 2005. More than

/200 branches now proudly display the Bank's new colours. The

new signage uses the Bank's well-known logo, but it is now illu-
minated and three-dimensional, in addition to featuring new
background colours and more flexible display options.

Customer satisfaction with branch service is always at the heart
of the Bank’s concerns because highly satisfied clients will naturally
turn to us for their credit and investment needs. The Destination
Client program, which was rolled out at every level of the Bank,
involved not only establishing service standards, but enhancing
personnel awareness, providing training and measuring results
on an ongoing basis. As a result, the number of Bank clients who
said they were “very satisfied” rose 22% between 2001 and 2004.
The number of clients who were not satisfied, atready low, dropped
58% during the same period.

Customer Satisfaction in; Quebec

{2007 = 100}

Clients stating they
were “very satisfied”

Clients stating they
were "not satisfied”

125 122
100 =
75
50
25

2001 2004

2001 2004
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Credit activities

The Bank’s principal credit activity with consumers is mortgage
tending. It offers a line of five basic fixed- or variable-rate prod-
ucts which are complemented by innovative features such as the
Multi-Choice option used to diversify mortgage maturity dates,
the revolving clause to add advances in various forms so as to
simplify subsequent borrowing, and the Home Warranty Program
covering major repairs. Introduced during the 2004 promotional
campaign, the "$0 down"” mortgage was aimed at maximizing the
mortgage renewal rate without unduly impacting profit margins,
and continues to gather momentum. The goal is to assign 100%
of our mortgage clients to Bank representatives within two years,
and we may well reach our objective ahead of schedule.

In addition to mortgage loans, the Bank’s credit offering includes
three lines of credit. The Flex Lines are designed to meet a variety
of client financing needs ranging from one-time projects to large-
scale undertakings such as major renovations or retirement
planning. The new product highlight of the year was the launch of
the Bank's All-In-One account, a universal account combining
traditional transaction capabilities with savings or credit functions.
With the All-In-One account, clients can draw on an authorized
credit equivalent to 75% of the value of their collateral (home equity
or investments), offered at the Bank's prime rate. Not only can
clients consolidate all their personal and mortgage loans in their
All-In-One account, they can also use itin a completely transparent
manner as a low-fee transaction account. Furthermore, the Atl-
In-One can be used as a high-yield account paying 2.25%(" on cash
holdings when the batance is positive and exceeds a certain
threshold. This simple and attractive solution is intended to meet
all the credit and cash management needs of the Bank's clients,
and has been well received. Overall, our variable-rate products
and our cashback mortgage have returned very good results.
Mortgage volumes with a monthly variable rate doubled in 2004
over 2003.

The Personal Banking subsegment also offers credit card and
insurance services.

Nationatl Bank is among the leading MasterCard issuers in
Canada. The credit card unit successfully taunched a new Gold
MasterCard card in May with the air carrier Jetsgo. Cardholders
enjoy many travel-related benefits and collect reward miles that
can be exchanged for free flights,

In recent years, the Bank has implemented strategies to activate
its credit cards and stimulate their use. These strategies have
paid off, with credit card purchase volumes advancing 5.7% and
interest-bearing balances increasing 10.3% between 2003 and
2004, in spite of a decline in the number of active cards. This
decrease followed the termination of certain private-label pro-
grams that no longer met our profitabitity criteria.

These credit cards and lines of credit place the Bank in a good
position to take advantage of the rising demand for revolving
credit, i.e., variable-rate credit without a fixed expiry. Demand
rose by 20% during 2004 alone. In Gctober 2004, revolving credit
accounted for 87% of non-mortgage personal loans, up from 56%
in November 2001. For the Bank, the advantage of this type of
credit is that it is more profitable and more stable than instal-
ment loans in terms of volume.

National Bank offers a broad range of insurance products
through three subsidiaries: 1} National Bank Life Insurance
Company, whose activities focus chiefly on insurance products
related to credit instruments (credit cards, mortgages, consumer
loans); 2) National Bank General Insurance, which specializes in
automobile insurance; and 3) National Bank Insurance Firm, our
brokerage subsidiary that offers life insurance and investment
products for individuals and businesses.

Revenues were up 15% at National Bank General Insurance in 2004.
This joint venture with AXA has generated significant profits since
2003, after only four years of operations, and performed well in
2004. The subsidiary gained a significant share of the marketin a
short time—65,000 active auto insurance policies, including 40%
to non-Bank clients—thanks to its direct marketing strategy
combining the brand awareness of the Bank in Quebec with offers
for low-risk drivers. Qur brand ranked in the top three for recognition.
Furthermore, National Bank General Insurance’s streamlined cost
structure enables it to achieve the kind of economies of scale
enjoyed by major insurers.

Our efforts outside Quebec in 2004 focussed on deployment of the
partnership agreements concluded in 2002 and 2003. Under the
agreement signed with Investors Group, Great-West Life and London
Life, delivery of the Bank’s banking products kicked off in June
2003, when the partner companies’ 7,000 advisors began distributing
our products and services under their respective banners. This
was a highly motivating project that required us to integrate
management of the operations of a number of teams, and led to
the on-time launch of the solutions not only at Investors Group,
but also at Great-West Life and London Life several weeks later.
Volumes have met our expectations. Our partnership with MD
Management, a subsidiary of the Canadian Medical Association,
was up and running sooner than expected. In its first months of
operations, it brought in more new clients interested in the Bank's
products. Under this agreement, National Bank-branded banking
products are distributed by the 150 advisors in the group.

{1] As at October 31, 2004, subject to change
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These partnerships have produced the expected results and
positioned the Bank as the leading institution in the design and
production of financiat products for third-party distribution networks.
Capitalizing on this unique expertise, the Bank's team is continuing
to forge business relationships and undertaking serious discussions
with important players on the Canadian scene.

[mitlions of dotiars]
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Investing activities

The branch network acts as the distributor of a varied range of
savings products that can be divided into two categories. The first
category consists of term deposits in registered or non-registered
form. Almost all the revenues from those products are recorded
under the Personal and Commercial segment. The second category
comprises investment vehicles and services that are generally
manufactured by subsidiaries in the Wealth Management segment.
For that product category, the branch network earns distribution
or referral commissions.

The Bank has a long tradition of innovation in deposit products. it
was the first bank in Canada to launch structured GICs that
guarantee the principal while atlowing investors to take advantage
of capital market returns. Our retail credit and investment solutions
team offers other original, effective products such as the Canadian
Blue Chip Portfolio-Linked Note, the Active Management GIC with
returns linked to hedge funds, and index-linked deposits whose
returns are among the best in the industry. :

The Strategic Portfolios from National Bank Securities and
Private Investment Management from National Bank Trust are
among the products manufactured by subsidiaries.

To round out their offering, the branches also distribute savings
products manufactured by third parties. Fidelity mutual funds are
one such example.

These products are sold and distributed by our financial services
managers or personal bankers in the branches. In addition to this
traditional distribution method, products are atso sold by a spe-
cialized team of financial planners grouped under National Bank
Wealth Management. This group was deployed in the branch net-
work with the goal of developing the market for savings manage-
ment among high net worth clients and has been pivotal in offer-
ing value-added wealth management advisory services to
upscale client segments.

First deployed in 2001, the team of financial planners now num-
bers close to 300. Their role is to offer flexible, efficient financial
planning services to more than 100,000 clients, meeting with
them at the location of their choice when necessary. Thanks to an
integrated offering of solutions, financial planners can meet the
credit and transaction solution needs of their clients. They can
draw on a complete range of savings products such as the
Strategic Portfolios from National Bank Securities or Private
Investment Management from National Bank Trust. Clients can
buy or sell securities directly via National Bank Discount Brokerage
or by being referred!'! to an Individual Investor Services broker at
National Bank Financial.

The excellent spirit of cooperation that exists with the
Commercial Banking subsegment has fostered client referral
practices that enable us to offer a wider range of products and
services and thus better serve our clients, increase their loyalty
and secure a larger share of their savings.

The results have been convincing, with-net sales up 21% to total
$2 billion in 2004. Over 40% of Strategic Portfolio volumes are
sold through this distribution channel. With each client assigned
to a designated financial planner, the figures for mortgage
renewals (96%)] are just as revealing. In this way, the relationship
provides more opportunities to both parties since long-term suc-
cess presupposes a lasting relationship based on trust that
enables advisors to manage their clients’ emoticnal reactions to
financial market performance in addition to managing their
financial assets.

{1) In accerdance with the Bank's confidentiality policy
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Commercial Banking
Subsegment

he mission of the Commercial Banking subsegment is to

offer businesses of all sizes and in allindustries the products

and services they need to run their operations successfully.

In doing so, some 150,000 commercial clients can rely on the

Bank’s 75 commercial banking centres and its network of
462 branches. The Bank’s service offering covers a broad spectrum
and meets most businesses’ needs through a line of specialized
products and solutions. National Bank is known as the bank most
committed to the small and medium-sized enterprise [SME] market;
a reputation it is proud of and intends to maintain. To emphasize
this positioning, the Bank adopted and very successfully publicized
the i@gC. logo as the trademark for its SME operations.

This SME-oriented strategy is in line with the Bank's business
model. More than in any other business segment, National Bank
has established a stronghold in the Quebec market. Based on data
from the Canadian Bankers Association, ‘National Bank holds
nearly 40% of the banking market, proving without a doubt that
National Bank is the partner of choice for Quebec businesses.

In addition, the Bank has carved out niche markets outside
Quebec, the largest being energy financing in Western Canada.
Our main focus is emerging businesses in the primary sector and
service enterprises in the energy industry. National Bank's
expertise in this area dates back to the 1985 acquisition of The
Mercantile Bank, a very successful endeavour in terms of busi-

ness development and portfolio quality. Outside Quebec, the
Bank's operations are concentrated in New Brunswick and
Eastern Ontario (where the Bank has long benefitted from the
necessary critical mass) as well as in targetted niches, such as
the agri-food industry in the Prairies and Ontario, which are
served by specialized commercial banking centres.

The Bank’s agricultural financing operations have grown rapidly
in recent years due in part to the transfer of family farms between
generations. In such cases, it is necessary to reconcile the retire-
ment income needs of the vendors, who have most of their often
considerable assets tied up in the farm, with the new genera-
tion's ability to pay. The Bank offers an array of solutions that
make judicious use of government programs. These services are
highly decentralized among rural communities and are provided
by account managers, most of whom have an educational back-
ground in both agricultural sciences and finance.

Another high-growth sector where the Bank offers customized
services is film and television series financing. National Bank is
by far the leading provider for Quebec-based productions. In addition
to producers and distributors, our clientele includes post-production,
special effects and equipment leasing companies, as well as studios.
In this field, too, the Bank draws on its expertise in order to set up
low-risk financing structures that combine in-depth knowledge of
the sector and its players with assistance from various government
support programs for the industry.

The "Health Bank” made its debut in 2004, built on a partnership
with various stakeholders in this important growth sector. The
primary target market for this new specialized financing is Quebec,
given the Bank's unparalleled ability to mobilize public and private
partners with which it has long-standing relations. Four account
managers, all specialists in the health industry, serve this sector.
The Bank’s agreement with MD Management offers it another way
to serve the sector, and is yielding very encouraging results.

Teams of Bank specialists are also involved in other fields such as
franchising and major expansion or acquisition projects requiring
structured financing. In addition, the Bank offers bridge financing
for residential and commercial real estate projects. Drawing on
our varied and extensive expertise in this sector, we always focus
on the dual goal of serving our clients well and minimizing risk.

Profitable delivery of credit services to small businesses is a challenge
that can be met by streamlining and automating the loan granting and
monitoring process, as well as by offering a service structure thatis
simple and efficient for both the Bank and the client. Progress was
made in this direction during the year with the launch of the
BusinessFlex Line of Credit for microcredit and the conversion of
the Direct.N@T SME line into the BusinessFlex Centre i&a€., which
already has 14,000 clients after less than a year. The Bank’s relational
service offering witl now be geared primarily to borrowers with
approved credit of $100,000 and depositors on the same scale,
which will significantly increase the profitability of operations.
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in addition to credit, the Commercial Banking product line also
comprises cash management and investment prodﬁcts, with the
latter two taking on even greater importance since 7 out of 10 of
the Bank’s commercial clients have only investment products. To
improve service to these clients, the Bank has deployed account
managers exclusively for depositors and products tailored to
their specific needs, making use of remote banking channels.
Finally, to maximize synergy between commercial clients and the
Wealth Management segment, 24 financial planners are located
right in Commerciat Banking offices.

The international component of iREC. activities is also very
important. International business development managers,
whose role is to advise commercial clients on export financing
and international trade risk management, have their offices in
most of the Bank's commercial banking centres across Canada.
Moreover, through our NatExport and Sodex divisions, the Bank
provides factoring services for exporters.

Portfolio quality is atways a priority. The rise in the Canadian dollar
had a direct impact on goods-producing businesses competing
with foreign companies. In contrast, businesses serving the domestic
market, particularly those in the service industry, were not subject
to the same pressure given the sustained level of household demand
in Canada. In order to ease the transition te a suddenly much
stronger Canadian dollar, Investissement Québec and National
Bank developed an equipment and machinery financing program
featuring a foreign exchange line. This sotution, aimed at locking
in the cost of financing in order to reduce foreign exchange risk, is
another good exampte of the Bank's ability to adapt to the changing
needs of its commercial clients and to tap into resources in the
milieu when necessary.

All the indicators confirm that the SME sector came through the
slowdown without too much difficulty. During the 12-month period
ended September 2004, there was a 10% annual reduction in the
number of commercial bankruptcies in Quebec and an improvement
in the segment’s average risk rating. It is therefore not surprising
that the level of net impaired loans in Commercial Banking fell from
$125 million to $95 million between October 2003 and October 2004.

The Credit Department and Commercial Banking are working
closely together in order to cut costs and processing times. They
are also collaborating in updating credit approval and risk monitoring
tools so that the Bank will be fully ready for the implementation of
the new Basel Accord, an international treaty governing risk
management for the chartered banks of the signatory countries.

Commercial Banking revenues remained stable in 2004. There
was a slight drop in loans to small businesses and to the com-
mercial segment, i.e., financing for mid-sized enterprises that do
not require recourse to capital markets. Many of these medium-
sized and sometimes fairly large enterprises have the same
financial profile as major corporate clients, specifically, a very
liquid balance sheet that encourages them to reduce their debt

Revenues - Commercial Banking

Year ended October 31
(taxable equivalent basis}i!i
{miitions of dotlars}

Change

2004 2003 %

Small businesses 246 249 1)
Commercial 400 408 {2)
Energy 3 25 24
Real estate 15 14 7
Total 692 696 (1)

{1} See “Financial Reperting Method” on page 14.

and finance a fairly tow level of investment out of their cash flow.
However, Commercial Banking took advantage of strong growth
in the real estate and energy sectors to post increases in revenue
of 7% and 24% respectively. Overall, the contribution before taxes
was up 2.4% because of a minor 1% decrease in operating
expenses and a 15% drop in the provision for credit losses.

Results

Duringifiscal 2004, the Personal and Commercial segment earned
netincome of $388 million, an increase of 8% over the $358 million
recorded in 2003. The segment generated $1,955 million in revenues,
which was $78 million or 4% more than a year earlier. Net interest
income rose $41 million or 3%, driven primarily by volume growth
in loans and acceptances, which were up $1.9 billion or 5%. The
effect on net interest income was partially offset by a narrower
interest spread, which was 3.18% in 2004 versus 3.23% in 2003.
Other income amounted to $666 miltion in 2004, compared to
$629 million the previous year. The growth was attributable mainly
to transaction fees, credit card revenues, insurance revenues and
fees paid by the Wealth Management segment for the sale of mutual
funds and trust services. Operating expenses for fiscal 2004 totalted
$1,216 million compared to $1,162 million in 2003. Almost half of
this $54 million increase was related to salaries, with the remainder
divided between technology development expenses and product
promotion costs. In addition, net impaired loans fell sharply [21%),
another sign of better portfolio quality.
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Segment Results - Personal and Commercial ;

Net income

Year ended October 31
! ftaxable equivaient basis)ti
Change
2004 2003 %
Net interest income 1,289 1,248 3
1 Other income 466 629 6
Total revenues 1,955 1,877 4
Operating expenses 1,216 1,162 5
: Contribution 739 715 3
i Provisian for credit losses 136 155 (13
; Income before income taxes 603 560 8
Income taxes 215 202 b
388 358 8
Average assets 40,544 38,679 5
Risk-weighted assets 27,007 25,222 7
Average deposits 30,063 29,359 2
Net impaired loans 1 141 (21)
Efficiency ratio 62.2% 61.9%
1] See “Financial Réporting. Méthod on page 1

Challenges and
| Strategies -

CHALLENGE: :
Increase Personal Bankmg revenues‘

clients will involve i improvmg servuce quahty
to specific advrsors for better follow up

<

savings solutions in the branch’ network in- ‘keepmg th
wealth management objectives: the expected outcome ECh an’
increase in the number of products held and sh e of wailet k

‘PERSONAL AND COMMERCIAL

¢ trusted to Nataonal Bank by clients. Applyang effective training
nd compensatson polrues and makmg major investments in

‘ ‘technotogy will be essential to the Bank developing a better client
‘ j image and more effechve marketlng strategies. Our distinctive
‘expertise in savings combined with the wide-scale deployment of
,technologucal advances will enable us to adopt a much more

aggresswe competmve posmonmg in our natural market. With
: spect to credrt cards and insurance, our growth strategy will be

‘remforced by the ongomg .introduction of new products.

ill"be harder to' mcrease revenues in transaction activities
X cause’of their greaz sensrtxvrty to short-term interest rates.
¢ over since: consumers are increasingly resistant to service
cha‘ es, our rcom to manoéuvre is limited when it comes to
other lncome More extenswe analysis of-client segmentation will
therefore be necessary in order to offer packages that meet

cluent needs whlle we contmue our disciplined efforts in terms of

rtem:zed prscmg
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CHALLENGE R
Ensure growth ot prohtable busmess in
Commercial Bankmg

room to increase market share. Since the fmancmg of busine

business, we intend to capitalize on’ opportunm s»for contm
deployment of new specialized financing mches i) the firm’ ho

picture and television sectors, we mmated the " Health Ban
and will act on other opportumtles as they arlse

We also believe that specnallzed fmancmg is the best app oach
‘ order to sngmhcantly expand our commerctal operatlon 8

CHALLENGE , :
Enhance operating effumency

in Commercial Banking, excellent cost control rs 'enderk

very efficient because they are so spec;allzed Controlllng ou

credit decisions, centralization of admlmstratwe functtons n
increased use of remote bankmg capabllntles

In our search for greater efflctency, our ablllty to cover the wrdes
range of our cliénts" needs is an asset, sihce it broadens the bas
for absorbing fixed costs related to recrumng and:. momtorm

risk management is an expertise that is easrly ‘transferable
adaptable from one type of fmanc_mg to another.‘

routine operations and the provision of comman cash management .
products isa market that is already being well served by,the major .

cccupied by unregulated fmancnalbusmesses that callforadltterent‘ »
and more complex approach to.risk management To. grow ur' N

of repeating the success we have achleved m the’ energy, motron o

. more necessary by sluggish market conditions as wellas the Bank s
intention of moving into markets held by enterprtses ‘thatare generally :

means continuing our end-to-end reengmeermg of’ the processes:.
involved in our service offering to achieve greater automa 'on £

clients. In addition, the considerable progress wé have’ made in

;ln Personal Bankmg productwlty ga ns will result from an cngoing
jstudy of .opérating processes and their underlying systems in order
to allgn them with-our vision of being a low-cost designer and producer.
suderable etfort has been focussed on limiting losses as a result
: perattonal risk, spemflcally fraud.n the present environment of
) egulatory pressure, however cost control can pose certain challenges.

'HALLENGE
Stand-out from the competmon other than

| through pricing -

The Ba'nk wanis to:stand out by oftering a quality banking experience
hat. ia geared to c'u"storher satisfaction. It begins with optimal
rocesses that: mak“’ moments of truth” like opening an account
~oT. taking out alpanie sasier, ‘more pleasant and as short as possible.
i forthe cl1ent It.continues wvth hlgh calibre, flexible and personalxzed
dwsory services ‘that add value for the client. It also means a fuil
tite of financial product and service solutions for savings and
lgang, ,almed atindividuals and businesses alike. We intend to make
" “our mark by having an exceptionally diversified and high-quatity
“offering, and by mainta‘lnln’g our spreads in spite of the presence
:'of‘independent intermedia’ri‘esr .

'HALLENGE
Max1m|ze synergtes with other Bank units,
artlcularly Wealth Management

mmercval Bankmg mtends 10 continue playmg an active’ role in
] ial emphasts is belng placed on referring!!! business owners
- whiorare, Bank cl|ents in ‘order to-generate positive spin-offs for
"wealth management In addition, efforts will be coordinated with
) ’;Natlonal Bank Financial 50 that medium-sized enterprises can
t{,ghave dlrect\access to caplta markets These kinds of opportunities
: fcan be found among compames in the energy sector in particular.

One of the Co'rnmercial Banlging s'ubsegment's_rnajor objectives isto
, trengthen the Bank’s position @among clients with substantial liquid
. assetsin order to boost profitability and market penetration. To attract
. this revenue SOu"r'ce,At‘he Barik strives to present a highly competitive
] ,tfering,‘ wi,th re'mote services that meet the needs of business.

All these developments should further i improve the guality of our
'erwce offering and’ énhance customer satisfaction. ifge€. wants
o be the bank with solutions for SMEs. By being attentive to the
; ‘needs of its cllents and the community, National Bank has carved
out a umque posrtlon in SME fmancmg a position it will continue
lo consolldate :

11 in sccordance with the Bank’s canfidentiality folicy”
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WEALTH
MANAGEMENT

1;®

t should come as no surprise that the general aging of the

population and the uncertain future of government pension

plans are causing a shift from credit needs to savings and the

management of accumulated wealth. Baby boomers are pay-

ing off their mortgages and are beginning to have significant
net savings, which will need to be managed effectively. Volatile
stock market returns in recent years have made more than one
investor turn cautious about holding securities directly. Rather
than toiling over complex transactions, these investors expect
their products to be managed by competent professionals. We
believe this is the start of a noticeable trend.

Many professionals have come to the same conclusion and are
seeking to position themselves to serve this market. Insurance
agents, brokers, mutual fund managers and financial planners
are all vying with each other to build & relationship of trust with
the investor and obtain the privilege of managing most of his
wealth. Given this context, the great strength of an institution
such as ours lies in the fact that it already manages the bulk’of
clients’ cash savings and in that it offers an expansive array of
financial products and services. At National Bank, clients-can
count on full-service and discount brokerage services, trust serv-
ices, advisory services in all our Canadian branches, two families
consisting of more than 100 mutual funds, as well as wealth
management and private banking services, to name only a few.

This service offering comes with a selection of managed products
designed by National Bank itself—a full suite of diversified and
innovatjve investment solutions. What really sets these solutions
apart is that they enable clients to benefit from advanced diversi-
fication techniques that are nevertheless economical and easy to
use. The Bank can therefore play a more effective role than other
institutions because its principle for the medium term is to gen-
erate most returns through diversification rather than by relying
on timing, vision or just plain luck. This strategy gives the Bank a
lasting cohﬁpetitive edge and underpins our wealth management
approach: mobilize a wide range of competencies in a few well-
marketed solutions that are highly advantageous for our clients,
who have generally become more cautious. Although these prod-
ucts have traditionally been geared towards investors who did not
have the necessary resources to achieve the minimum level of
diversification that comes with owning a portfolio of securities
directly, they offer so many advantages that even clients with
substantial assets are investing several million dollars because
they are confident of enjoying excellent diversification and satis-
factory returns.

The Wealth Management segment is comprised of numerous
subsidiaries whose mission is to offer our individual, self-
employed and very small business clients a range of products
and services designed to assist them in managing their savings
and financial assets maore effectively.

Successfully offering access to such a variety of products, services
and professionals under a single banner is more than simply a
guestion ‘of economies of scale and diversification. Financial
planning and wealth management call for a comprehensive
approach matched by an offering of well-coordinated services.
Very few financial institutions are able to do this as well as
National Bank does in Quebec. That is a competitive advantage
we have every interest in preserving.

Our wealth management strategy is firmly anchored in our
branch network and our specialized distribution channels. Our
branch representatives—financial services managers and per-
sonal bankers—all play a part in marketing core products like
our mutual funds and discount brokerage service. But when a
client holds significant assets or demonstrates exceptional
growth potential, our financial planners at Wealth Management
or our account managers at Private Banking step in.

Our specialized distribution channels, the other key in our wealth
management strategy, have the common advantage of not having
to depend on the branches to acquire and serve their clients, many
of whom are not involved in a traditional banking relationship with
the Bank. The Individual Investor Services division of Nationat
Bank Financial {NBF) and Altamira, whose activities are discussed
below, are found in this category. The products of National Bank
Securities are also available to third parties. As for financial securi-
ty, National Bank Insurance Firm is active in the sale of individual
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life insurance policies to our self-employed clients and in supply-
ing group RRSPs in partnership with Industrial-Alliance. This sub-
sidiary relies on a sales force of 70 representatives.

Together, the members of National Bank's Wealth Management
family oversee every aspect of personal investing as part of a
coherent strategy that draws on their complementary nature and
existing synergies and covers as wide a scope as possible in order
to better serve target clienteles. ' '

Wealth Management Revenues
{millions of dollars]
I Other
2 Brokerage
200
150 :
ZhE
100 I
50 B ’ -
0 w w - ‘-" i = L .
Q1-03 (2-03 Q3-03 Q4-03 Q1-04 Q2-04 Q3-04 Q4-04

When it comes to revenue generation, fiscal 2004 can be divided
into three parts. The first half of the year was characterized by a
strong rebound in business activity in the wake of the stock market
uptick that got under way in the summer of 2003. Consequently,
revenues for the first six months of the year shot ahead 27% in
comparison to the previous year. The summer of 2004 was a
calmer period, with investors adopting a more cautious stance

Year ended October 31
{taxable eguivalent basis}i!!
{mitlions of doltars]

Assets Under Management or Administration and Revenues - Wealth Management

given the global context of rising oil prices and heightened ten-
sions in the Middle East. The stock market recovery, buoyed by the
earnings of North American companies and a favourable global
growth outlook, seems to have convinced investors to shed their
wait-and-see attitude in the final months of the year, as reflected
by higher revenues. Overall, 2004 was a good year for Wealth
Management, with revenues moving up 13% to $743 million.

Total assets under management or administration at the various
units in the Wealth Management segment grew by 16% from
$155 billion to $181 billion. Assets managed or administered
for individuals by National Bank (including third-party products
such as mutual funds for the Quebec order of engineers) rose
by $15.5 billion or 16%. In general, gains were made in every
category. Institutional assets such as pension funds or transfer and
custody operations also surged, climbing 17% to reach $55.1 billion.
Increases were recorded in that area by both Natcan Investment
Management and National Bank Trust.

Looking back at brokerage operations in 2004, assets under
administration at the National Bank Correspondent Network (NBCN}
jumped 27%, illustrating the outstanding success of that business
unit in penetrating its target market. The assets of NBF, including
NBCN, advanced another $12 billion after rising $10 billion in 2003.
Based on the aggregate total of $81.5 billion in assets under
management for clients or under administration for third parties,
NBF ranks among the top Canadian brokers in terms of its capacity
for distributing new issues to individual investors.

Brokerage revenues were up 12% this past year, with approximately
75% of those revenues stemming from NBF Individual Investor
Services. Revenues earned by National Bank Discount Brokerage

Assets under management or administration Revenues
Change Change
2004 2003 % 2004 2003 %
National Bank Financial 41,470 38,098 9% o
Correspondent Network 40,008 31,434 27% } 453 408 1%
National Bank Discount Brokerage 7,854 7,186 9% 45 37 21%
Securities brokerage 89,332 76,718 16% 498 445 12%
National Bank Securities 6,477 5,507 18% 57 IAA 29%
Altamira 4,087 4,527 (10)% 56 61 (8]%
Mutual funds 10,564 10,034 5% 113 105 7%
Natcan Investment Management 27,947 24,541 14% 56 36 56%
National Bank Trust - Institutional 37,498 31,650 18% } 7 53 35%
National Bank Trust - Individuals 11,224 8,188 37%
Other [mortgages sold) 4,033 4,217 {4)% 5 19 {741%
Gross total 180,598 155,348 16% 743 658 13%
Institutional and other funds 55,138 47,088 17%
Assets presented in more than one activity 14,552 12,830 13%
Total retail assets 110,908 95,430 16%

{1) See "Financial Reporting Method” on page 14,
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grew much more rapidly than assets (21% and 9% respectively),
confirming that investors were more active in 2004.

In the mutual fund sector, National Bank Securities mutual funds
climbed 18% whereas Altamira funds were down 10% mainly
because of their indirect distribution channel which relies on
independent investment advisors and securities brokers. Total
mutual fund assets under management rose 5% after holding
fairly steady in 2003. The increase in the revenues earned by
National Bank Securities [29%] exceeded the increase in assets
under management (18%), demonstrating the Bank’s ability to
take advantage of stronger markets in order to migrate mutual
fund investments towards products that add considerable value,
both for investors and the Bank itself.

Natcan Investment Management was able to take advantage of the
overall growth in National Bank Mutual Funds and the rapid
progress made by Private Investment Management, which was also
responsible for boosting the assets under administration at
National Bank Trust. The strong performance of Private Investment
Management fuelled the revenues of National Bank Trust and
Natcan Investment Management, which also benefitted from the
fact that it took over the management of Altamira mutual funds.

These various growth rates resulted not only from stronger mar-
kets but also from the inflow of new funds and new clients. The
fact that retail assets under management have advanced at such
a steady rate during the past few years, despite conditions that
have remained uncertain, is eloquent testimony to the value of
active portfolio management and the services provided by invest-
ment advisors, who map out market-tailored strategies in line
with the specific needs and goals of each investor.

The Bank therefore had a very good year both in terms of grow-
ing assets and revenues as well as in ensuring that across-the-

board gains were made throughout the business units.

Securities Brokerage

Fuli-service brokerage

Full-service brokerage services, provided by individual investor
Services of NBF, constitute the primary source of the Wealth
Management segment’s securities brokerage revenues. These
upscale retail brokerage services are available across Canada
through a network of 89 branches and a complement of 741
investment advisors. As the leading full-service broker in Quebec,
NBF has an estimated market share of between 25% and 30%. The
recruitment of advisors in recent years has enabled the company
to strengthen its presence outside Quebec. Brokerage revenues
generated outside Quebec accounted for 38% of revenues in 2004.
NBF’s recruitment efforts are succeeding for several reasons
including NBF's entrepreneurial environment, the growing
reputation of the NBF brand in the Canadian market, the quality
of the firm’s research, and the sophisticated range of new issues

and structured products available for distribution to NBF's retail
client base.

The complete array of investment products and personalized advi-
sory services available through the Individual Investor Services
division are offered with a single focus in mind, namely, address-
ing clients’ investment objectives from an independent viewpoint.
Investors may choose between transaction-based fee structures
and comprehensive fixed fee structures, such as the Ambassador
and Emissary Portfolio Services, which use third-party specialized
fund managers to manage clients’ assets. Through a subsidiary,
NBF Financial Services, other services available include insur-

~ ance and estate planning. Investment advisors work closely with

banking and cash management specialists to offer investors
seamless access to these products and services.

Ina market thatis generally characterized by increasingly shorter
cycles and no overriding trends, the ability to offer context-specific
products is a key advantage. In doing so, Individual investor Services
and the other National Bank units enjoy a mutually beneficial
rela'tionship‘ The Corporate Finance Group’s enviable positioning
with respect to income trusts, innovative structured products such
as the note linked to the Dow Jones Global Titans index, and the
leading role played by the bond trading desk enabled our advisors
to maintain volumes given the popularity of these many products.
In addition, the Bank’s role in providing corporate financing through
equity and debt security underwriting generates a continuous
stream of new issues that are attractive to investors. A good indicator
of this synergy is the measure of new issues as a percentage of
commission revenue. In 2004, new issues generated 21.6% of
commissions compared to 6% in 2000.

National Bank Correspondent Network

The National Bank Correspondent Network (NBCN] division of
NBF offers third-party clearing and brokerage services. More than
90 associated organizations staffed by some 5,000 financial advisors
trade through NBCN for their 420,000 clients, making it by far
Canada’s leading provider of such services. The breadth of its
correspondent-services makes NBCN unique in Canada. For
instance, the company offers accounting services, office support
services and research products, while ensuring that independent
advisors have access to new issues that would otherwise not be
available to them.

in addition to its significant contribution to bottom and top line
results, NBCN augments the performance of NBF by enabling NBF
to maintain a highly competitive cost-per-trade pricing structure
for capital market transactions and securities custody operations.
The combined trading volume of NBCN, NBF and the Bank is among
the largest in Canada. NBCN wields considerable distribution power,
which has a favourable impact on NBF's equity and debt underwriting
market share. NBCN serves as an additional distribution outlet for
the Bank's investment and banking solutions.
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National Bank Discount Brokerage

With the stock market gaining strength during the past year, the
number of discount brokerage transactions jumped 25%, grow-
ing faster than assets under management [9%). As trading vol-
umes generated a substantial increase in revenues, profitability
was good for National Bank Discount Brokerage [NBDB), which
has a high proportion of fixed costs and can therefore count on
economies of scale. This increase in activities was accompanied
by an improvement in service quality as NBDB regained first
place in the Dalbar surveys, enjoying a position far ahead of its
nearest competitor especially in terms of telephone access. In
2004, many changes were made to the Web platform in order to
enhance its functionality for the benefit of clients. In the future,
NBDB will increasingly distinguish itself through the quality of
the support services it provides to fully autonomous investors as
well as to those who want their trades to be vetted.

Mutual Funds

The year 2004 can be described as a year of optimistic recovery as

stock markets rallied. For example, although investors were still
cautious to some extent, they began to convert their liquid assets
into more tong-term instruments, clearing the way for positive net
sales of short-term, income and investment solutions,

Nationat Bank Securities : )

National Bank Securities (NBS) posted positive results in 2004, with
net asset inflows of $751 million or 13.6% of assets under adminis-
tration. By comparison, the five other major banks recorded net
inflows equivalent to 4.9% of their assets. The situation was partic-
ularly favourable for long-term funds, with $782 million in net sales.
The difference is attributable chiefly to a'decline in the institutional
money market. Net assets are now $6.5 billion, up 17.8% from 2003.

Net Sales of Long-Term Funds
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Launched in December 2001, Strategic Portfolics offer investors
an aptimum investment solution, where asset allocation is based
on six investor profiles. They are a turnkey solution that combines
an advantageous return with effective diversification features.
Portfolios are automatically rebalanced every six months. As at

October 31, 2004, accumulated assets in Strategic Portfolios
amounted to over $1.7 billion, or nearly one-third of National
Bank's long-term funds, a progressien in sales that has exceed-
ed expectations. With Strategic Portfolios joining monthly income
funds and diversified funds in the investment solutions category,
investment solutions now account for over 68% of the assets
invested in long-term funds, as compared to only 10% in 2001.

Having successfully implemented its business development plan
with advisors in the Bank's branch network and at National Bank
Financial, in September 2003 NBS launched an outside development
strategy for its family of funds. Now, in addition to being offered
through the Bank’s network and National Bank Financial, Nationat
Bank Mutual Funds can also be purchased from independent bro-
kers. This market niche, which National Bank had previously left
untapped, represents enormous growth potential. Agreements con-
cluded with four major Canadian banks as well as Laurentian Bank
and Desjardins generated sales in excess of $200 million.

Altamira

Our subsidiary Altamira continued its development efforts by
taking full advantage of its excellent trademark and focussing
its strategy on advisory services and investment solutions. On
these fronts, Altamira can rely on unparalleled customer serv-
ice that has ranked first in the Dalbar survey four times in the
past six years.

Altamira continues to play an important role in the Bank's wealth
management strategy beyond the Quebec market. Building on its
strengths as a telephone-based private banking speciatist and
advisor, Altamira now has seven advisors who have been
deployed in National Bank branches in order to offer clients a
wider range of investment solutions.

Investment Management

The year ended October 31, 2004 was very active for Natcan
Investment Management, particularty because of the integration
of its team of managers with Altamira’s team. The year also saw
the recruiting of 3 number of seasoned managers.

The integration, which was finalized on November 1, 2003 fol-
lowing Natcan's acquisition of Altamira Management Ltd., had
several objectives. First, the Bank sought to strengthen the per-
formance of the two families of funds [National Bank and
Altamira funds) by entrusting portfolio management to the best
resources in each organization. Second, the Bank deemed it
important to review the management style of certain funds to
better align them with today’s financial markets and the tem-
pered risk tolerance of many investors in recent years. Lastly, it
was looking for significant cost savings from the synergies
expected following the acquisition of Altamira.
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Natcan not only manages the mutual funds and wealth manage-
ment portfolios offered by the Bank and its subsidiaries, it also
manages portfolios for other institutions, including the pension
plans and the portfolios of many foundations and religious
orders. Managed assets have grown significantly in recent years
and today stand at close to $28 billion.

Trust Services

Through its subsidiary National Bank Trust, National Bank offers
high value-added services such as Private Investment Manage-
ment to a wealthy clientele. Private Investment Management
includes components such as estate planning, financial planning
and the creation and administration of trusts. Most recently, the
Bank's offering of trust services was expanded to include an
asset protection trust designed for executives and business own-
ers for legal accountability purposes. In addition, a specialized
team works closely with other Bank units to ensure that busi-
nesses can be transferred smoothly from one generation to the
next.

The trust services offered by the Bank posted exceptional results
with the Private Investment Management product. This discre-
tionary management service is intended for upscale clients who,
in their search for capital preservation, growth and tax effective-
ness, entrust their assets to managers and experts with a disci-
plined investment approach who track markets and make day-to-
day decisions on their behalf. This product is in line with National
Bank’s wealth management strategy and is one of the founda-
tions for building its wealth management distribution network
and business clientele.

During the past year, National Bank Trust significantly enhanced
its service offering with the introduction of complementary securities,
namely, high-yield bonds and preferred shares as well as hedge
funds. Traditionally reserved for institutional clients, these
instruments increase the potential return and diversification -of
investment strategies. Private Investment Management has
developed very rapidly in recent years. Its assets under management
grew by 45% in 2004, reaching $3.4 billion. Growth was attributable
to net sales in excess of $880 million, up sharply from $300 mitlion
in 2003. Most of those sates represent newly invested assets. In
addition, the number of clients rose by 2,000 during the year. This
success was due to a number of factors. For instance, the product
is highly flexible [in addition to having five model risk profiles to
choose froam, investors can rely on external managers for each of
the equity portfolios) and the volatility of returns is reduced by using
hedge funds and tactical deviation for asset class weightings. Private
Investment Management has also benefitted from the referral efforts
of the advisors in the Bank's branch network, especially the financial
planners in the Wealth Management business line. The popularity
of the product is evidence of its quality: it attracts a broad range of
upscale investors who may have a few hundred thousand or several
million dollars to invest.

National Bank Trust has enlisted the services of Natcan
Investment Management to act as advisor and lead manager.
Managers with complementary styles have also been added to
ensure the diversification sought by certain clients.

Results

Altin all, the segment had $166 billion in assets under management
or administration and generated net income of $105 million in 2004,
a 28% increase over fiscal 2003 after recording 23% growth in fiscal
2002. Revenues were $743 million, up 13% from $658 miltion the
previous year. Over half of the gain was attributable to brokerage
activities, white a quarter came from investment management and
the remainder stemmed primarily from mutual funds. Operating
expenses amounted to $576 million in 2004, compared to
$526 million in 2003. Nearly two-thirds of the increase resulted
from variable compensation driven by higher trading volumes for
brokerage activities. Moreover, the efficiency ratio improved in
2004, going from 79.9% to 77.5%.

Segment Results - Wealth Management

Year ended October 31
{taxabie equivalent hasis)
{millions of dollars]
Change

2004 2003 %
Net interest income 93 N 2
Other income 650 567 15
Total revenues 743 658 13
Operating expenses 576 526 10
Contribution 167 132 27
Provision for credit {osses - - -
income before income taxes 167 132 27
income taxes 58 46 26
Non-controlling interest 4 4 -
Net income 105 82 28
Average assets 834 805 4
Risk-weighted assets 554 659 {16)
Average deposits 2,355 1812 30
Efficiency ratio 77.5%  79.9%

{1] See “Financial Reporting Method” on page 14.
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" the Bank has adopted for its banking cl:entete

All operating units aim to increase their share of waue

right clients in keeping with their fmanc;al sutuatfon and pers
preferences. We wvlt therefore contmue to segregate the fun

that managed products such as Strategm Portfobos é
Investment Management are wetl suited to most of

the branches and, more mportantly, bymatch«ng up:i
advisors. :

On the full- servrce brokerage side, the use ofprogram
based commissions rnust be expanded even more

W,

advisor. Lastly, with a view to burtdmg on the suc' s5e5.0f the past )
fiscal year, we will continue to make the most of synergses'm order,
to offer our clients the latest investment solutions avallabte in the ‘
industry. Efforts will be stepped up to-maintain and increase our “Jron netincome. InWeatlth Management productivity is raised by lowering
advisors’ level of expertisé. Nationat Bank Fmanmal will emp oy
the highest performing tools to be better: able-to sefve its’ high net. g

worth clients, which will result in.an mcrease |n managed assets

and improved productlvuty

Altamira’s ability to fulfitl its growth potent131 hmge partty on’

‘

coordinating its efforts with those of the Bank. To tap mto he g wth‘k”

environment, Attamwa can.count on the’ efﬂcuenc
distribution model-and |ts proven ab\bty to forge tong,
relations. The Bank will strive to harness its vaiue added adv
expertise and apply it to markets outside Quebec [whrch ave not

been extensively solicited until now} to sell wealth managementf”g,

outside Quebec. Both these orgamzattons must spearhead‘ a strategy :
that is both mtertwmed with, yet mdependent from the strategy

thoughi ‘
the means may vary from-one to the other. To succeed wnth our ¥
banking clients, we need a combination. of nlgh performmg g
investment vehicles and the ablhty to'sell the r:ght products tothe:

statnabte fund returns which is key to the success of dnrect
mutualtund sates )

CHALLENGE Expand our client base

Specvaltzed networks and products especially outside our core rnarket,
are needed to broaden our client base. The strategy for expanding
Stionat Bank Financial's _gecgraphic scope by recruiting advisors
ha proven its ments and is bemg pursued. In fact, recruitment is
becommg mcreasmgly eas;er as the Bank gams more and more
recognmon on capltal markets whichproves to prospective employees
that they are tearmng up withan organization that is both dynamic
and offers top -of- the line products and support. The advantage of

- ,jommg forces wnth Attarmra is that, in addition to capitalizing on its
' ,Jnternat synergles it-enjoys perenmal popularity in surveys.

At ;National Bank‘ Securities, our focus is on the new external
*distribution stracture for the Advisor series of funds under which
v‘.fall'these ’mutuat‘funds are avaitab e to independent financiat

a number of presttg;ous firms. National Bank is counting on the
high quahty of customner. service at National Bank Securities to
make mroads |nto the :ndependent advisor market.

Thanks to the qualcty of Pravate Investment Management and the

level. ot servnce thls product has surpassed our expectations in
terms of lts potentlal to draw in new clients, particularly those with
ns»derable assets. Thisis what makes National Bank a genuine
compehtor of the welt known independent fund managers. The
i:cess of this private dxscret;onary management service, in tandem
th National Bank Fmancnals established reputation with wealthy
lents guarantees Natlonal Bank a place among the top-ranking
weatth managers in its core Quebec market and across the country.

C ALLENGE Boost productmty

Cons;dermg thatWealth Management has the highest percentage of

- ~€osts to revenues, & rélativé decrease in costs has the greatest impact

costsper transactson and by increasing volumes both per transaction

and perctzent tn order tofurther cut unit costs, the Bank will continue ‘
. V'to invest in transaction automatron by making use of Web technology

‘and consol:datmg dlfferent platforms Moreover, we will pursue our
objectave ofi mcreasmg the average size of all wealth management .
rtfobos focussnng initially on the-ones that will affect revenues and
fixed costs the most, specxflcally, full-service brokerage. Atthe branch
‘ el the cumulatlve growth in busmess volumes per financial planper
! ances productlwty
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FINANCIAL

MARKETS

R

he Financial Markets segment encompasses all brokerage .

and financing services which National Bank and National

Bank Financial offer corporate and institutional clients,

as well as the investment and trading operations carried

out on the Bank's own behalf. As shown in the insert jo:r\,
page 46, the activities of the Finan;ialMarkets segment extend
well beyond financing activities in debt and capital markets. They
include functions critical to the operations of a major bank such
as funding, asset and liability matching and investment portfolio
management.

Revenues for this segment were up 6% in 2004, to nearly $1 bitlien.
Despite the apparent quarter-to-quarter volatitity, annual growth
has actually been quite regular and sustained in recent years.

This overall increase in revenues was attributable to a very strong
performance in terms of financial market fees and revenues from
banking services to Canadian corporations, which rese 22% and
32% respectively. However, a financial environment characterized
by low, fairly stable interest rates, was not very conducive to
earning trading revenues on fixed-rate instruments or gains from
asset and liability management. Nonetheless, the Bank succeeded

in doubling its gains on securities, which stood at $100 mitlion.

in 2004.

Revenues - Financial Markets

{millions of dollars)
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Revenues for the second guarter of 2003 do not include a $19 mitlion loss
on credit decivatives unrelated to financial market activities.

"The revenue breakdown of the Financial Markets segment itlus-

trates the exceptional performance in a number of areas in fiscal
2004. National Bank Financial acted as advisor and/or financial
arranger for a number of merger and acquisition projects under-
taken by long-time clients such as The Jean Coutu Group (PJC] Inc.,
Atimentation Couche-Tard, CGl Group Inc., Sherritt International
Corporation and Harvest Energy Trust. In many cases, U.5. com-
panies were the targets and the transactions were among the
largeét involving Canadian companies in 2004. Based on transac-
tion data compiled by Bloomberg, National Bank ranked among
the premier firms in the Canadian mergers and acquisitions mar-
ket in 2004. Not only did its advisory role in these projects earn
the Bank substantial fees, but, as part of these relationships, the

. Bank becomes one of the lead managers in the syndicates respon-

sible for financing the transactions, thus opening up another source
of revenue.

These successes illustrate how National Bank, through its

subsidiary National Bank Financial, has become one of the top-

tier securities brokerage firms in Canada, and the undisputed
industry leader in Quebec. It has succeeded in carving out enviable
niches in the Canadian market and has been a dominant player,

Market Share, New Issues

12-month period ended September 30, 2004

Equities

Corporate bonds

Provincial bonds 12.5%
Treasury bills
Canada bonds
L] L] w
0 5% 10% 15%
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Revenue Breakdown - Financial Markets

Year ended October 31
[taxable equivalent basis)!!

{rulijons of dollars! Change
2004 2003 %
interest rate 43 86 (50
Equities 190 145 31
Commodity, precious metal
and currency contracts 30 96 (69)
Trading revenues 263 327 (20)
Banking services 190 144 32
Financial market fees 284 232 22
Asset/liability management 47 80 {41)
Gains on securities 100 50 100
Other 103 98 5
Total 987 931 6

{i] See "Financial Reporting Method™ on page i4.

for over a decade, in the market for government bonds, particutarly
at the provincial and municipal levels. In recent years, National
Bank Financial has also been one of the leading issuers in th‘e_
booming income trust market. Fiscal 2004 was no exception, with
income trust issues contributing to the very strong increase in
financial market fee revenues.

One of the main strengths of this subsidiary is its exceptional
distribution capacity, which greatly enhances its debt and equity
underwriting services. For individual investors, National Bank
Financial boasts an extensive network of full-service brokers in
Canada, and indirectly serves an additional 420,000 clients through
its Correspondent Network. Institutional investors are served by
the fixed-income and equities trading desks. Our loan syndication
group demonstrated its excellent ability to manage loan assets by
selling large portions of the commitments made in the financial
syndicates set up for the transactions described earlier, and our
equity syndication group continued to earn National Bank Financial
underwriting syndicate positions commensurate with its placement
power. This extensive sales network is ably supported by aresearch
department that consistently ranks among the best in the country.

In fact, the most recent Brendan Wood study ranked National Bank
Financial second for the quality of its research.

Although 2004 was a banner year for corporate financing through
securities, it was more of a challenge for corporate lending
operations. Driven by the North American economic recovery, profits
were much more robust but did not lead to renewed corporate
investment spending. The resulting high levels of cash resources
combined with easy access to capital markets spurred many
corporate clients to trim back their bank debt. Consequently,
corporate loan and bankers’ acceptance volumes fell 21%.

The Financial Markets segment also ptays an important role as a
manufacturer of wealth management products, mainly for individual
clients of the National Bank group but also for outside investors
often through independent financial advisors. During the year, our
structured products team—a teader in Canada due to its vast
experience and the variety and ingenuity of its structures—designed
and marketed some 60 products with a total value of $2 biltion. In
addition, National Bank participated in 80 other issues as co-leader
or agént, Structured products include guaranteed capital notes
pegged to different indexes, and income trusts.

This same innovative approach is reflected in our alternative
management portfolio, one of the first and now one of the largest
in Canada. Our fund is widely distributed and gaining in popularity
among individual clients, whether in the form of notes or structured
products with guaranteed capital or directly in Private Investment
Management portfolios. Of the US $1,250 million under management,
71% is "held" by individuals, 15% by institutions and the balance
is in the Bank’s own portfolio.

Another example of our ability to innovate and join with major partners
is the creation of Asset Management Finance Corporation, which is
50% owned by Pacific Life, a leading U.S. insurance company. The
primary goal of this joint venture is to finance changes in the ownership
of fund management companies. Through narrowly targetted initiatives
such as this one, together with wider coverage of capital markets in
Canada, the Financial Markets segment intends to bolster and diversify
its revenues and profits.

Corporate Financing —|

Year ended October 37
{millions of dollars]
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Also of note is the strategic alliance between Louis Dreyfus
Corporation and National Bank to provide value-added products
and services to the natural gas market in Canada. Louis Dreyfus
will participate with the Bank in developing and providing innovative
products, services and risk management to Canadian natural gas
producers, aggregators and consumers. The alliance will couple
Louis Dreyfus’ physical energy delivery, merchandising and asset
optimization capabilities with the Bank's proven expertise in
derivatives and financial structuring.

In all, the Financial Markets segment has some 30 profit centres,
reflecting the diversity of its operations. The purpose of this
diversification is twofold: to maintain leading-edge expertise in the
various markets and product areas, and to minimize the capital
needed by diversifying product and market risks to the Bank’s
advantage. As financial markets offer different opportunities
depending on the stage of the economic cycle and the specific
features of each instrument, the results generated by each particular
revenue stream can vary quite widely. The management style used
by the Bank allows it to seize these opportunities as they arise, to
atlocate capital accordingly and thereby minimize the overall volatility
of results despite the volatility inherent in each market.

By actively managing the capital allocated to the various trading
desks and closely monitoring risks and positions, we can take full
advantage of market upswings and quickly withdraw during market
downturns. in this way, we keep the volatility of results asymmetricat,
with occasional peaks in an otherwise steady continuum of positiveA
results, a significant portion of which comes from third-party
transactions with minimat risk for the Bank. The key is to apply the
latest expertise to complex markets in such a way as to take quick
preventive action in the event of losses, while allowing gains to
accrue,

Results

With all the factors that determine profitability aligned in the same
direction in 2004, net income in the Financial Markets segment
climbed 14% year over year, to $250 million. Segment revenues,
at $987 million, were up $56 million, or 6%. Gains on securities
and corporate financing revenues were offset in part by the decline
in trading revenues. Operating expenses were $541 million,
compared to $527 million in 2003. Variable remuneration expenses
increased $19 million. However, savings were achieved by
streamlining certain non-profitable activities. The efficiency ratio
improved, from 56.6% in 2003 to 54.8% in 2004. Overall, the Bank’s
varied and diversified operations within the financial markets
continue to make a significant contribution to its growth and
outstanding profitability.

Segment Results - Financial Markets

Year ended October 31
{taxabie equivalent basis)ii!
imitlions of dotlars) Change
2004 2003 %
Net interest income 256 186 38
Other income 731 745 (2)
Total revenues 987 931 6
Operating expenses 541 527 3
Contribution 446 404 10
Provision for credit losses 52 63 (17)
Income before income taxes 394 341 16
Income taxes 144 122 18
Net income 250 219 14
Average assets 42,364 37,819 12
Risk-weighted assets 14,600 16,020 (9l
Average deposits 18,254 17,459 5
Net impaired loans 49 107 (54}
Efficiency ratio 54.8% 56.6%

{1] See "Financial Reporting Method” on page 14,
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WChaHengeSand

CHALLENGE:

FINANCIAL MARKETS

Strateg|es

CHALLENGE:
Contend with the economic and geopolltlca ;
uncertainty reflected in lacklustre fmanc:al
markets

To offset the weak demand for financing in'the. 'corbo‘ra e ‘Sector
owing to high levels of cash resources and investor reststance m
the context of low potential returns,- the Bank: conttnues fo¢
out more dynamic niches such as merger and acqulsmon adv ory
services and the transformanon of busmesses |nto ;
it will continue to develop new act;vmes espe all
derivatives and commodities. The' lncreased
between financial markets and mdnwdual and S_ { ;
instruments such as structured products and alt nalwe manage'
ment strategies enables us to expand our revenue bage by: takmg» :
advantage of all competencies. The t;ghter groupmg of brokerage
and Treasury operations will produce greater: revenue and aci
synergies. Given the strong demand for absolyte return produc
i.e., products whose primary risk elements are covered S0 that the
are not likely to generate negatwe returns the Bank lntends
remain a leader in thelr deve opment and marketmg.

Strengthen the Bank’s posmomng as a leadmg
securities broker i in Canada ,

‘HALLENGE

':;Contmue to achleve relatively stable income
{-growth A

in recent years‘ t,h'e_‘Fin'an‘clal Markets segment has consistently
posted fairly- stable results given the volatility inherent in these
“markets, and major negatuve surprises have been avoided. These

onditionsare essenhal inorder for Financial Markets operations to
] Justly recognlzed as core competencaes that the Bank can rely
year afteryear These results were achieved through a voluntary
nversmcatmn ° actlvntres and effectwe risk control This cautious

Qur success in the past few years. shows that the Bank has ma e:*ﬁl R

great strides in strengthening its posmonmg asa brokér. To sustam
this trend, we will continue to excet'in prov1dmg quallty serv;ces
innovating and recruiting talented people by offenng an; envxron
ment where an entrepreneurial spirit is. valued. By addmg co
tencies, a process favoured by our uncondittonal commitm




e i e e o o s e

NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA, 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

cial Markets Segment Activities

institutional and Corporate Financing \.;"freasury Agt,ivities

Corporate and investment bankinQ e ’Durrén&:y ooer'ations L

Description - ; {
Offer private and pubtic corporatuons a compreh 1sive. range ¢ rade on the currency markets on behalf of clients and the Bank.
banking services, merger and acqursntson adwso f .

debt and equity financing. - 5

Positioning
¢ 'Ranked among the top players ln Canada
» Main busipess bank among corporatxons an
in Quebec o :
+ Second highest parttctpatlon rate .mong synd
share issues in 2004 ‘ '

Target Quebec’ corporate clients
One of he: dommant players on the currency options market

mancmg‘forthe Bank

GS'Cfiptions Lo

-Ensure’ the . Banks t:qutdlty posmon and obta in diversified, fluid,
OW-Cost financing for the Bank's operations in capital markets
nd wrth other banks

Fixed income .

Description : 7
Manage and distribute new issues and actuvely partumpate in
Canada’s secondary bond market and the.mone / rnarket through
offices in Montreal, Toronto, Vancouver New York nd-Lordan

'+ Offices in New York and London
» Business deahngs Wlth 50 to 100 of the largest mternattonal
banks on a darly basrs T

Positioning

¢ One of the key players in Canada
» Ranked first for municipal bonds " **
» Ranked first for provincial borids -+ .-

';De.scrlpllon v : s )
:Manage the mterest rate and hquudlty risks inherent in personat
and commercral bankmg operatlons

osrtiomng

Institutional equities Sl , S
au ;e Among the best pracnces in Canada

A Description : i
Distribute new issues and actively trade in the secondary equmes .
market for institutional investors. /

Portfollo management

Debcnpuon

Manage the Bank’s mvestments in equaty and fixed-income portfolios
nd spec&al:zed portfolros such as alternative management, high-
y\eld bonds prwate equrty and venture capital.

Positioning ; P ":.,( .
* Recognized for the quahty of |ts sales and tradlng téams

Market making

Desmpnon
Participate directly and actwety in the seconda
derivatives markets on Canadaan exchanges B

- One of* Canadas pioneers in alternative management on its
own’behalf and for'Bank clients

Highly® profltable venture capital operation via an indirect
.mvestment in EdgeStone Capltal ‘

,Use of otitside’ ‘managers in order to diversify management
‘styles and stablhze returns

Pesitioning :
* Largest market maker in Canada :
¢ Dominates the Montreal Exchange denvatwes rnarke

Research . Other activmes

kescrzptmn oy
lay a srgmﬁcant role i m fmancuat markets through various specialized
peratlons T .

Description
Track changes in markets mdustrtes and busrnesses wwth a vxew*to
formulating investment strategies, supportmg \ncome'1 producé|

and guiding mshtutuonaland mdnvxdual mvestors A:Pos’ tioning o “"; f

Positioning . ** Equity; * ¢redit and commodity {energy and forest product}
» Named one of the best research teams in Canada fort
of its research and investment ideas by Brendan Wood::

s Garnered first place for a second consecutwe year for cllent
contact : ‘

* Ranked second-for research quallty

+ Ten analysts among the top three for their rndustry A

T *derivatives, fund manager financing
‘. Deﬁned controtled and dtversmed risk taking
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OTHER

he "Other” heading presents data on securitization opera-
tions, gains on the sale of activities and non-recurring
items such as the revaluation of investments. It includes
revenues and expenses that are not allocated to any one
specific segment. Net interest income was negative
because it included interest paid to third parties on securitization
operations, whereas a gain at the time of the transaction and
subsequent management fees were posted to other income.

Year ended October 31
ltaxable equivalent basis)!!!
{rmillions of dollars)

2004 2003
Net interest income (193) (159)
Other income 1465 152
Total revenues {28} {7}
Operating expenses 59 42
Contribution 187} (49)
Provision for credit losses (102) (41)
income before income taxes 15 {8}
income taxes 9 4
Non-controlling interest 24 23
Net income {18) (35)
Average assets (5,070} (5,493}
Risk-weighted assets (1,338) (1,840}
Average deposits (486} (426
Net impaired loans (350)  (402)

{1} See "Financiat Reporting Method” an page 14.

For fiscal 2004, the net loss for the "Other” heading was $18 mil-
lion as against a net loss of $35 million in 2003. The reduction of
the general allowance for credit risk added $36 million, exclud-
ing income taxes, to results in the "Other” heading for fiscal 2004.

Total revenues in 2004 were $21 million lower than in 2003
because of a decrease in securitization revenues and in surplus
capital following the share repurchase programs.

At $59 million, operating expenses in 2004 were up $17 mitlion
owing to higher technological costs and an allowance taken for
vacant premises.
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FINANCIAL
ANALYSIS

ANALYSIS OF
CONSOLIDATED
INCOME

Total Revenues

Total revenues for fiscal 2004, on a taxable equivalent basis!!l,
amounted to $3,657 millicn, up $198 million or 4%. As in fiscal
2003, other income accounted for approximately 60% of total
revenues.

Year ended Octoher 31

(taxable equivalent basisli!!

fmittions of doliars) Change
2004 2003 %

Net interest income

Personal and Commercial 1,289 1,248 3

Wealth Management 93 91 2

Financial Markets 256 186 38

Other {193) {159) (21)
1,445 1,366 6

Other income 2,212 2,093 6

Total revenues 3,657 3,459 6

Cther income as a %

of total revenues 1% 61%
Average assets 78,672 71,810
Spread 1.84% 1.90%

Net interest income

For fiscal 2004, net interest income, on a taxable equivalent
basis!!), was $1,445 million, versus $1,366 million in the previous
year, an increase of $79 million or 6%. The Personal and Com-
mercial segment recorded net interest income of $1,289 million,
a 3% increase, primarily driven by the $1.9 billion, or 5%, expan-
sion in loan valumes, especially consumer loans under partner-
ship programs. The spread decreased by five basis points to
3.18% in 2004 compared to 3.23% in 2003. Once again, the pre-
vailing low interest rate environment narrowed the spread on
transaction deposits. This reduction was offset by an improve-
ment in the spread on credit card advances and mortgage loans.
In the Financial Markets segment, net interest income jumped
$70 million or 38%. This increase was related to trading activities
and must be included with the trading revenues presented as other
income. For the "Other” heading, net interest income declined

$34 mitlion, of which about two-thirds was due to the normal
course issuer bids for the repurchase of shares, which reduced
residual capital.

Other income

Totalling $2,212 million in 2004, other income, on a taxable equiv-
alent basis!!), was up 6% over the previous year. There was strong
growth in financial market fees and gains on investment account
securities, although these gains were offset by lower revenues
from trading activities.

Year ended Oclober 31
{taxable eguivalent basisi!
{mitiions of dollars] Change
2004 2003 %
Financial market fees 633 544 16
Trading revenues 234 381 (39)
Gains on investment
account securities 102 8 -
Lending and deposit fees 552 508 9
Securitization revenues 180 204 (12)
Trust services and mutual funds 244 210 16
Foreign exchange revenues 72 66 9
Other 195 172 13
Other income 2,212 2,093 b
Trading revenues
Net interest income 37 (41)
QOther income 234 381
271 340 (20}

Financial market fees climbed $89 million, or 16%, to $633 mil-
lion, representing close to 30% of other income in 2004, com-
pared to one-quarter in 2003. More active trading by individual
investors accounted for 40% of this growth, with the balance gen-
erated by the Bank’s involvement in major corporate financing
arrangements.

Taking into account the portion recorded as net interest income,
trading revenues amounted to $271 million, down $69 million
from fiscal 2003. The decline is due to trading in fixed-income
securities, foreign exchange contracts and commodities.
However, gains on investment account securities more than off-
set the slimmer trading revenues. These gains, primarily gains
from merchant banking, represented $102 million in 2004, com-
pared to $8 million in 2003.

Lending fees, card service revenues and deposit service charges
grew by $44 million, or 9%, in 2004 to $552 million. Other income
includes an amount of $25 million attributable to the change in
accounting treatment of mortgage loan prepayment penalties.
Prior to November 1, 2003, these penalties were amortized over
the term of the renegotiated mortgage loan. Since November 1,
2003, they have been recognized in income when collected.

{1} See "Financial Reporting Method” on page 4.
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At $180 million, securitization revenues for the year were downi
$24 million, or 12%, principally owing to lower securitized loan
volumes, the termination of certain programs and rising interest
rates towards the end of the year, which reduced gains on the
sale of the underlying assets.

Strong sales efforts and a return to the stock market by investors
were behind the $34 million, or 16%, rise in trust service and
mutual fund revenues.

Exchange rate volatility, as evidenced by the substantial appreci-
ation of the Canadian dollar against the US greenback during the

year, pushed up foreign exchange revenues by $6 mitlion.

Growth in portfolio management revenues accounted for $9 mit-
lion of the total increase under the "Other” heading.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses for fiscal 2004 were $2,392 millien, as

against $2,257 million in 2003, an increase of $135 million or 6%.

However, the efficiency ratio was stable at 65.3% in 2003, com-
pared to 65.4% for the year ended October 31, 2004,

Year ended October 37
[milijons of dollars/ Change
2006 2003 %

Salaries and staff benefits 1,359 1,287 6
Occupancy costs, computers

and equipment 534 504 )
Professional fees 118 112 5
Other expenses 381 354 8
QOperating expenses 2,392 2,257 6
Efficiency ratio 65.6%  65.3%

Salaries and staff benefits totalled $1,359 million for fiscal 2004,
up 6% over the previous year. This heading represents 57% of
total operating expenses, a level similar to 2003. Variable com-
pensation at National Bank Financial accounted for $67 mitlion of
the $72 million total increase. The annual salary increase and the
constantly rising cost of staff benefits were largely offset by lower
variable remuneration at Treasury and savings from measures
implemented to exit unprofitable business lines.

Occupancy, computer and equipment costs, amounting to $534 mil-
lion in 2004, were up 6% over the previous year, mainly as a result
of IT costs, which increased by $22 million. Along with the $6 mil-
lion, or 5%, rise in professional fees, totalling $28 million in 2004,
these increases can be traced to various initiatives to improve
client service and develop new markets.

Finally, at $381 million in 2004, other expenses were $27 million
higher than in 2003. Nearly 45% of the increase was due to expens-
es for product promotion and client loyalty pregrams.

Provision for Credit Losses

During the year, the Bank reduced its provision for credit losses
by half, to $86 million, compared to $177 million in 2003, Approxi-
mately 60% of this reduction was attributable to the reversal of
$55 mitlion from the general allowance for credit risk. Never-
theless, the general allowance was $350 million as at October 31,
2004, or 0.86% of risk-weighted assets. At year-end 2003, the
general allowance was $405 million and represented 1.01% of
risk-weighted assets.

Year ended October 31
Imillions of doftars) Change
2004 2003 %

Individuals 31 47 (34)
Commercial and real estate 58 &7 {13}
Corporate 52 b4 (19
Other - {1) -
Specific allowances for

credit losses 141 177 {20
General allowance for

credit risk {55) - -
Provision for credit losses 86 177 (51}
Specific allowances as a % of

average loans and acceptances  0.34%  0.45%

The specific allowances for credit losses were reduced by 20%, to
$141 million for fiscal 2004, versus $177 million for the 2003 fis-
cal year. Credit losses were down across the board in 2004. The
most significant drop was in loans to individuals, with credit loss-
es falling by $16 million, or 34%, to $31 mitlion. Commercial and
real estate credit losses declined 13%, to $58 million, and corpo-
rate credit losses shrank by $12 mitlion, or 19%, to $52 million.
Overall, the specific allowance for private risk loans, expressed
as a percentage of average loans and acceptances, was 0.34% in
2004, as against 0.45% in 2003. The ratio in 2004 was the best it
had been in 15 years.

Income Taxes

Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements on page 114
details the Bank’s income taxes. For fiscal 2004, income taxes
were $318 million, for an effective tax rate of 30%, the same as in
2003.
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ANALYSIS OF
FOURTH-QUARTER
CONSOLIDATED
INCOME

ANALYSIS OF
CONSOLIDATED
CASH FLOWS

f

For the fourth quarter ended October 31, 2004, the Bank reported
net income of $192 million, or earnings per share of $1.11, com-
pared to net income of $158 million, or earnings per share of
$0.87, for the corresponding quarter one year earlier. Net income
climbed $34 million, or 22%, while earnings per share were up
$0.24 or 28%.

During the quarter, the Bank reversed $35 million of its general
allowance for credit risk, which increased earnings per share for
the quarter by $0.13. Furthermore, the specific allowances for
credit losses were $27 million for the quarter, compared to
$50 million for the fourth quarter of 2003. This reduction added
$0.09 to earnings per share for the fourth quarter of 2004 com-
pared to the corresponding quarter of 2003.

Total revenues for the quarter, on a taxable equivalent basis!l),
stood at $932 million versus $934 million in the year-earlier period.
Trading revenues, which were particularly high in the fourth
quarter of 2003, were down $55 million. This decline was offset
by gains on investment account securities.

Operating expenses for the quarter totatled $625 million,
compared to $623 million for the same quarter of 2003. Variable
compensation related to trading activities, which were down
during the quarter, explains the modest increase in operating
expenses.

Due to the nature of the Bank’s business, most of its revenues and
expenses are cash items. Moreover, significant cash flow move-
ment can be observed, especially in trading activities which
impact several assets and liabilities such as trading account secu-
rities, securities sold short and securities sold under repurchase
agreements.

Year ended October 31
{mittions of dollars)]
2004 2003

Cash flows from:
Operating activities 282 (4,711)
Financing activities 2,587 6,473
Investing activities [4,139)  [1,579)
Increase (decrease] in cash

and cash equivalents {1,270) 183
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 7,047 6864
Cash and cash equivalents at end 5,777 7.047

Cash and cash equivalents were down $1.3 billion for the 2004
fiscal year, after having increased $183 million in the preceding
year. As at October 31, 2004, cash and cash equivalents totalled
$5.8 billion, compared to $7.0 billion one year earlier.

As in 2003, changes in trading account securities resulted in sig-
nificant movement in cash flows from operating activities, which
rose-approximately $5 billion. Trading account securities actual-
ly grew by only $1.4 billion in 2004, compared to $6 billion in 2003.

Cash flows from financing activities represented cash inflows of
$2.6 bitlion in fiscal 2004, whereas in 2003 they were up $6.5 bil-
lion. The improvement in 2004 was essentially due to higher
deposits ($2 billion} and securities sold short ($1.7 billion]. One
year earlier, the increase stemmed from securities sold short
and securities sold under repurchase agreements.

Finally, investing activities in 2004 required $4.1 billion in cash
flows, primarily due to the increase in loans, whereas in 2003,
$1.6 billion had been invested chiefly because of securities pur-
chased under reverse repurchase agreements.

{1! See “Financiai Reperting Method” on page 74.
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ANALYSIS OF
CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET

The Bank's total assets rose $3.9 billion, or 5%, to $88.8 billion as
at October 31, 2004, compared to $84.9 billion as at year-end 2003.

Cash Resources

Cash resources, comprised primarily of deposits with financial
institutions, totalled $5.8 billion as at October 31, 2004, compared
to $7 billion a year earlier, down 17%. A description of the Bank's
liquidity management practices is presented on page 65 of the
Annual Report.

As at October 31

{billions of dollars] Change
2004 2003 %

Assets

Cash resources 5.8 7.0 (17)

Securities 32.5 301 8

Loans 41.5 38.4 8

Acceptances 3.1 33 (6)

Other 5.9 6.1 (3)
88.8 84.9 5

Liabilities and shareholders’

equity

Deposits 53.4 51.5 4

Acceptances 3.1 33 (6}

Other 26.3 241 9

Subordinated debentures 1.4 1.5 (7}

Non-controlling interest 0.4 0.4 -

Shareholders’ equity 4.2 4.1 2
88.8 84.9 5

Securities

Securities amounted to $32.5 billion as at October 31, 2004, or.
37% of total assets, for a year-over-year increase of $2.4 billion,
or 8%. Investment account securities, i.e., those generally held
long term, totalled $7.4 billion as at October 31, 2004, up
$400 million, or 6%, since the previous fiscal year-end. Trading
account securities advanced by $1.4 billion, or 7%, over the pre-
vious year. The Bank ensures that its trading activities are diver-
sified in order to capitalize on the potential of specialized niches.
The Bank’s market risk management policies are described on
page 63 of the Annual Report. Finally, securities purchased
under reverse repurchase agreements stood at $4.5 billion as at
October 31, 2004, up $500 mitlion.

Loans and Acceptances

Accounting for half of total assets, loans and acceptances were
up substantially by $2.9 billion, ar 7%, to $44.6 billion as at
October 31, 2004.

Residential mortgage loans grew 11%, to total $15.5 billion as at
October 31, 2004, compared to $14.0 billion as at October 31,
2003, an increase of $1.5 billion. This growth was sustained by a
strong performance from the residential real estate market,
especially in the primary market served by the Bank.

Personal loans and credit card receivables totalled $7.8 billion at
the end of fiscal 2004, compared to $6.1 billion a year earlier, an
increase of 28%. Credit card receivables, at $1.7 billion before
securitization, were up 13% over October 31, 2003, and consumer
loans, at $7.5 billion before securitization, were ahead 19% from
the previous year. This strong growth was partially due to the vol-
umes generated by the various partnership agreements recently
entered into by the Bank. As at October 31, 2004, the Bank had
securitized $1.4 billion of personal loans and credit card receiv-
ables, as against $1.8 billion as at October 31, 2003.

Totalling $18.2 billion as at October 31, 2004, loans to businesses
and government were relatively stable compared to fiscal 2003.
As was the case last year, small and medium-sized businesses
cut back sharply on their borrowing. As for corporate financing
transactions, most new volumes were syndicated with other
financial institutions. Table 10 on page 75 shows that business
loans are well diversified by industry type. The breakdown of
loans by industry is substantially unchanged, except for manufac-
turing loans, which accounted for 5.9% of all loans as at
September 30, 2004, compared to 8.5% in 2003.

Net impaired loans

Net of specific and general allowances, impaired loans were neg-
ative $190 million as at October 31, 2004, compared to a negative
balance of $154 million as at October 31, 2003, a 23% improvement.

As at October 31
{miltions of dollars] Change
2004 2003 %
Individuals 16 16 -
Commercial and real estate 95 125 (24)
Corporate 49 107 (54}
Other - 3 -
Net impaired loans 160 251 [38)
General allowance {350) (405) 14
Impaired loans, net of specific
and general allowances (190) {154) (23]
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Gross private impaired loans totalled $388 million as at October
31, 2004, versus $454 million as at October 31, 2003, a decrease
of $66 million, or 15%. These loans represented 11% of tangible
capital and provisions, compared to 13% a year earlier. Net of
specific allowances, impaired loans were down 36% year over
year to $160 million.

Net impaired corporate loans experienced the deepest drop,
falling by 54% to $49 million as at October 31, 2004. Net impaired
commercial and real estate loans were down $30 mitlion, which
is one-quarter less than at the end of the previous year. Finally,
impaired loans to individuals stood at only $16 million at fiscal
year-end.

A detailed description of the Bank's risk management practices
is presented on page 61 of the Annual Report.

Other Assets

As at October 31, 2004, other assets amounted to $5.9 billion, com-
pared to $6.1 biltion as at the corresponding date in 2003. ’

Deposits

Deposits, which totalled $53.4 billion as at October 31, 2004, were
up 4% over the preceding year. Personal deposits, at $23.4 bil-
lion, as presented in Table 6 on page 72 of the Annual Report,
represented 44% of total deposits. This is relatively stable com-
pared to year-end 2003. A breakdown of total personal savings
appears on page 53 of the Annual Report.

Commercial deposits decreased 3% compared to October 31, 2003,
to $15.1 billion. Purchased funds grew $2.3 bitlion to $15 billion
as at year-end 2004.

Other Liabilities

Comprised mainly of obligations related to securities sold short
and securities sold under repurchase agreements, other liabili-
ties climbed $2.2 billion from QOctober 31, 2003, to $26.3 billicn as
at Cctober 31, 2004. Changes in this heading are generally attrib-
utable to trading activities.

Subordinated Debentures and Non-Controlling Interest

Subordinated debentures were down $108 million from October 31,
2003, to $1.4 billion at the end of fiscal 2004. Two debentures
matured during the year for a total of $79 million. The appreciation
of the Canadian dollar accounted for the remainder of the year-
over-year change.

Non-controlling interest is composed primarily of US $300 mil-
lion [CDON $365 million) preferred shares issued by a wholly

owned subsidiary of the Bank.

Shareholders’ Equity

As at October 31, 2004, shareholders’ equity totalled $4.2 billion,
the same level as in 2003. The Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Sharehotders’ Equity, which appears on page 88 of the Annual
Report, details the components of shareholders’ equity.

During fiscal 2004, the Bank repurchased 8.7 mitlion of its com-
mon shares under a normal course issuer bid at a cost of
$382 million, $80 million of which was apptied against capital
stock and $302 million allocated to retained earnings.

As at October 31, 2004, the Bank had 167.4 million shares out-
standing, compared to 174.6 million a year earlier. In addition,
two series of preferred shares were trading: 7 million Series 13
shares with a par value of $175 million and 8 million Series 15
shares ‘with a par value of $200 million. There has been no
change in preferred shares since October 31, 2003.

Regulatory Capital

The Tier 1 and total regulatory capital ratios calculated according
to the standards of the Bank for International Settlements and
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada were 9.6%
and 13.0% respectively as at October 31, 2004, versus 9.6% and
13.4% as at October 31, 2003. Because of weak growth in com-
mercial loans during the 2004 fiscal year, risk-weighted assets
varied little during 2004. Furthermore, the increase in regulatory
capital attributable to available net income for the year was off-
set in large part by the common share repurchase program.

Contractual Obligations
{miltions of dollars] .
Less than Tto3 Over3to5 Over 5

1 year - years years years Total
Long-term financing - 2,052 671 450 3373
Subordinated debentures - - - 1,408 1,408
Obligations under operating leases 105 180 144 422 851
Purchase obligations 192 - 362 334 390 1,278
Total 297 2,594 1,149 2,870 6,910
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Capital management standards and procedures are explained in
more detail on page 67 of the Annual Report.

Related Party Transactions

The Bank grants loans to its directors and officers under various
conditions. The balance of loans granted amounted to:

{miliions of dollars]

2004 2003
Mortgage loans 3 2
Other loans 71 83

Since January 1, 2003, loans to eligible officers have been granted
under the same conditions as those applicable to loans granted
to any other employee of the Bank. The principal conditions are
as follows: the employee must meet the same credit require-
ments as a client; mortgage loans are granted at the market rate
less 2%; personal loans and credit card advances bear interest at
the client rate divided by 2; and personal lines of credit bear
interest at the Canadian prime rate less 3%, but never lower than
Canadian prime divided by 2.

For personal loans, credit card advances and personal lines of
credit, employees may not borrow more than 50% of their annu-
al salary at the reduced rate. The Canadian prime rate is applied
to the remainder.

Loans granted to officers before January 1, 2003 are adminis-
tered according to the conditions previously in effect, for a tran-
sitional period ending December 31, 2005. These conditions are
as follows: loans to directors are granted under market condi-
tions for similar risks; residential mortgage loans to officers are
granted at the market rate divided by 3 for the first $50,000 and
at the lower of the market rate divided by 3 and the market rate
tess 5% for the remainder; and other loans granted to officers,
mainly personal lines of credit, bear interest at the prime rate
divided by 2 for the first $10,000 to $20.000 and at the lower of
prime less 3% and prime divided by 2 for the remainder, to an
aggregate maximum of 50% of the officer’'s annual salary.

ANALYSIS OF
OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ITEMS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

In addition to the assets and liabilities that appear on the balance
sheet, the Bank manages assets for its clients that are not record-
ed on the balance sheet. These off-balance sheet items include
derivatives and other instruments for the purpose of risk manage-
ment and efficient use of capital.

Assets Under Administration and Assets Under Management

Table 9 on page 75 of the Annual Report shows assets under
administration and management. As at October 31, 2004, total
assets under administration and management amounted to
$181 billion, for a one-year increase of $26 bitlion, or 17%.

Client assets administered by the brokerage subsidiary National
Bank Financial posted the largest gains, accounting for $12 billion
of the $26 billion growth. Assets under administration at National
Bank Trust surged- $9 billion, or 22%, while assets managed by
Natcan Investment Management were up $3 billion or 14%.
Improved performance by stock markets helped fuel the increase
in assets under-administration or management.

At the end of fiscal 2004, personal savings administered by the
Bank were up $5.8 billion to $81.1 billion. The assets of National
Bank Financial clients accounted for almost half of these savings
and bank deposits, 30%.

As at October 31

{biltions of dollars) Change
2004 2003 %

Deposits 23.7 23.5 1

Full-service brokerage 38.8 35.8

Mutual funds 9.0 7.8 15

Online brokerage 6.7 6.2 8

Other 2.9 2.0 45

Total personal savings 81.1 75.3 8

In monetary terms, the strongest gains were in savings adminis-
tered by National Bank Financial, which were ahead $3 billion,
or 8%, more than half of the total growth in personal savings.
Successful mutual fund sales efforts resulted in 15% growth for a
total of $9 billion in assets under administration. The $900 million
increase in savings at Private Investment Management explains
the 45% rise in the "Other” heading.
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Special Purpose Entities

The Bank uses special purpose entities principally to securitize
financial assets in order to obtain funding, reduce credit risk and
manage capital. From time to time, the Bank acts as an interme-
diary for clients who want to use special purpose entities to secu-
ritize their financial assets.

National Bank's securitization programs

Securitization involves selling receivables to a trust, which funds
the purchase by issuing term bonds or commercial paper. Sales
of receivables are most often accompanied by a credit enhance-
ment, so that the bonds or commercial paper benefit from high-
er credit ratings. This enhancement takes the form of first loss
protection at the expense of the party selling the receivables, and
second loss protection assumed by a third party. First loss pro-
tection is usually composed of two elements: the excess interest,
i.e., the difference between the interest received on the receiv-
ables and the interest due to investors plus expenses related to
the securitization program in question, and an escrow account
deposit. Second loss protection may be assumed directly by a
loan guarantor or indirectly by a subordinate class.

Securitization programs often feature interest exchange agreements
and liquidity guarantee arrangements in order to guarantee,
respectively, interest payments and payment of principal to
investors. It should be noted that in Canada, liguidity guarantees,
which are always an integral part of commercial paper programs,
do not offer protection against credit risk for the underlying receiv-
ables; these liquidity guarantees can be invoked only if, following a
disruption of financial markets, the trust that issued the commer-
cial paper cannot meet principal maturities through new commer-
cial paper issues. The seller of the receivables is frequently also
the servicer.

Securitization of National Bank financial assets

National Bank has set up four securitization programs for its own
assets: Canadian Credit Card Trust, VISION Trust, MOTION Trust
and DPL Trust. These trusts are qualifying special purpose entities
under the terms of CICA Accounting Guideline No. 12 “Transfers
of Receivables” and are thus expressly exempt from consolidation
under CICA Accounting Guideline No. 15 “Consolidation of Variable
interest Entities” [AcG-15), which will apply to the Bank as of
November 1, 2004. The Bank also participates in two CMHC secu-
ritization programs: NHA Mortgage-Backed Securities and
Canada Mortgage Bonds. These programs are tools for manag-
ing liguidity, capital and risk.

In all the securitization programs for its own assets, National
Bank acts as the servicer of the receivables sold and, if necessary,
also provides first loss protection. Furthermore, it administers
the securitization programs and ensures that all related proce-
dures are stringently followed and that investors are paid accord-
ing to the provisions of these programs. Depending on the

program, the Bank may also be asked to act as counterparty in inter-
est exchange agreements and liquidity guarantee arrangements.

A detailed description of the asset securitization programs of
National Bank is given below.

Securitization of credit card receivables

As at October 31, 2004, National Bank had sold to Canadian Credit
Card Trust {CCCT) a credit card receivables portfolio representing
$1.5 billion of receivables outstanding of which $0.9 billion was
financed by the issue of two certificates sold to third parties and
$0.6 billion through the participation of National Bank.

National Bank provides first loss protection, which is composed
of two elements: the excess interest and an escrow account
deposit, which is currently 0.5% of the amount of the certificates
issued by CCCT, i.e., $4.5 million. Second loss protection in this
instance takes the form of a guarantee offered by a third party
and corresponds to 5% of the amount of the certificates, or
$45 million. This securitization program does not feature interest
excHange agreements or liquidity guarantee arrangements.

Securitization of uninsured mortgage loans

on residential properties with five or more units

The Bank has securitized a portfolio of uninsured mortgage loans
on residential properties with five or more units. This commercial
paper program, VISION Trust, represented outstandings of
$293 million as at October 31, 2004. First loss protection, which
is provided by National Bank, consists of the excess interest
{1.05% of commercial paper outstanding) and an escrow account
deposit [2% of the initial amount]. Second loss protection is pro-
vided by a subordinated class, in the amount of $26 million, sold
to third parties.

This program features a liguidity guarantee arrangement and an
interest exchange agreement for which National Bank assumes
75% and 100% respectively of the inherent risks.

Securitization of consumer loans

National Bank has set up two securitization programs for its con-
sumer loans: MOTION Trust and DPL Trust. Under the provisions
of the deed of sale signed with MOTION Trust, the Bank terminat-
ed the program in March 2004 when outstanding loans totalled
less than 10% of the portfolio originally sold. The DPL program
amounted to $515 million as at October 31, 2004,

The three series of certificates issued by DPL Trust are backed by
a portfolio of direct consumer loans. For each senior certificate in
a given series, there is a junior certificate subordinate to it that
represents 3% of the senior certificate. The excess interest rep-
resents 3% and the escrow account, 6%. An interest exchange
agreement assumed by National Bank completes the program.
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NHA Mortgage-Backed Securities and

Canada Mortgage Bond programs )
The Bank participates in the NHA Martgage-Backed Securities
[NHA-MBS} Program and, since its inception in June 2001, has
participated in the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB] Program.
Under the CMB Program, lenders sell NHA securities to Canada
Housing Trust [CHT), which finances the purchase through the
issue of mortgage bonds guaranteed by Canada Mortgage and
Housing Corporation {CMHC). Moreover, these mortgage bonds
feature an interest exchange agreement under which a CMHC-
certified counterparty pays CHT the interest due to investors and
receives the interest on the NHA securities.

As at October 31, 2004, the outstanding amount of NHA mortgage-
backed securities issued by National Bank and sold to third parties
was $3.3 billion. Furthermore, the Bank is the counterparty for the
interest exchange agreements on the NHA securities sold to CHT,
which are made up of mertgage loans granted by National Bank.

The NHA-MBS Program and the CMB Program do not use liquid-

ity guarantee arrangements. In accordance with the NHA-MBS
Program, National Bank advances the funds required to cover
late payments and eventually obtains reimbursement from
CMHC or GE Capital, depending on which entity insured the loan
in default.

Impact of securitization programs on regulatory capital ratios
Since NHA mortgages have a weighting factor of 0% and substan-
tially all of the NHA securities issued by the Bank are backed by
CMHC-insured mortgages, the sale of NHA mortgage-backed
securities issued by the Bank has no significant impact on the
Bank’'s risk-weighted assets and, consequently, on regulatory
capital ratios. However, the CCCT, VISION Trust and DPL Trust
programs have an impact on the Bank's capital ratios, since the
underlying assets have a weighting factor of 100%.

Securitization of third-party financial assets

The Bank periodically acts as an intermediary to assist its clients
in utilizing special purpose entities (SPEs} to achieve access to
capital market funding, minimize credit risk and manage capital.
The SPEs used are considered multi-setler asset-backed com-
mercial paper conduits.

The mutti-setler SPEs purchase or fund various financial assets

from clients and finance themselves through the issuance of
highly rated asset-backed commercial paper. The Bank's clients
continue to manage the financial assets funded by the SPEs and
generally provide some form of first loss protection. The Bank’s
primary role with respect to these multi-seller SPEs is to act as
administrative agent or financial services agent. As financial
services agent, the Bank provides transaction structuring and
conduit administrative services. The Bank does not provide-any
credit protection to the SPEs; it does, however, provide some of
the required market disruption liquidity facilities and act as prin-

cipal p'[acement agent for the commercial paper issued. The
Bank is paid market rates for the provision of these services.

The Bank does not have any ownership position in these SPEs
and, under current accounting guidelines, is not required to con-
solidate the SPEs into the accounts of the Bank. CICA Accounting
Guideline No. 15 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
{AcG-15), which will apply to the SPEs used by the Bank, will take
effect on November 1, 2004. As at October 31, 2004, these SPEs
have been structured to ensure that they will continue to not be
consolidated on the Bank's consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with AcG-15.

As at October 31, 2004, the total assets funded by these SPEs was
$2.3 billion.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Bank offers various types of derivatives to accommodate the
needs of its clients in managing their risk exposure and invest-
ment and trading activities. It also uses derivatives in its own risk
management and trading activities.

All derivatives, except those held for non-trading purposes and
which qualify for hedge accounting, are recorded on the balance
sheet at fair value. Although derivative transactions are calculat-
ed based on notional principal amounts because they serve as a
reference for calculating payments, they are not presented on the
balance sheet and do not reflect the credit risk related to deriva-
tive financiat instruments.

The total notional principal amount of the Bank's derivative
products was $292 billion as at October 31, 2004, compared to
$285 billion as at year-end 2003. The fair value of assets related
to derivative financial instruments held for trading and non-
trading purposes totalled $2,735 mitlion and $403 million, com-
pared to $2,560 million and $592 million respectively as at
October 31, 2003, while the fair value of liabilities related to deriv-
ative financial instruments held for trading and non-trading pur-
poses totatled $2,386 million and $234 million, compared to
$2,327 million and $372 mitlion respectively as at October 31,
2003. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
held for trading and non-trading purposes which do not gualify
for hedge accounting are recognized in “Other income.”

Note 1 and Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
presented on page 90 and pages 118 to 122 respectively, provide
additional details on the types of derivative products and their
accounting basis.

Guarantees .

in the normal course of business, the Bank enters into guarantee
agreements that satisfy the definition in CICA Accounting
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Guideline No. 14 "Disclosure of Guarantees” {AcG-14). The prin-
cipal types of guarantees are letters of guarantee, liguidity facit-
ities under asset-based commercial paper conduit programs fur-
ther to securitization transactions, and certain derivative finan-
cial instruments and indemnification agreements. Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 118 provides
detailed information on these guarantees, including the amounts
presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet related to these
activities and the maximum payments the Bank could be required
to make under these commitments.

Credit-Related Agreements

In the normatl course of business, the Bank enters into various
off-balance sheet credit commitments. The credit instruments
used to meet the financing needs of Bank clients represent the
maximum amount of additional credit the Bank could be obligat-
ed to extend if the commitments were fully drawn. Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 117 and 118 contains
more information on these off-balance sheet credit instruments.

CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES

A summary of the significant accounting policies used by the Bank is
presented in Note 1 and Note 2 to the consolidated financial state-
ments on pages 90 to 97 of the Annual Report. Certain of these
accounting policies are considered critical because they are impor-
tant to the presentation of the Bank's financial condition and operat-
ing results and require difficult, subjective and complex judgments
and estimates because they relate to matters that are inherently
uncertain. Any change in these judgments and estimates coutd have
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Bank. Following are the Bank’s critical accounting policies.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses reflects Management'’s best esti-
mate, as at the balance sheet date, of probable credit-retated
losses related to on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments,
primarily loans, deposits with other banks, loan substitute securi-
ties, derivative products, acceptances and other indirect credit
commitments such as letters of credit and letters of guarantee.
Management reviews portfolio credit quality on an ongoing basis
to ensure the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses.

In assessing the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses,
Management must use its judgment in establishing reasonable

assumptions and subjective and significant estimates concerning
the probability of default, probable losses in the event of default,
the amount at risk in the event of default, the amount and dates of
future cash flows, the value of the underlying security, and realiza-
tion costs. Any changes in these estimates and assumptions, as
well as the use of different, but equally reasonable, estimates and
assumptions may have an impact on the allowance for credit loss-
es and, consequently, on the provision for credit losses for the year.

A detailed description of the methods used to calculate the allow-
ance for credit losses can be found in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 90 and under "Credit risk assessment
models” in the "Credit Risk" section of this report on page 63.

All operating segments, except Wealth Management, are affected
by this critical accounting estimate.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Bank records at fair value trading securities and derivative
financial instruments other than those held for non-trading pur-
poses and which qualify for hedge accounting. Any change in fair
value is recognized in income under “Trading revenues.” Fair
value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be
exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between willing parties
who are under no compulsion to act, based on quoted market
prices. If quoted market prices are not available, fair value is
determined using estimates. The valuation technigues used to
make these estimates incorporate current market prices, the
contractual.prices of the underlying instruments, the time value
of money, yield curves and volatility factors. If necessary, fair
value is adjusted to take market, model and credit risks into
account, as well as the related costs. Because of the role of judg-
ment in estimating fair value amounts, fair values are not neces-
sarily comparable between financial institutions and may not be
indicative of net realizable value. Further information on the
determination of fair value is presented in Note 19 and Note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 118 and 124.

In the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the items affected by this crit-
ical accounting estimate are “Securities - Trading account,”
“Dbligations related to securities sold short” and certain compo-
nents of “Other assets” and "Other liabilities.” As for the Con-
solidated Statement of Income, this critical accounting estimate
affects "Trading revenues” in the Financial Markets segment.

Valuation of Investment Account Securities

Under Canadian GAAP, investment account equity securities are
recorded at acquisition cost if the Bank does not have a significant
influence, while debt securities are stated at unamortized acquisition
cost. When an investment account security experiences an other-
than-temporary impairment in value, its carrying value must be writ-
ten down to .its net realizable value. Determining whether or not




NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA, 2034 ANNUAL REPORT

Management's Discussion and Analysis

there has been an other-than-temporary impairment in vatue and
establishing the net realizable value require judgment and esti-
mates. Management examines the value of investment account
securities on an ongoing basis in order to determine whether the
securities have experienced an other-than-temporary impairment.
This examination includes an analysis of the facts specific to each
investment and an assessment of expected future returns.

As part of this exercise, Management assesses a variety of fac-
tors that could be indicative of an other-than-temporary impair-
ment in vatue. These include the carrying value of the security
being less than its market value for a prolonged period, substan-
tial losses by the investee in the prior year or previous few years,
continued losses by the investee for the previous few years, a
suspension of trading for the security, liquidity and going concern
problems of the investee, and fair value being less than carrying
value. When Management determines that a security has experi-
enced an other-than-temporary impairment, it must form a judg-
ment as to the estimated net realizable value.

Any change in the judgment used to identify securities that have

experienced an other-than-temporary impairment and in esti-
mating realizable value could have an impact on the amount of
losses recognized.

in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the item affected by this
accounting estimate is “Securities - Investment account.” In the
Consolidated Statement of Income, "Gains on investment account
securities, net” could be affected for all business segments.

Securitization

Securitization is a process by which the Bank sells receivables to
a trust which funds the purchase by issuing term bonds or com-
mercial paper to investors.

Securitization operations are recorded as sales when the Bank sur-
renders control over the receivables sold and receives a considera-
tion other than a beneficial interest in these assets. Additional details
on the Bank's securitization operations can be found in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 98 of the Annual Report
and in the section on "Special Purpose Entities,” on page 54.

To calculate the gain or loss on securitization operations, the pre-
vious carrying vatue must be allocated between the assets sold
and the retained interests based on their relative fair value at the
date of transfer. Since quoted market prices are not available for
retained interests, the Bank estimates fair value based on the
present value of estimated discounted cash flows. The Bank
therefore must use estimates and assumptions mainly for
expected credit losses, prepayment rates, discount rates and the
excess spread. The use of different estimates and assumptions
could have a material impact on income. In this regard, Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements contains a sensitivity

analysis of the current fair value of the retained interests to imme-
diate 10% and 20% adverse changes in key assumptions. The
analysis shows that a 10% change in the spread for securitized
guaranteed mortgage loans would cause a $10 million reduction in
retained interests, while a 20% decrease would cause a $20 mitlion
reduction. The balance of retained interests for securitized guar-
anteed mortgage loans was $99 million as at October 31, 2004.

This critical accounting estimate has an impact on the item
“Investment account” under “Securities” in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and on the item “Securitization revenues” under
the heading "Other” in the Consolidated Statement of Income for
all business segments.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Under Canadian GAAP, goodwill and ather intangible assets with an
indefinite life are tested periodically for impairment to ensure that
their fair value remains greater than or equal to their carrying value.
The fair value of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
is obtained using valuation models. These models take a number
of factors into account, such as projected future cash flows and
discount rates. The use of different estimates and assumptions in
applying the impairment tests for goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite lives could have a material impact on income.

The Consolidated Balance Sheet items affected by this critical
accounting estimate are "Goodwill” and “Intangible assets.”

Any aggregate impairment loss would be recognized as operating
expenses for the segment concerned and presented under the

“Other” heading.

Refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements on page
103 for.additional information.

Pension Plans and Other Employee Future Benefits

The Bank’s pension and other employee future benefit obligation as
well as the related costs require the use of actuarial valuations and
assumptions. The significant assumptions used to calculate these
amounts include the discount rates for pension benefit and other
employee future benefit obligations, the long-term rate of return on
plan assets, the rate of compensation increase, mortality rates, the
rate of employee turnover and changes in the cost of healthcare ben-
efits. The use of different assumptions could have a material impact
on the accrued benefit asset (liability) presented in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet under "Other assets” "Other liabilities”) and on pen-
sion ptan and other employee future benefit expenses presented in
the Consolidated Statement of Income under "Salaries and staff ben-
efits.” All segments are affected by this critical accounting estimate.
The significant actuarial assumptions (weighted average) used by the
Bank are shown in the following table.
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Pension benefit plans Other benefit plans
2004 2003 2004 2003
% % % %
Accrued benefit obligation as of October 31

Discount rate 6.25 6.75 6.50 6.75
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00 4,00 4.00

Defined benefit expense for years ended October 31
Discount rate 6.75 7.00 6.75 7.00
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.50 7.75 - -
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 - 4.25 4.00 3.25

For measurement purpeoses, a 7.7% annual rate of increase Income Taxes

(2003: 8.3%) in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits
was assumed for 2004. The rate was assumed to decrease grad-
ually to 5.9% for 2008 and remain at that level thereafter.

A 1% change in the expected healthcare cost trend rate would have
the following impact:
1% 1%

{mittions of dollars] increase decrease

Sensitivity analysis of other benefit plans
Impact on current service and interest cost 1 (n
Impact on accrued benefit obligation 12 {10)

The table below shows the possible impact of changes in certain
significant weighted average assumptions used to measure the
accrued pension benefit obligation and related expense:

{millions of dollars}] Pension plans

Obligation  Expense

Impact of a 0.25% change in

significant actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate

Decrease of 0.25% 51 [

Increase of 0.25% (51) (6}
Expected long-term rate of return

on plan assets

Decrease of 0.25% - 3

increase of 0.25% - (3)
Rate of compensation increase

Decrease of 0.25% (13} {31

Increase of 0.25% 13 3

The sensitivity analysis presented in the above table should be
used with caution as the changes are hypothetical and the
changes in each significant assumption may not be linear.

Additional information on the Bank's pension ptans and other
employee future benefits can be found in Note 13 to the consoli-
dated financial statements on pages 106 to 109. '

The Bank formulates assumptions to estimate income tax expense
as well as future income tax assets and liabilities. This process
includes estimating the actual amount of income taxes payable
and evaluating tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences
as a result of differences between the value of the items reported
for accounting and for income tax purposes. Future income tax
assets and liabilities, presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
under "Other assets” and "Other liabilities,” are calculated accord-
ing to the tax rates to be applied in future periods. Previously
recorded future income tax assets and liabilities must be adjusted
when the expected date of the future event is revised based on cur-
rent information. The Bank periodically evaluates future income
tax assets for recoverability. In the Bank’s opinion, based on cur-
rent information, it is more likely than not that all future income tax
assets will be realized prior to their expiration.

This critical accounting estimate affects the item “Income taxes” in
the Consolidated Statement of Income for all business segments.
For further information on income taxes, refer to Note 1 and Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 93 and 114,

Provision for Contingencies

tn the normal course of business, the Bank is engaged in varicus
legal. proceedings, most of which are related to lending activities
and arise when the Bank takes measures to collect delinquent
loans. Recently, motions for authorization to institute class action
suits were filed against various financial institutions, including the
Bank, contesting, among other things, certain transaction fees.
The subsidiary National Bank Financial is also engaged in various
legal proceedings in the normal course of business. Most of these
proceedings concern services to individual investors and may
relate in particular to the suitability of investments. In Manage-
ment’s opinion, based on past experience, the related aggregate
potential liability will not have a material impact on the Bank’s
financial position.

This critical accounting estimate has an impact on "Other
liabilities.”
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CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Recent Accounting Standards Adopted

Generally accepted accounting principles -
On November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted the requirements of
Section 1100 of the CICA Handbook, “Generally Accepted
Accounting Principtes.” This Section establishes standards for
financial reporting in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles ("GAAP"} and identifies other sources to consult
when selecting accounting policies and determining appropriate
disclosures when a matter is not dealt with explicitly in the pri-
mary sources of GAAP. The application of this standard elimi-
nates certain practices that may have been used within a partic-
ular industry. The only materiat impact on the results of the Bank
is that mortgage loan prepayment fees are no longer amortized.
Since November 1, 2003, certain prepayment fees have been rec-
ognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income under "Lending
fees™ when earned. Pricr to November 1, 2003, these fees were
deferred and amortized to interest income over the term of the
loan. An unamortized balance of mortgage loan prepayment fees,
which amounted to $25 million as at October 31, 2003 {$14 mitlion
net of income taxes], was recorded during fiscal 2004 in the Consol-
idated Statement of Income under “Lending fees.” Furthermore,
following the adoption of Section 1100, net amounts receivable
from financial institutions related to cheques and other items in
the clearing process are presented as assets in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet, while net amounts payable to individual financial
institutions are presented as liabilities. As at October 31, 2003,
the net balance for all financiat institutions was presented as an
asset in the Consclidated Balance Sheet.

Hedging relationships

On November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted CICA Accounting Guideline
No. 13 "Hedging Relationships” (AcG-13). This Guideline identi-
fies the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate
and discusses the identification, designation, documentation and
effectiveness of hedging relationships and the discontinuance of
hedge accounting, but does not cover hedge accounting tech-
niques. Monetary or derivative financial instruments used in risk
management that satisfy the conditions for hedge accounting are
recorded using the hedge accounting methodology described in
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements on page 90.

When the hedging relationship ceases to be effective, hedge
accounting will be discontinued prospectively, and the financiat
instrument will be carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of the date hedge accounting was discontinued. Any sub-

sequent changes in fair value will be recognized in "Other income”
in conformity with EIC-128 "Accounting for Trading, Speculative or
Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments.” Should the finan-
cial instrument once again qualify as a hedging relationship, hedge
accounting witl take effect again on the new date of designation.

Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting under AcG-13 are carried at fair value on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at November 1, 2003. The resutting
$16 million net transitional gain is deferred and recognized in
income over the remaining life of the hedged item.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Effective November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted the recommenda-
tions of CICA standard "impairment of Long-Lived Assets,” which
establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and dis-
closure of the impairment of long-lived assets. This standard
stipulates that an impairment toss should be recognized when
the carrying value of a long-lived asset intended for use exceeds
the undiscounted cash flows expected from its use and eventual
disposition. The impairment loss is to be measured as the excess
of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. The adoption
of this standard had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004.

Equity-linked deposit contracts

Cn November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted CICA Accounting
Guideline No. 17 "Equity-Linked Deposit Contracts™ {AcG-17).
Under this Guideline, the Bank may record at fair value certain
deposit obligations for which the obligation varies according to
the return on equities or an equity index and which entitle
investors, after a specified period of time, to receive the higher of
a stated percentage of their principal investment and a variable
amount based on the return on equities or an equity index. Any
subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Income as they arise.

The adoption of this Guideline did not have a material impact on
the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended

October 31, 2004,

Recent Accounting Standards Pending Adoption

Variable interest entities

On November 1, 2004, the Bank will adopt CICA Accounting
Guideline No. 15 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(AcG-15). This Guideline is harmonized with new FASB
Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46R) of the same name and provides
guidance on the application of the standards set out in CICA
Handbook Section 1590 "Subsidiaries” for certain entities defined
as variable interest entities ["VIEs"]. VIEs are entities in which
equity investors do not have controlling financial interest or the
equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to
finance its-activities without additional subordinated financial
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support provided by other parties. AcG-15 requires the consoli-
dation of a VIE by its primary beneficiary, i.e., the party that
receives the majority of the expected residual returns and/or
absorbs the majority of the entity’s expected losses. Based on
information currently available, the application of the provisions
of AcG-15 on November 1, 2004 will result in the consolidation of
certain mutual funds in which the Bank has a significant invest-
ment and the consolidation of the VIE that leases the Bank's head
office building under a capital lease. The estimated impact of this
standard will be an increase in "Premises and equipment” of $84
million, “Securities” of $54 million, "Other assets” of $3 million,
“Cther liabilities” of $93 million, "Non-controlling interest” of
%45 million, and “Retained earnings” of $3 million. The Bank
continues to assess the impact of this new Guideline on its con-
solidated financial statements.

Investment companies

fn January 2004, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline No. 18
“Investment Companies.” Under this Guideline, investment com-
panies are required to account for all their investments at fair
value, including investments that would otherwise be consolidat-
ed or accounted for using the equity method, The Guideline sets
out the criteria for determining whether a company is an invest-
ment company and also provides guidance on the circumstances
in which the parent company of, or equity method investor in, an
investment company should account for the investment company’s
investments at fair value.

The provisions of the Guideline will apply to the Bank as of

November 1, 2004. They will be applied prospectively. The Bank is
currently evaluating the impact of this new Guideline.

FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

in March 2004, the adoption of Multilateral Instrument 52-109 by
the Canadian Securities Administrators confirmed their resclve
to restore investor confidence in financial markets. Under the
Muttilateral Instrument, chief executive officers and chief finan-
cial officers are required to file a quarterly certificate on the qual-
ity of their financial reporting and an annual certificate on the
effectiveness of the internal control structure for the financial
reporting process. Multilateral Instrument 52-111, currently in
preparation, will require, for fiscal years ending after June 30,
2006 at the earliest, not only a certificate from management on
the adequacy of the internal control structure for each phase in
the preparation of financial information, but also a certificate
from the external auditors on the quality of the certification
process and the quality of the control structure.

In fiscal 2004, the Disclosure Committee of the Bank and that of
the subsidiary NB Capital Corporation, which is subject to the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reviewed the quarterly disclosure controls
and procedures in place at the Bank since April 30, 2004 so that the
required certificates could be signed. The Bank’s Committee atso
supervised the preparatory work for documenting the expanded
internal control structure in readiness for the filing of the annual
certificate in October 2005 pursuant to Multilateral Instrument
52-109, as well as any filings that could be required in 2006.

To ensure maximum efficiency and effectiveness in gathering this
information, the Operational Risk and Compliance departments
have joined forces with the financial certification process project
team to use a common control model applicable to their respec-
tive objectives. They have adopted a recognized control framework
and a common automated tool for documenting controls that is
accessible to all parties involved.

The financial certification project team, made up of audit and
control professionals, has established a methodology for inter-
vention with business unit managers which minimizes the impact
on their operating activities while ensuring that their role in
implementing and maintaining the necessary controls is formally
identified.

A 16-member team will continue the documentation work in 2005.

STRUCTURE
OF THE BANK

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors supervises the management of the Bank.
its role is to safeguard the Bank’s assets and ensure its viability,
profitability and development. The Board is assisted in its role by
three committees: the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, and
the Human Resources Committee.

Specifically, the Board oversees the implementation of prudent
and effective controls to assess and manage risks, reviews the
Bank’'s business objectives and approves the strategies to
achieve them, makes sure that the necessary financial and
human resources are in place, and assesses Management's per-
formance. The Board also sets appropriate values and standards
to ensure that the Bank meets its obligations to its shareholders,
clients, employees and the general public.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board

The Audit and Risk Management Committee assists the Board of
Directors by reviewing the financial statements, financial reporting
processes, internal controls, audit processes and management
information systems in order to determine their integrity and effec-
tiveness. In addition, it acts as an intermediary between the Board
of Birectors and the independent oversight functions: internal audit,
external audit and compliance. It also conducts a detailed review of
the Bank’s risk management and control practices.

The Committee oversees the implementation of effective policies
and procedures designed to ensure adequate internal control,
and manages the external audit process. It also determines
whether the Bank and its subsidiaries are in compliance with
applicable regulations and reviews the attestations and reports
relating to compliance with the Standards of Sound Business and
Financial Practices, as well as any other reports as may be
required by regulatory authorities.

Conduct Review and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Board

The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee assists
the Board of Directors by overseeing the implementation of
corporate governance rules, procedures and policies, ensuring
compliance with the Code of Professional Conduct and monitor-
ing transactions between related parties.

The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee
establishes and regularly reviews the composition and mandate
of each committee of the Board, the Board itself and the
Chairman of the Board. It also periodically reviews the report on
corparate governance to be submitted to shareholders, the share
ownership guidelines, the criteria and procedures for the selec-
tion and succession of directors, conflicts of interest, the size of
the Board of Directors and the policies regarding terms of office.
The Committee establishes a process to assess the performance
and effectiveness of the Board and its committees and reviews
the orientation and education programs for new directors.

The Committee ensures that there are proper procedures in
place for the disclosure of information to clients and supervises
the application of a review procedure for claims from clients who
have acquired products or services in Canada.

Human Resources Committee of the Board

The Human Resources Committee assists the Board of Directors
by reviewing and approving the Bank’s human resources prac-
tices and policies. ‘

The Committee annually reviews the Bank's salary policy and its
approach to total compensation and other employment conditions.

It ensures that there is a human resources management program in
place that includes, among other things, a recruiting process and a
succession plan, the allocation of decision-making authority, the
separation of incompatible functional responsibilities, an employee
communications program and effective employee supervision.

The Committee annually evaluates the performance of executive
officers and the prudence with which they manage the Bank’s
activities and the risks to which the Bank is exposed. It evaluates
the profiles of directors, competency requirements and the man-
agement succession plan of the Bank and its subsidiaries. Lastly,
it reviews and approves the mandate of the Retirement Committee,
annually receives and examines reports on the decisions of that
committee, the financial situation, the returns on the pension plans
and the performance of the pool fund.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee, which consists of the President and
Chief Executive Qfficer and the officers responsible for the Bank’s
major lines of business, defines the culture and phitosophy of
the Bank, approves and monitors the strategic initiatives of the
Bank group as-a whole, manages the succession process, and
ensures a balance between employee engagement and client and
shareholder satisfaction.

The Committee carries out its responsibilities as a team, thereby

ensuring consistency as well as information and knowledge shar-
ing among the Bank’s business units.

RISK
MANAGEMENT

In the normal course of its operations, the Bank is exposed to dif-
ferent types of risk, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity
risk and operational risk. To manage these risks effectively and
in a targetted manner, it has developed a management frame-
work to identify, measure and monitor the various risks inherent
in its business activities. This risk management framework has
been established so that i] a rigorous, judicious culture underlies
decision making and ensures an appropriate risk-return balance
while creating shareholder value, and ii) operational business
decisions comply with the target degree of tolerance set by the
Bank while optimizing overall shareholder return. Communication
concerning risk and the appetite for risk within the organization is
assured by this management framework in order to keep the deci-
sion-making levels regutarly informed about risk. By recognizing and
understanding risk factors throughout the processes or activities
that may trigger risk, the Bank is able to take these factors into
account in its business operations.
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Competent, experienced risk management professionals, acting
independently or in cooperation with business units according to
risk category, also contribute to sound risk management. These
professionals foster a strong corporate culture by emphasizing
rigorous control processes and measures. They apply risk man-
agement standards and use proven management processes and
models to ensure insightful decision making. Investing in the
management capacity of these resources enables the organiza-
tion to maintain high risk supervision standards.

The risk management framework is built into a governancé
model that ensures general and direct management of the vari-
ous aspects of risk and helps improve the efficiency and respon-
siveness of key processes and poticies.

Risk Governance

To convey the institution’s risk culture and optimize shareholder
return, risk governance is based on a set of components and an
operational structure, which is shown below. This governance
model ensures that revenue-generating activities are in compli-
ance with both the degree of risk that the Bank is willing to take
and its risk standards.

{ Board of Directors }
! Internal Audit
{ Audit and Risk }

Management Committee

Compliance
f [ ]
Credi Market Risk Operational Risk
redit
Committee Manage'ment Management
Committee Committee
] ]

NBF Risk

New Products
Management

Committee Committee

Heading the risk management structure at National Bank is the
Board of Directors, which is responsible for establishing risk man-
agement policies. The Board delegates a portion of its responsi-
bilities in this regard to the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
which recommends policies and, once they are adopted, oversees
their application. This Committee also makes all exceptional risk-
related decisions. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is
assisted by Internal Audit, Compliance and three committees, the
Credit Committee, the Market Risk Management Committee and
the Operational Risk Management Committee, all of which are
composed of members of Management. Internal Audit, whose Senior
Vice-President reports directly to the Audit and Risk Management

Committee, provides an independent and objective assessment
of the effectiveness of processes, policies, procedures and con-
trol measures implemented by managers. Moreover, Internal
Audit recommends solutions designed to improve the effectiveness
of the risk management, internal control and operating activities
of the Bank and its subsidiaries.

Global Risk Management

Global risk management entails establishing, developing and
maintaining effective processes and models to ensure uniform
and stringent treatment of risk. Processes are reassessed peri-
odically; risk models are evaluated separately.

Economic capital constitutes a dynamic measure of risk that per-
mits a comparison of different activities and risk categories. It
forms the basis of risk-aligned capital management and is used
to assign a capital cost to the relative risk of the various business
segments.

In its operations, the Bank is exposed to four main risk cate-
gories: credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk.
Global risk management therefore includes assessment of the
possible consequences of each risk and establishment of policies
and processes to effectively reduce the incidence of each risk. Global
risk management converges toward a unique measure, i.e., eco-
nomic capital, which defines the ultimate risk the Bank must take
in its business activities.

Credit Risk

The Bank is exposed to credit risk in its lending activities and
operations, which involve settlements between the Bank and
counterparties. These activities and operations include direct
loans, commitments to extend credit, risk of non-settlement,
derivative transactions, and securities held for extended periods.

The Bank supervises and manages credit risk at every level of the
organization using an advanced management process governing
activities associated with credit risk, namely:

¢ A prudent credit-approval process based on policies governing
the philosophy, principles and conduct of lending operations

¢ An advanced process establishing limits and monitoring, rang-
ing from the policy on maximum credit per borrower group to
sector limits for credit commitments

» A credit committee that supervises and approves credit

An efficient lending process has long been in place at the Bank. This
process requires competent, experienced lenders, a transparent line
authority structure, a high degree of personal accountability, account
monitoring, and dynamic portfolio management. Credit decisions
are made on a case-by-case basis by the various risk management
authorities and Management, at the level corresponding to the
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size and the degree of risk inherent in the transaction. Decisions
are based on client creditworthiness, available security and compli-
ance of the transaction with standards and procedures as well as the
Bank's overall risk-adjusted return objective.

Credit risk is the possibility of financial loss should a borrower or
counterparty fail to honour its obligations.

Establishment of limits

Credit risk governance policies ensure credit risk is diversified.
The degree of portfolio diversification is achieved by applying and
monitoring limits according to country risk, sector risk, single-
holder risk and transaction risk. The Audit and Risk Management
Committee of the Board of Directors reviews the limits at least
once a year. The Bank’s credit risk governance structure ensures
that these limits are respected and that any exception is detect-
ed and rapidly reported so it can be resolved effectively.

Standards and procedures

To manage credit risk, each year the Board of Directors adopts,
on the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, a comprehensive policy that defines the main stan-
dards, procedures and control methods for credit granted by the
Bank. The policy is applied by the Bank's Credit Committee, which
is chaired by the Senior Vice-President - Risk Management. The
Credit Committee’s decisions are supported by sector analyses
performed by the Bank's economists and Risk Management
Group. The credit policy established by the Board of Directors and
the administrative measures adopted by the various units of the
Bank in applying the poticy define acceptable risk, portfolio diver-
sification criteria, economic and geographic sector-specific con-
straints, as well as allocation and authorization line levels. All
standards and policies are reviewed by the Audit and Risk Manage-
ment Committee. The higher the credit amount or risk inherent in
the application, the higher the line authority within the Bank
needed for approval. Exceptionally, decisions may even be referred
to the Board of Directors. In addition, specific standards apply to
individuals or companies related to the Bank.

When an application for credit is made to the Bank, it is subject
to a procedure that becomes increasingly rigorous depending on
the amount requested or the degree of risk of the industry sec-
tor, region or borrower. Once the application is completed and
after the required information and documents have been provid-
ed, it is analyzed according to a sophisticated credit scoring sys-
tem. The decision to approve credit is made by a credit officer or
by the Bank's Credit Committee. Any deviation from the procedure
must be submitted to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Credits and borrowers are continuously monitored according to
the degree of risk they represent. Ongoing analyses attempt to
foresee potential problems in an industry or region or with a bor-
rower before these become apparent in the form of past due pay-
ments. Any loan on which interest is in arrears for 90 days or

more is classified as impaired and a loss provision must be taken
for it. Moreover, loans that are not past due but where repayment
of principal or interest is not reasonably assured are also deemed
impaired. The Bank’s policies set out detailed provisioning crite-
ria and, where required, write-off criteria for irrecoverable debts.
The credit policies also define recovery practices, the intent of
which is to minimize losses by recovering the largest possible
portion of the amounts owing. A team of internal auditors ensures
the standards are respected at all times.

Credit risk assessment models

The Bank assesses credit risk using various models adapted to
portfolio type. In alt cases, the risk correlation is a key piece of
information and enters into the estimate of the risk of the various
credit portfolios. Expected and unexpected losses are calculated
for major transactions and for all portfolios that involve credit risk.
These estimates are used in forecasting loss provisions and the
level of the general allowance for credit risk. Expected and unex-
pected losses are based on experience, portfolio monitoring, mar-
ket data and statistical modelting. The material factors are:

¢ Probability of default

¢ Outstanding credit at the time of default

* Potential loss in the event of default

 Impact of economic and sector cycles on asset quality

Expected and unexpected losses enter into the estimate of eco-
nomic capital for each of the Bank's relevant business segments.
Measures of credit-related economic capital, like atl measures of
risk capital, are based on a 99.95% confidence interval over a
one-year holding period.

The Bank also carries out stress tests to gauge, as a function of
specific shocks, the amount of economic capital that would be
required in adverse situations. These sensitivity tests show, in a
crisis, the degree of solvency that is closely related to the amount
of capital needed to absorb the resulting potential {osses. Credit
risk modelling and guantification result in improved internal risk
management since they broaden risk oversight.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of financial {oss incurred by the Bank as a
result of unfavourable changes in underlying market factors,
inctuding interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices,
commodity prices and credit.

Conseguently, market risk is inextricably tinked with the Bank's
participation on financial markets, in both its trading operations
and asset/liability management. Market risk management is a
core focus at the Bank. In managing market risk, the Bank does
not seek to neutralize market risk but rather to maximize the
risk-return trade-off within carefully defined limits.




NATIONAL BANK QF CANAQA, 2604 ANNUAL REPORT

Management's Discussion and Analysis 1

Standards, procedures and controls

On the recommendation of its Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Bank's Board of Directors has adopted detailed
poticies as well as limits for managing the four components of
market risk: interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity risk
and commodity risk. The policies adopted by the Board of
Birectors set out standards, procedures and controls aimed at
optimizing the risk-return trade-off and ensuring oversight of
financial transactions.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees the Market
Risk Management Committee, which heads the risk manage-
ment structure for the entire Financial Markets segment. The
New Products Committee and the Risk Management Committee
of National Bank Financial also report to this committee. The
Market Risk Management Committee plays a key role in estab-
lishing market risk policies and practices, including risk assess-
ment, maximum limits, simulation and oversight processes, as
well as operational compliance with Bank policies.

The Risk Management Group is an independent team that is respon-
sible for day-to-day monitoring of market risk exposure, inctuding
ensuring that maximum limits and authorization procedures are
respected. The Group also develops risk measurement procedures
and models used for simulations.

Value-at-Risk '
The Value-at-Risk (VaR} simulation model is one of the main
tools used to manage market risk in the Bank's financial market
activities. The VaR measure is based on a 99% confidence level,
which is an estimate of the maximum potential trading loss in 99
out of 100 days, or, to put it another way, actuat losses will prob-
ably exceed VaR on only one day out of 100. VaR is calculated on an
ongoing basis for the major categories of financiat instruments
linctuding derivatives) and all of the Bank's portfolios. insofar as is
possible, it ensures that trading and investment decisions do not
entail risks that exceed set limits. The computerized VaR calcula-
tion model is based on two years of historical data.

Outstanding value at risk in camparison with established limits is
monitored regularly for each product, portfolio and business unit,
as well as by type of activity: trading, investment and asset/liabil-
ity management. As a result, risk management of structural
interest rates [management of asset and liability maturities) has
a VaR limit approved by the Board of Directors. Moreover, the
Bank has an overall limit, covering all its market-related opera-
tions. Other limits complement VaR to control the associated
residual risks, primarily concentration, volatility and liquidity.

Stress tests and sensitivity analyses

The VaR model simulates losses in a8 market situation similar to
that observed from historical data. To simulate the impact of
improbable events, the Bank also runs stress tests, exploring
events such as the stock market crash of 1987, and performs
sensitivity analyses related to wide market movements, for inter-
est rates, prices and currencies. Stress tests are established
jointly by the Risk Management Group and line managers and are
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, new
products and trading strategies. Each day the Bank performs more
than 80 scenarios and analyses, and all financial market-related
activities are covered. Maximum potential loss limits have been
approved by the Board for stress tests and sensitivity analyses.

Trading activities

The Bank maintains trading portfolios for market-making, arbi-
trage for its own account, liquidity for its institutional clients or
the sale of financial products.

The table below shows the VaR distribution of the trading portfo-
lios by risk category while demonstrating the diversification effect.

Year ended October 31
{mitlions of dollars]
Globat VaR by Risk Category

Trading Activities!

2004 2003

Atend High Average Low At end High Average Low

Interest rate (3.7) (7.1} (4.3) (2.1) (3.8) (5.3} (3.4 (2.0)
Foreign exchange (0.9] (3.2) (1.31 (0.2) (c.8) (2.2 (0.9 (0.2}
Equity (3.6) (5.6} (2.8) (1.1} (1.7) (4.8) (2.3 {1.2)
Commadity contracts {1.0) (1.0} (0.5) (0.2) (0.2) (0.5} (0.4) (0.2)
Correlation effect(2) 3.6 9.3 3.9 0.9 27 6.9 3.1 0.7
Global VaR (5.6) (7.8) {5.0) {2.7) (3.8 {5.9) (3.9] {2.9]

{1} Amounts are shown before income taxes and represent one-dav VaR.
{2} The carrelation effact results from diversification by risk type.
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The breakdown of trading revenues by risk type is as follows:

Year ended October 37
{taxable equivaient basisfii
[mitlions of doiiars]

2004 2003
Financial Markets
Interest rate 43 86
Equity 190 145
Commuodities and foreign exchange 30 94

263 327

Other segments 8 13
Total 271 340

Trading revenues generated by Financial Markets stood at
$263 million, down $64 million from 2003. The decline is due to
fixed-income, foreign exchange and commadities trading.

Backtesting

{mitlions of doliars]

~3- VaR (CAD)
- Theoreticat results [CAD)

Jul-04
Oct-04

Nov-03
Dec-03
Jan-04
Feb-04
Mar-04
Apr-04
May-04
June-04

Backtesting

The above chart gives the results of backtesting, which each day
compares the VaR projected by the Bank's simulations with the
theoretical revenues obtained. This type of testing, done on a
daily basis, validates the usefulness and integrity of the VaR
model used to estimate the maximum risk of market losses,

Interest rate risk in asset/liability management

Managing assets (investments, including loans) and tiabilities
(debt, including deposits] exposes the Bank to interest rate risk.
Interest rate fluctuations give rise to changes in interest income
and interest expense. Although these changes move in the same
direction, the impact of their relative weighting on net interest

Interest Rate Sensitivity
As at October 31
{miltions of doilars]

2004 2003
100 basis point increase in interest rates
impact on net interest income (14) (11)
Impact on shareholders” equity (70} (67)

income and the economic value of shareholders’ equity will be
favourable or unfavourable. The extent of the impact depends on
several factors, including asset and liability matching and the inter-
est rate curve. Assets and liabilities are managed in such a way as to
optimize the impact of changes in interest rates taking into account
anticipated interest rate movements.

The Bank's Treasury is responsible for managing assets and liabil-
ities in accordance with the policies adopted by the Board of Directors
and overseen by the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The
Asset and Liability Management Committee works closely with
Treasury in this activity. Simulations are carried out regularly to
assess the impact of various scenarios on net interest income
and the economic value of shareholders’ equity and to provide
guidance for the management of the assets and liabilities portfolic.

Liguidity Risk

Objective

The objective of the Bank's liquidity management is to honour
daily cash outflow commitments and to avoid having to purchase
funds rapidly, possibly at an excessively high premium, or having
to sell readily traded securities. Liquidity risk arises from two
sources: mismatched cash flows related to assets and liabilities;
and liquidity risk due to the characteristics of certain products,
such as credit commitments and demand deposits.

The Bank therefore constantly strives to spread the maturities of
its deposit liabilities, to maintain diversified sources of liabilities
and to hold sufficient liquid assets. It maintains constant contact
with institutional and corporate depositors to ensure diverse
sources of funds.

Policy

The Bank has a liquidity and funding management policy and has
prepared a contingency plan in the event of a liquidity or funding
crisis. The policy establishes ratios and limits to restrict the
Bank's dependence on any particular depositor or to avoid an
undue concentration of deposits from a single depositor. In this
way, the concentration of purchased funds [wholesale market] is
timited to a percentage of total deposits, and a maximum amount
per depositor is established. Any amount over and above these
limits reduces the liquidity ratios. Similarly, the Bank regularty
assesses its survival period and measures the liquidity of its
assets in relation to a predetermined liquidation horizon. The
policy is approved by the Board of Directors on the recommenda-
tion of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Responsibilities

The President - Financial Markets, Treasury and Investment Bank is
responsible for overseeing the liquidity and funding management
policy. Treasury assumes daily responsibility for managing liquid
assets and ensures compliance with ratios and limits. Similarly,
Treasury coordinates funding for all of the Bank’s centres abroad.

{1} See "Financial Reporting Method” on page 14.
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee is regularly informed
of the liquidity situation at the Bank.

Contingency plan

The Bank has also put in place a liquidity contingency plan setting
out the steps to be taken in a crisis. The Bank has adopted mitiga-
tion strategies that can be applied in a crisis, defined the respon-
sibilities of senior management and established the procedures to
be applied by the Bank in assessing its liquidity needs. The Liquidity
Crisis Committee is mandated by the Board to assume day-to-day
management of the Bank in a liquidity crisis.

The scenarios and types of crises are reviewed and updated annu-
ally to take into account the Bank’s new products and operations.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the potential loss resulting from inadequacy
or breakdown related to processes, technology or human per-
formance, or external events.

For instance, fraud or unauthorized activities, system outages,
human error, non-compliance with legal, regulatory or contrac-
tual requirements, lawsuits involving clients and property dam-
age are events likely to give rise to financial loss or other incon-
venience for the Bank, including damage to its reputation.

While operational risk can never be fully eliminated, it must be
managed in a disciplined, transparent manner to keep it at an
acceptable level. To that end, the Bank continues to implement its
management framework, which inctudes a governance model, as
well as standards and procedures to identify, measure and mon-
itor operational risks.

Governance

Policies

The Bank's governance model includes a Board-approved policy
that applies to the Bank and its subsidiaries and sets out the
operational risk management framework as well as the respon-
sibilities of the various parties.

In addition, support units, such as Compliance, Human Resources,
Finance and information Technology, develop other specific poli-
cies and standards.

Responsibilities of parties

¢ The Bank’s business units are responsible for the daily man-
agement of the operational risks to which they are exposed
and must allocate resources for that purpose. Each unit has
introduced a process for identifying and monitoring opera-
tional losses and is in the process of implementing a program
for self-assessment of operational risks and appointing a com-
mittee composed of senior managers of the unit to oversee and
monitor operational risk.

e The central operational risk unit develops the standards and
procedures used to identify, measure and monitor operational
risk. It provides support and assistance to the business units
for implementation of and compliance with these standards
and procedures. Finally, it gathers and compiles information
on the business units’ level of risk and reports on this matter.

¢ The Operational Risk Management Committee approves the
relevant standards and procedures, coordinates implementa-
tion of the management framework, oversees and monitors
the Bank’s level of operational risk, and reports to the Board
on such matters.

Finally, the Internal Audit Department and the Comptiance Depart-
ment give the Board of Directors assurance on the measurement
of the quality and effectiveness of the internal controls put in
place by the business units.

Standards and procedures used to identify,

measure and monitor operationat risk

Guidelines

The business units must draw on a set of guidelines for sound

operational risk management, including the following:

¢ Competent, well-trained personnel

+ Segregation of incompatible duties and delegation of decision-
making authority

¢ Monitoring of technology development and information security

» A planning process for resumption of activities in the event of
business interruption

« ldentification and assessment of risks created by the introduc-
tion of new products

Self-assessment of risks and controls

A methodology for self-assessment of risks and controls is being
deptoyed. Using this methodology, each business unit can identify
the most significant operational risks to which it is exposed, assess
and document the corresponding control environment and establish
residual risk, i.e., the risk that remains after the control environment
has been taken into account. Action plans are then developed to
establish an acceptable level for residual risks deemed too high.

Operational {oss database

The operational risk management group has implemented a
process to collect operational loss data across the Bank and its
subsidiaries using a centralized database to carry out segment or
consolidated analyses. The data collected include type and amount
of loss, as well as a description of the triggering events, so as to
provide a better understanding of the causes of these losses and
establish mitigation strategies. No material operational loss
occurred during the year.

Business continuity

The Bank has adopted a program with an integrated corporate
policy and governance model to ensure continuity of operations
in the event of an unexpected interruption in its activities.
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Regulatory capital

Pursuant to the Basel Accord, the Bank intends to qualify for the
standardized approach when new regulatory capital standards
are introduced in 2007-2008. ‘

Current initiatives

The Bank carefully monitors changes in operational risk prac-
tices within the financial industry and plans initiatives to ensure
proactive management of operational risk, such as implementa-
tion of risk indicators and economic capital.

Compliance

Regulatory framework

National Bank operates in a highly regulated industry. The diver-
sity of its activities and its geographical reach add to this com-
plexity, since its operations are overseen by various regulatory
bodies and self-regulatory organizations.

Regulatory risk

Regulatory risk arises when the Bank does not comply with
established laws, regulations, rules and practices and with ethical
standards applicable to its operations internationally.

Regulatory risk is present in the Bank's daily activities. Failure to
comply with regulatory requirements can have a negative impact
on the Bank’s reputation and result in penalties and sanctions.

Regulatory risk management and compliance

To ensure sound management of regulatory risk, the Bank uses
a proactive approach, emphasizing integration of regulatory
requirements in its daily operations as well as ongoing commu-
nication to remind its employees of the importance of complying
with laws and regulations.

The Bank’'s Compliance Department has stewardship for imple-
menting a regulatory risk management framework across the
organization. This department:

e Ensures that regulatory compliance policies and procedures
are in place in all jurisdictions where the Bank carries on business

e Develops compliance training and information programs for
Bank employees

» Qversees the Bank's compliance with policies and procedures

¢ Refers compliance matters to the Bank's Board of Directors

In order to exercise oversight at every level of the Bank, the
Compliance Department relies on an organizational structure
with functional links to the Bank’s major operating segments.

The Bank's Compliance Department is an independent function.
{ts Vice-President has direct access to the Chair of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee as well as to the President and
Chief Executive Officer.

The Compliance Department also has the authority to communi-
cate directly with the officers and directors of the Bank and its
subsidiaries, obtain unrestricted access to files, reports, records
and data, and require employees of all the entities in the Nationat
Bank group to provide the information deemed necessary for
effective oversight.

The managers of the business units are responsible for putting in
place daily mechanisms to control regulatory risks arising from
the operations under their responsibility. The Compliance Depart-
ment exercises independent oversight to assist managers in man-
aging these risks effectively.

The control framework comprises the following:

 Identification of laws that impose compliance reguirements,
namely, those laws that oblige the Bank to take certain meas-
ures or to act or to carry out activities in a specific manner

» Evaluation of significant compliance requirements

» Identification of the business units affected by compliance

_ requirements

* Communication of compliance requirements to managers of the
business units sc that they can manage legal and regulatory
risks effectively

» Oversight of compliance with policies and procedures

» Reporting, on an annual basis, to the Audit and Risk Manage-
ment Committee of the Board on the major results of compliance
oversight

The Bank has high regulatory risk management standards in order

to earn the trust of its clients, its shareholders, the market and
the general public.

CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT

Structure

As is the case with risk management, the Bank's capital manage-
ment structure is headed by the Board of Directors, which estab-
lishes its capital management policies. The Board delegates certain
responsibilities to the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
which recommends capital management policies and oversees
their application. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is
assisted by the Capital Management Committee and the Capital
and Balance Sheet Management unit. The Capital Management
Committee, which is chaired by the Senior Vice-President - Finance,
Technology and Corperate Affairs, consists of officers from the
Bank's main business segments as well as representatives from
Finance and Risk Management. The Capital and Balance Sheet
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Management unit, which reports to the Capital Management
Committee, ensures that the Bank continues to have a solid cap-
ital structure and supervises the use of capital for the Bank as a
whole.

Standards, Procedures and Controls

Capital management strives to balance the risk-adjusted capital
needed to maintain capital ratios that meet the minimum require-
ments of a well-capitalized financial institution, as defined by the
Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada [OSFI),
with the need to offer the Bank’s shareholders a competitive return.

Each year, the Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee, approves a comprehen-
sive capital management policy and the Bank's capital plan. The
capital management policy sets out the principles and practices
that the Bank incorporates into its capital management strategy
as well as the basic criteria that it adopts to ensure it has adequate
capital at all times and prudently manages its future capital
requirements. '

The capital plan establishes operational targets and takes into
account the forecast levels for risk-weighted assets, assessed
according to the regutatory approach. Moreover, the capital plan
analyzes the various strategies the Bank can adopt to optimize
capital management such as the dividend policy and the issuance
and redemption of equity capital and subordinated debt securities.

The Capital Management Committee meets monthly to assess
the regulatory capital ratios as well as events that could affect
capital management. Moreover, a compliance report on regulato-
ry capital ratios is submitted quarterly to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee. Finally, the team of internal auditors
and the Bank's Compliance Department ensure compliance with
regulatory capital standards set by OSFi.

Capital Management Activities in 2004

In applying the capital management policy and the annual capital
plan, the Bank repurchased 8.7 million common shares and twice

- increased the quarterly dividend on its common shares in fiscal
2004.

The Bank also obtained authorization from OSFl to raise the
asset/equity ratio from 20 to 23. This increase, made necessary by
the sustained growth of certain types of activities that have a low
risk weighting factor, reflects a trend observed in the Canadian
banking industry. The Bank also lowered its capital cost from 13%
to 11%.

Economic Capital

Economic capital is calculated in order to quantify the hypotheti-
cal impact of the risks to which the Bank is exposed, i.e., credit,
market and operational risks. Economic capital thus helps deter-
mine the equity capital required by the Bank to protect itself
against these risks and ensure its long-term viability. The method
used to assess economic capital is regularly reviewed so as to
accurately quantify these risks.

Concomitantly with the assessment of required economic capital,
risk-adjusted return on capital [RAROC] and sharehclder value
added [SVA] are calculated quarterly for each of the Bank's oper-
ating segments. Submitted to the Bank’s Executive Committee,
the results help the Committee determine the allocation of capi-
tat among the different operating segments.

Availabte Capital and Active Capital Management

As part of the active capital management process, the concepts
of available capital fequity capital], regulatory capital and eco-
nomic capital are emphasized in order to maximize shareholder
value. This process leads first to the development of the capital
plan, which helps determine the optimal level and structure of
equity capital to comply with the regulatory ratios determined by
OSFI. It also leads to the allocation of capital among the different
operating segments so as to optimize SVA creation without undu-
ly impacting the Bank's regulatory capital ratios.

New Basel Accord

In June 2004, the Bank for International Settlements (BIS} published
the final version of the Basel Accord. Also known as "Basel I,
the Accord will amend the rules governing the catculation of reg-
ulatory capital. The coming into force of the Accord was pushed
back one year and is now slated for fiscal 2007-2008.

The new rules include several key changes:

* Review of the method for calculating capital requirements for
credit risk which will take greater account of counterparty risks
and place more importance on internal risk management models

» [ntroduction of a capital requirement for operational risk

» Heightened disclosure of bank risk profiles

In order to be able to comply with the requirements of the new
Accord, the Bank created a group dedicated to implementing the
new rules. The group is working closely with different parties at
the Bank to ensure timely completion of required projects. It is
also playing an active role in shaping industry positions and is
cooperating with Canadian regulatory bodies to streamline the
transition to the new regime.
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Table 1 - Overview of Results

Year ended October 31
{taxable equivalent basislit

{mitiions of dollars and 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
as a percentage of average assets] $ % $ % $ % $ % $ %
Net interest income 1,445 1.84 1,366 1.90 1,473 2.13 1,389 2.01 1,232 1.76
Other income 2,212 2.81 2,093 2N 1,641 2.37 1.858 2.68 1,940 2.78
Provision for credit losses 86 2.1 177 0.25 490 0.71 205 0.30 184 0.26
Operating expenses 2,392 3.04 2,257 3.14 2,040 2.95 1,989 2.87 2120 3.03
Income taxes 426 0.54 374 0.52 236 0.34 398 © 0.58 343 0.49
Non-controlling interest 28 0.04 27 0.03 30 0.04 28 0.04 26 0.04
Income before discontinued operations .

and goodwill charges 725 0.92 624 0.87 318 0.46 627 0.90 499 0.72
Discontinued operations - - - - 111 0.16 (45) (0.07) 29 0.04
Income before goodwill charges 725 0.92 624 0.87 429 0.62 582 0.83 528 0.7
Goodwill charges - - - - - - 19 0.03 19 0.03
Net income 725 0.92 624 0.87 429 0.62 563 0.80 509 0.73
Average assets!? 78,672 71,810 69,292 69,197 69,840

[1] See “Financial Reporting Method” on page 4.
(2] Excluding discontinued operations

Table 2 - Changes in Net Interest Income .

$ Change
Year ended Oclober 37 2004 2003 2004-2003 due to:
{taxable equivalent basis)l!  Average Average Average Average
{miltions of dollars and 3s 3 Volume Rate Interest Volume Rate Interest Volume Rate Interest Volume Rate
percentage of average assats) $ % $ $ % $ $ % $
Assets
Deposits with financial
institutions 7,404 1.54 114.0 6,421 2.05 131.4 983 {0.51) (17.4]) 15.1 (32.5}
Securities 21,162 3.13 663.0 18,861 3.01 566.8 2,301 0.12 96.2 72.0 24.2
Residential mortgage loans 15,073 5.01 755.0 13,752 5.49 755.3 1321 (0.48) {0.3) 66.2 [66.5)
Personal toans 6,647 5.70 379.0 5,446 6.51 367.3 1.001 [0.81} 1.7 57.1 {45.4)
Business and other loans 20,447 3.61 738.6 20,169 416 839.5 278 (0.55) {100.9} 101 {111.0)
Impaired loans, net [167) (0.42) 0.7 {(174) {0.46) 0.8 7 0.04 (0.1) - 0.1}
Earning assets 70,566 3.76  2,650.3 64,675 411 2,661.1 5,891 (0.35) (10.8) 220.5 [231.3)
Other assets 8,106 - - 7,135 - - 971 - - - -
Total assets 78,672 3.37  2,650.3 71,810 3.71 2,661.1 6,862 (0.34) (10.8) 220.5 (231.3)
Liabitities and
sharehotders’ equity
Perscnal deposits 21,470 2.47 529.9 21,038 2.69 566.6 432 (0.22) (36.7) 10.7 (47.4)
Deposit-taking institutions 5,789 1.72 99.8 5,488 1.80 98.8 301 (0.08] 1.0 5.2 {4.2)
Other deposits 22,927 2.06 472.2 21,678 2.70 585.9 1,249 [0.64) (113.7) 25.7 (139 .4}
50,186 220 1,1019 48,204 2.60  1,251.3 1,982 [0.40) (149.4} 41.6 (191.0)
Subordinated debentures 1,469 6.7 98.6 1,553 6.77 105.2 {84) [0.06} {6.6) {5.6} {1.0)
Liabilities other
than depaosits 12,826 2.66 340.6 10,363 1.87 193.4 2,463 0.79 147.2 65.5 81.7
Other{2] (35) - (335.4) 239 - [254.8) (274) - {80.8) - (80.8)
Interest-bearing liabilities 64,446 1.87  1,205.5 60,359 215 1,295.1 4,087 (0.28) (89.4) 101.5 (191.1)
Other liabilities 10,105 - - 7,431 - — 2,674 - - - -
Shareholders’ equity 4,121 - - 4,020 - - 101 - - - -
Total liabilities and
shareholders’ equity 78,672 153 11,2055 71,810 1.80 1,295 6,862 [0.27) 189.¢) 101.5 (191.1]
impact of non-interest bearing
assets and liabilities - - - - - - - - - 7.0 (7.0
Net interest income 1.84 14448 1.91 1,366.0 {0.07) 78.8 126.0 47.2)

1] See “Financial Reporting Method” on page 14.

{2} Other interest income and interest expense including hedging operations.
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Table 3 - Other Income

Year ended October 37
{taxable equivalent basislit!

{mitlions of dollars] . 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Financial market fees 633 544 539 493 566
Deposit and payment service charges 200 192 186 160 155
Trading revenues 234 381 123 227 281
Gains [losses} on investment account securities, net 102 8 {98) 71 37
Card service revenues 49 49 47 86 85
Lending fees 238 204 181 178 171
Acceptances, letters of credit and guarantee 65 63 63 65 60
Securitization revenues 180 204 204 157 99
Foreign exchange revenues 72 66 67 61 52
Trust services and mutual funds 244 210 160 96 87
Other 195 172 169 267 347
2,212 2,093 1,641 1,858 1,940
Domestic 2,108 1,934 1,595 1,856 1.927
International - United States 32 58 {3} 6 6
~ Other 72 101 49 (4) 7

Other income as a percentage of total revenues

on a taxable equivalent basis(2! 60.5% 60.5% 54.7% 56.2% 59.4%

{1] See "Financial Reporting Method” on page 14,
(2] In 2002, the $137 miliion impairment charge on an investment was excluded. In 2001, the $76 million gain {taxable equivalent basis| on the sale of
merchant payment solutions was excluded. In 2000, the $136 million gain [taxable equivalent basis} on the sale of a subsidiary was excluded.
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Table 4 - Provision for Credit Losses

Year ended Cctober 37

{mittions of dollars) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Provision for credit losses
Domestic
Personal and small business 39 81 186 72 88
Commercial 49 44 154 102 &9
Corporate 52 b4 44 26 13
Real estate 1 7 23 12 15
Other - {1) {13} [4) {2)
Domestic - Private risks 141 177 394 206 183
International
Real estate - United States - - (3l ol (7)
Carporate - - 129 - -
Other - - - - 8
International - Private risks - - 126 {1 1
General allowance for credit risk {55) - {30} - -
Provision for credit losses charged to
income before discontinued operations 86 177 490 205 184
Provision for credit losses charged to
discontinued operations - - {51 120 16
Total provision for credit losses
charged to income 86 177 439 325 200
Nel average loans and acceptances
Domestic 40,209 38,443 37.543 38,308 39,345
International ~ United States 771 778 663 677 851
- Other 120 103 188 291 301
Discontinued operations - - - 3,925 3.967
Total 41,100 39.324 38,394 43,201 L, bbb
Provision for credit losses as a percentage
of net average loans and acceptances
Domestic 0.35 % 0.46 % 1.05 % 0.54 % 0.47 %
International - United States -% - % 19.00 % {0.15)% {0.83]%
- Other - % - % ~% - % 2.66 %
Discontinued operations - % - % - % 3.06 % 0.40 %
Total 0.21 % 0.45 % 114 % 0.75 % 0.45 %
Allowance for credit losses
Balance at beginning 834 666 896 965 989
Transfer from allowance for assets held for disposal - - (45) - -
Provision for credit losses charged to income:
Related to ongoing operations 86 177 490 205 184
Related to discontinued operations - - (51 120 16
Write-offsll (199) {259} (673} {402} [257)
Recoveries 59 50 49 8 33
Balance at end 580 634 666 896 965
Composition of allowances
Designated countries
Portion related to loans - 19 22 38 35
Portion related to securities 2 4 4 17 17
Specific 228 206 235 341 413
General allocated 272 300 296 306 -
General unallocated 78 105 109 194 500

{1} including exchange rate fluctuations
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Table 5 - Operating Expenses

Year ended Octeber 37

[mittions of dollars) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Sataries and staff benefits 1,359 1,287 1147 1,064 1,129
Occupancy costs, computers and equipment,
including amortization 534 504 496 483 465
Other
Messenger services and communications 77 80 77 69 71
Professional fees 118 112 99 92 85
Advertising and external relations 75 62 50 42 45
Stationery 26 26 28 27 26
Travel expenses 20 21 17 16 15
Security and theft 14 16 24 16 13
Capital and payroll taxes 65 40 57 63 b4
Other 104 89 45 117 207
499 466 397 4472 526
Total 2,392 2,257 2,040 1,989 2,120
Domestic 2,198 2,082 1,999 1,956 2,083
International ~ United States 123 121 18 16 20
- Other 7 54 23 17 17
Operating expenses as a percentage of
total revenues on a taxable equivalent basis(!) 65.4% 65.3% 62.8 % 62.7 % 65.8 %

(7] In 2002, the $137 miition impairment charge on an investment was excluded from other income. In 2081, the $76 million gain {taxable equivalent pasis] on
the sale of merchant payment solutions was excluded. in 2000, the $136 million gain (taxable equivalent basis| on the sale of a stibsidiary and $120 million
in non-recurring charges were excluded.

Table 6 - Deposits

As at October 31 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
{millions of dollars] $ % $ % $ % $ % 3 %
Personal 23,355 43.7 23,301 45.3 22,306 43.2 21,485 418 20,497 40.6
Commercial 15,072 28.2 15,477 301 14,183 27.4 11,667 22.7 9,726 193
Purchased funds 15,005 28.1 12,685 24.6 15,201 29.4 18,284 35.5 20,250 401
Total 53,432 160.0 51,463 100.0 51,690 100.0 51,436 100.0 50,473 100.0
Domestic 45,636 85.4 43,809 85.1 40,959 79.2 38,161 74.2 35,383 70.1
International ~ United States 957 1.8 877 1.7 2,814 55 4,315 8.4 6,935 13.7

- Other 6,839 12.8 6,777 13.2 7,917 15.3 8,960 17.4 8,155 16.2
Total 53,432 100.0 51,463 100.0 51,690 100.0 51,436 100.0 50,473 100.0

Personal deposits as a percentage
of total assets 26.3 27.4 29.3 28.3 27.0
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Table 7 ~ Sources of Capital

As at October 31

{miilions of dollars} 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Non-controlling interest 370 398 486 487 468
Subordinated debentures 1,408 1,516 1,592 1,647 1,361
Shareholders’ equity :
Preferred shares 375 375 300 492 492
Common shares 1,545 1,583 1,639 1,668 1,653
Contributed surplus 7 2 - - -
Unreatized foreign currency translation adjustments [10) 6 17 19 1"
Retained earnings 2,287 2,131 1,945 1.937 1,672
4,204 4,097 3,901 4,116 3,828
Total capital 5,982 6,011 5,979 6,250 5,657
Internally generated capital
Net income 725 624 429 563 509
Other amounts affecting retained earnings {1) (4] {2} {107} (3)
Contributed surplus 5 2 - - -
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments 116) {11 12) 8 4
Dividends [266) {218) (195) (191) (170)
447 393 230 273 340
External financing
Non-controlling interest (28) (88} (1} 19 25
Subordinated debentures (108) (76) {55] 286 326
Preferred shares - 75 (192} - 175
Common shares 1340) {272) {253) 15 12
[476) {361) (501] 320 538

Increase [decrease] in capital _(29) .32 (271) 593 878
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Table 8 - Capital Ratios |

As at October 31
{mitiiens of doilars)

[in accordance with BIS guidelines) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Tier 1 capital
Common shareholders’ equity 3,829 3,722 3,601 3,624 3,338
Non-cumulative permanent preferred shares 375 375 300 492 492
innovative instruments 365 396 467 477 457
Non-controlling interest 5 2 19 10 1
Less: goodwill (642) (660) (661) (308] {325
3,912 3,835 3,726 4,298 3,971
Tier 2 capital
Subordinated debentures 1,408 1,437 1,524 1,595 1,290
General allowance for credit risk 350 350 341 391 343
1,758 1,787 1,865 1,986 1,633
Less: investments in companies subject
to significant influence (296} (174) (181 (326} (329
Less: first loss protection {55) 179} [116) [82) (54
Total capital 5,319 5,349 5.294 5,874 5,221
Risk-weighted balance sheet items
Cash resources 1,070 1,363 1,421 1.187 1,160
Securities 2,317 2,688 2,336 2,686 1.921
Mortgage loans 5,420 4,634 3,971 3.486 2,816
Other loans 18,849 18,360 19,478 23,030 25,328
Other assets 4,876 5,692 5117 6,572 5528
32,532 32,737 32,323 36,961 36,753
General allowance for credit risk 350 350 341 391 343
32,882 33.087 32,664 37.352 37,096
Risk-weighted off-balance sheet items(1]
Letters of guarantee and documentary credit 874 406 751 1,180 1.292
Commitments ta extend credit 4,431 4,075 3.872 4,418 4,747
Interest rate contracts 129 100 161 106 84
Foreign exchange contracts 166 230 221 374 331
Equity and commodity contracts 309 256 161 148 187
5,909 5,267 5,166 6,223 6,641
Market risk items 2,032 1,707 1,148 1121 2.098
Total risk-weighted assets 40,823 40,061 38,978 44,696 45,835
Assets-to-capital multiplel2! 16.8 15.9 14.5 131 148
Ratios
Tier 1 capitat 9.6% 9.6% 9.6 % 9.6 % 8.7 %
Total capitat 13.4% 13.6 % 131 % 1.4%

13.0%

{1} Since 2002, items are as at Oclober 31. For 2001, letters of guarantee and documentary credit and commitments to exiend credit are as at October 31;

all other information is as at September 30. Off-batance sheet jtems prior to 2007 are as at September 30.

{2} The assels-to-capital multiple corresponds to total baiance sheet assets and direct cradii substitutes divided by total capital as defined according to capital

adequacy requirements.
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Table 9 - Assets under Administration and Management

Natcan  National Bank
National ~ National  Natjonal  Altamira Investment Bank excluding
As ai October 31 Bank Bank Bank [nvestment Manage- Discount subsi-
{millions of duitars] Trust Financial Securities  Services ment Brokerage diaries 2004 2003
Assets under administration
Institutional 37,498 5,664 - - - - - 43162 36,348
Personal - 73.854 - - - 7.854 - 81,708 70,525
Mutual funds 8,028 - 6,477 4,087 - - - 18,592 13,474
Mortgage loans sold to third parties - - - - - - 4,033 4,033 4,217
Total assets under administration 45,526 79,518 6,477 4,087 - 7.854 4,033 147,495 124,564
Assets under management
Personal 3.196 - - - - - - 3,196 2,334
Managed portfolics - 1,960 - - 14,442 - - 16,402 13,975
Mutual funds - - - - 13,505 - - 13,505 14,475
Total assets under management 3.196 1,960 - - 27,947 - - 33,103 30,784
Total assets under
administration/management - 2004 48,722 81,478 6,477 4,087 27,947 7,854 4,033 180,598 155,348
Total assets under
administration/management - 2003 39.838 49,532 5.507 4,527 24541 7.186 4,217

Table 10 - Allocation of Loans by Borrower Category

As at September 30 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
[miltions of dollars] $ % $ % $ % $ % $ %
Personaltll 7,704 18.4 5,947 - 15.3, 5,859 15.3 6,100 15.0 7,415 18.4
Residential mortgage 15,272 36.4 13,753 355 12,548 32.8 12,132 29.9 11,503 28.6
Non-residential mortgage 1,042 2.5 9N 2.4 836 2.2 779 1.9 756 1.9
Agricultural 1,686 4.0 1,653 4.3 1,486 3.9 1,286 3.2 1,169 2.9
Financial institutions 2,415 5.8 1,277 3.3 1,583 4.1 1,231 3.0 973 2.4
Manufacturing 2,458 5.9 3,282 8.5 5.050 13.2 5,733 14.1 5132 12.8
Caonstruction and real estate 1,247 3.0 1,29 3.3 1,707 45 1,301 3.2 1,388 3.4
Transportation and communications 453 11 515 1.3 632 1.6 1,041 2.6 1,013 2.5
Mines, quarries and energy 763 1.8 774 2.0 601 1.6 742 1.8 585 1.4
Forestry 185 0.4 264 0.7 252 0.7 293 0.7 289 0.7
Governments 1,080 2.6 1,286 33 921 2.4 819 2.0 908 23
Wholesale 612 1.5 558 1.4 807 2.1 1,682 4.2 1,839 46
Retait 1,108 2.6 1,296 3.3 1,281 3.3 1,423 3.5 1.481 3.7
Services 4,774 11.4 4,059 10.5 3,518 9.2 4,033 9.9 4,022 10.0
Other 1,101 2.6 1,912 4.9 1,169 3.1 2,011 5.0 1,754 XA

41,900 100.0 38,778 100.0 38,250 100:0 40,606 100.0 40,227 100.0

{71 includes consumer loans, credit card loans and other personal loans




NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA, 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

Additional Financial Information ]

Table 11 - Real Estate Loans

As at October 31 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
{mitiions of dollars} $ % $ % $ % $ % $ %
Geographic distribution
Canada
Ontario 59 9 49 12 73 13 81 15 101 16
Quebec 544 85 456 80 399 73 350 b4 3n 58
Other - - - - 3 1 3 1 16 2
603 94 525 92 475 87 434 80 488 76
United States
California - - - - 2 - 29 6 58 9
New York - - 5 1 6 2 7 1 15 2
Ilinois - - - - - - 7 1 7 1
Other 37 6 42 7 41 11 48 12 78 12
37 6 47 8 69 13 111 20 158 24
640 100 572 100 544 100 545 100 646 100
By type of project
Retail 117 18 123 22 147 27 148 27 183 28
Office 100 16 148 26 202 37 202 37 235 37
Residential 329 51 245 43 101 18 68 12 93 14
Industrial 18 3 14 2 31 6 31 6 45 7
Land 1 - 2 - 5 1 15 3 25 4
Other 75 12 40 7 58 1 81 15 65 10
640 100 572 100 544 100 545 100 646 100
Allowance for credit losses 10 14 37 42 53
Real estate loans, net 630 558 507 503 593
As a percentage of shareholders’ equity 15 : 14 13 12 15
As a percentage of total ' :
loans and acceptances 2 1 1 1 1

Tabte 12 - Designated Countries

As at October 31

{millicns of dollars} 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Loans and securities, gross
Brazil - 33 39 40 38
ivory Coast - 12 14 15 14
Sudan - - - 15 13
Nicaragua - - - 14 13
Peru - 12 14 14 13
Other 1 10 12 11 12
1 &7 79 109 103
Country risk allowance - 23 26 55 52
Loans and securities, net of allowance ) 44 53 54 51
Allowance as a % of loans and securities -% 34.3% 32.9 % 50.5 % 50.5 %

Loans and securities, net, as a % of shareholders’ equity -% 1.2% 1.4 % 13% 1.3%
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Table 13 - Impaired Loans

As at October 31

{mitiions of dotiars] 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Private impaired loans, net
Domestic
Personal and small business(l) 35 46 62 214 194
Commerciat 63 68 99 210 233
Corporate 49 107 36 15 23
Real estate 11 25 4b 29 26
Other - - - - 1
158 246 241 468 477
International
Real estate - United States - - - 3 12
Other 2 2 3 3 4
Discontinued oparations - - - 17 51
2 2 3 123 47
Total private impaired loans, netl? 160 248 244 591 544
Total impaired loans, designated countries
Gross - 22 24 38 35
Allowance - 19 22 38 35
Total impaired loans, designated countries, net - 3 2 - -
Total impaired loans, net 160 251 246 591 544
Private impaired loans, gross . 388 454 479 932 957
Allowance for credit losses 228 . 206 235 341 413
Private impaired loans, net 160 248 244 591 544
Provisicning rate 58.8 % 45.4 % 491 % 366 % 43.2 %
As a percentage of net loans and acceptances
Domestic - Private 0.4% 0.6% 0.6% 1.2% 11%
International - Private . -% 0.1% 0.1 % 1.7 % 09 %
International - Designated countries ~-% 0.1% 0.1% -% -%
Total 0.4% 0.6% 0.6 % 1.2% 11 %
As a percentage of common shareholders’ equity 4.2% 67% 6.8 % 16.3% 16.3 %

{7} Including $15 million in net consumer loans in 2004 [2003: §16 million; 2002: $22 mitticn; 2007: $108 mitlion; 2000: $80 million)
(2] The Bank has no loans classified as past-due loans (90 days and over] other than those already designated as impaired.

Table 14 - Interest on Impaired Loans

Year ended Octeber 31

[miliions of dotlars) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Interest on impaired loans
Domestic 6 13 5 {4) {6)
International - - - ~ -
6 6 5 @] (6)
Average impaired loans
Domestic [182) {203) {129) 30 30
international 5 18 12 37 15
(177} (185) (117} &7 45
Interest as a percentage of average impaired loans, net )
Domestic [3.3]% (3.0)% {3.91% {13.3]% (20.0)%
International - % - % - % - % -%

Total {3.4)% (3.2)% {4.31% (6.01% [13.31%
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Quarterly Results

{iittions of dollars, except per share amounts]

2004
Total Q4 Q3 Q2 a1
Income statement data
Net interest income $ 1,383 $ 387 $ 390 $ 328 $ 278
Other income 2,166 507 468 554 635
Total revenues 3,549 894 858 884 913
Provision (recovery] for credit losses 86 (8) kil 19 44
Operating expenses 2,392 625 586 602 579
Income taxes 318 77 48 76 97
Non-controlling interest 28 8 ) 7 7
Income before discontinued operations 725 192 167 180 186
Discontinued operations - - - - -
Net income 725 192 167 180 186
Earnings per common share
hefore discontinued operations 4.10 1.1 0.95 1.01 1.03
before discontinued operations - diluted 4.05 1.09 0.94 1.00 1.02
net 4.10 1.1 0.95 1.01 1.03
net - diluted 4.05 1.09 0.94 1.00 1.02
Dividends [per share] .
Cormmon 1.4200 0.3800 0.3800 0.3300 0.3300
Preferred
Series 11 - - - - -
Series 12 - - - - -
Series 13 1.6000 0.4000 0.4000 0.4000 0.4000
Series 15 1.4625 0.3657 0.3656 0.3656 0.3656
Return on cammon shareholders’ eguity 18.8% 19.7% 17.2% 19.0 % 190 %
Total assets 88,807 85,555 86,498 83,107
Long-term financial liabilities!1 1,408 1,474 1,488 1,473
impaired loans
Net private $ 160 $ 199 $ 219 $ 232
Designated countries
Gross outstanding - - 10 10
Allowances - - 9 8
Net total 160 199 220 234
Number of common shares {thousands/
Average 170,918 167,671 169,332 172,023 174,669
End of period 167,430 167,430 168,058 169,730 173,569
Diluted 173,276 169,936 171,634 174,520 177,008
Per common share
Book value $ 22.87 $ 22.30 $ 21.94 $ 21.81
Stock trading range
High 48.78 45.50 47.93 45.00
Low 42.31 42.72 43.27 4017
Number of employees 16,555 16,673 16,366 16,914
Number of branches in Canada 462 472 474 476

{7} Corresponds to subordinated debentures
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Quarterly Results

2003 2002
Total Q4 Q3 a2 a1 Total 04 Q3 Q2 Q1
$ 1.324 $ 32 $ 305 $ 343 $ 355 $ 1444 $ 367 $ 346 $ 356 $ 381
2,038 582 546 430 480 1,584 434 311 458 381
3,362 903 851 773 835 3,028 795 657 814 762
177 50 45 41 41 490 53 62 130 245
2,257 623 557 529 548 2,040 540 508 491 501
277 66 80 58 73 150 56 50 63 (19}
27 [ 7 7 7 30 7 8 8 7
624 158 162 138 166 318 139 29 122 28
- - - - - m {4) (3 - 118
624 158 162 138 166 429 135 26 122 146
3.37 0.87 0.89 0.73 0.88 1.59 0.73 0.13 0.62 0.1
3.34 0.8 0.88 0.72 0.88 1.59 0.73 0.13 0.62 0.1
3.37 0.87 0.89 0.73 0.88 2.18 0.7 0.12 0.62 0.73
3.34 0.86 0.88 0.72 0.88 2.18 0.71 0.12 0.62 0.73
1.0800 0.2800 0.2800 0.2600 0.2600 0.9300 0.2400 0.2400 0.2400 0.2100
- - - - - 0.5000 - - ~ 0.5000
0.8125 - - 0.4063 . 0.4062 1.6250 0.4063 0.4063 0.4062 0.4062
1.6000 0.4000 0.4000 0.4000 0.4000 1.6000 *0.4000 0.4000 0.4000 0.4000
1.1480 0.3657 0.3656 0.4167 - ~ - - - -
16.5% 16.4% 17.3% 14.8% 17.6% 11.3% 14.5 % 23% 13.1 % 15.0 %
84,931 80,474 77,852 74,630 76,031 72,300 74,670 75.970
1,516 1,543 1,553 1,581 1,592 1,600 1,630 1,645
$ 248 $ 230 $ 225 $ 228 $ 244 $ 279 $ 311 $ 307
22 23 23 24 24 24 23 9
19 20 22 22 22 22 21 9
251 233 226 230 246 281 313 307
177.751 174,585 175,363 178.348 182,728 186,608 183,124 184,134 188,794 190,450
174,620 174,620 174,507 175,670 181,563 182,596 182,596 183,256 185,109 190,500
179,235 176,347 177,038 179.666 183,905 187,727 184,168 185,439 190,260 191,350
$ 21.32 $ 20.77 $ 20.28 $ 20.22 $ 19.72 $ 19.29 $ 19.53 $ 19.56
41.19 37.41 35.15 33.10 32.50 33.73 34.93 30.07
34.50 34.55 31.2¢ 29.95 27.00 29.01 29.14 24.70
16,935 17,214 16,961 17,153 17,285 17,235 16,957 16,962
477 480 488 491 507 544 544 543




GLOSSARY
OF FINANCIAL
TERMS

i Accenianqe | S‘ho'rt;-term debt security traded on the money market which
»"a bank guarantees on.behaif of a borrower for a stamping fee.

"Allowance for credit losses | Allowance taken to absorb expected credit
losses {loans, acceptances, letters of guarantee, letters of credit, deposits
with ather banks and derivatives). The allowance for credit losses com-
" prises the country risk allowance and specific and generat allowances for
7,",,cred|t risk. it is increased by the annua( provision for credit losses less
wnte offs neto( recoveries :

Asset/hablmy management I Management of maturities of assets and
abilities'as well as off-balance'sheet items to minimize interest rate risk
nd:foreign excharige risk through appropriate matching.

ssets under administration | Assets in respect of which a financial insti-
-stution provides administrative services such as custodial services, collec-
on of investment income; settlement of purchase and sale transactions
and record-keeping. Assets under administration, which are beneficially
'oWned by clients, are not reported on the balance sheet of the institution
: “offering such services.

Assets Gnder managament §-Assets managed by a financial institution
‘that are benehcnally owned by clients. Management services are more
~ comprehensive than administrative services, and include selecting invest-
- ments.or offering investment advice. Assets under management, which
B fmay also be, admlmstered by the financial institution, are not reported on
the fmyanct,a‘l institution’ 5 balance sheet.

: :A'veay'akge ass_et's l Daily(éver“age‘of balance sheet assets.

Basxs point| Unit of measure equal to one one- hundredth of a percentage
pomt {0.01%).

h Capxtal i Amount which would be owed to the holders of shares and
' subordinated debentures if assets had to be liquidated to reimburse
_depositors: and other creditors. Capital consists of bank debentures,

L _' shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interest.

" Capital ratio | The ratio of rregulatory capital to risk-adjusted assets,
.; expressed as’a percentage. The Bank for international Settiements {BIS
dlstlngunshes ‘between two types of capital: Tier 1 capital, or base capital,
consists or common sharehelders . equity, non-cumulative preferred
shareholders equnty and. non- controlling interests in subsidiaries; Tier 2,
supplementary capxtat -consists of the book value of other preferred
hares 2nd the eligible portion of subordinated debentures as well as the
general’ allowance for credit risk. Total regulatory capital, or total capital,
“the 'slim of the various types of capital less investments in companies
‘subject to Vsigniﬁvcant influence and first loss protection with respect to
:asset-securitization. In accordance with BiS rules, the Superintendent of
:Fmancual Institutions Canada defines a third tier of capital intended specif-

- lcally to cover market risk, WhICh must aLso be covered by Tier 1 capttal
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Credit derivative | Derlvauve instrument based ‘on. cred:t instruments and -
offering protection against credit risk {credit swaps, for exampte] .

Credit risk | Potential loss resulting from'the mabmty or: unwnthngness of
a.counterparty to honour its contractual obligations with respect to a loan - |-
or other type of credit. Credit risk can arise because of specific counter-
party conditions or be a consequence of market r:sk

Derivative instruments {derivatives} | Financial contracts whose value is
“derived” from interest rates, foreign exchange rates or equity prices:
Derivatives are used in treasury operations as well as for hedgmg regular
financial instrumeénts. Derivatives include foreign currency or lnterest rate
futures, swaps, optsons and credit dernvatlves L

in international trade, authorizing a third'party to:draw drafts.on the'Ban
up to a certain amount under specific terms and condmon .8
by the delivery of related goods. ,' L

given exchange rate. S ; i

Foreign currency or interest rate optmn ! The ngm but not” the obliga-.,
tion, to buy {call option) or sell {put option}, on or beforea set, date agiven
amount of foreign currency-or securities at a set pnce (stnke pnce] Lo

" Foreign exchange risk | Potential loss caused by currency prlce ‘move-
ments and the resulting decline in the value of & secunty or other fmancnal
instrument held by the Bank.

Forward rate agreement | Contractual obligation to buy: or sell on or
before a specified future date, a given quantnty of securmes at a gwen
interest rate. -

Hedging | A technique by which derivatives or sther financialiinstrufhents:
are used to reduce or offset exposure to changes in :nterest rates forelgn
exchange rates and equity or commodlty pnces i

L palred loan I A loan is cons«dered lmpalred when, in the opmton of
anagement, there is reasonable doubt as to the payment of principal or ~
terest Any loan where payments are 90 days past due’is consxdered

: vlnterést raté risk | Potential lb”sa due to interest rate fuctuations result-

/ing in mismatched maturities of earning assets and liabilities or, more
“-generally; reduchon in the value of a financial instrument held by the
: Bank

{»Letter of guarantee | Irrevocable commitment by the Bank to make
" payments in the event that its client cannot meet its financial obligations
to third parties.

. tiquidity risk] Pot)e’ntial difficutty in obtaining'cash or cash equivalents in

Lo T - (ffatnmety manner in orderto meet financial obhgahons
Documen!aryletters of credit | Documents, issued by the Barkand used »4

Market risk l Potential Loss due to changes in the value of financial instru-
ments as a; result of changes in-interest rates, foreign exchange rates,
‘eduity prlces or commodlty prices. Changes in these rates or prices result

_in exposure’to four main categories of market risk: interest rate risk, for-
:eign exchange risk, equity risk and commodity risk.

< Mark-'ta‘-market' I>Valu;ati0n of securities and derivatives at market rates
;at'the balance sheet date.

Net interest-income | Difference between interest and dividends earned
on total asgets and interest expense paid on total liabilities. Specifically,
net: 1nterest income-is the difference between what the Bank earns on
assets sych,as loans and securities and what it pays on labilities such as

deposzts ‘Net mterest margm corresponds to the ratio of net Interest o
'vmcome to. average assets

i Notlonal prmcrpal amuunt i Pnnupal amount used to calculate payments
“forinstruments such as forward rate agreements and interest rate swaps.
1t is considered notional’ because in -most cases, the principal amount
“ never changes hands

. Operational risk | -Potential Loss'resulting from inadequate or failed
“processes, technology or hurnan performance, or from external events.

Other income | Includes all revenue except for interest and dividend

.| income. Other income-consists of such items as deposit and payment
o _servace charges lending fees, financial market revenues, card service
1 - revenues, investment management and custodial
revenues and securitization revenues.

fees, mutual fund

Provnsaon for credlt losses { Amounts added annually to the allowance for
5 credlt losses to bring it to a level deemed adequate, taking into account
< 'W[Ite “offs and recoveries with respect to specific loans.
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L

Return on commeon shareholders equlty {or ROE) i Ne ncome
dividends on preferred shares, expressed as a percentage of ‘ :
value of common shareholders’ equity.. e

Risk weighting | Risk- wenghtmg factors are applied to the face value)
certain assets in order to present comparabte risk: tevets Th|s proce
is also used to recognize the risk in, off-balance Sheet mstruments by )
adjusting the notional value to balance sheet (or credit) equwatents before
applying the appropriate ‘risk-weighting factors.. Totat Tisk- wetghted‘
assets are used in calculating the various capital Tatiog accordmg to.the /.
rutes of the Bank for Internatronal Setttements lBlSl‘ S

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements I'Secus
purchased by the Bank from a client, pursuant to an agreement under
which the securities will be resold to. the same client'on’a specmed date

. and at a specified price. Such an agreement is'a form of short term

collateratlized lending.

Securities sold under repurchase agreements | Financial obligations
related 1o securities sold pursuant to an agreement under -which the’
securities will be repurchased on a specified date-and ata specmed prlce

Such an agreement is a form of short-term fundmg -

Securitization | Transactcon in which certam assets such as mortgages

or credit card receivables, are sold to an entity which fmances their: acqul- S

sition by issuing negotiable securities. R

Swap | Transaction in which counterparties agree to exchange for El spe

fied period, currencies and/or interést.payment streams: (generally by

exchanging a fixed rate for.a ftoatmg rate) based on a nottonat prmcopat
amount. . <

Taxable equivalent basis I Calculation method used to gross up certain ;

tax-exempt income [primarily dividends] by the income -tax that would-
have otherwise been payable. The gross-up of such ihcome permlts E] um-
form comparison of the yield on the various types. of assets regardless of
their tax treatment such as net interest i mcome 2

Value-at-risk [VaR] | Value-at-risk is one  of the Banks prlncopat market:’
risk management tools. This simutation model calculates maxtmum daily.
losses, based on a confidence’level .of 99%, for the.Bank’ major, cat
gories of financial instruments. and its aggregate portfolto

Yield curve | Graphic representation of: interest rates in effect ona gwen ;
date for different maturities, Interest rates vary according to, the; rtsks :
factored in by the market. Interest rates for short-term. maturmes are’
generally lower than those for long-term maturities. The curve may be

inverted, i.e., rates for short-term maturities may be hlgher than those for :

long-term maturities.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

-

Management’s Report

The consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Canada (the "Bank”) and the other financial information presented in the
"Annual Report were prepared by Management, which is responsible for their integrity, including the material estimates and judgments
incorporated therein. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. :

Management maintains the necessary accounting and control_sysiems in discharging its responsibility and ensuring that the Bank’s
assets are safeguarded. These controls include establishing standards for hiring and training personnel, defining and evaluating tasks
and functions, and implementing operating policies and procedures and budget controls.

The Board of Directors [the "Board”] is responsible for examining and approving the financial information which appears in the Annual
Report. Acting through the Audit and Risk Management Committee {the "Committee”], the Board also oversees the presentation of the
consolidated financial statements and ensures that accounting and controt systems are maintained.

The Committee, composed of directars who are neither officers nor employees of the Bank, is responsible for evaluating internal control
procedures on an ongoing basis, examining the consolidated financial statements, and recommending them to the Board for approval.
The Committee oversees a team of internal auditors, which reports to it on a regular basis.

The control systems are further supported by the Bank's observance of the laws and regulations that apply to its operations. The
Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada regularly examines the affairs of the Bank to ensure that the provisions of the Bank Act
with respect to the safety of the Bank’s depositors and shareholders are being duly observed and that the Bank is in a sound financial
condition.

The independent auditors, Samson Bélair / Deloitte & Touche, sie.n.c.r.l,, yyhbse report follows, were appointed by the shareholders on
the recommendation of the Board. They were given full and unrestricted access to the Committee to discuss their audit and financial
reporting matters.

Réal Raymond  Michel Labonté
President and Senior Vice-President ‘
Chief Executive Officer Finance, Technology and Corporate Affairs

Montreal, December 2, 2004
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Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of National Bank of Canada

We have audited the Consolidated Balance Sheet of National Bank of Canada (the "Bank”} as at Octaber 31, 2004 and the Censolidated
Statements of Income, Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Cash Flows for the year then ended. These consclidated financial statements
are the responsibility of the Bank's Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain reascnable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating
the overall consolidated financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as at
October 31, 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

The consolidated financial statements as at October 31, 2003 and for the year then ended were audited by Samson Bélair / Deloitte &

Touche, s.e.n.c.r.l, and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who issued an unqualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements in
their report dated November 28, 2003.

Samson Bélair / Deloitte & Touche, s.e.n.c.rl.
Chartered Accountants

Montreal, December 2, 2004
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Year ended October 31
{millions of dollars except per share amounts/

Consolidated Statement of Income

Note 2004 2003
Interest income and dividends
Loans 1,904 1,977
Securities 588 526
Deposits with financial institutions 113 131
2,605 2,634
Interest expense
Deposits 800 1,030
Subordinated debentures 99 105
Cther 323 175
1,222 1,310
Net interest income 1,383 1,324
Other income
Financial market fees 633 544
Deposit and payment service charges 200 192
Trading revenues 198 335
Gains on investment account securities, net 91 1
Card service revenues 49 49
Lending fees 238 204
Acceptances, letters of credit and guarantee 65 63
Securitization revenues ) : 180 204
Foreign exchange revenues ' 72 66
Trust services and mutual funds 244 210
Other 196 170
2,166 2,038
Total revenues 3,549 3,362
Provision for credit losses ) 86 177
Operating expenses
Salaries and staff benefits 1,359 1,287
Occupancy 200 192
Computers and equipment 334 312
Communications 77 80
Professional fees 118 112
Other 304 274
: 2,392 2,257
Income before income taxes and non-cantrolling interest 1,071 928
Income taxes 16 318 277
753 451
Non-controlling interest 28 27
Net income 725 624
Dividends on preferred shares 14 23 25
Net income available to common shareholders 702 599
Average number of common shares outstanding ftheusands/ 17
Basic 170,918 177,751
Diluted 173,276 179,235
Net earnings per common share 17
Basic 4.10 3.37
Diluted 4.05 3.34

Dividends per common share 14 1.42 1.08
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As at October 31
{millions of dollars}

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Note 2004 2003
ASSETS
Cash resources .
Cash 481 222
Deposits with financial institutions 5,296 6,825
5,777 7,047
Securities
Investment account 4 7,428 6,998
Trading account 4 20,561 19151
Loan substitutes 18 30
28,007 26,179
Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements 4,696 3,955
Loans S5and é
Residential mortgage 15,500 13,976
Personal and credit card 7,825 6,101
Business and government ] : 18,751 18,934
Allowance for credit losses ‘ (578) (630}
41,498 38,381
Other
Customers’ liability under acceptances 3,076 3,334
Premises and equipment 7 267 263
Goodwill 8 662 640
Intangible assets 8 180 183
Other assets 9 4,844 4,929
9,029 9,369
88,807 84,931
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Deposits 10
Personal 23,675 23,512
Business and government 24,299 22,700
Deposit-taking institutions 5,458 5,251
' 53,432 51,463
Other
Acceptances 3,076 3,334
Obligations related to securities sold short 10,204 8,457
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 8,182 8,674
Other liahitities 11 7,931 6,992
29,393 27,457
Subordinated debentures 12 1,408 1,516
Non-controlling interest 370 398
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred shares 14 375 375
Common shares 14 1,545 1,583
Contributed surplus 15 7 2
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments (10) )
Retained earnings ) 2,287 2,131
4,204 4,097
88,807 84,931

Réal Raymond Pierre Bourgie
President and Chief Executive Officer Director
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Year ended October 31
{millions of dollars]

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Note 2004 2003
Preferred shares at beginning 375 300
Issuance of preferred shares, Series 15 - 200
Redemption of preferred shares, Series 12 for cancellation - (125)
Preferred shares at end 14 375 375
Common shares at beginning 1,583 1,639
fssuance of common shares 42 26
Repurchase of common shares for cancellation (80 (82)
Common shares at end 14 1,545 1,583
Contributed surplus at beginning 2 ~
Stock option expense 5 2
Contributed surplus at end 15 7 2
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments at beginning 6 17
Losses on foreign exchange operations with a functional currency

other than the Canadian dollar, net of income taxes 16) (11}
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments at end (10) é
Retained earnings at beginning 2,131 1,945
Net income 725 624
Dividends

Preferred shares B 7 {23) (25]

Common shares ’ ' 14 (243) (193]
Income taxes related to dividends on preferred shares,

Series 12,13 and 15 16 {1} -
Premium paid on common shares repurchased for canceliation 14 (302} (216}
Share issuance expenses, net of income taxes - {4)
Retained earnings at end 2,287 2,131

Shareholders’ equity 4,204 4,097
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 725 624
Adjustments for:
Provision for credit tosses 86 177
Amortization of premises and equipment 52 49
Future income taxes 50 5
Translation adjustment on foreign currency subordinated debentures (29) (76)
Gains on sale of investment account securities, net 191) (1
Gains on asset securitizations (67) (84
Stock option expense 5 2
Change in interest payable 4 72
Change in interest and dividends receivable 320 (34)
Change in income taxes payable {160} 208
Change in unrealized losses [(gains} and net amounts payable
on derivative contracts 10 (458)
Change in trading account securities {1,410) {5,972]
Excess of pension plan contributions over expenses ‘ {20) (255)
Change in other items 807 1034
282 (4,711]
Cash flows from financing activities
Change in deposits 1,969 {227)
Maturity of subordinated debentures ‘ _ {79} -
Issuance of common shares : ) ’ 42 26
Issuance of preferred shares - 200
Repurchase of common shares for cancellation [382) (298)
Redemption of preferred shares for cancellation - (125)
Dividends paid on common shares [179) {235)
Dividends paid on preferred shares {231 (25)
Change in obligations related to securities sold short ' 1,747 2915
Change in securities sold under repurchase agreements {692} 4,258
Change in other items (16) (18}
2,587 6,473
Cash flows from investing activities
Change in loans _ {4,730) (1,528)
Proceeds from securitization of assets ' 1,527 1,729
Purchases of investment account securities (15,480} {21,342)
Sales of investment account securities 15,141 21,208
Change in securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements [541) (1.589)
Net acquisitions of premises and equipment (56) (57)
[4,139) (1,579)
Increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,270) 183
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 7,047 6,864
Cash and cash equivalents at end 5,777 7,047
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash 481 222
Deposits with financial institutions 5,296 6,825
5,777 7,047

Suppiementary information
Interest and dividends paid 1,420 1,498
Income taxes paid 460 127
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Canada [the "Bank”) were prepared in accordance with Section 308(4) of the
Bank Act, which states that Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ["GAAP”) are to be applied unless otherwise specified by
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (the "Superintendent”). These principles differ in some regards from United States
GAAP, as explained in Note 25.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires Management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of balance sheet assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
as at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

The significant accounting policies used in preparing these consolidated financial statements are summarized below.

The consolidated financial staterents of the Bank include the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Bank and all its subsidiaries,
after the elimination of intercompany transactions and balances.

investments in companies over which the Bank exercises significant influence are accounted for using the equity method and are included
in "Other assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Bank's share of income [losses] from these companies is included in "Interest
income and dividends” in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Translation of foreign currencies ;

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at month-end exchange rates at the date
of the consolidated financial statements. Operating revenues and expenses are translated using average monthly exchange rates. Realized
and unrealized translation gains and losses are recorded in the current year Consolidated Statement of Income.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations with a functional currency other than the Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian dollars
at month-end exchange rates as at the balance sheet date, while operating revenues and expenses are translated using the average
monthly exchange rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from translation of foreign operations with a functional currency other than
the Canadian dollar, and the results of hedging these positions, net of income taxes, are recorded in unrealized foreign currency translation

adjustments.

Cash resources

Cash resources consist of cash and cash equivalents. Cash comprises cash on hand, bank notes and coin. Cash equivalents consist of
deposits with the Bank of Canada, deposits with financial institutions, including net receivables related to cheques and other items in
the clearing process, as well as the net amount of cheques and other items in transit.

Securities
Securities are held in the investment or the trading account, depending on Management’s intention.

Investment account securities are purchased with the intention of holding them to maturity or until market conditions favour other types
of investments. Equity securities are stated at acquisition cost if the Bank does not exercise a significant influence over the investee.
Debt securities are stated at unamortized acquisition cost and any premiums and discounts are amortized using the effective yield method
over the period to maturity or disposal of the security. Dividend and interest income as well as the amortization of premiums and discounts
are recorded in “Interest income and dividends.” Gains or losses realized on the disposal of securities, calculated using the average cost
method, and any loss in value that is other than a temporary impairment is recorded in "Other income.”

Trading account securities purchased for resale in the short term are presented at fair value based on publicly disclosed market prices.
In the event market prices are not available, the fair value is estimated on the basis of the market prices of similar securities.

Dividend and interest income is recorded in “Interest income and dividends.” Realized and unrealized gains or losses on these securities
are recorded in “Other income.”

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements and sold under repurchase agreements

The Bank purchases securities under reverse repurchase agreements and sells securities under repurchase agreements. These securities
are recorded at cost in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Interest income from reverse repurchase agreements and interest expense under
repurchase agreements are recorded on an accrual basis in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Loans

A loan, other than a credit card loan, is considered impaired when, in the opinion of Management, there is reasonable doubt as to the
ultimate collectibility of a portion of principal or interest or where payment of interest is contractually %0 days past due, untess there is
no doubt as to the collectibility of the principal or interest. A loan may revert to performing status only when principal and interest
payments have become fully current. Credit card loans are written off when payments are more than 180 days in arrears.

When a loan is deemed impaired, interest ceases to be recorded and the carrying value of the loan is adjusted to its estimated realizable
amount by writing off all or part of the loan or by taking an allowance for credit losses.

Foreclosed assets held for sale in settlement of an impaired loan are presented at fair value less selling costs at the date of foreclosure.
Any difference between the carrying value of the loan before foreclosure and the initially estimated realizable amount of the assets is
recorded as a charge to "Provision for credit losses.” For any subsequent change in their fair value, gains or losses are recognized under
“Other income” in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Gains may not exceed losses in value recognized after the date of foreclosure.
Revenues generated by foreclosed assets and the related operating expenses are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Foreclosed assets held for use in settlement of an impaired loan are measured at fair value at the date of foreclosure. Any difference in
the carrying value of the loan exceeding fair value is recorded under “Provision for credit losses.” These assets are subsequently presented
at the date of foreclosure as premises and equipment and are subject to the same accounting rules as those applicable to the premises
and equipment to which they relate.

Loan origination fees, including loan commitment, restructuring and renegotiation fees, are considered an integral part of the yield
earned on the loan and are deferred and amortized to interest income over the term of the loan. Commitment fees are treated on the
same basis if there is reasonable expectation that the commitment will result in a loan; the fees are then amortized to interest income
over the term of the loan. Otherwise, the fees are included in other income over the term of the commitment. Loan syndication fees are
recognized as other income, unless the yield on any loan retained by the'Bank is less than that of other comparable lenders involved in
the financing. In such cases, an appropriate portion of the fees is deferred and amortized to interest income over the term of the loan.

Atlowance for credit losses

The allowance for credit losses reflects Management’s best estimate of losses in its loan portfolio as at the balance sheet date. The
atlowance relates primarily to loans, but may also cover the credit risk associated with deposits with other banks, derivative products,
loan substitute securities and other credit instruments such as acceptances, letters of guarantee and letters of credit. The allowance for
credit losses, which consists of specific atlowances for impaired loans, the country risk allowance and the general allowance for credit
risk, is increased by the provision for credit losses, which is charged to income, and decreased by the amount of write-offs, net of recoveries.

The specific allowances for impaired loans are established for all such loans for which impairment could be estimated individually,
reducing them to their estimated realizable amounts. The estimated realizable amounts are measured by discounting expected future
cash flows. For groups of impaired loans consisting of large numbers of homogeneous balances of relatively small amounts, the realizable
amounts are determined by discounting expected future cash flows for each group of loans using formulas that take into account past
loss experience, economic conditions and other relevant circumstances. No specific allowance is established for credit card loans, as
balances are written off if payment has not been received within 180 days.

The allowance for credit losses in relation to loans to countries designated by the Superintendent is revalued on an ongoing basis according
to risk exposure in the various countries and their related economic conditions.

The allocated general allowance for credit risk represents Management's best estimate of probable losses within the partion of the
portfolio that has not yet been specifically identified as impaired. This amount is determined by applying expected loss factors to outstanding
and undrawn facilities. The allocated general allowance for corporate and government loans is based on the application of expected
default and loss factors, determined by statistical loss migration analysis, according to loan type. For more homogeneous portfolios, such
as residential mortgage loans, small and medium-sized enterprise loans, personal loans and credit card loans, the allocated general
allowance is determined on a product portfolio basis. Losses are determined by the application of loss ratios determined through statistical
analysis of loss migration over an economic cycle. The unallocated general allowance for credit risk is based on Management’s assessment
of probable {osses in the portfolio that have not been captured in the determination of the specific allowances for impaired loans, the
country risk atlowance and the allocated general allowance. This assessment takes into account general economic and business conditions,
recent loan loss experience, and trends in credit quality and concentrations. This allowance also reflects model and estimation risks.
The unallocated general allowance does not represent future losses or serve as a substitute for the allocated general allowance.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies [cont.)

Asset securitization

The Bank enters into securitization transactions involving residential and commercial mortgage loans, consumer loans, personal loans
and credit card receivables by selling them to special purpose entities or trusts that issue securities to investors. These transactions are
recarded as sales when the Bank is deemed to have surrendered control over the assets sold and to have received consideration other
than beneficial interests in these assets. Gains and losses on securitization transactions are recognized in income on the transaction date.

As part of securitization transactions, the Bank may retain certain interests in the securitized receivables in the form of one or more
subordinated tranches, rights to future excess interest and, in some cases, a cash reserve account. Gains and losses on securitizations,
net of transaction fees, are carried in the Consolidated Statement of Income under "Securitization revenues.” Gains and losses on the
sale of receivables depend in part on the allocation of the previous carrying amount of the receivables between the assets sold and the
retained interests. This allocation is based on their relative fair value at the date of transfer. Fair value is based on market prices, when
available. However, as quotes are usually not available for retained interests, fair value is determined using the present value of future

_expected cash flows estimated in relation to assumptions on credit losses, prepayment rates, forward yield curves, and discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved.

Retained interests are recorded at cost and included in investment account securities. Any impairment in the value of retained interests
that is other than temporary is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income under “Securitization revenues.”

The Bank generally transfers receivables on a fully serviced basis. At the time of transfer, a servicing tiability is recognized and amortized
to income over the term of the transferred assets. This servicing liability is presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet under "Other
liabilities.”

Prior to July 1, 2001, securitization transactions were accounted for in accordance with Emerging Issues Committee Abstract No. 9
"Transfers of Receivables” [EIC-9) of the CICA Handbook. Gains on securitization transactions were amortized to income over time, while
losses were recognized as incurred. For securitization transactions that provide for the payment of the proceeds of sale when the sum
of interest and fees collected from borrowers exceeded the yield paid to investors, these proceeds were considered income when the
amount could legally be paid by the trust. Since July 1, 2001, gains and losses have been recognized in income on the date of the transaction.
Transactions entered into prior to July 1, 2001 lor completed after that date pursuant to commitments to sell prior to
July 1, 2007) have not been restated, and deferred gains and other income will continue to be recorded under the original terms of the
agreements.

Guaranteed mortgage loans

The Bank finances a portion of its residential mortgage loan portfolio through the mortgage-backed securities program provided for in
the National Housing Act. Under this program, the Bank pools eligible mortgage loans and sells ownership rights in these pools to investors.
Investors are paid a pre-set coupon rate and the principal from the underlying mortgages. The Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation
{"CMHC") unconditionally guarantees the payments to the investors. The Bank continues to service the securitized mortgage loans.

The Bank is committed to the CMHC to make sufficient funds regularly available to the paying agent and the transfer agent to pay the
amounts due to investors, whether or not the mortgagors have made their payments. Moreover, the Bank must place all funds due to
investors at maturity of the securities at the disposal of the paying agent and the transfer agent. Should the Bank default, the CMHC can
assign the servicing of the securitized loans to another servicer.

Acceptances and customers’ liability under acceptances :

The potential liability of the Bank under acceptances is recorded as a liability in the Consotidated Balance Sheet. The Bank’s potential
recourse to customers is recorded as an equivalent offsetting asset. Fees are recorded in "Other income” in the Consolidated Statement
of Income.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Premises and equipment
Premises, equipment, furniture and leasehold improvements are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization and are amortized
over their estimated useful lives according to the following methods and rates. Land is recorded at cost.

Methods Rates
Buitdings (a) or (b} 2% to 14%
Equipment and furniture {a) or (b) 20% to 50%
Leasehold improvements (a) (c)

{a} straight-line
ib} dirninishing balance
{c] over the lease term plus the first renewsal opticn

Goodwill

The purchase method is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill represents the excess of the price paid for the
acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually {or more frequently
if changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired) to ensure that the fair value remains greater than or equal to the
carrying value. Any excess of the carrying value over the fair value is charged to income for the period during which the impairment has
been determined.

Intangible assets

The intangible assets of the Bank result from the acquisition of subsidiaries or groups of assets and are mainly composed of management
contracts recorded at their fair value at the time of acquisition. Since these assets have indefinite lives, they are not amortized, but are
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. The impairment
test consists of comparing the fair value of the asset with its carrying value. The excess of the carrying value over the fair value is charged
to income for the period during which the impairment is determined. {ntangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their
useful lives. These assets are written down when the long-term expectation is that their carrying values will not be recovered. Any excess
of the carrying value over the net recoverable value is charged to income.

Obligations related to securities sotd short

These liabilities represent the Bank's obligation to deliver securities it sold but did not own at the time of sale. Obligations related to
securities sold short are recorded as liabilities at fair value; obligations related to securities that are used as hedges are accounted for
atunamortized cost. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on trading activities are recorded in “Trading revenues” in the Consolidated
Statement of Income.

Gains and losses on securities sold short used for hedging purposes are inctuded in the Consolidated Statement of income concurrently
with the gains and losses on the hedged items.

Income taxes

The Bank provides for income taxes under the asset and liability method. The Bank determines future income tax assets and liabilities
based on the differences between the carrying values and the tax bases of assets and liabilities, according to income tax laws and income
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted on the date the differences are reversed. Future income tax assets represent tax benefits
related to deductions the Bank may claim to reduce its taxable income in future years. No future income tax expense is recorded for the
portion of retained earnings of foreign subsidiaries that is permanently reinvested.

Derivative financial instruments
The Bank offers various types of derivatives to accommodate the needs of its clients in managing their risk exposure and investment and
trading activities. |t also uses derivatives in its own risk management and trading activities.

The main derivative instruments used by the Bank are exchange-traded contracts such as futures and options as well as over-the-counter
products such as forward rate agreements, credit derivatives, swaps and options.

Derivatives held for trading purposes '

Derivatives used to accommodate the needs of clients and to enable the Bank to generate income from its trading activities are recognized
on the fair value basis. Unrealized gains are presented as assets and unrealized losses as liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on trading activities are recorded in "Other income” in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.]

Derivatives held for asset/liability management
Derivative instruments used to manage the Bank’s own risks, in particular interest and exchange rate risks, are recorded using hedge
accounting, when appropriate.

Documentation

The Bank prepares formal documentation for alt hedging relationships which identifies the hedging derivative and the specific asset or
liability or cash flow being hedged. it also documents the risk management objective and strategy used for all hedging activities.
The Bank atso systematically determines, at inception of the hedge and over the term of the hedging relationship, whether changes in
the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item can be effectively offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging derivative.

Types of derivatives
The Bank uses mainly interest rate swaps to hedge against changes in the fair values of assets and liabilities and changes in the cash

flows related to a variable rate asset or liability.

Recognition
When the derivative is designated and deemed effective as a fair value or cash flow hedge, the related gains and losses are recorded in
“Other income” in the Consoclidated Statement of Income at the same time as the gains or losses on the assets and liabilities hedged.

Discontinuance of hedge accounting

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on terminated financial instruments or financial instruments that have ceased to be effective
before they expire are presented with assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and recognized in “Other income” in the
periad during which the underlying hedge activity is recognized. Should the financial instrument once again qualify as a hedging relationship,
any fair value already presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet will be amortized to "Other income.” If a designated hedged item is
sold, terminated or expires before the related instrument is terminated, any realized or unrealized gain or loss on the instrument is
recognized in "Other income” in the Consolidated Statement of Income. '

Financial instruments held for non-trading purposes and ineligible for hedge accounting
Financial instruments held for non-trading purposes and which do not quatify for hedge accounting are carried at fair value as an asset
or liability. Any change in the fair value of these instruments is recorded in “Other income” in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Insurance revenues and expenses

Premiums less claims and changes in actuarial liabilities are reflected in "Other income.” income from securities held by the insurance
subsidiaries is included in "interest income and dividends” in the Consolidated Statement of Income and under “Securities” in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Amortization of deferred gains and losses on the disposal of securities is included in "Other income.”
Administrative costs are recorded in “Operating expenses” in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Assets under administration and assets under management

The Bank administers and manages assets that are owned by clients but which are not reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Asset management fees are earned for providing investment and mutual fund management services. Asset administration fees are
earned for providing trust, estate administration and custodial services. Fees are recognized in “Other income” as the services are
provided.

Employee future benefits

The Bank offers defined benefit pension plans that cover substantially all salaried employees. These defined benefit plans are funded
pension plans. The Bank also offers its employees certain post-retirement and post-employment benefits, campensated leave and
termination benefits [non-pension employee benefits), which are generally not funded. These benefits include health care, life insurance
and dental benefits. Employees eligible for the post-retirement benefits are those who retire at certain retirement ages. Employees
eligible for post-employment benefits are those on long-term disability or maternity leave,

The Bank records its benefit obligation under employee pension ptans and the related costs net of ptan assets.

Actuarial valuations are made periodically to determine the present value of ptan obligations. The actuarial valuation of accrued pension
and post-retirement benefit obligations is based on the projected benefit methed prorated on services using the most likely assumptions
according to Management as regards future salary levels, cost escalation, retirement age and other actuarial factors. The accrued benefit
obligation is valued using market rates as at the measurement date. With regard to the expected long-term returns of plan assets used
to calculate pension expense, most of the fixed-income securities in the plans are measured using fair value while equity securities and
other assets are measured using a market-related value. This value takes into account the changes in the fair value of assets over a
three-year period. Prior to November 1, 2003, all portfolic securities were valued at market-related values. The impact of this change
for the year ended October 31, 2004 is negligible.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

The cost of pension and other post-retirement benefits earned by employees is established by calculating the sum of the following: the
current period accrued benefit cost; the notional interest on the actuarial liability of the plans and the expected long-term return on plan
assets; the amortization, over the estimated average remaining service lives of employees, of actuarial gains and losses; and the amounts
resulting from the changes made to the assumptions and the plans. The cumulative excess of pension plan contributions over the amounts
recorded as expenses is recognized in "Other assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet while the cumulative cost of other post-retirement
benefits, net of disbursements, is recognized in "Other liabilities.”

Past service costs arising from amendments to the plans are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period
of active employees on the date of the amendments. The portion of the actuarial net gain or loss which exceeds 10% of either the accrued
benefit obligation or the fair value of the plan assets, whichever is higher, is amortized over the average remaining service period of
active employees. This average remaining service period varies from 9 to 12 years depending on the plan. When the restructuring of an
employee benefit plan gives rise to both a curtailment and a settlement of abligations, the curtailment is accounted for prior to the
settlement.

Stock-based compensation plans

On November 1, 2002, the Bank adopted the requirements of CICA standard "Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based
Payments,” which establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of stock-based compensation and other stock-
based payments made in exchange for goods and services.

In accordance with this standard, rights awarded under the Stock Appreciation Rights {SARs] Plan are recorded at fair value by measuring,
on an ongoing basis, the excess of the stock price over the exercise price of the option. The standard applies to SARs outstanding as at
the date of the adoption of the recommendations and to subsequent awards. The Bank's obligation, which results from the variation in
the stock’s market price, is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, i.e., four years, and a corresponding
amount is included in "Other liabilities.” When the vesting period expires and until the SARs are exercised, the change in the obligation
attributable to variations in the stock price is recognized by increasing or decreasing the compensation expense for the period in which
the variations occur. With regard to SARs outstanding as at the date of the adoption of the recommendations, the application of the new
transitional provisions of the standard, faking into account the liability previously recognized by the Bank, did not require any cumulative
adjustment to the balance of retained earnings as at November 1, 2002.

The Bank uses the fair value based method to account for stock options awarded under its Stock Option Plan subsequent to November 1,
2002. The fair value of the stock options is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes model.

This cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, i.e., four years, as an increase in compensation expense and
contributed surplus. When the options are exercised, the proceeds and the contributed surplus are credited to common share paid-up
capital. For options awarded before November 1, 2002, no compensation expense is recognized. Any consideration paid by employees
upon exercise of stock options is also credited to common share paid-up capital. The exercise price of each option awarded is equal to
the closing price of the common shares of the Bank on The Toronto Stock Exchange on the business day preceding the date of the award.

The Bank also offers a Deferred Stock Unit ("DSU"] Plan for Officers intended for certain members of senior management and other key
employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries. Under the Plan, a portion of the value of the officer's compensation is tied to the future value
of the Bank’s common shares as an incentive award. A DSU is a right whose value corresponds to the market value of a common share
of the Bank at the time the DSU is awarded. DSUs vest according to specific criteria and on the dates established in the officer’s grant
letter. Additional DSUs are allocated to the officer’s account in proportion to the dividends paid on common shares of the Bank. DSUs
can only be exercised when the officer retires or ceases to be a Bank employee. The compensation expense for this plan is recorded
under "Operating expenses” in the year the incentive award vests to the officer. Any change in the value of DSUs is recorded to "Operating
expenses” in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Comparative figures )
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in the current year.
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Changes in Accounting Policies

2a. Recent Accounting Standards Adopted

Generally accepted accounting principles

On November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted the requirements of Section 1100 of the CICA Handbook, “Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles.” This Section establishes standards for financial reporting in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
["GAAP") and identifies other sources to consult when selecting accounting policies and determining appropriate disclosures when a
matter is not dealt with explicitly in the primary sources of GAAP. The application of this standard eliminates certain practices that may
have been used within a particular industry. The only material impact on the results of the Bank is that mortgage loan prepayment fees
are no longer amaortized. Since November 1, 2003, certain prepayment fees have been recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income
under "Lending fees” when earned. Prior to November 1, 2003, these fees were deferred and amortized to interest income over the term
of the loan. Following the adoption of Section 1100, an unamortized balance of mortgage loan prepayment fees, which amounted to
$25 million as at October 31, 2003 ($16 million net of income taxes), was recorded during the year in the Consolidated Statement of
Income under "Lending fees.” In addition, the net amounts receivable from financial institutions related to cheques and other items in
the clearing process are now presented as assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, while net amounts payable to individual financial
institutions are presented as liabilities. As at October 31, 2003, the net balance for all financial institutions was presented as an asset in
the Consolidated Batance Sheet.

Hedging relationships

On November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted CICA Accounting Guideline No. 13 "Hedging Relationships” [AcG-13]. This Guideline identifies
the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate and discusses the identification, designation, documentation and effectiveness
of hedging relationships and the discontinuance of hedge accounting, but does not cover hedge accounting technigues. Monetary or
derivative financial instruments used in risk management that satisfy the canditions for hedge accaunting are recorded using the hedge
accounting methodology described in Note 1.

Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13 are carried at fair value on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as at November 1, 2003. The resulting $16 millioh net transitional gain'is deferred and recognized in income over the
remaining life of the hedged item. : :

Impairment of long-lived assets

Effective November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted the recommendations of CICA standard “Impairment of Long-Lived Assets,” which
establishes the standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of the impairment of long-lived assets. This standard stipulates
that an impairment loss should be recognized when the carrying value of a long-lived asset intended for use exceeds the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows expected from its use and eventual disposition. The impairment loss is to be measured as the excess of the
carrying value of the asset over its fair value. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the consolidated financial statements for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004.

Equity-linked deposit contracts

On November 1, 2003, the Bank adopted CICA Accounting Guideline No. 17 “Equity-Linked Deposit Contracts.” Under this Guideline, the
Bank may record at fair value certain deposit obligations for which the obligation varies according to the return on equities or an equity
index and which entitle investors, after a specified period of time, to receive the higher of a stated percentage of their principat investment
and a variable amount based on the return of equities or an equity index. Any subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in the
Consclidated Statement of income as they arise.

The adoption of this Guideline did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2004.
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Changes in Accounting Policies (cont.}

2b. Recent Accounting Standards Pending Adoption

Variable interest entities ’

On November 1, 2004, the Bank will adopt Accounting Guideline No. 15 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” {AcG-15). This
Guideline is harmonized with new FASB Interpretation No. 46 {FIN 46R]) "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” and provides guidance
on the application of the standards set out in CICA Handbook Section 1590 “Subsidiaries” for certain entities defined as variable interest
entities {"VIEs"). VIEs are entities in which equity investors de not have controlling financial interest or the equity investment at risk is
not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support provided by other parties.
AcG-15 requires the consolidation of a VIE by its primary beneficiary, i.e., the party that receives the majority of the expected residual
returns and/or absorbs the majority of the entity’s expected losses. Based on information currently available, the application of the
provisions of AcG-15 on November 1, 2004 will result in the consolidation of certain mutual funds in which the Bank has a significant
investment and the cansolidation of the VIE that leases the Bank’s head office building under a capital lease. The estimated impact of
this standard will be an increase in "Premises and equipment” of $84 million, “Securities” of $54 million, "Other assets” of $3 million,
“Other liabilities” of $93 million, "Non-controlling interest” of $45 million, and "Retained earnings” of $3 million. The Bank continues
to evaluate the impact of this new Guideline on its consolidated financial statements.

Investment companies

fn January 2004, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline No. 18 “Investment Companies.” Under this Guideline, investment companies are
required to account for alt their investments at fair value, including investments that would otherwise be consolidated or accounted for
using the equity method. The Guideline sets out the criteria for determining whether a company is an investment company and also
provides guidance on the circumstances in which the parent company of, or equity method investor in, an investment company should
account for the investment company’s investments at fair value.

The provisions of the Guideline will apply to the Bank as of November 1, 2004. They will be appued prospectively. The Bank is currently
evaluating the impact of this new Guideline.
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Securitization Transactions

Mortgage loans

During 2004, the Bank securitized $1,527 million of guaranteed residential mortgage loans (2003: $1,529 mitlion} through the creation
of mortgage-backed securities. The Bank received net cash proceeds of $1,520 million (2003: $1,522 million] and retained the rights to
the excess spread of $47 million {2003: $66 million) earned on the morigage loans. The Bank also recorded a servicing tiability of
$9 million (2003: $10 million). A pre-tax gain of $31 million (2003: $50 million, $1 million of which was from mortgage-backed securities
created and unsold before November 1, 2002, net of transaction fees, was recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income under
“Securitization revenues.”

During 2003, the Bank made an upward revision to one of its assumptions, the prepayment rate, which is used to evaluate the fair value
of retained rights to the excess spread on all securitized mortgage loans. As a result of this change in assumption, the Bank recorded a

permanent impairment charge for retained rights of approximately $3 million in the Consolidated Statement of Income under “Securitization
revenues.”

Credit card receivables

Under a 1998 agreement, the Bank sells credit card receivables on a revolving basis to a trust. During 2003, the Bank sold an additional
$200 million of its credit card receivables. The Bank received cash proceeds of $199 million, net of an initial reserve of $1 million, and
transaction fees, and retained the rights to the excess spread of $6 million generated on the receivables, net of any credit losses.
The Bank also recorded a servicing liability of approximately $1 million and recognized a pre-tax gain of approximately $5 million, net of
transaction fees. Following the maturity of a $200 million bond during fiscal 2004 (net repayment of $300 million in 2003}, gross securitized
credit card receivables outstanding declined from $1.1 billion as at October 31, 2003 to $900 million as at October 31, 2004.

Key assumptions

The key assumptions used to measure the fair value of retained interests as at the securitization date for transactions carried out during
2004 and 2003 were as follows:

Guaranteed Credit card Personal

mortgage loans receivables loans

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2008

Weighted average term {months/ 271 29.7 - - 13.3 13.4

Payment rate - - 31.2% 30.8 % - -
Prepayment rate 20.0 % 20.0 % - - 30.0 % 30.0%
Excess spread, net of credit losses 1.3% 1.7% 103%  113% 1.8% 3.8%

Expected credit losses - - 3.4% 33% 1.2% 1.2%
Discount rate 3.9% 4.1 % 21.0% 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%




NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA, 200 ANNUAL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Year znded October 31
{miltions of dollars]

Securitization Transactions (cont.]

The table below presents certain amounts recorded in the consolidated financial statements with respect to securitization operations:

Securitization Investment Other
revenues account securities liabilities

Gains (losses) Cash deposits
on sale of assets Retained interests at a trust Servicing liability
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Mortgage loans

- Guaranteed 31 50 99 97 - - 16 15
- Otherl?) - - - - 20 23 - -
Credit card receivables 38 33 13 17 5 6 3 3
Consumer loans(?! - - - 1 - 19 - -
Personal loansi3) {2) 4 7 17 26 25 4 4
Total 67 87 119 132 51 73 23 22

11} During 2003, the Bank sold uninsured mortgage loans on properties with five or more units te 3 trust.

{2} During 2001, the Bank sold consumer loans to a trust. The Bank terminated this program in March 2004. At that time, outstanding loans represented less
than 10% of the portfolio originatly sold.

13} During 2007, the Bank sold a $515 miltion portfolio of fixed-rate personal foans to a trust, and the trust issued $515 million of bonds. On a revolving basis,
ihe Bank selis most of ils new fixed-rate loans to this trust each month.

The table below presents total securitized assets and certain credit data on securitized assets:

2004 2003
Securitized Impaired Netcredit Securitized Impaired Netcredit
assets loans losses assets loans losses

Mortgage loans
- Guaranteed 3,5201 - - 3,643 - -
- Other 293 - - 443 - -
Credit card receivables 900 4 40 1,100 8 31
Consumer loans - - 1 145 3 2
Personal loans 515 3 8 515 2 7
Total 5,228(2 7 49 5,846 13 40

{1] Includes $243 million of mortgage-backed securities created and unsold in 2004 (2003: $720 miltion). These securities are presented in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet under "Securities - Investment account.”

{2{ Commilments under securitization programs, maturing or renewable in 2005, amount to $706 million, or $500 miltion for the credit card program and $204
million for the personal loans program.

The table below summarizes certain cash flows received from securitization vehicles:

Guaranteed Credit card Consumer Personal

mortgage loans receivables loans loans

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Proceeds from new securitizations 1,527 1,529 - 200 - ~ - -
Proceeds collected and reinvested .

in revolving securitizations - - 3,273 3,085 - - 377 345

Cash flows from retained interests
in securitizations 55 61 64 48 - ) 27 25
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Securitization Transactions (cont.]

As at October 31, the sensitivity of the current fair value of these retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in key
assumptions was as follows:

Sensitivity of key assumptions to adverse changes

Guaranteed Credit card Personal
Assumptions mortgage loans receivables loans
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Prepayment rate 200% 200% 31.2% 308% 30.0% 30.0%
impact on fair value of 10% adverse change $ {2.6) $ 3.0 $109 % N2 $ (0.2) $ {0.3)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change $ {5.2) $ (5.8) $ (1.7) $ (2.3 $ (0.4) $ (0.6}
Excess spread, net of credit losses 1.5 % 1.6 % 10.3 % M3 % 1.8 % 38 %
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change $ 19.9) $ (9.8) $ (1.3) $ 1.7) $ 1.3} $ 1.7
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change $119.7) $119.5) $ 12.7) $ (35] $ (2.6) $ (3.4}
Discount rate 42 % 47 % 21.0 % 210 % 21.0 % 210 %
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change $ (0.4) $ (0.5) $ (0.1) $ (0.1) $ (0.6) $ (0.7)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change $ (0.8) $ (1.0) $ {0.1) $ (0.2) $ (.1) $ (1.4
Servicing 03 % 0.3 % 2.0 % 2.0 % 1.0 % 1.0 %
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change $ [1.6) $ (1.5) $ (0.3) $ (0.3} $ [0.4) $ (0.4)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change $ 13.3) $ (3.0 $ (0.5) $ (0.6} $ (0.8) $ (0.9)

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value attributable to changes in assumptions generatly
cannot be extrapolated because the relationship between the change in the assumption and the change in fair value may not be linear.
Changes affecting one factor may result in changes to another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities attributable to changes
in assumptions.
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Securities

Securities held are as follows:

Under 1to 5to Over No 2004 2003
1 year 5years 10 years 10 years maturity Total Total
Investment account
Securities issued or guaranteed by
Canada
Unamortized cost 316 1.980 77 20 - 2393 2 564
Fair value 319 2,015 80 21 - 2435 2615
Provinces
Unamortized cost 1 Lh 80 25 - 150 617
Fair value 1 44 84 27 - 156 646
Municipatities or school boards
Unamortized cost - - 2 - - 2 9
Fair vatue - - 2 - - 2 10
U.S. Treasury and other U.S. agencies
Unamortized cost 25 126 112 - - 263 604
Fair value 25 2127 113 - - 265 401
Other debt securities S
Unamortized cost 1,309 1416 449 127 172 3,473 1,692
Fair value 1,315 1,415 461 128 172 3,491 1,687
Equity securities
Cost 74 180 24 19 850 1,147 1,512
Fair value 77 190 26 17 893 1,203 1,567
Total carrying value 1,725 3,746 744 191 1.022 7,628 6,998
Total fair value 1,737 3,791 766 193 1,065 7,552 7.126
Trading account
Securities issued or guaranteed by
Canada 5,180 1,536 1261 254 - 8,231 9,610
Provinces 596 1,258 939 781 - 3,574 3,616
Municipalities or school boards 19 224 83 8 - 434 393
U.S. Treasury and other U.S. agencies 448 1,037 304 215 - 2,004 34
Other debt securities 1,280 677 684 135 - 2,776 2127
Equity securities 10 5 1 8 3,518 3,542 3,371
7,633 4,737 3,272 1,401 3,518 20,561 19,151
Total carrying value of securities 9,358 8,483 4,016 1,892 4,540 27,989 26,149
Total fair value of securities 9,370 8,528 4,038 1,594 4,583 28,113 26,277

Where no organized market exists for which prices are available, the fair value is estimated using the market prices of similar securities.




NAL BANK OF CANADA, 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended October 31
{miitions of dollars)

Securities (cont.]

Unrealized gains (losses] are as follows:

2004 2003
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Carrying unrealized unrealized Fair  Carrying unrealized unrealized Fair
value qains losses value value gains losses value
Investment account
Securities issued or guaranteed by
Canada 2,393 42 - 2,435 2,564 51 - 2,615
Provinces 150 6 - 156 617 29 - 646
Municipalities or schoot boards 2 - - 2 9 1 - 10
U.S. Treasury and other
U.S. agencies 263 2 - 265 604 - (3] 601
Other debt securities 3,473 24 {6) 3,491 1,692 16 (21) 1,687
Equity securities 1,147 83 127) 1,203 1,512 90 135) 1,567
Total investment account 7,428 157 (331 7,552 6,998 187 {59) 7,126

Loans and Impaired Loans

Impaired loans
Country
Gross Gross Specific risk Net
amount allowance allowances allowance balance

October 31, 2004

Residential mortgage . 15,500 4 2 - 2
Personal and credit card ‘ 7,825 32 17 - 15
Business and government 18,751 352 209 - 143

42,076 388 228 - 160
General allowancell) (350}
Impaired loans, net of specific and general allowances (190)

October 31, 2003

Residential mortgage 13,976 7 3 - 4
Personal and credit card 6,101 33 17 - 16
Business and government 18,934 436 186 19 231
39,011 476 206 19 251
General allowancell] (405)
Impaired loans, net of specific and general allowances (154}

As at October 31, 2004, net foreclosed assets held for sale represented a negligible net amount [2003: $6 million) and foreclosed assets
held for use, $1 million (2003: $4 mitlion).

{1] The general atlowance for credit risk was created taking into account the Bank's credit in its entirety.
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Allowance for Credit Losses

The changes made to allowances during the year are as follows:

Allocated Unallocated Country

Specific:  general general risk 2004 2003

allowances allowance allowance allowance Total Total

Allowances at beginning 206 300 105 19 630 662
Provision for credit losses 141 (28) {27 - 86 177
Write-offs (178} - - (19 {197 (259}
Recoveries 59 - - - 59 50
Allowances at end 228 272 78 - 578 630

Premises and Equipment

2004 2003

Accumulated Net Net

amorti- carrying carrying

Cost zation value value

Land 8 ’ - 8 10
Buildings ’ 73 38 35 53
Equipment and furniture 516 393 123 102
597 431 166 165

Leasehold improvements ) 101 - 101 98
698 431 267 263

Amortization for the year recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income 52 49

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Bank performs an annual impairment test of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. No impairment loss was recorded
in 2004 or 2003. '

The change in the carrying value of goodwill is as follows:

_ Wealth
Personaland  Manage-  Financial
Commercial ment Markets Total
Balance as at October 31, 2002 61 408 192 661
Other - (1) - (1)
Balance as at October 31, 2003 61 407 192 460
Acquisitions - 1 - 1
Other {12) 13 - 1

Balance as at October 31, 2004 49 421 192 662
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets (cont.]

Intangible assets are:

2004 2003

Accumulated Net Net

amorti- carrying carrying

Cost zation value value

Trademarks!1) 1 - 1" 1
Management contractsf?) 160 - 160 160
Other 16 7 9 12
Total 187 7 180 183

{1} Not subject te amartization.

Other Assets

2004 2003
Fair vatue of trading derivatives {Note 79} 2,735 2,560
Interest and dividends receivable 333 601
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 378 353
Future income tax assets {Note 74} 324 334
Brokers' client accounts 73 135
Investments in companies subject to significant influence 19 124
Accrued benefit asset (Note 73 358 347
Other 524 475

4,844 4,929

Deposits

Payable Payable
Payable after  on a fixed 2004 2003
on demand notice date Total Total
Personal 2,143 6,905 14,627 23,675 23,512
Business and government 7542 - - 5327 11,430 24,299 22,700
Deposit-taking institutions 442 R 4,975 5,458 5.251
10,127 12,273 31.032 53,432 51,463
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Other Liabilities

2004 2003
Fair value of trading derivatives /Note 79/ 2,386 2,327
interest and dividends payable 692 570
Income taxes payable 129 289
Future income tax liabilities {Note 14} 255 215
Accrued benefit liability (Note 13/ 98 1
Trade and other payables . 2,054 1,839
Brokers' client accounts 263 132
Commitments related to insurance operations 92 99
Subsidiaries’ debts to third parties 745 o1
Accounts payable and deferred income 324 342
Other 893 577

7,931 6,992

Subordinated Debentures

Debentures are subordinated in right of payment to the claims of depositors and certain other creditors.

Interest Denominated in

Maturity date rate Characteristics . o ‘ . foreign currency 2004 2003
December 2003 7.50% Not redeemable by the Bank prior to maturity - 45
August 2004 8.13% Not redeemable by the Bank prior to maturity unless

the debentures become subject to foreign taxes (2003: US 26) - 34
November 2009 7.75% Not redeemable by the Bank prior to maturity unless

the debentures become subject to foreign taxes Us 250 305 330
June 2010 6.90%(1 Not redeemable prior to June 7, 2005 350 350
October 201 7.50%(2! Redeemable since October 17, 2001 150 150
October 2012 6.25%!31 Not redeemable prior to Gctober 31, 2007 300 300
April 2014 5.70%!4) Redeemable since April 16, 2004 250 250
February 2087  Fleating's) Redeemable at the Bank's option since

February 28, 1993 US 44 53 57
Total 1,408 1,516

(1] Bearing interest at a rate of 6.90% untii June 7, 2005, and thereafter at an annual rate equal to the 90-day acceptance rate plus 1%.

12} Bearing interest at a rate of 7.50% until October 17, 2006, and thereafter at an annual rate equal to the 90-day acceptance rate plus 1%.
(3] Bearing interest at a rate of 6.25% until October 31, 2007, and thereafter at an annual rate equal to the 90-day acceptance rate plus 7%.
4] Bearing interest at a rate of 5.70% until April 16, 2009, and thereafter at an annual rate equal o the 90-day acceptance rate plus 1%.
(5] Bearing interest at an annual rate of 1/8% above L/BOR,

The subordinated debenture maturities are as follows:

2005 . -
2006 -
2007 -
2008 -
2009 a 305
2010 to 2014 . 1,050
2015 and thereafter 53
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Employee Future Benefits

The Bank offers defined benefit pension plans that cover substantially all salaried employees. These defined benefit plans are funded
pension plans.

The effective dates of the most recent actuarial vatuations and those of compulsory future valuations to ensure the funded status of these
plans are:

Date of most recent Date of compulsory

actuarial valuation actuarial valuation

Employee pension plan December 31, 2002 December 31, 2005
Pension plan for designated employees : December 31, 2003 December 31, 2006
Post-Retirement Allowance Program . January 1, 2003 December 31, 2004

The Bank's employee pension plans provide for the payment of benefits based on length of service and final average earnings of the
employees covered by the plans. The Bank also offers a variety of complementary, contributory insurance plans to eligible current and
retired employees, their spouses and their dependants. However, these benefit plans are not funded.

The following tables describe the Bank's commitments and costs for these employee future benefits, presented in accordance with the
standards defined in Section 3461 of the CICA Handbook, "Employee Future Benefits.” The measurement date used is October 31 of each year.

Accrued benefit asset {tiability]

Pension benefit plans Other benefit plans
2004 2003 2004 2003
Accrued benefit obligation
Balance at beginning 1,305 1172 104 109
Current service cost 31 28 4 1"
Interest cost 89 84 7 8
Employee contributions 15 14 - -
Benefits paid (56} (54) (5) (11
Plan amendments - 9 - -
Settlement of long-term disability obligations - - - (27}
Actuarial losses 96 52 6 14
Balance at end 1,480 1,305 116 104
Plan assets
Fair value at beginning 1,365 965 - -
Actual return on plan assets 104 156 - -
Bank contributions 49 284 - -
Employee contributions ' 15 14 - -
Benefits paid (56) (54) - -
Fair value at end 1,477 1,365 - -
Funded status - plan surplus (deficit] (3) 60 (116) (104)
Unamortized net actuarial losses 346 271 18 13
Unamortized past service costs 15 16 -

Accrued benefit asset [liability) at end 358 347 {98) 91)
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Employee Future Benefits (cont.]

The accrued benefit asset {liability) is presented as follows in the Consolidated Balance Sheet:

Pension benefit plans Other benefit plans

2004 2003 2004 2003

Accrued benefit asset included in "Other assets” 358 347 - -
Accrued benefit liability included in “Other liabilities” - - (98 (91
358 347 (98) [91)

inctuded in the above accrued benefit obligation and fair vatue of plan assets at year-end are the following amounts in respect of benefit
plans with accrued benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:

004 2003
Fair vatue of plan assets 1,390 35
Accrued benefit obligation 1,424 42
Funded status - plan deficit {34) (7)
As at October 31, plan assets consist of:

2004 2003
D/D O/D

Asset category
Money market 5 12
Bonds ’ 28 24
Equities 56 53
Other 11 11

100 100

Plan assets include securities issued by the Bank. As at October 31, 2004, these investments totalled $128 mitlion (2003: $94 million).

In fiscal 2004, the Bank or its subsidiaries received close to $5 million in management fees for related management, administration and
custodial services.
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Employee Future Benefits (cont.)

Elements of defined benefit expense for the years ended October 31:

Pension benefit plans Other benefit plans

2004 2003 2004 2003

Current service cost 31 28 4 "

interest cost . 89 84 7 8

Actual return on plan assets (104) {156} - -

Actuarial losses on accrued benefit obligation 96 52 6 14
Plan amendments - 9 -
Additional settlement cost for long-term disability benefits - - -

Curtailment and settlement loss 2 - - -

Expense before adjustments to recognize the long-term nature
of employee future benefits 114 17 17 40

Difference between expected return and actual

return on plan assets for year 5 70 - -
Difference between actuarial losses (gains] recognized for year

and actual actuarial losses (gains) on accrued benefit

obligation for year (83) (48] {6} (14)
Difference between amortization of past service costs for

year and actual plan amendments for year 2 [7) - -
Defined benefit expense 38 32 1 26

The significant assumptions used by the Bank are as follows (weighted averagel:

Pension benefit plans Other benefit plans
2004 2003 2004 2003
% % % %
Accrued benefit obligation as of October 31

Discount rate 6.25 6.75 6.50 8.75
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00

Defined benefit expense determined for years ended

as at October 31

Discount rate 6.75 7.00 6.75 7.00
Expected tong-term rate of return on plan assets 7.50 7.75 - -
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.25 4.00 3.25

For measurement purposes, a 7.7% annual rate of increase [2003: 8.3%) in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits was assumed
for 2004. The rate was assumed to decrease graduatly to 5.9% for 2008 and remain at that level thereafter.

A 1% change in the expected healthcare cost trend rate would have the following impact:

1% increase 1% decrease

Sensitivity analysis of other benefit plans
Impact on current service and interest cost 1 (1]
Impact on accrued benefit obligation 12 {10




NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA, 2004 ANNUAL REPORT

L Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended October 31
{miltions of dollars]

Employee Future Benefits [cont.)

The table below shows the possible impact of changes in certain significant weighted average assumptions used to measure the accrued
pension benefit cbligation and the related expense:

Sensitivity of significant actuarial assumptions in 2004

Pension plans
Obligation  Expense

Impact of a 0.25% change in significant actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate
Decrease of 0.25% 51 6
Increase of 0.25% (51} {6)

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
Decrease of 0.25% - 3
Increase of 0.25% - (3)

Rate of compensation increase
Decrease of 0.25% [13) 13)
Increase of 0.25% 13 3

The sensivity analysis presented in the above table must be used with caution given that the changes are hypothetical and the changes
in each significant assumption may not be linear.

Cash payments for employee future benefits for the years ended October 31 are as follows:

Bank pension benefit plan contributions 49 284
Benefits paid [other benefit plans), excluding the settlement of long-term disability benefits 5 "1
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Capital Stock

Authorized
First preferred shares
An unlimited number of shares, without par vatue, issuable for a maximum aggregate consideration of $1 bittion.

Second preferred shares
15 million shares, without par value, issuable for a maximum aggregate consideration of $300 miltion.

Common shares
An unlimited number of shares, without par value, issuable for a maximum aggregate consideration of $3 billion.

2004
Shares outstanding and dividends declared Shares Dividends
Number
of shares $ $ Pershare
First preferred shares
Series 13 7,000,000 175 1" 1.6000
Series 15 . 8,000,000 200 12 1.4625
Preferred shares and dividends - 15,000,000 375 23
Common shares at beginning 174,619,903 1,683
Issued pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment and
Share Purchase Plan and the Stock Option Plan 1,510,350 42
Repurchase of common shares ‘ ‘ - (8,700,000} (80)
Common shares at end and dividends : T 167,430,253 1,545 243 1.4200
Total dividends 266
2003
Shares outstanding and dividends declared Shares Dividends
Number
of shares $ $ Pershare
First preferred shares
Series 12 - - 4 0.8125
Series 13 7,000,000 - 175 1" 1.6000
Series 15 8,000,000 200 10 1.1480
Preferred shares and dividends 15,000,000 375 25
Common shares at beginning 182,596,351 1,639
Issued pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment and ‘
Share Purchase Plan and the Stock Option Plan 1,123,552 26
Repurchase of common shares {9.100,000) (82)
Common shares at end and dividends 174,619,903 1,583 193 1.0800

Total dividends 218
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Capital Stock (cont.)

Characteristics of first preferred shares (smounts in doliars]

Series 13

Redeemable in cash at the Bank's option, subject to the prior approval of the Superintendent and upon notice of not more than 40 and
not less than 30 days, i} on August 15, 2005 and on the last day of each period of five years plus one day thereafter [conversion date), in
whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a price equal to $25 per share plus all declared and unpaid dividends at the date fixed
for redemption and, i} after August 15, 2005, other than on a conversion date, in whole but not in part, at a price equat to $25.50 per
share, plus all declared and unpaid dividends at the date fixed for redemption; non-cumulative preferential dividends at a quarterly rate
of $0.40 per share for the first five years and at a variable rate thereafter.

Convertible at the holder’s option on August 15, 2005 or 2 subsequent conversion date into fully paid preferred shares, Series 14.

Series 15

Redeemable in cash at the Bank's option, subject to the prior approval of the Superintendent, on or after May 15, 2008, in whole or in
part, at a price equal to $26 per share if redeemed before May 15, 2009, at a price equal to $25.75 per share if redeemed during the
12-month period preceding May 15, 2010, at a price equal to $25.50 per share if redeemed during the 12-month period preceding May 15,
2011, at a price equal to $25.25 per share if redeemed during the 12-month period preceding May 15, 2012, and at a price equal to
$25 per share if redeemed on or after May 15, 2012, plus, in all cases, all declared and unpaid dividends at the date fixed for redemption.

Issuance and redemption of preferred shares »
On January 31, 2003, the Bank issued 8,000,000 first preferred shares with non-cumulative preferential dividends at a quarterly rate of
$0.365625 per share, Series 15, for a consideration of $195 million, net of fees of $5 million.

On May 15, 2003, the Bank redeemed for cancellation all 5,000,000 first preferred shares with non-cumulative dividends, Series 12, at a
price equal to $25 per share, plus all declared and unpaid dividends until the date of redemption.

Repurchase of common shares :

On December 8, 2003, the Bank commenced a normal course issuer bid for the repurchase of up to 8,700,000 common shares over a
12-month period ending no later than December 7, 2004. Purchases were made in the open market at market prices through the facilities
of The Toronto Stock Exchange. Premiums paid above the average carrying value of the common shares were charged to retained earnings.
As at October 31, 2004, the Bank completed the repurchase of 8,700,000 common shares at a cost of $382 mitlion, which reduced common
equity capital by $80 mitlion and retained earnings by $302 million.

On January 20, 2003, the Bank commenced a normal course issuer bid for the repurchase of up to 9,100,000 common shares over a
12-month period ending no later than January 19, 2004. Purchases were made in the open market at market prices through the facilities
of The Toronto Stock Exchange. Premiums paid above the average carrying value of the common shares were charged to retained earnings.
As at October 31, 2003, the Bank completed the repurchase of 3,100,000 common shares at a cost of $298 million, which reduced common
equity capital by $82 million and retained earnings by $216 mitlion.

Reserved common shares
As at October 31, 2004, 3,964,354 common shares (2003: 4,251,099] were reserved under the Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase
Plan and 16,155,918 common shares {2003: 17,392,723) were reserved under the Stock Option Plan.

In connection with the acquisition of Putnam Lovell Group Inc., 476,119 common shares were reserved, with issuance contingent upon
certain profitability targets being met as at December 31, 2004. If applicable, the value of the shares granted witl increase goodwill.

Restriction on the payment of dividends

Under the Bank Act, the Bank is prohibited from declaring dividends on its common or preferred shares if there are reasonable grounds
for believing that the Bank would, by so doing, be in contravention of the regulations of the Bank Act or the guidelines of the Superintendent
with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity. In addition, the ability to pay common share dividends is restricted by the terms of the
outstanding preferred shares pursuant to which the Bank may not pay dividends on its common shares without the approval of the holders
of the outstanding preferred shares, unless all preferred share dividends have been declared and paid or set aside for payment.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Bank has four stock-based compensation plans:

Stock Appreciation Rights [SARs] Plan

The Bank offers a Stock Appreciation Rights Plan to senior management and other key employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries
("designated employees”). Under the SARs Plan, when designated employees exercise their SARs, they receive a cash amount equal to
the difference between the market price of a common share of the Bank on the exercise date of the SAR and the exercise price of the
SAR. The exercise price of each SAR awarded is equal to the market price of the stock at closing on the day before the date of the award.
SARs vest evenly over a four-year period and expire 10 years from the award date or, in certain circumstances set out in the Plan, within
specified time limits.

2004 2003
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number exercise Number exercise
of SARs price of SARs price
SARs Plan

Outstanding at beginning 1,269,640 $ 17.71 1,869,225 $ 17.42
Awarded 16,000 $ 41.00 24,500 $ 30.95
Exercised {566,310} $ 1719 (600,285) $ 17.31
Cancelled {3,650) $ 27.34 [23.800) $ 19.01
Outstanding at end 715,680 $ 18.59 1,269,640 $ 17.71
Exercisable at end 668,649 $ 17.58 956,293 $ 17.20

SARs SARs
Exercise price outstanding exercisable Expiry date
$13.50 66,100 66,100 December 2006
$24.50 5,900 5,900 December 2007
$25.00 7,025 7,025 December 2008
$17.35 556,080 556,080 December 2009
$24.90 ' 25,025 18,769 December 2010
$28.01 ; 19,550 9,775 December 2011
$30.95 20,000 5,000 December 2012
$41.00 16,000 - December 2013

Total 715,680 668,649

Stock Option Plan

The Bank offers a Stock Option Plan to senior management and other key employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries ("designated
employees”). Under the Bank's Stock Option Plan, options are periodically awarded to designated employees. These options provide
employees with the right to subscribe for common shares of the Bank at an exercise price equal to the market price of shares on the day
before the date of the award. The options vest evenly over a four-year period and expire 10 years from the award date or, in certain
circumstances set out in the Plan, within specified time limits. The maximum number of common shares that may be issued under the
Stock Option Plan is 16,155,918 as at October 31, 2004. The maximum number of common shares reserved for a participant may not
exceed 5% of the total number of Bank shares issued and outstanding. Each participant in the SARs Plan who is a resident of Canada
may exchange each SAR held for a stock option governed by the Stock Option Plan at an exercise price representing the market value of
a common share at closing on the day preceding the date the option is exchanged.
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Stock-Based Compensation (cont.)

2004 2003
Weighted Weighted
. average average
Number exercise Number exercise
of options price of options price
Stock Option Plan

Outstanding at beginning 6,134,765 $ 26.40 5,692,822 $ 24.38
Awarded 1,376,900 $ 41.00 1,542,700 $ 3095
Exercised (1,240,055} $ 23.39 (858,482) $ 20.65
Cancelled {90,650) $ 30.04 {242,275] $ 28.45
Outstanding at end 6,180,940 $ 30.20 6,134,765 $ 26.40
Exercisable at end 2,826,403 $ 25.72 2,788,017 $ 23.68

Options Options
Exercise price outstanding exercisable Expiry date
$11.00 ’ 86,930 86,930 December 2005
$13.50 92,500 92,500 December 2006
$25.20 309,700 309,700 December 2007
$25.20 564,870 564,870 December 2008
$24.90 : 931,690 698,768 December 2010
$28.01 ¢ 1,480,070 - 740,035 December 2011
$30.95 : C 1,349,400 333,600 December 2012
$41.00 1,365,800 - December 2013

Total 6,180,960 2,826,403

The fair value on the grant date of options awarded in 2004 was estimated at $9.10 (2003: $6.90) using the Black-Scholes model.
The following assumptions were used: i} a risk-free interest rate of 4.37% [2003: 4.54%), ii) an expected life of options of é years [2003:
& years), i} an expected volatility of 27% [2003: 27%), and iv) an expected dividend yield of 5.00% (2003: 3.36%).

The compensation expense recorded for these stock options was $5 million for the year ended October 31, 2004 (2003: $2 mitlion).
The offsetting entry was credited to contributed surplus.

Deferred Stock Unit Plan for Officers

The Deferred Stock Unit ["DSU”) Plan for Officers is for certain members of senior management and other key employees of the Bank
and its subsidiaries. A total of 328,851 DSUs were outstanding as at Octaber 31, 2004 (2003: 215,945). The expense for the Plan amounted
to $7 million in 2004 {2003: $2 million).

Employee Share Ownership Plan

Under the Bank’'s Employee Share Ownership Plan, employees who meet the eligibitity criteria can contribute up to 8% of their annual
gross salary by way of payroll deductions. The Bank matches 25% of the employee contribution amount, to a maximum of $1,500 per
annum. Bank contributions vest to the employee after one year of continuous participation in the Ptan. Subsequent contributions vest
immediately. The Bank’s contributions, amounting to $4 mitlion in 2004 (2003: $4 million), were charged to "Operating expenses” when paid.
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Income Taxes

The Bank's income taxes for the years ended October 31 in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2004 2003
Consolidated Statement of Income
Income taxes 318 277
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
Income taxes related to
Share issuance expenses - (2]
Dividends on preferred shares, Series 12, 13 and 15 1 -
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments 31 63
32 61
350 338
Income taxes were as follows:
Current income taxes 300 333
Future income taxes relating to the inception
and reversal of temporary differences 50 5
Income taxes ) 350 338
The temporary differences and carryforwards resulting in future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
200 2003
Future income tax assets
Allowance for credit losses and other liabilities 294 307
Accrued benefit liability - Other benefit plans 30 27
324 334
Future income tax liabilities
Premises and equipment 20 19
Securitization 30 32
Accrued benefit asset - Pensjon benefit plans 108 103
Other 97 61
255 215
Reconciliation of the Bank's income tax rate for the years ended October 31 is as follows:
2004 2003
$ ] $ %
Income before income taxes and non-controlling interest 1,071 100.0 928 100.0
Income taxes at Canadian statutory income tax rate 364 34.0 335 36.1
Reduction in income tax rate due to:
Tax-exempt income from securities,
mainly dividends from Canadian corporations v (40) (3.7) (35) (3.8
Capital gain ‘ - - (6] (0.6)
Rates applicable to subsidiaries abroad (32) {3.0) {30) (3.2)
Federal large corporations tax and surtax 5 0.5 7 0.8
Other items : 21 1.9 b 0.6
[46) (4.3) (58) (6.2)

Income taxes and effective income tax rate 318 29.7 277 29.9
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Earnings per Share

Diluted net earnings per common share are calculated based on net income, less dividends an non-convertible preferred shares divided
by the average number of common shares outstanding.

2004 003

Net income $ 725 $ 624
Dividends on preferred shares (23) (25}
Net income available to common shareholders - basic and diluted 702 599
Average number of common shares outstanding /thousands!
Average basic number of common shares outstanding 170,918 177,751
Adjustment to number of common shares

Stock options 2,358 1,484
Average diluted number of common shares outstanding 173,276 179,235

Guarantees, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Guarantees

Cn April 30, 2003, the Bank adopted the requirements of CICA Accounting Guideline No. 14 "Disclosure of Guarantees” (AcG-14).
This Guideline broadens the definition of guarantees and requires that the guarantor disclose significant information on the guarantees
which it has provided.

AcG-14 defines a guarantee as a contract [including an indemnity} that contingently requires the guarantor to make payments (either in
cash, financial instruments, other assets or shares of the entity, or provision of services) to the beneficiary due to [al changes in interest
rate, security or commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index or other variable, including the occurrence or non-occurrence of a specified
event, that is related to an asset, a liability or an equity security of the beneficiary of the guarantee, (b) failure of a third party to perform
under a contractual agreement or (¢} failure of a third party to pay its indebtedness when due.

Significant guarantees issued by the Bank and in effect as at October 31, 2004 are described below.

Letters of guarantee :

In the normal course of business, the Bank issues letters of guarantee These letters of guarantee represent irrevocable commitments that
the Bank will make payments in the event that a client cannot meet its financial obligations to third parties. The Bank'’s policy for requiring
collateral security with respect to letters of guarantee is similar to that for loans. Generally, the term of these letters of guarantee is less
than two years. The maximum potential future payments for letters of guarantee totalled approximately $1,225 million as at Gctober 31,
2004 [2003: $903 million). The general allowance for credit losses covers all credit risks including those relating to letters of guarantee.

Backstop liquidity facilities i

The Bank provides backstop liquidity facilities under asset-backed commercial paper conduit programs administered by it further to
securitization operations. The Bank also administers a multi-seller conduit that buys various financial assets from clients and finances
these purchases by issuing asset-backed commercial paper. The Bank also prowdes backstop liquidity facilities for commercial paper
to this multi-seller conduit.

The backstop liquidity facilities may only be drawn upon if, after market disruption, the conduit was unable to access the commercial
paper market. These guarantees have a duration of less than one year and are renewable periodically. The terms of the backstop liquidity
facilities do not require the Bank to advance money to the conduit in the event of a bankruptcy or to fund non-performing or defaulted
assets. None of the backstop tiquidity facilities provided by the Bank have been drawn upon to date. As at October 31, 2004, the maximum
potential future payments the Bank may be required to make under these backstop liquidity facilities was $1,378 mitlion [2003:
$441 million). No amount has been accrued in the Consolidated Balance Sheet with respect to these backstop liquidity facilities.
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Guarantees, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (cont.)

Derivatives

Inthe normal course of business, the Bank enters into written put options to meet the needs of its clients and for its own risk management
and trading activities. Put options are contractual agreements where the Bank conveys to the purchaser the right, but not the obligation,
to sell to the Bank by or before a predetermined date, a specific amount of currency, commodity or financial instrument, at a price agreed
to when the option is contracted. Written put options that qualify as a guarantee under AcG-14 include primarily over-the-counter currency
options with companies other than financial institutions and over-the-counter stock options when it is probable that the counterparty
holds the underlying securities. The terms of these options vary based on the contracts but do not exceed two years. The maximum
potential future payments with respect to these options sold totalled $385 million as at October 31, 2004 (2003: $1,022 million). As at that
date, the Bank recorded a liability of $3 million in the Consclidated Balance Sheet with respect to these written put options (2003:
$5 million).

Securities lending

Under securities lending agreements the Bank has entered into with certain clients who have entrusted it with the safekeeping of their
securities, the Bank, as the agent for these clients, lends their securities to third parties and indemnifies these clients in the event of
loss. in order to protect itself against any contingent loss, the Bank requires as security from the borrower a cash amount or highly liquid
marketable securities with a fair value greater than that of the securities loaned. The fair value of the securities loaned totalled
$761 million as at October 31, 2004 (2003: $579 million). No amount has been accrued in the Consolidated Balance Sheet with respect
to potential indemnities resulting from these securities lending agreements.

Sale of a business and operations

Under agreements for the sale of a business and operations, the Bank agreed to indemnify the purchaser for losses incurred resulting
from certain types of claims from the Bank's past conduct of the business or operations, as well as any representations and guarantees
that may have been incorrect on the date they were made. Where the maximum potential future payments are limited by the agreements,
the maximum amount for all such agreements totalled $230 million as at October 31, 2004 (2003 $244 million). One of these agreements
does not limit the maximum potential future payments if the guarantee is enforced. The nature of these commitments prevents the Bank
from estimating the maximum potential liability it may be requiréd to pay. The applicable periods of the various indemnification clauses
are described in the agreements and may vary. No amount has been accrued in the Consolidated Balance Sheet with respect to these
indemnification agreements.

Other indemnification agreements

In the normal course of business, including securitization activities, the Bank enters into contractual agreements other than those
described above. Under these agreements, the Bank undertakes to compensate the counterparty for costs incurred as a result of litigation,
changes in laws and regulations (including tax tegislation], claims with respect to past performance, incorrect representations or the
non-performance of certain restrictive covenants. Moreover, as a member of a securities transfer network and pursuant to the membership
agreement and the regulations governing the operation of the network, the Bank granted a movable hypothec to the network that could
be used in the event another member fails to meet its contractual obligations. The nature of these commitments prevents the Bank from
estimating the maximum potential tiability it may be required to pay. The duration of these agreements is stipulated in each contract. No
amount has been accrued in the Consolidated Balance Sheet with respect to these agreements.

Other guarantee

Pursuant to a mutual guarantee agreement required by a regulatory authority, a subsidiary of the Bank has agreed to guarantee all
commitments, debts and liabilities of a company subject to significant influence to the maximum of its regulatory capital, $22 million as
at October 31, 2004 {2003: $28 million). This guarantee expires on the date the investment in the company subject to significant influence
is sold, or sooner if deemed appropriate by the regulatory authority. To date, this guarantee remains undrawn and no amount has been
accrued in the Consoclidated Balance Sheet with respect to the agreement.
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Guarantees, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (cont.}

Commitments
As at October 31, 2004, minimum commitments under leases, contracts for outsourced information technology services and other leasing
agreements are as follows:

. Service Equipment

Premises . contracts and furniture Total

2005 99 192 6 297
2006 94 183 2 279
2007 83 179 i 263
2008 75 171 - 246
2009 ' 69 163 - 232
2010 and thereafter 422 390 - 812
842 1,278 9 2,12%

Pledged assets
In the normal course of business, the Bank pledges securities and other assets as collateral for various liabilities it contracts. A breakdown

of assets ptedged as collateral is provided below.

4As at October 31

2004 2003
Assets pledged to: . : ‘
- Bank of Canada - ) ‘ 25 25
- Direct clearing organizations 2,812 3,395
Assets pledged in relation to:
~ Derivative transactions 544 202
- Borrowing, securities lending and securities sold under repurchase agreements 12,016 9.304
- Other 643 225

Total 16,040 13,151

Credit instruments

Inthe normal course of business, the Bank enters into various off-balance sheet commitments. The credit instruments used to meet the
financing needs of its clients represent the maximum amount of additional credit the Bank could be obligated to extend if the commitments
were fully drawn.

As ai October 31

2004 2003

Letters of guaranteel 1,225 903

Documentary letters of credit( 102 93

Credit card loans!3) 4,882 4,838
Commitments to extend crediti3)

Original term of one year or less 6,756 6,415

Original term of more than one year 10,346 9,689

{11 See "Letters of guarantee” on page 115.

2] Documentary ietters of credit are documents issued hy the Bank and used in international trade to enable a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to an
armount established under specific terms and conditions; these instruments are collateratized by the delivery of the goods they represent.

{31 Credit card loans and commitments (o extend credit represent the undraven pertions of credit autherizations granted in the form of loans, acceptances,
tetters of guarantee and documentary letters of credit. The Bank is required at all times to make the undrawn portion of the authorization available, subject
to certain conditions.
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Guarantees, Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (cont.)

Other commitments

The Bank acts as an investor in investment banking activities by entering into agreements to finance external private equity funds and
investments in equity and debt securities at market value at the time the agreements are signed. In connection with these activities,
the Bank had commitments to invest up to $747 million as at October 31, 2004 (2003: $647 million).

Litigation

In the normal course of business, the Bank is engaged in various legal proceedings, most of which are related to lending activities and
arise when the Bank takes measures to collect delinquent loans. Recently, motions for authorization to institute class action suits were
filed against various financial institutions, including the Bank, contesting, among other things, certain transaction fees. The subsidiary
Nationat Bank Financial is also engaged in various legal proceedings in the normal course of business. Most of these proceedings concern
services to individual investors and may relate to the suitability of investments. In Management's opinion, based on past experience, the
related aggregate potential liability will not have a material impact on the Bank’s financial position.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose value is derived from an underlying interest rate, exchange rate, or equity,
comrmodity or credit instrument or index. The Bank uses these instruments to accommodate the needs of its clients and for its own risk
management and trading activities.

The main derivative financial instruments used are as follows:

Foreign exchange forward contracts are tailor-made agreements transacted between counterparties in the over-the-counter market to
buy or sell foreign currencies for delivery on a future date at a specified rate.

Futures are contractual obligations to buy or deliver a specific amount of currency, commodities or financial instruments on a future
date at a specified price. Futures are standardized contracts traded on organized exchanges and are subject to daily cash margining.

Forward rate agreements are contracts fixing an interest rate to be paid or received, calculated on a notional principal amount, with a
specified maturity commencing at a specified future date.

Swaps are transactions in which two parties agree to exchange cash flows having specific characteristics in terms of rates [fixed or
floating}, currency, commodity price, index, etc. based on a notional principal amount for a specified period of time.

Cptions are agreements between two parties in which the writer of the option conveys to the buyer the right, but not the obligation, to
buy or to sell, at or by a predetermined date, a specific amount of currency, commodities or financial instruments at a price agreed to
when the option is arranged. The writer receives a premium for selling this instrument.

Notional principal amounts
Notional principal amounts, which are presented off balance sheet, represent the set underlying principal of a derivative instrument and
serve as a reference for currency and interest rates and stock market prices to determine the amount of cash flows to be exchanged.
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Derivative Financial Instruments [cont.)

Remaining term to maturity 2004 2003
Contracts Contracts
held held
for trading Within 3to 12 1to 5 Over Total for trading Total
purpeses 3 months months years Syears contracts purposes contracts
Foreign exchange contracts
OTC contracts
Forwards 6,277 4,126 1,482 698 - 6,306 6,652 8,748
Swaps 25,227 19.236 9,154 1,169 - 29,559 36,874 42,889
Options purchased 5,514 3,395 1,788 331 - 5,514 9,459 9,459
Options written 5,284 2,867 2,163 254 - 5,284 9,676 9,676
Total 42,302 29,624 14,587 2,452 - 46,663 62,661 68,772
Exchange-traded contracts
Futures
Long positions 90 90 - -~ - 90 9 9
Short positions 62 3 32 27 - 62 306 306
Options purchased 30 30 - - - 30 160 160
Options written 1 1 - = : - 1 1 11
Total 183 124 32 27 - 183 486 486
Interest rate contracts
OTC contracts
Forward rate agreements 7.033 1,675 5283 . - 75 ~ 7,033 7,487 7.487
Swaps 95,709 38,983 30,776 39,391 7.611 116,761 66,528 88,477
Options purchased 12,908 3,476 8,340 1,265 76 13,157 7.275 7.590
Options written 13,566 3914 8,331 1,319 2 13,566 13,455 13,455
Total 129,216 48,048 52,730 42,050 7,689 150,517 94,745 117,009
Exchange-traded contracts
Futures
Long positions 12,316 1,197 9,606 1,513 - 12,316 6,804 6,804
Short positions 20,756 8,228 13,442 - - 21,670 15,584 16,862
Options purchased 21,748 18,732 3,016 - - 21,748 31,115 31,115
Options written 21,002 13,381 7,621 - - 21,002 28,761 33,706
Total 75,822 41,538 33,685 1,513 - 76,736 82,264 88,487
Equity, commodity and
credit derivative contracts
OTC contracts
Forwards 107 1 14 33 59 107 164 164
Swaps 13,166 6,089 4,807 1.814 456 13,166 7.993 8.018
Options purchased 1,635 63 380 995 197 1,635 640 648
Options written 1,405 60 101 1,036 208 1,405 342 342
Total 16,313 6,213 5,302 3,878 920 16,313 9,139 9.172
Exchange-traded contracts
Futures
Long positions 94 94 - - - 94 86 102
Short positions 755 707 43 5 - 755 1.012 1.012
Options purchased 387 210 103 51 27 391 219 219
Options written 102 78 22 11 - 11 24 24
Total 1,338 1,089 168 67 27 1,351 1.341 1,357
Total 2004 265,174 126,634 106,504 49,987 8,636 291,763 250,636 285,283

Total 2003 250,636 120,693 106,655 47,986 9,949 285,283
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Derivative Financial Instruments (cont.]

Credit risk

Credit risk on derivative financial instruments is the risk of a financial loss occurring as a result of a counterparty failing to honour its
contractual obligations to the Bank. The current replacement cost, which is the positive fair value of all outstanding derivative financial
instruments, represents the Bank's maximum credit derivative exposure. The credit equivalent amount is calculated by taking into account
the current replacement cost of all outstanding contracts in a gain position, potential future exposure and the impact of master netting
agreements. The risk-weighted amount is the credit equivalent-amount multiplied by the counterparty risk factors prescribed by the
Superintendent. The Bank negotiates master netting agreements with counterparties with which it has significant credit risk exposure
resulting from derivative transactions. Such agreements provide for the simultaneous close-out and settling of all transactions with a
counterparty in the event of default. Some of these agreements also provide for the exchange of collateral between parties where the
fair value of outstanding transactions between the parties exceeds an agreed threshold.

As at October 31, credit risk exposure on the derivatives portfolio is as follows:

2004 2003

Current replacement cost Current replacement cost
Credit Risk- Credit Risk-
Non- equiv- weighted Non- equiv- weighted

Trading!) trading Total alent amount Trading/!! trading Total alent  amount

Interest rate contracts 743 376 1,119 1,443 281 509 514 1,023 1,172 225
Foreign exchange contracts 1,111 23 1,134 1,619 354 1,403 75 1,478 2,280 515
Equity, commodity and credit

derivative contracts 841 4 845 2,048 504 597 3 600 1,344 380

2,695 403 3,098 5110 1,139 2509 592  3.101 4,798 1,120
Impact of master netting ‘ ' C

agreements (1,560) -~ [1,560) [2,394) {535) (1.586) (1.586) (2,319) [534)
1,136 403 1,538 2,716 604 923 592 1515 2,479 586

{1} Excluding, in accordance with the guidelines of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial institutions Canada, exchange-traded instruments and forward
coniracts with an original maturity of 14 days. The total positive fair value of these excluded contracts amounted to $40 million as at Ociober 31, 2004
[2003: $51 mitlion).

Fair value .

The fair value of derivatives is determined before factoring in the impact of master netting agreements. When availabte, market prices
are used to determine the fair value of derivatives. Otherwise, fair value is determined using pricing models that incorporate current
market prices and the contractual prices of the underlying instruments, the time value of money, yield curves and volatility factors.
If necessary, fair value is adjusted to take market, model and credit risks into account, as well as related costs.

As at October 31, 2004, the positive fair value of trading derivatives is presented in "Other assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
The negative fair vatue is presented under “Other liabilities.” Figures as at October 31, 2003 have been reclassified to conform with the
presentation adopted in the current year.
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Derivative Financial Instruments {cont.]

As at October 31, the fair vatue of derivative financial instruments is as follows:

2004 2003

[mitlions of dotiars} Positive  Negative Net Positive  Negative Net
Contracts held for trading purposes
Interest rate contracts

Forwards 6 7 (1) 10 4 b

Swaps 675 501 174 481 609 (128)

Options 72 45 7 27 48 {21)

Total 753 573 180 518 661 (143)
Foreign exchange contracts

Forwards 54 143 {89) 74 183 (109}

Swaps 971 603 368 1.19%5 724 471

Options 102 157 {55) 165 213 148)

Total 1,127 903 224 1,434 1,120 314
Equity, commodity and credit

derivative contracts :

Forwards 24 m 147) 59 147 (88)

Swaps 615 475 140 492 372 120

Options 216 264 (48) 57 27 30
Total 855 910 (55) 608 546 62
Total - Contracts held for trading purposes 2,735 2,386 349 2,560 2,327 233
Contracts held for non-trading purposes
Interest rate contracts

Forwards - - - - - -

Swaps 374 183 191 512 145 367

Options 2 ~ 2 2 - 2
Total 376 183 193 514 145 369
Foreign exchange contracts

Forwards - - - - - -

Swaps 23 50 {27} 75 227 (152}

Options - - - - - -
Total 23 50 27) 75 227 (152)
Equity, commodity and credit

derivative contracts

Forwards - - - - - -

Swaps - - - 1 - 1

Options 4 1 3 2 - 2
Taotal 4 1 3 3 - 3
Total - Contracts held for non-trading purpeses 403 234 169 592 372 220
Total fair value 3,138 2,620 518 3,152 2,699 453
Impact of master netting agreements {1,577) (1,577} (1,600) {1,600} -

1,561 1,043 518 1,552 1,099 453
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Derivative Financial Instruments {cont.)

As at October 31, the distribution of risk exposure by counterparty is as follows:

2004 2003
Replace- Replace-

ment Credit ment Credit

cost equivalent cost equivalent

OECD governments 13 625 31 407
OECD banks 2,545 1,473 2,432 1,501
Other 540 618 638 571
Total 3,098 2,716 3,101 2,479

Geographic Distribution of Earning Assets by Ultimate Risk

2004 2003
$ % $ %
North America
Canada 63,103 85.4 62,698 84.3
United States ) ‘ 6,111 8.3 4,717 6.3
‘ o 69,214 93.7 67,415 90.6
Europe
United Kingdom 1,087 15 2,283 3.1
Germany 244 0.3 648 09
Other 2,048 2.8 2,651 35
- 3,379 4.6 5,682 7.5
Asia and Pacific 612 0.8 1,091 1.5
Latin America and Caribbean 627 0.9 315 0.4
Middle East and Africa 30 - 18 -
Earning assets as at September 30 73,862 100.0 74,421 100.0
Other assets as at September 30 9,483 9,456
Net change in assets in October 5,462 1,054
Total assets as at October 31 88,807 84,931

Earning assets are those which bear interest. Consequently, they do not include cash, chegues and other items in the clearing process
[net value), customers' liability under acceptances, premises and equipment, and other assets. The Bank's earning assets as at September
30 were distributed according to location of ultimate risk, i.e., the geographlc location of the borrower or, if applicable, the guarantor.
Earning assets are calculated net of any allowance for credit losses.

There is no material concentration of credit risk in any given operating segment.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity Position

The Bank offers a range of financial products for which the cash flows are sensitive to interest rate fluctuation. Interest rate risk arises
from on- and off-balance sheet cash flow mismatches. The degree of exposure is based on the size and direction of interest rate movements
and on the maturity of the mismatched positions. Analyzing interest rate sensitivity gaps is one of the technigues used by the Bank to
manage interest rate risk.

The table below illustrates the sensitivity of the Bank's Consolidated Balance Sheet to interest rate fluctuations as at October 31, 2004.

Non-
Floating Within 3to 12 Ttob Over interest
rate 3 months months years S5years  sgensitive Total
Assets
Cash resources 1,269 3,700 582 - - 226 5.777
Effective yield 1.9 % 2.6 % -% - %
Securities 1,228 2,130 6,000 8,484 5,608 4,557 28,007
Effective vield 1.0% 24 % 3.8 % 39%
Loans 1,371 25,549 5,830 9,021 390 3,833 45,994
Effective yield 3.8% 49 % 5.7 % 7.0%
Other assets - - - - - 9,029 9,029
3,868 31,379 12,412 17,505 5,998 17,645 88,807
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Deposits 2,972 26,788 6,91 13,850 557 2,354 53,432
Effective yield 22% 31 % 3.6% L4 %
Other debt! - 8,584 993 2,025 2,706 4,078 18,386
Effective yield 21% 22% - 33% 41 %
Subordinated debentures 53 - - - 1.355 - 1,408
Effective yield -% -% - % 68%
Acceptances and other liabilities - - - - - 11,377 11377
Shareholders’ equity - - - 375 - 3,829 4,204
3.025 35,372 7,904 16.250 4,618 21,638 88,807
On-balance sheet gap 843 (3.993) 4,508 1,255 1,380 (3,993) -
Derivative financial instruments - (27772 13,414 14,164 194 - -
Total 843 (31,765} 17,922 15,419 1,574 (3,993) -
Pasition in Canadian dollars
On-balance sheet total 187 335 3,054 24 460 (3,999 41
Derivative financial instruments - (15,288 6,318 8,553 116 - (301)
Total 187 {14,953) 9,372 8,577 576 (3.999] (240)
Position in foreign currency
On-balance sheet total 656 14,328) 1,454 1,231 920 6 (61)
Derivative financial instruments - (12,484) 7.096 5,611 78 - 301
Total 656 {16,812) 8,550 6,842 998 3 240
Total 2004 843 (31,765} 17,922 15,419 1,574 (3,993) -
Total 2003 67 (18,920) 11,574 6,298 2,839 {1,858} -

{1} Obligations related to securities sold short and securities sold under repurchase agreements.

Effective yield represents the weighted average effective yield based on the earlier of contractual repricing and the maturity date.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the fair value of balance sheet financial instruments, except for instruments whose fair value is estimated
to approximate their carrying value. This fair value is determined using the valuation methods and assumptions described below.
The fair values of derivative financial instruments are not included in the table and are presented separately in Note 19.

Fair value represents the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between willing
parties under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market price. If no quoted market prices are available, the fair
values presented are estimates derived using present value or other valuation techniques and may not be indicative of the net realizabte
value.

The fair values disclosed exclude the values of assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments such as premises and
equipment. Due to the judgment used in applying a wide range of acceptable valuation techniques and estimations in calculating fair
value amounts, fair values are not necessarily comparable among financial institutions. The calculation of estimated fair values is based
on market conditions at a specific point in time and may not be reflective of future fair values.

2004 2003
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
value value value value
Assets

Securities 28,007 28,131 26,179 26,307
Loans 41,498 41,700 38,381 38,758

Liabilities
Deposits ’ ‘53,432 53,682 51,463 51,831
Subordinated debentures 1,408 1,496 1,516 1,627

Valuation methods and assumptions

Securities

The fair value of securities is presented in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. It is based on quoted market prices. If quoted
market prices are not available, fair value is estimated using the quoted market prices of similar securities.

Loans

The fair value of floating-rate loans is assumed to approximate their carrying value. The fair value of other loans is estimated based on
a discounted cash flows calculation that uses market interest rates currently charged for similar new loans as at the balance sheet date
applied to expected maturity amounts [adjusted for any prepayments).

Deposits
The fair value of fixed-rate deposits is determined by discounting the contractual cash flows, using market interest rates currently offered

for deposits with the same remaining terms to maturity. The fair value of deposits with no stated maturity is assumed to approximate
their carrying value.

Subordinated debentures
The fair value of subordinated debentures is determined by discounting the contractual cash flows, using market interest rates currently
offered for similar financial instruments with the same remaining term to maturity.
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Related Party Transactions

The Bank grants loans to its directors and officers under various conditions. The balance of loans granted is:

2004 2003
Mortgage loans 3 2
Other loans FA 83

Since January 1, 2003, loans to eligible officers have been granted under the same conditions as those applicable to loans granted to any
other employee of the Bank. The principal conditions are as follows: the employee must meet the same credit requirements as a client;
mortgage loans are granted at the market rate less 2%; personal loans and credit card advances bear interest at the client rate divided
by 2; and personal lines of credit bear interest at the Canadian prime rate less 3%, but never lower than Canadian prime divided by 2.

For personal loans, credit cards advances and personal lines of credit, employees may not borrow more than 50% of their annual satary
at the reduced rate. The Canadian prime rate is applied to the remainder.

Loans granted to officers before January 1, 2003 are administered according to the conditions previously in effect, for a transitional period
ending December 31, 2005. These conditions are as follows: loans to directors are granted under market conditions for similar risks;
residential mortgage loans to officers are granted at the market rate divided by 3 for the first $50,000 and at the lower of the market rate
divided by 3 and the market rate less 5% for the remainder; and other loans granted to officers, mainly personal lines of credit, bear
interest at the prime rate divided by 2 for the first $10,000 to $20,000 and at the lower of prime less 3% and prime divided by 2 for the
remainder, to an aggregate maximum of 50% of the officer’s annual salary.

Segment Disclosures

The Bank carries out its activities in three reportable segments, defined below. The other operating activities are grouped for presentation
purposes. Each reportable segment is distinguished by services offered, type of client and marketing strategy. The operations of each of
the Bank's reportable segments are summarized below.

Personat and Commerciat

The Personal and Commercial segment comprises the branch network, intermediary services, credit cards, insurance, commercial
banking services and real estate.

Wealth Management
The Wealth Management segment comprises full-service retail brokerage, discount brokerage, mutual funds, trust services and portfolio
management.

Financial Markets

The Financial Markets segment encompasses corporate financing and lending, treasury operations, including asset and liability management
for the Bank, and corporate brokerage.

Other
This heading comprises securitization transactions, certain non-recurring items, and the unallocated portion of centralized services.

The accounting policies are the same as those presented in the note on accounting policies {Note 1], with the exception of the net interest
income, other income and income taxes of the operating segments, which are presented on a taxable equivalent basis. Taxable equivalent
basis is a calculation method that consists in grossing up certain tax-exempt income by the amount of income tax that would have been
otherwise payable. The impact of these adjustments is reversed under the "Other” heading. Head office expenses are allocated to each
operating segment and disclosed in segmented results. The Bank assesses performance based on net income. Intersegment revenues
are recognized at the exchange amount. Segment assets correspond to average assets directly used in segment operations.
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Segment Disclosures (cont.)

Results by business segment

Personal and Wealth Financial
Commercial Management Markets Other Total
2004 2003 2004 2003 004 2003 004 2003 004 2003

Net interest incomell] 1,289 1,248 93 © - 91 256 186 {295) {201) 1,383 1,324
Other incomelt 666 629 650 567 731 745 119 97 2,166 2,038
Total revenues 1,955 1,877 743 658 987 931 {(136] (104) 3,549 3,362
Operating expenses 1,216 1,162 576 526 541 527 59 42 2,392 2,257
Contribution 739 715 167 132 446 404 195} {146) 1,157 1,105
Provision for credit losses 136 155 - - 52 63 (102) [41) 86 177
Incorme before income taxes and

non-controlling interest 603 560 167 132 394 341 {93) (105} 1,071 928
Income taxesl!) 215 202 58 44 144 122 99) (93] 318 277
Non-controlling interest - - 4 4 - - 24 23 28 27
Net income {net loss) 388 358 105 82 250 219 (18) (35) 725 624
Average assets 40,544 38,679 834 805 42,364 37,819 (5,070) (5493) 78,672 71,810

[1] Net interest income was grossed up by $82 mitlion [2003: $42 million} and other income by $46 million {2003: $55 mitlion] to bring the tax-exempt income
earned on certain securities in line with the income earned on other financiat instruments. An equivalent amount was added to income taxes. The effect of
these adjustments is reversed under the “Other " heading.

Results by geographic segment :
Total revenues are allocated based on the country in which the client conducts business. More than 93.8% (2003: 94.5%] of revenues are
concentrated in Canada.

Comparison with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States

The cansolidated financial statemants of the Bank were preparéd‘in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The principal differences resulting
from the application of U.S. GAAP on net income and on the Consolidated Balance Sheet are presented below. In addition, a Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income is presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

2004 2003
Reported net income 725 624
Charge for other-than-temporary impairment ~ (20]
investment account securities (2) (2}
Sale of premises - FIN 46R ' (2) {2)
Mutual funds ~ FIN 44R 13 -
Loan securitization 6 4
Derivatives and hedging (21) (1
Income tax effect on above items 2 11
Net income per U.S. GAAP 721 604
Net earnings per common share, basic - U.5. GAAP $ 4.08 $3.26

Net earnings per common share, diluted - U.S. GAAP $4.03 $3.23
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Comparison with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States [cont.]

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

2004 2003
Net income per U.S. GAAP 721 604
Other comprehensive income
Change in unrealized gains {losses) on securities available for sale, net of income taxes {income tax savings)
of $(5] (2003: $59) {6} 104
Change in gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, net of income tax savings
of $(26] (2003: $(351} (601 {64)
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of income taxes of $2 (2003: $1) 4 1
Change in unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments, net of income taxes of $31 (2003: $63) [16) (1)
Comprehensive income 643 634
Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheet
2004 2003
Canadian U.s. Canadian u.s.
GAAP  Increase GAAP GAAP  Increase GAAP
Assets )
Cash resources 5,777 2 5,779 7,047 - 7.047
Investment account securities 7,428 176 7.604 6,998 121 7.119
Trading account securities 20,561 - 20,561 19,151 - 19,151
Loan substitutes 18 - 18 30 - 30
Securities purchased under . - :
reverse repurchase agreements 4,496 - - 4,496 3,955 - 3,955
Loans 41,498 - 41,498 38,381 588 38,969
Premises and equipment 267 84 351 263 81 344
Goodwill 662 22 684 660 22 682
Other assets 8,100 288 8,388 8,446 599 9,045
Total assets 88,807 572 89,379 84,931 1.411 86,342
Liabilities
Deposits 53,432 - 53,432 51,463 514 51,977
Other liabilities 29,393 212 29,605 27,457 533 27,990
Subordinated debentures 1,408 131 1,539 1,516 M4 1,630
Non-controlling interest 370 45 415 398 - 398
Total liabilities 84,603 388 84,99 80,834 1,161 81,995
Sharehotders’ equity
Preferred shares 375 - 375 375 - 375
Common shares 1,545 24 1,569 1,583 24 1,607
Contributed surplus 7 - 7 2 - 2
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments (10) 10 - 6 (6) -
Retained earnings 2,287 27 2,314 2,131 31 2,162
Accumulated other comprehensive income - 123 123 - 201 201
Total shareholders’ equity 4,204 184 4,388 4,097 250 4,347

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 88,807 572 89,379 84,931 1,411 86,342
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Comparison with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States {cont.)

Impairment charge

Under Canadian GAAP, unless compelling evidence is provided to indicate otherwise, a decrease in the value of an investment s considered
an other-than-temparary impairment when the carrying value exceeds the market value for a prolonged period. The factors indicative
of an impairment that is other than temporary under Canadian GAAP differ from those under U.S. GAAP as regards the period during
which the carrying value may exceed the market value before it must be concluded that the decrease in value is an other-than-temporary
impairment. In comparison to Canadian GAAP, the period under U.S. GAAP is significantly shorter. Lastly, under U.S. GAAP, when there
has been a loss in value of an investment that is other than a temporary decline, the investment should be written down to fair value,
based on market prices.

Investment account securities

Under U.S. GAAP, investment account securities are separated into two categories: securities available for sale {recognized in the balance
sheet at fair value) and securities held to maturity {carried in the balance sheet at unamortized cost). Unrealized gains and losses on
securities available for sale, net of income taxes, are presented separately in "Accumulated other comprehensive income” under
“Shareholders’ equity,” while the change in unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes, is recorded in the Consoclidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income. Under U.S. GAAP, the Bank records substantially all investment account securities as available for sale.
Furthermore, under U.5. GAAP, all obligations related to securities sold short must be recorded at fair value as liabilities, and any changes
in fair value must be accounted for in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Under Canadian GAAP, securities sold short that are used
in hedging relationships are recorded at unamortized cost. Gains and losses realized on these securities are included in the Consolidated
Statement of Income concurrently with the gains and losses on the hedged items.

Sale of premises

Under Canadian GAAP, the head office building leases are considered a sales-type lease followed by an operating lease as a lessee.
Under U.S. GAAP {SFAS No. 98 “Accounting for Leases”}, in order to be accounted for as a sales-type lease, title of property must be
transferred at the end of the lease term; therefore, the two leases must be accounted for as operating leases. Consequently, the building
remains on the balance sheet, and the proceeds received are recorded as a liability. In addition, under new FASB Interpretation No. 46
[FIN 48R}, revised in December 2003, on the consolidation of variable interest entities ("VIEs"), applicable to quarters ending after
March 15, 2004, the Bank, as the primary beneficiary, must consolidate, as of October 31, 2004, the VIE that leases the head office building
under a capital lease. VIEs are entities in which equity investors do not have controlling financial interest or where the equity investment
at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support provided by other
parties. The primary beneficiary is the party that receives the majority of the expected residual returns and/or absorbs the majority of
the entity’s expected losses. The Canadian standard, Accounting Guidetine No. 15 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” {AcG-15),
is harmonized with FIN 46R and will apply to the Bank effective November 1, 2004.

Loan securitization

A new Canadian GAAP standard applies to loan securitization transactions carried out as of July 1, 2001, substantially harmonizing the
Canadian accounting treatment with that required under U.S. GAAP. However, certain differences remain with respect to transactions
entered into before July 1, 2001 and the conditions under which special purpose entities ["SPEs”] require consolidation. Under Canadian
GAAP, SPEs are consolidated only when the Bank is deemed to control these SPEs and retains substantially all the residual risks and
rewards of the SPEs. U.S. GAAP, applicable in 2003, required SPEs to be consolidated unless they received a substantial investment from
an independent third party or they qualified as entities because their activities were sufficiently limited. in 2004, under new U.S. FIN 46R,
the Bank must consoctidate SPEs, other than qualifying special purpose entities which are specifically exempt from consolidation, if the
Bank is the primary beneficiary. Under Canadian standards, the Bank has not consolidated any SPEs in 2003 and 2004, whereas under
U.S. standards, two entities were consolidated in 2003 {tctal assets: $588 million} and no entities were consolidated in 2004.

Mutual funds

Under U.S. GAAP (FIN 46R], in 2004 the Bank must consolidate certain mutual funds it manages because, by virtue of its investments in
these funds, the Bank is deemed to be the primary beneficiary. In accordance with current consolidation standards under Canadian GAAP,
the Bank is not required to consolidate these mutual funds. However, effective November 1, 2004, foltowing the adoption of AcG-15, the Bank
will have to consolidate them.

Derivative financial instruments

Under Canadian GAAP, derivatives used in sales or trading activities as well as instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at fair value. Under the U.S. standard, the Bank is required to recognize all derivatives at
fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as an asset or liability. The Canadian and U.S. accounting treatments for derivatives held
for sale or trading are therefore the same.
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Comparison with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States (cont.)

However, the Canadian and U.S. accounting treatments for derivatives held for hedging purposes differ. In accordance with the U.S.
standard, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded in income and are generally offset by
changes in the fair value of the hedged items. With respect to derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the
changes in fair value is recorded as a separate component of comprehensive income in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income untit the hedged items are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of income. The ineffective portion of the changes in fair
value of a hedged item is always recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Minimum pension liability

Under U.S. GAAP {SFAS No. 87 "Employers’ Accounting for Pensions™), if the accrued benefit obligation, without salary projections, exceeds
the fair value of the assets of a pension plan, a liabitity [minimum pension liability] equivalent to the difference must be recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet. Recognition of an additional liability is required where the accrued benefit obligation, without salary projections,
exceeds the fair value of the pension plan assets, and a net accrued benefit asset is recognized in the consolidated balance sheet. If an
additional liability is recognized, an equal amount is recognized as an intangible asset, up to the amount of unamortized prior service
cost, with any excess recorded, net of income taxes, under “Cther comprehensive income.”

Goodwill

In 1999, the value of the shares issued by the Bank as part of the acquisition of First Marathon was based on the market price of the
. shares over a reasonable period of time before and after the acquisition date, as required by Canadian GAAP in effect before July 1, 2001.

Under U.S. GAAP, the value of these shares would have been based on their market price over a reasonable period of time before and

after the date the terms of the acquisition were agreed to and announced. Had the Bank followed U.S. GAAP, goodwill and commaon shares

would have increased.
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Statistical Review

As at October 31
2004 2003 2002 2001 2090 1999 1998 1997070 199881 1995

Balance sheet data
{rmitlions of dollars]
Cash resources $ 5777 $ 7047 $ 6864 $ 5832 $ 5655 $ 3561 $ 4852 % 4476 $ 3,528 $ 5174
Securities 28,007 26,179 20,118 17,872 16,835 16,932 15,4395 10,010 8,414 7,285
Securities purchased under reverse

repurchase agreements 4,496 3,955 2,366 4,041 5,397 3,480 4,947 9,155 2,697 654
Loans 41,498 38,381 38,446 40,351 41,342 40,411 40,560151 38,104 35,238 33,141

Customers’ liability under acceptances 3,076 3,334 2,988 3,593 3,640 2,962 2,658 2,273 1,725 1,293
Premises and equipment

and other assets 5,953 6,035 5,249 ) 4,277 2,958 2,455 2,207 2,217 1,532 1,366
Total assets $ 88,807 $ 84,931 $75031 $7596 $75827 $69.801 $ 70683 $66235 $53,134 $48913
Deposits $ 53432 $51,463 $51490 $51436 $50473 $49984 $48026 $43270 $40,125 $ 40424
Other liabilities 29,763 27,855 18,848 18,747 20,165 15,481 18,976 19.136 9.494 4,895

Long-term debt

Floating-capital notes - - - - - - - - - 106
Subordinated debentures 1,408 1,516 1,592 1,647 1,361 1,035 966 1,069 1.016 1,177
Capital stock

Preferred 375 375 300 492 492 317 317 376 376 376

Common 1,545 1,583 1,639 1,668 1,653 1,641 1,327 1,309 1,268 1,234
Contributed surplus 7 2 - - - - - - - -
Unrealized foreign currency

translation adjustments {10) 6 17 19 " 7 (18] (21 (13) (11}
Retained earnings 2,287 2,131 1,945 1,937 1,672 1,336 1,067 1,077 868 712
Total ligbilities and sharehotders equity ~ $ 88,807 $ 84,931 $76,031 $75966 $75827 $69801 $ 70663 $66235 $53,134 $48913
Average assets $ 78672 $ 71,810 $69,292 $69197 $69.840 $65784 $65873 $55685 $49,239 $ 47582
Average capital funds(! 5,238 5216 5,249 5,020 4,660 3,512 3,886 3,744 351 3,620

income statement data
{miitions of dollars)

Net interest income $ 1383 $ 1324 $ 1444 $ 1338 $ 1190 $ 1187 $ 1209 $ 1,235 $ 1,136 $ 1170
Other income 2,166 2,038 1,584 1,789 1,878 1,232 1,108 1,030 970 712
Total revenues $ 3549 $ 3362 $ 3028 $ 3,927 $ 3068 $ 2419 $ 2317 $ 2265 $ 2,106 & 1,882
Provision for credit losses 86 177 490 205 184 170 147 280 235 255
Operating expenses 2,392 2,257 2,040 1.989 2,120 1.615 1,535 1,451 1,402 1,219
Income taxes 318 277 150 278 239 213 239 209 130 146
Non-controlling interest 28 27 30 28 26 32 31 16 10 7
Income before discontinued operations

and goodwill charges 725 624 318 627 499 389 365 309 329 255
Discontinued operations - - m {45) 29 36 24 42 - -
Goodwill charges - - - 19 19 8 73 9 1 10

Netincome $ 725 $ 624 % 429 § 563 0§ 509 $ 417 $ 316 § 342 $ 318 § 25
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As at October 31

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Share data
Number of common shares {thousands] 167,430 174,620 182,596 190,331 189,474 188,729 171,416 170461 167,151 143,963
Number of common shareholders

of record 26,961 27,865 28549 29,766 30,795 32,048 32,902 34,433 36,549 39,053
Earnings per basic share before

goodwill charges $ 410 $ 337 $ 218 $ 288 $ 265 $ 228 $ 212 $ 192 $ 182 $ 132
Net earnings per basic share $ 410 $ 337 $ 218 $ 278 $ 254 $ 224 % 149 % 18 $ 176 § 126
Dividend per share $ 142 $ 108 $ 093 $ 082 $ 075 $ 070 $ 066 $0575 $ 049 $ 040
Stock trading range

High $ 4878 $ 4119 $3493 $31.00 $ 2525 $2620 $31.25 $2030 $ 1390 $11.88

Low $ 4017 $2995 $2470 $23.00 $ 1640 $1715 $2010 $ 1320 $ 1038 % 843

Close $ 4878 $ 4091 $2939 $2425 $2495 $1790 $2305 $2015 $13.00 $ 11.00
Book value $ 2287 $ 2132 $19.72 $19.04 $ 1760 $1581 $13.86 $ 1399 $ 1270 $ 11.88
Dividends on preferred shares
Series 5 - - - - - - 3.9531 3.3670 4.8235 5.9462
Series 7 - - - - - - 1.0306 0.8777 1.2576 1.5503
Series 8 - - - - - -~ 0.9883 0.8417 1.2059 1.4865
Series 10 - - - 21875 21875 21875 21875 21875 21875 21875
Series 11 - - 05000 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000 2.0000  2.0000
Series 12 - 0.8125 1.6250 1.6250 1.6250.  1.6250 1.6250 1.6250 1.6250 1.6250
Series 13 1.6000 1.6000 1.6000 1.6000  0.5447 - - - - -
Series 15 1.4625 1.1480 - - - - - - ~ -
Financial ratios
Return on common shareholders’ L o : :

equity before goodwill charges 18.8% 16.5 % 11.3% 16.0% 16.0 % 15.5 % 14.6 % 14.5% 15.1% 11.5 %
Return on average assets 0.92% 0.87 % 0.62% 0.80 % 0.73 % 0.62 % 0.51 % 0.62% 0.64 % 0.51 %
Return on average capital funds 13.8% 11.9% 9.5% 125% 12.4 % 13.2% 9.3% 105 % 10.6% 8.3 %
Capital ratios - BIS

Tier 1 9.6% 9.6% 9.6% 9.6 % 8.7% 7.7% 7.7 % 81 % 69% 6.8 %

Total 13.0% 13.4 % 13.6% 13.1% 1.4 % 11.0 %% 10.7% 11.3% 10.2%!12 10.4 %
Other information
Impaired loans {millions of dotlars} $ 160 $ 251 % 246 % 591 % 544 0§ 543 0% 547 $ 497 % 506 0§ 411
Number of Bank employees!3}

In Canada 11,074 11,328 11,287 11,676 11,050 1,744 11,641 11,245 11.022 10,249

Outside Canada 128 132 155 351 407 431 400 406 380 371

National Bank Financial 2,920 2,868 3,147 2,294 2,419 2,489 1,895 1,676 1,425 1,578
Branches in Canada 462 477 507 525 586 649 bbb 641 632 629
Banking machines 770 817 826 834 802 761 744 738 712 624

{3} Average capital funds include common shareholders’ equity, redeemable preferred shares and subordinated debentures.

{2] Teking inte account the issuance of $150 million of suberdinated debentures on November 1, 1994,

{3} The number of empleyees js provided on 4 full-time equivalent basis. This basis was changed in 1996,

{4] Taking into account the issuance of US 8250 miilion of subordinated debentures on November 2, 1999,

{5 These securities figures were restated to include mortgage-backed securities held by the Bank. Figures prior to fiscal 1998 have not been restated.

{81 Figures prior to fiscat 1996 have not been restated to reflect the fact that gains and losses on securities previously recorded under “Interest income” were
reclassified to “Other income, " as they could not be obtained through reasonable effort.

{7} Figures prior to fiscal 1997 have not been restated (o reflect the impact of activities discontinued in 2001.
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Principal Subsidiaries

Voting and
Principal participating Investment at cost(2)

Name office address!!) shares {millions of dollars)
National Bank Acguisition Holding Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 649
National Bank Group Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 720
National Bank Financial & Co. Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 1,149
Natcan Insurance Company Limited Bridgetown, Barbados 100% 77
Natcan Trust Company Montreal, Canada 100% 137
National Bank Trust Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 240
National Bank Life {nsurance Company Montreal, Canada 100% 71
National Bank {nsurance Firm Inc.13) Montreal, Canada 100% -
CABN Investments inc.l4l Montreal, Canada 100% 1
National Bank Securities Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 140
Natcan Investment Management Inc. Montreal, Canada 69.1% 7
Natcan Acquisition Holdings Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 273
National Bank Discount Brokerage Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 48
Altamira Investment Services Inc. Toronto, Canada 100% 203
Innocap Investment Management Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 14
3562719 Canada Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 3
3535914 Canada Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% -
National Bank Realty Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 16
FMI Acquisition Holding Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 92
NBC Financial {U.K.) Ltd. London, United Kingdom 100% 82
1261095 Ontario Inc. Toronto, Canada 100% 58
Assurances générales Banque Nationale [Gestion)-Inc. Montreal, Canada 100% 10
National Bank General Insurance Inc. Montreal, Canada 90% -
4166540 Canada inc. Calgary, Canada 100% 684
NB Invest Trust Montreal, Canada 100% 685
Natcan Holdings International Limited Nassau, Bahamas 100% 493
National Bank of Canada {international) Limited Nassau, Bahamas 100% 193
National Bank of Canada (Global) Limited St. Michael, Barbados 100% 376
NB Capital Corporation New York, United States 100% 200
NB Finance Ltd. Hamilton, Bermuda 100% 562
National Canada Finance LLC New York, United States 100% 758
NatBC Holding Corporation Florida, United States 100% 18
Natbank, National Association Florida, United States 100% -
NBC Global Risk Management !nc. Houston, United States 100% 1
NBC Trade Finance Limited Hong Kong, China 100% -

{1} All the subsidiaries are incorporated under the laws of the state or country in which their principal office is located, except for NB Capitat Corporation,
which is incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland, USA, and National Canada Finance LLC and NatBC Holding Corporation, both of which are

incarporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, USA.

{2] The investment at cost is the carrying value stated on the equity basis of accounting as at October 31, 2004.
rying quity g

(3} Formeriy Services Financiers Bangue Nationale Inc.

4] Formerly National Bank Financial Services {investments] Inc.

Principal Investments in Companies Subject to Significant Influence

Voting and

participating shares

Investment at
carrying value

Alter Moneta Trust
Maple Financial Group Inc.

Montreal, Canada
Toronto, Canada

34.9%
24.8%

33
85
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Directors

Lawrence S. Bloomberg Paul Gobeil ‘ -
Advisor Vice-Chairman of the Board
National Bank Financial Inc, Métro Inc. and
Toronto, Ontario Chairman of the Board
' Export Development Canada
Pierre Bourgie Tle-des-Soeurs, Quebec
President and Chief Executive Officer
Société Financiére Bourgie Inc. Suzanne Leclair )
Outremont, Quebec President, Chief Exacutive Officer and
Chairwoman of the Board
Gérard Coulombe Transit Truck Bodies Inc.
. Chairman of the Board and Seniar Partner Tle-des-Seeurs, Quebec
.Desjardins Ducharme Stein Monast .
Sainte-Marthe, Quebec E. A. (Dee) Parkinson-Marcoux
Corporate Director o
Bernard Cyr Canmore, Atberta
President
Cyr Holdings inc. Réal Raymond
Cap Shediac, New Brunswick President and Chief Executive Officer
National Bank of Canada
Shirley A. Dawe lle-des-Sceurs, Quebec
President
Shirley Dawe Associates Inc. Raseann Runte
Toronto, Ontario President
Old Dominion University
Nicole Diamond-Gélinas Norfolk, Virginia
President and General Manager United States
Aspasie Inc. - .
Saint-Barnabé-Nord, Quebec Jean Turmel
President - Financial Markets, Treasury and
Jean Douville Investment Bank .
Chairman of the Board National Bank of Canada
National Bank of Canada Outremont, Quebec
Chairman of the Board .
UAP Inc.

Bedford, Quebec

Marcel Dutil

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

The Canam Manac Group Inc.
Qutremont, Quebec

Jean Gaulin
Corporate Director
San Antonio, Texas
United States
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1 Supplementary Information ggﬁ

Corporate Governance

Effective corporate governance is an essentiat component of Bank operations as it enables the Bank to participate as a corporate citizen
in the efforts made by regulatory bodies, governments and companies worldwide to maintain investor confidence in capital markets.
Transparency and discipline are two core values at the Bank. We firmly believe that it is in the interest of our shareholders, our clients
and all of our partners to have sound corporate governance policies and practices, to monitor the latest developments in this area and
to make the requisite adjustments. With the assistance of its committees and members of Management, the Board oversees the application
of sound corperate governance standards and practices which everyone must respect.

We invite you to read the Management Proxy Circutar pertaining to the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which provides a detailed
description of the Bank's practices with respect to corporate governance, as well as a description of the Board's committees, their
mandates and their activities.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

The Board's role is to oversee management of the Bank, safeguard its assets, and ensure its viability, profitability, sustainability and
development. The Board aims to fulfill these objectives primarily through strategic planning, risk assessment, succession planning for
the Board of Directors and at the Management level, and also by evaluating its own efficiency, and implementing and maintaining a policy
governing communications and public disclosure of information. As part of its management oversight responsibilities, it obtains, among
other things, assurance of sound management by requiring Management to implement and maintain a legislative compliance program.

Composition of the Board

As at October 31, 2004, the Board was composed of 15 directors. Through the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee,
the Board periodically reviews the impact of its size and composition on its activities in order to maintain a balance between the competencies
and experience of directors that is conducive to supporting the Bank's strategic orientations and needs in the short, medium and long
term. This Committee also manages the process for selecting new directors in order to recruit candidates with a reputation for integrity
and honesty, who are capable of actively contributing to the conduct of the Bank's business.

Independence of the Board and its Committees
Jean Douville, appointed Chairman of the Board on March 10, 2004, is an outside, unrelated and independent director.

The chairs of the three Board committees, namely, Pierre Bourgie of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, Paul Gobeil of the
Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, and Jean Gaulin of the Human Resources Committee, are all outside, unrelated
and independent directors. All the members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee are also outside, unrelated and independent directors. The five members of the Human Resources Committee
are outside directors, with only one being related to the Bank and non-independent. As at October 31, 2004, 11 of the 15 directors were
unrelated and independent directors. To strengthen the Board's independence from Management, outside directors meet in camera from
time to time. Recruiting and nominating new candidates for the Board and assessing directors is the exclusive purview of the Conduct
Review and Corporate Governance Committee which is composed entirely of outside, unrelated and independent directors.

Commitment to Ethical Standards

The directors demonstrate their commitment to observe the highest ethical standards by signing an undertaking to respect the Bank's
Code of Professional Conduct when they are first appointed and once a year thereafter. Directors withdraw from any meeting during
which a major contract or draft contract with the Bank is discussed and in which they have a direct or indirect interest. Moreover, they
do not vate on the motion presented for approval, except where permitted under the Bank Act.
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Corporate Governance (cont.}

Information

The effective functioning of the Board and its committees depends on the quality of the information that directors are given. To this end,
each director is issued a Directors’ Handbook which describes their responsibilities, the Bank's organizational structure and the mandates
of the Board and its committees. Ten days prior to each meeting of the Board or of any of the committees on which they sit, the directors
generally receive all the documents relating to the items on the agenda. They also benefit from an orientation and ongoing training
program that includes special presentations on topical subjects. The directors and officers of the Bank work together and share relevant
information with a view to making informed decisions in the best interests of the Bank, its shareholders, its clients and its partners.

Communication

The Board sees to establishing mechanisms to ensure effective communication between the Bank, its shareholders, clients, financiat
analysts, the media and the pubtic. The Board is an advocate of transparency in all its communications. The Bank responds to the requests
of shareholders, investors and financial analysts through its Investor Relations Department, Corporate Secretary’s Office and National
Bank Trust Inc., the Bank's transfer agent and registrar. The Bank's quarterly reports and the related conference calls are broadcast in
real time on the Bank's website (www.nbc.cal. Clients with specific concerns or needs can contact their branch or TelNat. If a complaint
cannot be resolved through the administrative procedures in effect at the Bank, clients may contact the Bank's Ombudsman.
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Réal Raymond
President and Chief Executive Officer
Hle-des-Sceurs, Quebec

Jean Turmel

President - Financial Markets,
Treasury and investment Bank
QOutremont, Quebec

G.F. Kym Anthony!1)

President and Chief Executive Officer
National Bank Financial Inc.

Toronto, Ontario

Patricia Curadeau-Grou
Senior Vice-President
Risk Management
Outremont, Quebec

Giséle Desrochers

Senior Vice-President

Human Resources and Operations
Ile-des-Seceurs, Quebec

Michel Labonté

Senior Vice-President

Finance, Technology and Corporate Affairs
Tle—des—Soeurs, Quebec

Tony Meti

Senior Vice-President

Commercial Banking and international
Kirkland, Quebec

Michel Tremblay

Senior Vice-President

Personal Banking and Wealth Management
Mont-Royal, Quebec

Louis Vachon(2)

Senior Vice-President

Treasury and Financial Markets
Beaconsfield, Quebec

G.F. Kym Anthony!(1!

President and Chief Executive Officer
National Bank Financial Inc.

Toronto, Ontario

Yves G. Breton

President

National Bank Discount Brokerage Inc.
Brossard, Quebec

{1} As of January 1. 2005, G.F. Kym Anthony will also hold the positions of President and Chief Executive Officer of National Bank Financial Group and Senior

Vice-President of the Bank.

2] As of January 1, 2005, Louts Vachon will hold the positions of Chairman of the Board of National Bank Financial Group, Chairman of the Board of Natcan

Pierre Desbiens

President and Chief Executive Officer
National Bank Trust fnc. and

National Bank Life Insurance Company
Saint-Lambert, Quebec

Charles Guay

President and Chief Operating Officer
National Bank Securities Inc.
lle-des-Sceurs, Quebec

Salvatore {Sam] Reda

President and Chief Operating Officer
Natcan Investment Management Inc.
Kirkland, Quebec

Greg A. Reed

President and Chief Executive Officer
Altamira Investment Services Inc.
Toronto, Ontario

.Senior Vice-Presidents. . .. :
{whao are not Membpers of the Executive Committee]

Pierre Desbiens

Insurance and Trust Services
Saint-Lambert, Quebec

Pierre Dubreuil

Greater Montreal and Southern Quebec
Longueuil, Quebec

Alice Keung
Information Technology
Saint-Laurent, Quebec

Olivier H. Lecat
Internat Augdit
ile-des-Sceurs, Quebec

Réjean Lévesque
Northern and Eastern Quebec
Sillery, Quebec

Luc Papineau
Sales and Personal Banking
Montreal, Quebec

Ricardo Pascoe
Capital Markets
Westmount, Quebec

Denis Pelterin
Operational and Market Risk Management
Brossard, Quebec

Greg A. Reed

Personal Banking and Wealth Management
Ontario and Western Canada

Toronto, Ontario

Investment Management Inc. and Senior Vice-President of the Bank.

Pierre Desroches
Montreal, Quebec

Jean-Luc Alimondo
Europe/Middte East/Africa
Neuilly Plaisance, France

Francine Aubertin
Project Office
Dollard-des-Ormeaux, Quebec

Richard Barriault
Taxation
Montreal, Quebec

Guy Benoit
Ontario and Western Canada
Longueuil, Quebec

Pierre Blais
Government Affairs
Vaudreuil-Dorion, Quebec

Jean Blouin
Retail Credit and Investment Solutions
Boucherville, Quebec

Yves G. Breton
Discount Brokerage
Brossard, Quebec

Michel Brouillette
Quebec City and Eastern Quebec
Quebec City, Quebec

Jean-Francois Bureau
Credit and Specialized Products
Longueuil, Quebec

Vincent Butkiewicz
Financial Markets and Derivatives
Westmount, Quebec

Jean-Paul Caron
Corporate Affairs
Mont Saint-Hilaire, Quebec

Linda Caty
Vice-President and Corporate Secretary
Saint-Bruno, Quebec

Gilles Choquet
Specialized Networks - Credit
Longueuil, Quebec

René Collette
Atlantic Canada
Dieppe, New Brunswick
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Officers (cont.)

Suzanne Coté
Legal Affairs
Saint-Laurent, Quebec

Jean Dagenais
Chief Accountant
Quiremont, Quebec

France David
Basel Accord and Risk Analysis
Longueuil, Quebec

Yvan Desrosiers
Natbank, National Association
Chicoutimi, Quebec

Lévis Doucet
Montreal
Boucherville, Quebec

Nicole Dumont
INC. Business Solutions
Repentigny, Quebec

Michel Faubert
Operations Optimization
Léry, Quebec

Luc Fredette
Credit Canada
Longueuil, Quebec

Clément Gignac

Chief Economist
Saint-Bruno, Quebec
Eric Girard

Internal Fund Manager
Mont-Royal, Quebec

Marc Godin
Finance and Control
Outremont, Quebec

Rubina Havlin
Electronic Payment Solutions
Pointe-Claire, Quebec

Richard Hébert
South Shore
Boucherville, Quebec

Jacynthe Hotte
Operational Risk
Sainte-Geneviéve, Quebec

Ltynn Jeanniot
Marketing and Public Affairs
Mont-Royal, Quebec

D. William Kennedy
Intervention
Islington, Ontario

Raymond H. Keroack

Laval/North Shore and Abitibi-Témiscamingue

Saint-Bruno, Quebec

Marc Knuepp
Operations Review Program
Laval, Quebec L

Pierrette Lacroix
Market Risk
Senneville, Quebec

Jean-Pierre Lambert
Montérégie/Eastern Townships
Boucherville, Quebec

Jacques Latendresse
Nassau
Nassau, Bahamas

Yannik Laurin
West Island
Boisbriand, Quebec

Michetle Leduc
Retail Credit
Montreal, Quebec

Benoit Loranger
Alternative Networks
Laval, Quebec

Benoit Marcotte
Coordination -

Wealth Management Advisory Services

Tle-des-Sceurs, Quebec

André Mondor
Montreal
Boucherville, Quebec

Renaud Nadeau

Wealth Management and
Specialized Networks,
Tle-des-Soeurs, Quebec

Jacques Naud
Laval and North Shore
Laval, Quebec

Martin Quellet
Treasurer
Outremont, Quebec

David Pinsonneauit
Commercial Banking - Bank Tower
Saint-Hilaire, Quebec

Paolo Pizzuto
Sales and Service Strategies
Laval, Quebec

Gérard Proutx
Montérégie and Central Quebec
Brossard, Quebec

Roland Provost
Drummaondville/Bois-Francs/Mauricie
Boucherville, Quebec

Chantal Reid
Network Support
Montreal, Quebec

Nicole Rondou
Compliance
Saint-Lambert, Quebec

France Roy Maffel
Human Resources Intervention
Montreal, Quebec

Sylvie Roy
Customer Relations Centres
Verdun, Quebec

Lili J. Shain
National Accounts, Ontario
Toronto, Ontario

Kevin Smith
Human Resources Operations
Repentigny, Quebec

Vincent Sofia
Asia
Hong Kong, China

John W. Swendsen
Western Canada and Energy
Calgary, Alberta

Marc Taillen
Quebec City and Eastern Quebec
Sainte-Foy, Quebec

Pierre Therrien
Private Banking, Quebec
Montreal, Quebec

Peter D. Thompson
Outaouais/Northern and Eastern Ontario
Manotick, Ontario

Jimmy Villeneuve

Organizational Performance,
Premises and Material Resources
ile-des-Sceurs, Quebec

Kathteen Zicat
Laval/Northern and Western Quebec
Anjou, Quebec
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Securities brokerage

National Bank Financial Inc.
1155 Metcalfe

Sth Floar

Montreal, Quebec H3B 459

NBCN Clearing Inc.

1010 de La Gauchetiére West
16th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 5J2

Portfolic management

Natcan Investment Management Inc.
1100 University

4th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 2G7

Insurance

National Bank Life Insurance Company
1100 University

12th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 267

National Bank General Insurance inc.
1100 University

11th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 2G7

Trust services

National Bank Trust Inc.
1100 University

12th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 2G7

Natcan Trust Company
1100 University

12th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 267

Discount brokerage and mutual funds

National Bank Securities Inc.
1100 University

10th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 2G7

National Bank Discount Brokerage Inc.
1100 University

7th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 2G7

Altamira Financial Services Ltd.
The Exchange Tower

130 King Street West

Suite 900

Toronto, Ontario M5X 1K9

Opus 2 Securities Inc.
141 Adelaide Street West
Suite 330

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3L5

Financial services

National Bank Insurance Firm Inc.
1100 University

12th Floor

Montreal, Quebec H3B 2G7

Natbank, National Association
4031 Dakwood

Plaza Oakwood

Hollywood, FL 33020

U.S.A.

Putnam Lovell NBF Securities inc.
65 East 55th Street
New York, NY 10022

NBF Private Equity Holdings Inc.
501 Deep Valley Drive

Suite 300

Rolling Hills Estate, CA 90274

NB Capital Corporation
125 West 55th Street
New York, NY 10019

NBC Global Risk Management Inc,
700 Louisiana Street

Suite 3905

Houston, TX 77002

Bahamas

National Bank of Canada {Internationat} Limited

Goodman's Bay Corporate Center
West Bay Street

P.0. Box N-3015

Nassau

ited Kingdom = 1 7

NBC Financial (U.K.) Ltd.
71 Fenchurch Street
11th Floor

London EC3M 4HD

Putnam Lovell NBF Securities Inc.
130 Jermyn Street, St. James's
London SW1Y 4UR

Principal Subsidiaries and Representative Offices Abroad

_Switzerland i

NBF International SA
15, rue du Cendrier
Suite 1201

Geneva

NBC Trade Finance Limited
7/F Citic Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

Offices and'Branche

Representative offices

Paris

123, avenue des Champs-Elysées
75008 Paris

France

Hong Keng

3903 Jardine House
1 Connaught Place
Central

Hong Kong

China

Branches

71 Fenchurch Street
11th Floor

London, United Kingdom
EC3M 4HD

125 West 55th Street
22nd Floor

New York, NY 10019
U.S.A

Goodman's Bay Corporate Center
West Bay Street

P.0. Box N-3015

Nassau. Bahamas

4031 Oakwood
Plaza Oakwood
Hollywoed, FL 33020
U.S.A

1231 South Federal Highway
Pompano Beach, FL 33062
USA
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Information for Shareholders

The Bank's share capital consists of comman shares and twao series of
First Preferred Shares, Series 13 and 15. ‘

Stock Exchange Listings ’
The common shares of the Bank as well as the First Preferred Shares,
Series 13 and 15 and notes are listed on The Toronto Stock Exchange.

[sock exchangewsmgs ————
Newspaper
Issue or Class Ticker Symbols Abbreviations
Common Shares NA Nat Bk or Natl Bk
First Preferred Shares
Series 13 NA.PR.J Nat Bk 513 or Natl Bk s13
Series 15 NA.PR.K Nat Bk 515 or Natl Bk 515
Notes NANT.J
NANT.K
NA.NT.0

Dividend dates in fiscal 2004-2005

{Subject to approval by the Board of Directors of the Bank]

Ex-dividend dates
Commaon Shares
December 23, 2004
March 22, 2005
June 23, 2005
September 20, 2005

Record dates Payment dates

December 27, 2004
March 24, 2005
June 27, 2005
September 22, 2005

February 1, 2005
May 1,2005 *

August 1, 2005

November 1, 2005

First Preferred Shares, Series 13 and 15:
January 5, 2005

April 6, 2005

July 6, 2005

QOctober 5, 2005

January 7, 2005
April 8, 2008
July 8, 2005
October 7, 2005

February 15, 2005
May 15, 2005
August 15, 2005
Navember 15, 2005

Dividends declared in fiscal 2003-2004

Common Shares
Dividend

Ex-dividend dates Record dates Payment dates per share
December 23, 2003 December 29, 2003 February 1, 2004 $0.33
March 23, 2004 March 25, 2004 May 1, 2004 $0.33
June 24, 2004 June 28,2004 August 1, 2004 $0.38
September 21, 2004 September 23,2004 November 1, 2004 $0.38
First Preferred Shares, Series 13 and 15

Dividend
Ex-dividend per share
dates Record dates Payment dates Series 13 Series 15
January 7, 2004 January 9, 2004 February 15, 2004 $0.40 90365625
Aprit 7, 2004 Aprit 12, 2004 May 15, 2004 $0.40  $0.365625
July 7, 2004 July 9, 2004 August 15, 2004 $0.40 $0.365625
October 6, 2004 October 8, 2004 November 15, 2004 $0.40  $0.385625

Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan

Under the Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan, holders of
common shares or preferred shares of the Bank may invest in common
shares of the Bank without paying a commission or administration fee.

Participants in the Plan may acquire shares by reinvesting cash dividends
paid on shares held by them or by making optional cash payments of a
minimum of $500 per cash payment, up to $5,000 per quarter.

For additionat information, contact the Registrar, National Bank Trust Inc.
at 1-800-341-1419 or {514] 871-7171.

Direct Deposit

Shareholders may elect to have their dividends deposited by electronic
funds transfer directly to their bank account at any financial institution
that is a member of the Canadian Payments Association.

To do so, they must send a written request to the Transfer Agent, National
Bank Trust Inc.

Quarterly Report Publication Dates in Fiscal 2004-2005

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

February 24, 2005
May 26, 2005
August 25, 2005
December 8, 2005

Head Office Transfer Agent and Registrar

National Bank of Canada
National Bank Tower

600 de La Gauchetiére West
Montreal, Quebec H3B 41.2
Telephone: [514) 394-5000
Telex: 0525181

National Bank Trust Inc.

Share Ownership Management
1100 University, 9th Floor
Montreal, Quebec H3B 2G7
Telephone: {514} 871-7171
1-800-341-1419

(Nabacan Montreal] Fax: (514) 871-7442
www.nbc.ca
For any correspondence:
National Bank Trust Inc.
Share Ownership Management
P.0. Box B88, Station B
Montreal, Quebec
Canada H3B 929

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Holders of Common Shares of the Bank will be
held on Wednesday, March 2, 2005, at 9:30 a.m., Eastern time, at the
Fairmont The Queen Elizabeth Hotel, 900 René-Lévesque West, Montreal,
Quebec, Canada.

Public Accountability Statement

National Bank of Canada will publish its 2004 Social Responsibility Report
in early March 2005. The document will be available on its website at
www.nbc.ca.
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File No. 82-3764

NATIONAL
BANK
OF CANADA

FORM OF PROXY

COMMON SHARES
ANNUAL MEETING - MARCH 2, 2005

S SHEA BUEIRE

The undersigned shareholder of NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA [the "Bank”) hereby appoints-Jean Douville, failing whom Paul Gobeil, failing whom
Réal Raymond, or instead of the foregoing, , as proxyholder to attend and act for and on behalf of the undersigned
at the ANNUAL MEETING OF HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES OF THE BANK TO BE HELD ON MARCH 2, 2005 AT 9:30 A.M. [Eastern time) [the "Meeting”)
and at any continuation thereof after an adjournment, with the power of substitution and with all the powers which the undersigned could exercise with
respect to said shares if personally present at the Meeting. The shares are to be voted, on any ballot, in accordance with the instructions given below:

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS .. - /-
Management of the Bank recommends voting FOR items 1 and 2 below. Management of the Bank recommends voting AGAINST iterns 3 to 7 below.
1. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 3. SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL NO.1 [CJFor [ AGAINST

PROPOSED NOMINEES:

o Tga'w;e,;ég‘gj%;;;;é 88 < Marcel Dutit 4. SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL NO. 2 [JFor [] AGAINST
02 - Pierre Bourgie . ) 09 - Jean Gautin-" .~
03 - Gérard Coulombe - "~ 10-Paul Gobeil.+ 7 5. SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL NO. 3 [JFor [] AGAINST
04 - Bernard Cyr - 11- Réal Raymond .
05 - Shirley A, Dawe -+ 12-RoseannRunte . 6. SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL NO. 4 FOR [] AGAINST
06 - Nicole Diamond-Gélinas 13 - Marc P. Tellier. ' O O
07 - Jean Douvill o ey

L e 7. SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL NO. 5 [JForR [ AGAINST

TICK ONLY ONE BOX {X]

[] Vote FOR alt proposed nominees The text of the shareholder proposals is set out in Schedule A of the Management
or Proxy Circutar.

[C] ABSTAIN from voting for the entire slate of proposed nominees
or

7] ABSTAIN from voting for one or more individual nominees*

* WRITE BELOW ONLY THE NUMBERI(S) OF THE NOMINEE(S] FORWHICH
YOU ABSTAIN FROM VOTING:

2. APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR [JFor [JABSTAIN

THE INSTRUCTIONS APPEARING OVERLEAF ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS FORM OF PROXY. PLEASE READ THEM CAREFULLY.

DATE: SIGNATURE OF SHAREHOLDER:

This proxy is solicited by the management of the Bank.

PLEASE COMPLETE, DATE, SIGN AND RETURN THE FORM OF PROXY TO NATIONAL BANK TRUST INC. BY MAIL IN THE ENCLOSED POSTAGE-PAID
ENVELOPE OR BY FAX TO {514} 871-3673 NO LATER THAN 5:00 P.M. (EASTERN TIME] ON FEBRUARY 28, 2005.

SEE INSTRUCTIONS OVERLEAF




INSTRUCTIONS

SIGNATURE

This form of proxy must be signed by the shareholder or by the sharehotder's duly authorized agent. If the shareholder is a legal entity, an estate or a trust,
the form of proxy must be signed by a duly authorized officer or agent of the legal entity, estate or trust. Signatories of the form of proxy must specify in
what capacity they are signing.

ASSUMPTION REGARDING THE SIGNING DATE
if the farm of proxy is not dated in the space provided, the form of proxy will be deemed to bear the same date as the date it was mailed or faxed.

PROXIES

Subject to voting right restrictions prescribed by the Bank Act {Canada), the shareholder has the right to appoint as proxyholder a person other than one
of the persons designated on the front of the form of proxy and may do so by striking out the names indicated and inserting the name of the person chosen
in the blank space provided. The proxyholder is not required to be a shareholder of the Bank.

VOTING INSTRUCTIONS
The proxyholder identified on the front of the form of proxy will exercise the voting rights attached to the common shares, in accordance with the
instructions given.

If no instructions are given, the voting rights attached to the common shares will be exercised by the proxyholder who is a director of the Bank by voting
as follows: FOR items 1 and 2 and AGAINST items 3 to 7. If no instructions are given, the voting rights attached to the common shares witl be exercised
at the discretion of any other proxyholder with respect to such matters.

The form of proxy confers on the designated proxyholder a discretionary power in relation to any changes proposed with regard to the items set out therein
or any other business which may properly come before the Meeting.

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Shareholders have the option of voting FOR all the nominees or of ABSTAINING fram voting for the entire slate of nominees or for one or more nominees.
Shareholders who abstain from vating for certain nominees are presumed to have voted for all the other nominees.

VALIDITY
In order to be valid, the form of proxy must be returned by mail in the postage-paid envelope provided to National Bank Trust Inc., Share Ownership Management,
P.C. Box 888, Station B, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 929, or by fax to (514} 871-3673 no later than 5:00 p.m. [Eastern time) on February 28, 2005.

Any proxy previously given is hereby revoked.

REVOCATION
Shareholders may revoke a proxy by delivering a written notice to that effect signed by them or by their duly authorized agent to:
i the Head Office of the Bank, c/o Corporate Secretary's Office, National Bank of Canada, 600 de La Gauchetiére West, 4th Floor, Montreal, Quebec,
Canada H3B 4L.2, no later than the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting or any continuation thereof after an adjournment; or
ii) the Secretary of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or any continuation thereof after an adjournment,

CONFIDENTIALITY OF VOTES

In order to protect the confidential nature of voting by proxy. the votes exercised by proxy will be received and compiled for the Meeting by National Bank Trust
Inc., the transfer agent and registrar of the Bank. National Bank Trust Inc. will submit a copy of the form of proxy to the Bank only when a shareholder clearly
wishes to express a personal opinion to management or when it is required for legal reasons.

PLEASE REFER TO THE MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR WHICH ACCOMPANIES THIS FORM OF PROXY. FOR ANY INFORMATION REGARDING THIS FORM
OF PROXY, PLEASE CALL 1-877-288-1230.
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NATIONAL
BANK
OF CANADA

January 13, 2005

Dear Shareholder,

We are pleased to invite you to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of National Bank of Canada to be held
at 9:30 a.m., on Wednesday, March 2, 2005, at the Fairmont The Queen Elizabeth Hotel, 900 René-Lévesque
Boulevard West, Montreal, Quebec.

At this Annuat Meeting, you will have an opportunity to consider certain information about the Bank and you will
be called upon to vote on the business set out in this Notice of Annual Meeting.

We also invite you to consult the attached Management Proxy Circular, which contains important information, in
particular, about exercising your voting rights.

Sincerely,

//MQ/J_/M%

Jean Douville Réal Raymond
Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer



NATIONAL
BANK
OF CANADA

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Date: Wednesday, March 2, 2005
Time:  9:30 a.m. [Eastern time)
Place:  Fairmont The Queen Elizabeth Hotel

900 René-Lévesque Boulevard West
Montreal, Quebec
Canada

Business of the Meeting:

1.

AR

Receive the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended October 31, 2004 and the auditors’
report thereon;

Elect directors;

Appoint the auditor;

Consider shareholder proposals, as set out in Schedule A to the Circular; and

Transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting.

Holders of record of common shares of the Bank at 5:00 p.m. on January 13, 2005 are entitled to receive the
Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders. On that date, 168,519,379 common shares of the Bank were issued
and outstanding. Each holder of common shares is entitled to cast one vote per share held, unless restricted
in the Bank Act [Canadal.

By order of the Board of Directors,

Linda Caty
Vice-President and Corporate Secretary

January 13, 2005

Holders of common shares of the Bank who are unable to attend the Meeting are requested to complete, date
and sign the enclosed form of proxy. Proxies may be returned by mail in the postage-paid envelope provided to
National Bank Trust Inc., Share Ownership Management, P.0. Box 888, Station B, Montreal, Quebec, Canada
H3B 929 or sent by fax to (514) 871-3673. In order to be valid, the form of proxy must reach National Bank Trust Inc.
no later than 5:00 p.m. on February 28, 2005.

For any questions regarding the Circular, the form of proxy or the exercise of voting rights, please call
1-877-288-1230.
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As at December 2%, 2004 [unless otherwise indicated)

SECTION 1

SOLICITATION OF PROXIES

This Management Proxy Circular {the “Circular”) is provided in connection with the solicitation by the management of National
Bank of Canada (the “Bank”} of proxies to be used at the Annual Meeting of Holders of Common Shares of the Bank [the
“Meeting”], for the purposes indicated in the Notice of Meeting, to be held at 9:30 a.m. [Eastern time) on Wednesday,
March 2, 2005, at the Fairmont The Queen Elizabeth Hotel, 900 René-Lévesque Boulevard West, Montreal, Quebec, and at
any continuation thereof after an adjournment. The sclicitation of proxies will be done by mail, electronically, by telephone or
in person. Employees, officers, directors or agents of the Bank will solicit the proxies. The Bank will also use the services of
an outside agency, Georgeson Shareholder Canada Inc., to solicit proxies on its behalf. The Bank estimates the cost for such
solicitation will be approximately $33,000, which it will assume.

VOTING COMMON SHARES

Holders of record of common shares of the Bank at 5:00 p.m. on January 13, 2005 or their duly authorized agents are entitled to
receive the Notice of Annual Meeting and to vote at the Meeting. After such date, any person who acquires common shares of the
Bank must request, no later than 10 days before the Meeting, that their name be included on the register of shareholders of the
Bank in order to be entitled to vote. To do so, such person must contact the transfer agent by writing to National Bank Trust Inc.,
Share Ownership Management, P.0. Box 888, Station B, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 929, or by calling one of the following
numbers: 1-800-341-1419 or (514) 871-7171.

On January 13, 2005, the date the register of the Bank was closed, 168,519,379 common shares of the Bank were issued and
outstanding.

Holders of common shares are entitled to cast one vote per share held. However, the Bank Act [Canadal (the "Act”) contains provisions
which specifically prohibit the exercise of voting rights attached to the shares of the Bank held by the government of Canada or a
province or a government of a foreign country, as well as any agency thereof.

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Bank, no individual or corporation beneficially owns, directly or indirectly,
or exercises control or direction over common shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the common
shares of the Bank.

Holders of common shares of the Bank may vote in person at the Meeting or may complete, sign and return the enclosed form of
proxy. This form of proxy authorizes a proxyholder to represent and to vote on behalf of the holder of common shares at the Meeting.

NON-REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS

The names of shareholders whose shares are held in the name of a broker or other intermediary do not appear on the list of
shareholders of the Bank. To vote, these shareholders must ask the broker or other intermediary to send them the material
relating to the Meeting, complete the request for voting instructions sent by the broker or other intermediary and, if they wish
to vote in person, insert their name as the proxyholder.

APPOINTMENT OF PROXYHOLDERS

The proxyholders designated in the enclosed form of proxy are directors and/or officers of the Bank. If a sharehclder wishes to
appoint a proxyholder other than one of the persons designated in the form of proxy, the shareholder may do so by striking out
the names appearing thereon and inserting the name of such person in the blank space provided. If the shareholder is a legal
entity, an estate or a trust, the form of proxy must be signed by a duly authorized officer or agent. A proxyholder is not required
to be a shareholder of the Bank. In order to be valid, the form of proxy must be returned by mail in the postage-paid envelope
provided to National Bank Trust Inc., Share Ownership Management, P.0. Box 888, Station B, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 929,
or by fax to {514) 871-3473, no later than 5:00 p.m. on February 28, 2005.
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SECTION 1

VOTING BY PROXY
Common shares represented by a proxy are to be voted by the proxyholder designated in the enclosed form of proxy as instructed
by the shareholder.

If noinstructions are given, the voting rights attached to the common shares will be exercised by the proxyholder who is a director
and/or officer of the Bank by voting as follows:

*  FOR the election of all nominees proposed as director by the management of the Bank;
*  FOR the appointment of the auditor;
¢ AGAINST the shareholder proposals set out in Schedule A to the Circular.

lf no instructions are given, any other proxyholder will have discretionary authority when exercising the voting rights attached
to the common shares concerning these matters.

The proxy confers on the proxyholder designated therein discretionary authority with respect to any proposed amendments or
variations to the matters set out therein and any other business which may properly come before the Meeting. Any proxy
previously given is thereby revoked.

As at the date hereof, management of the Bank is not aware of any amendment or other matter which may properly come before
the Meeting.

REVOCATION OF PROXIES
Shareholders may revoke a proxy by delivering a written notice to the Bank to that effect signed by them or their duly authorized
agents to:

* the Head Office of the Bank, c/o Corporate Secretary's Office, National Bank of Canada, 600 de La Gauchetiere West,
4th Floor, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4L2, no later than the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting,
namely at 5:00 p.m. on March 1, 2005, or any continuation thereof after an adjournment; or

» the Secretary of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting, or any continuation thereof after an adjournment.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF VOTES

In order to protect the confidential nature of voting by proxy, the votes exercised by proxy are received and compiled for the
Meeting by National Bank Trust Inc., the transfer agent and registrar of the Bank. National Bank Trust Inc. submits a copy of
the form of proxy to the Bank only when a shareholder clearly wishes to express a personal opinion to management or when
necessary to comply with legal requirements.
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SECTION 2

T

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITORS® REPORT

The consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the financial year ended October 31, 2004 and the auditors’ report
thereon are included in the Annual Report of the Bank, which has been mailed to shareholders with this Circular.

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

This section presents the professional experience of the nominees for election to the Board of Directors (the “Board”] of the
Bank. The names of the public corporations on whose boards the nominees currently serve or have served as director in the

past five years are also indicated.

Management of the Bank recommends voting FOR the election of all the nominees to the Board whose biographies follow.

Each director elected at the Meeting will hold office untit the close of the subsequent annual meeting of the Bank.

Lawrence S. Bloomberg
Toronto, Ontario

Mr. Bloomberg, 62, is an advisor to National
Bank Financial Inc., where he served as Co-
Chairman of the Board and Co-Chief Executive
Officer from October 1999 to October 2000.
Prior to that, Mr. Bloornberg was Chairman of
the Board and President and Chief Executive
Officer of First Marathon [nc., 3 company he
founded in 1979 and which was integrated with
National Bank Financial Inc. in 1999,

Mr. Bloomberg has extensive expertise in the
financial sector, both nationally and internationally.
He contributed to the growth of several financial companies before starting his
own business and becoming one of the Bank’s experts in financial matters. As
a result of his involvement in several business organizations, he brings valuable
insight and a unique perspective to the Board concerning developments in the
financial sector in Canada and abroad.

Mr. Bioomberg currently serves as Chairman of the Board of Mount Sinai Hospital.
In the past five years, he served on the board of Cinram International Inc.

Director since: August 1999

Common shareholdings!!l: 623,325

Pierre Bourgie
Outremont, Quebec

Mr. Bourgie, 48, has been President and Chief
Executive Officer since 1996 of Société
Financiére Bourgie Inc., a diversified
investment company, and President of
Montreal Partners Inc., a merchant bank
specializing in business financing. He is
actively involved in a number of economic,
community and cultural organizations.

As a business leader and a director of several
companies, Mr. Bourgie brings to the Board
his business management skills as well as
a keen understanding of corporate governance and international business
management.

Mr. Bourgie currently serves on the boards of Saputo Inc. and Canam Group
Inc. In the past five years, he served as a director of Hydro-Québec.

Director since: March 1998
Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
Member of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee

Common shareholdings: 108,513

{1} Common shareholdings include common shares beneficially owned, controlled or directed.
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Gérard Coutombe
Sainte-Marthe, Quebec

Mr. Coutombe, 57, has been a Senior Partner
of Desjardins Ducharme Stein Monast, General
Partnership, since 1977, where he practises
business law. He was appointed Chairman of
the Board of the firm in 2000. Mr. Coulombe is
also Chairman Emeritus of Lex Mundi Ltd., a
global association of more than 150 independent
law firms. He was formerly with the Department
of Finance Canada where he was responsible
for negotiating international tax treaties.

Mr. Coulombe sits on the boards of FMI
Acquisition fnc., National Bank Life Insurance Company, National Bank Group
Inc. and National Bank Acquisition Holding Inc.

He has vast expertise in business management and corporate law, especially
regarding financial institutions and crown corporations, as well as the creation
of financial and industrial consortiums. He also has a solid understanding
of corporate governance matters.

Inthe past five years, Mr. Coulombe served as a director of Sodisco-Howden
Group Inc., which was privatized in December 2004,

Director since:
Member of the Human Resources Committee

February 1994

Bernard Cyr

Cap Shediac, New Brunswick

Mr. Cyr, 56, has been President of Cyr Holdings
tnc., a holding company in the hotel, commercial
real estate, restaurant and entertainment
sectors, since 1986, and President of Dooly's
inc., an entertainment industry franchisor, since
1993. Mr. Cyr serves on the boards of several
companies and is invalved with charitable
organizations. He was a member of the Bank’s
Atlantic Canada business development
committee from 1996 to 2001.

In addition to his entrepreneurial vision, Mr. Cyr
brings to the Board varied experience in the management of small and
medium-sized enterprises as well as a thorough understanding of regional
markets.

Mr. Cyr currently serves on the board of the New Brunswick Power Corporation.

Director since:
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

August 2001

Toronto, Ontario

Ms. Dawe, 58, is a Corporate Director and has
been President of Shirtey Dawe Associates Inc.,
a TYoronto-based management consulting
company specializing in the retail sector, since
1986. From 1969 to 1985, she held progressively
senior executive positions with Hudson's Bay
Company.

Her wide management and consumer marketing
experience brought Ms. Dawe to the boards of
directors of numerous public and private
companies in Canada and the United States. Her
expertise in the retait sector led to her appointment on industry-specific public
task forces and to academic and not-for-profit boards.

Ms. Dawe brings to the Board a deep understanding of consumer trends and
winning business strategies in the North American retait industry coupted with
a keen appreciation of corporate governance issues.

Ms. Dawe currently serves on the boards of OshKosh B'Gosh, Inc.,
The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc. and Henry Birks & Sons Inc. in the past five years,
she served as a director of Moore Wallace incorporated, formerly known as
Moore Corporation Limited, and Silcorp Limited.

Director since:

Member of the Human Resources Committee
Member of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee
Commen shareheldings: 3,560
DSUs: 3,558

July 1988

Common shareholdings: 3,800
Deferred stock units [“DSUs”]i": 9,651 Common sharehotdings: 6,787
Shirley A. Dawe Nicole Diamond-Gélinas

Saint-Barnabé-Nord, Quebec

Ms. Diamond-Gélinas, 60, has been President
and General Manager of Aspasie Inc., a
manufacturer of colour charts, since 1976 and
is President of Plastifil Inc., a plastics extrusion
and injection molding company. She also heads
a company specializing in the sale, leasing and
servicing of motor vehicles. Actively involved in
her region’s business community, she is a
member of the Chambre de commerce de
Trois-Rivieres and was a member of the
Mauricie business development committee of
the Bank from 1992 to 1998.

Ms. Diamond-Gélinas serves on the board of National Bank Life Insurance
Company.

She has first-hand experience of the realities and challenges facing small
and medium-sized manufacturers as well as a solid grasp of the economic
and social dynamics of regional markets.

Director since: March 1998
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

Common shareholdings: 21,933
DSUs: 396

(11 For more information, please refer to the "Forms of Remuneration of Directors of the Bank™ section of this Circular.
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Jean Douville
Bedford, Quebec

Mr. Douvitle, 41, has been Chairman of the
Board of the Bank since March 10, 2004. He is
also Chairman of the Board of UAP inc., a
company specializing in the distribution and
reconditioning of replacement parts and
accessories for cars, trucks and industrial
machinery. Mr. Douville was called to the
Quebec Barin 1968 and began working for UAP
Inc. in 1971. He became President of the
company in 1981, and was subseqguently
appointed Chief Executive Officer in 1982 and
then Chairman of the Board in 1994.

Mr. Douville brings to the Board in-depth knowledge of & key industrial sector
in North America as well as experience in managing a large corporation.

Before serving as Chairman of the Board of the Bank, he was successively
Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Chair of the Conduct
Review and Corporate Governance Committee.

He currently serves on the board of Genuine Parts Company. In the past five
years, he served as a director of Leroux Steel Inc. and Van Houtte Inc.

Director since:

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Common shareholdings: 5,003
DSUs: 5,928

November 1991

Marcel Dutil

Qutremont, Quebec

Mr. Dutil, 62, is Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of Canam Group Inc. He is the
founder of this industrial company, which mainly
designs and manufactures frames, joists and
steel decks.

In building his business from the ground up,
Mr. Dutil has acquired solid experience in the
areas of management and market development,
especially international markets.

Mr. Dutil currently serves on the boards of
Canam Group Inc. and The Jean Coutu Group [PJC] Inc. In the past five years,
he served as a director of Leroux Steel Inc., Donohue Inc., MAAX Inc., which
was privatized in June 2004, and Total Containment Inc.

Director since: January 1982
Member of the Human Resources Committee
Common shareholdings: 20,331

DSUs: 6,212

Jean Gaulin
San Antonio, Texas, United States

Mr. Gaulin, 62, is a corporate director. He was
Chairman of the Board of Ultramar Diamond
Shamrock Corporation from January 1, 2000
to January 1, 2002, and also President and Chief
Executive Officer from January 1, 1999 to
January 1, 2002. In 1996, following the merger
of Ultramar Corporation and Diamond
Shamrock Inc., he was named Vice-Chairman
of the Board, President and Chief Operating
Officer of Ultramar Diamond Shamrock.
Prior to the merger, he was Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of Ultramar
Corporation. He is also involved in a number of charitable organizations.

Mr. Gaulin was a member of the Board of Directors of National Bank Financial &
Co. Inc. untit January 2, 2005.

He brings (o the Board expertise in the oil industry and sclid experience in
managing a large North American corporation.

Mr. Gaulin currently serves on the boards of Crane Co., RONA Inc. and Saputo
Inc. inthe past five years, Mr. Gaulin served as a director of Abitibi-Consolidated
Inc. and Uttramar Diamond Shamrock Corporation.

Director since:

Chair of the Human Resources Committee

Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
Common shareholdings: 23,442
DSUs: 7,018

October 2001

Paul Gobeit, FCA

Ile-des-Soeurs, Quebec

Mr. Gobeil, 62, is Vice-Chairman of the Board
of Metra Inc. and Chairman of the Board of
Export Development Canada. He has been a
Member of the Ordre des comptables agréés
du Québec since 1965 and a Fellow since 1986.
From 1974 to 1985, he held a number of
executive positions al Provigo Inc. Elected as
the MNA for Verdun in 1985, he was, until 1989,
successively Minister Responsible for
Administration, President of the Treasury Board
and Minister of International Affairs in the
Quebec government.

Mr. Gobeil was a member of the Board of Directors of National Bank Financial &
Co. tnc. until January 2, 2005.

His corporate governance, financial and accounting management and
corporate strategy expertise make him an invaluable asset to the Board.

Mr. Gobeil currently serves on the boards of Hudson's Bay Company, Yellow
Pages Income Fund, Canam Group Inc. and Metro Inc. Inthe past five years,
he served as a direclor of BridgePoint International Inc., DiagnoCure inc.,
Nstein Technologies Inc., and MAAX Inc., which was privatized in June 2004,

Director since: February 1994
Chair of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee
Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

Common shareholdings: 10,441
DSUs: 16,168
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Réal Raymond
lle-des-Soeurs, Quebec

Mr. Raymond, 54, has been President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Bank since March 2002.
He is responsible for the strategies, orientations
and development of the Bank and its subsidiaries,
Mr. Raymond has held a number of positions
since joining the Bank in 1970, including that of
Senior Vice-President ~ Treasury and Financial
Markets from 1992 to 1997. in 1997, he joined
Lévesque Beaubien Geoffrion Inc., now National
Bank Financial Inc., where he served as Senior
Executive Vice-President - Corporate Financing
while maintaining his responsibilities as Senior
Vice-President at the Bank. In November 1999,
he was named President - Personal and Commercial Bank and, in July 2001,
President and Chief Operating Officer of the Bank.

Mr. Raymond chairs the boards of two of the Bank's subsidiaries, National
Bank Life Insurance Company and National Bank Trust Inc. He is atso President
of National Bank Group Inc. and National Bank Acquisition Holding Inc.

Mr. Raymond has an MBA from the Université du Québec 3 Montréal (UQAM].

He is involved in many professional and community organizations.
Mr. Raymond is the Vice-Chair of the board of directors of the Conference
Board of Canada. He serves on the board of directors of the Fondation de
U Université du Québec a Montréal, St. Mary’'s Hospital Foundation and the
Montreal Symphony Orchestra. He is also President of The Montreal Museum
of Fine Arts Foundation.

Mr. Raymond brings to the Board his diverse expertise in the field of banking
as well as an in-depth understanding of business operations and strategies
in several sectors of activity.

Roseann Runte
Nerfolk, Virginia, United States

Ms. Runte, 56, has been President of Old
Dominion University in Norfolk, Virginia since
July 1, 2001. She also served as President of
Victoria University in Toronto from 1994 to 2001.
She has a Ph.D. in French from the University
of Kansas. She is the author of many books and
articles, especially on education and economic
and cultural development. Ms. Runte chairs
the Commission on International Education.
She is a member of the executive committee
of the Club of Rome and also serves on the
board of the Virginia Advanced Ship Building
information Carrier Design Center. In the past, she sat on various boards of
directors in the literary, cultural and economic development sectors, and
she served as President of the Canadian Cammission for Unesco from 1992
to 1996. She also served on the board of Expo 2000 in Germany.

Drawing on her management experience in the Canadian university milieu
and her involvement with boards in Canada and abroad, Ms. Runte brings to
the Board her vision of the issues facing markets in a globalized business
environment.

Ms. Runte serves on the board of The Jean Coutu Group [PJC} Inc.

Montreal, Quebec

Mr. Tellier, 34, has been President and Chief
Executive Officer of Yellow Pages Group,
publisher of tetephone directories in Canada,
since 2001. He has held a number of
management positions in sales and finance
throughout his career, including Senior Vice-
President - Partnership Development at Bell
Canada. He was also President and Chief
Executive Officer of Sympatico-Lycos Inc., the
leading Canadian Internet portal. Mr. Tellier
was named one of Canada's "Top 40 under 407
for 2000 by The Globe and Mail and is committed
to a charitable organization in the Greater Montreal area.

Mr. Tellier brings to the Board management experience in the Canadian
communications and media industry.

Mr. Tellier also sits on the Board of the Yellow Pages Income Fund.

Director since: -
Common shareholdings: -

Director since: April 2001
Director since: November 1999 Member of the Conduct Review and Corpaorate Governance Committee
Common shareholdings: 29,640 Common shareholdings: 2,317
DSUs for officers!tl: 65,243 DSUs: . 4,579
Marc P. Tellier

{1} For more information, please refer to the “Total Compensation of Named Executive Officers of the Bank™ section of this Circular.
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To the knowledge of the Bank, no director of the Bank has been, in the 10 years prior to the date of this Circular, a director or
an officer of any other company, that while that person was acting in that capacity, (a} was the subject of a cease trade or similar
order or an order that denied it access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive
days, or {b} became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or became subject
to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver-manager or trustee
appointed to hold assets of the director, except for Marcel Dutit, who was on the board of directors of Total Containment inc.
when it was placed under the protection of Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on March 4, 2004.

For further information on the number of meetings held by the Board and its committees as well as the attendance of directors
at such meetings, and their remuneration during the most recently completed financial year, please refer to the "Corporate
Governance” section of this Circular.

Suzanne Leclair and Jean Turmel will not be standing for re-election. E.A. (Dee) Parkinson-Marcoux resigned as a director on
December 17, 2004.

APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

On the advice of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board, the Bank's management recommends voting FOR
the appointment of the accounting firm Samson Bélair/Deloitte & Touche, s.E.N.C.R.L. ["SB/DT"] as auditor of the Bank for the
financial year commencing November 1, 2004 and ending Cctober 31, 2005.

SB/DT has served as auditor of the Bank during the previous five financial years, whereas PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ["PwC")
served as auditor of the Bank in 1999, 2000, 2002 and 2003.

in order to be passed, the proposal regarding the appointment of the auditor must be approved by a majority of votes cast by
the holders of common shares present or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Meeting.

The chart below sets out the fees billed by SB/DT and PwC to the Bank and its subsidiaries for various services rendered during
the past two financial years.

AUDITOR FEES

2004 2003
SB/DT ($) SB/DT (3] PwC ($)
Audit servicesl2l 3,691,258 2,111,504 1,652,369
Audit-related services(3! ' - 145,209 25,900
Tax consulting!4) 1,242,348 1,995,816 105,925
Other services!S 40,066 126,569 361,096
Total 4,973,672 4,379,098 2,145,290

(1) Fees for 2003 are presented taking into account the new, recently published Canadian Securities Administrators' requirements, which clarify
the definition of the components of the various service categories.

(2] Audit fees include fees for services related to the audit of the Bank's flnanual statements or other services that are normally provided by the
external auditors in connection with statutory or regulatory filings or engagements. These fees also include fees for comfort letters, statutory
audits, attest services, consents and assistance with the preparation and review of documents filed with regulators, as well as in connection
with the interpretation of accounting and financial reporting standards.

(3] Audit-related fees include assurance and related services that are performed by the Bank's auditors. These services also include accounting
consultations in connection with acquisitions and divestitures and internal control reviews.

(4)  Tax consulting fees include fees for assistance with tax planning, during restructurings and when taking a tax position, as well as preparation
and review of income and other tax returns and tax opinions.

{5)  Other fees include fees for financial services (business recovery), risk management services, legislative and/or regulatory compliance services
and merger integration services.




NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA

[j?w@ | Management Proxy Circular

SECTION 2

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS
Shareholder proposals were received by the Bank within the time limits prescribed in the Act.

Atranslation of the complete text of the proposals on which the shareholders will be voting is provided in Schedule A to this Circular.

Management of the Bank recommends voting AGAINST shareholder proposals Nos. 1 to 5 for the reasons set out at the end of
these proposals.

Inorder to be passed, these proposals must be approved by a majority of the votes cast by the holders of common shares present
or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Meeting.

Any proposal a sharehotder would tike to have included at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held in 2006 must be
received no later than 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time] on December 2, 2005.

SECTION 3

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS OF THE BANK

In order to provide competitive remuneration and recognize the ongoing and increasing complexity of the Bank’s business, the
Board of the Bank, on the recommendation of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, has adopted a
remuneration program for directors.

The purpose of the remuneration program for directors is to provide the Bank with the tools required to recruit and retain
gualified individuals to serve as members of the Board and contribute to the Bank’s success. The program also aims to align
the interests of the members of the Board of Directors more closely with those of the Bank’s shareholders. The Bank offers
directors remuneration that is in line with that of its reference market.

Directors are required to hold common shares of the Bank or DSUs valued at not less than five times the amount of their annual
retainer as a director of the Bank. They have a period of five years from the date they take office to attain this level. ADSU is a
right which has a value equal to the market price of a common share of the Bank at the time the DSUs are credited, i.e., quarterly,
to an account in the director's name. Additional DSUs are credited to that account when dividends are paid on common shares.
DSUs can only be cashed when the director leaves the Board.

Directors may choose to receive their annual retainer and meeting fees in the form of cash and/or common shares and/or DSUs.

Directors receive the following fees for serving on the Boards of Directors and committees of the Bank and its subsidiaries
designated below:

National Bank of Canada
Annual retainer of a director :
e Incash: ' $ 25,000

¢ Incommon shares: $ 7,500
Annual retainer of the Chairman of the Board: $ 150,000
Committee chair annual retainers

¢ Incash: $ 10,000
e Incommon shares: $ 5,000
Committee member annual retainers (including committee chairs)

e Incash: $ 3,500
¢ Incommon shares: $ 2500
Board and committee meeting fees: $ 1500
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National Bank Financial & Co. Inc.
Annual retainer of a director

¢ Incash: $ 15.000
Committee chair annual retainers

¢ Incash: $ 7500
Committee member annual retainers lincluding committee chairs)

* Incash: $ 2500
Board and committee meeting fees: $ 1,500
National Bank Life Insurance Company

Annual retainer of a director

* incash: $ 6,000
Committee chair annual retainers

* Incash: $ 3,000
Committee member annual retainers (including committee chairs)

*  |ncash: $ 1,800
Board and committee meeting fees: $ 1,000

National Bank Trust Inc.

Annual retainer of a director

s Incash: $
Committee chair annual retainers

. In cash: $
Committee member annual retainers [including committee chairs)

s Incash: $ 1,000
Board and committee meeting fees: $ 500

6,000

1,000

FMI Acquisition Inc.
Annual retainer of a director
* Incash: $ 500

For more information on the remuneration received by individual directors during the financial year, please refer to the "Corporate
Gavernance” section of this Circular.

OTHER REMUNERATION PAID TO A DIRECTOR

During the most recently completed financial year, only one director received, directly from one of the Bank's subsidiaries,
remuneration ather than that received in his capacity as a Bank director. Under a service contract entered into in February 2001
with National Bank Financial inc. and renewed in October 2002, Lawrence S. Bloomberg serves as advisor to National Bank
Financial and, as such, receives an annual retainer, commissions, a business development allowance and reimbursement for
various administrative expenses incurred when carrying out his duties. For the financial year ended October 31, 2004,
Mr. Bloomberg received a total of $1,593,306.

The directors of the Bank who are also officers of the Bank do not receive any remuneration in their capacity as directors of the
Bank or any of its subsidiaries. However, the Bank and its subsidiaries reimburse these directors for the expenses they incur
to attend meetings.
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COMPENSATION PAID TO OFFICERS

Report of the Human Resources Committee on the Compensation of Officers of the Bank

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present, in the following pages, the report of the Human Resources Committee on the Compensation of Officers
of the Bank.

The Board mandates the Human Resources Committee to supervise and approve the human resources policies and practices
of the Bank that support the Bank's performance objectives and shareholders’ interests.

More specifically, the Committee:

* reviews and comments on the Bank’'s management succession plan, executive succession planning and the profiles of the
Presidents, Senior Vice-Presidents and Vice-Presidents (the "Officers”] likely to be promoted;

¢ reviews the content and recommends that the Board adopt policies in matters of total compensation for employees and
Officers of the Bank while ensuring that they are in keeping with shareholders’ interests and the Bank's long-term growth;

e appraises the performance of the President and Chief Executive Officer and reviews the performance appraisals of the
other QOfficers submitted by the President and Chief Executive Officer;

¢ annually reviews the total compensation of all Officers based on their performance;

*  oversees the management of the pension plans and pool fund.

In exercising its role and responsibitities, the Committee applies four major corporate governance principles:

* Independence
The Committee analyzes the information and recommendations received, taking into consideration management’s
perspectives and shareholders’ interests. To this end, the Committee works directly with internal and external compensation
consultants and reviews the practices of widely held companies in Canada, including major financial institutions, to ensure
that the Bank provides competitive compensation to its Officers.

e Performance follow-up

Each year, the Committee follows up on the Officer performance appraisal program by:

- approving the performance objectives set at the beginning of the year. The objectives inctude criteria to benchmark
the Bank's financial performance against that of its peer group, monitoring the Bank's strategic plan, the customer
satisfaction level and human resources management indicators;

- periodically monitoring achievement of pre-determined performance objectives throughout the year and at the end
of the year;

- awarding incentive compensation that is clearly linked to the Bank’s performance objectives, as compared with the
performance of the other Canadian banks.

¢ Succession planning and development
The Committee oversees the Human Resources strategic planning and management succession program and annually
monitors the progress of Officers who have a key position in the Bank, as well as candidates identified in the succession
plan. The Committee is concerned with fostering the loyalty of key succession candidates by ensuring that their functions
are challenging, their compensation is competitive and their competencies are broadened.

¢ Quality of communications
The Committee considers it essential to inform shareholders of the work accomplished and decisions made during the
year and to show that its members act openly on behalf of shareholders and ensure that their interests are protected.

At the end of the financial year ended October 31, 2004, the Committee comprised five directors. The Committee is chaired by
myself. The other members are Gérard Coulombe, Shirley A. Dawe, Marcel Dutil and E.A. [Dee) Parkinson-Marcoux(!).

Jean Gaulin
Committee Chair

(1] E.A.{Dee) Parkinson-Marcoux resigned as a director and a member of the Human Resources Committee on December 17, 2004.
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Committee’s Achievements in the 2003-2004 Financial Year

During the 2003-2004 financial year, the Committee analyzed various strategic orientations relating to Officer compensation

and organizational issues. Mare specifically, the Committee:

e reviewed the total direct compensation of Bank Officers;

e approved the variable-compensation program of certain Officers of Nationat Bank Financial Group, which has been in effect
since November 1, 2004;

*  approved arestricted stock unit compensation program for certain Officers, which has been in effect since November 1, 2004,

»  carried out the performance appraisal of the President and Chief Executive Officer;

¢ examined the annual performance appraisals of the other Bank Cfficers submitted by the President and Chief Executive Officer;

*  examined the competency profile of the Officers in order to ensure succession planning and development of Bank Officers;

*  initiated a process to accelerate the preparation of a leadership development program at the Bank;

*  monitored, in particular, the succession of the President - Financial Markets, Treasury and Investment Bank;

* examined the opportunity to amend the Bank’s pension plan,

Principles Governing Officer Compensation
Compensation is one of the tools used by the Bank to attract, motivate and foster the loyalty of high-calibre Officers who are
focused on improving the performance of the Bank and generating value for shareholders.

The Committee sets total direct compensation at the median total direct compensation of the reference market, which comprises
widely held Canadian companies, including major financial institutions, adjusted to take into consideration characteristics
specific to the Bank. In doing so, the Committee solicits the opinion of external compensation specialists.

The recommendations of the Committee are based on the following guiding principles:

s the compensation of Officers is linked to the creation of shareholder value;

» the annual bonus program supports the Bank's strategic objectives and offers fully competitive total cash compensation,
taking into account the financial results of the Bank and its segments;

* the long-term variable compensation program aligns Officers’ interests with the long-term interests of the Bank’s
shareholders and the Bank's long-term growth;

e the proportion of variable compensation in relation to base salary increases in line with the function’s level of respaonsibility
and impact on the Bank’s results;

» employee benefits and the pension plan are comparable, on the whole, to those offered by the reference market.

Components of the Compensation of Officers of the Bank

The total direct compensation of Officers of the Bank consists of a cash component [i.e., base salary and an annuat bonus) and
long-term variable compensation, which is complemented by a benefits package. The target value of each of these components
{excluding benefits] varies in line with the level of responsibility. The base salary component may represent 17% to 58% of this
compensation; the annual bonus, 17% to 21%; and long-term variable compensation, 22% to 67%.

Base Salary .

The Committee reviews the base salary of each Officer annually, taking into account his or her level of responsibility, experience
and performance. To ensure that the base salaries of Officers are competitive, the Committee uses the median salaries of the
Bank's reference market, adjusted to take into consideration characteristics specific to the Bank. In 2004, the Committee
approved recommendations to adjust the base salaries of certain of its Officers in order to maintain them at the median salaries
of the Bank’s reference market. ‘

Variable Compensation Programs

Annual Bonus Program

The Bank offers an annual bonus program to all its employees. Under the terms of this program, the total bonus envelope to

be shared is catculated according to:

{11 the Bank's overall financial results (“Return on Equity” (ROE) and “Growth in Earnings per Share” (GEPS)] and those of its
business segments versus the objectives set at the beginning of the year;

{2) the Bank's financial performance compared with that of the five major Canadian banks.

For the President and Chief Executive Officer and the members of the Executive Committee, with the exception of G.F. Kym Anthony,
Jean Turmel and Louis Vachon, 80% of the envelope is created based on ROE and 20% on GEPS.
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Moreover, the bonus paid to each Cfficer, including the President and Chief Executive Officer, is based not only on the Bank’s
financial results, but also on such criteria as customer satisfaction, management guality and individual Officer performance.

Lastly, certain Officers in the Financial Markets segment participate in an annual bonus program based on the profitabitity of
their respective groups. Under this program, an amount equal to 30% of the bonus paid is deferred.

Deferred Stock Unit Plan for Officers

The objective of the Deferred Stock Unit Plan for Officers ["DSUs for Officers™} is to align the interests of certain Bank Officers
more closely with those of shareholders by tying a portion of their compensation to the future value of the Bank’s common
shares. A DSU for Officers is a right which has a value equal to the market closing price of a common share of the Bank on the
Toronto Stock Exchange on the day preceding the grant. Additional BSUs for Officers are credited to the Officer’s account and
are calculated proportionately to the dividends paid on common shares. DSUs for Officers may only be cashed when the Officer
retires or leaves the Bank. In general, the member may then request that all or some of his or her vested DSUs for Officers be
redeemed by filing up to eight notices of redemption of DSUs for Officers no later than December 1 of the first calendar year
after the calendar year in which the Officer ceased to be employed at the Bank.

In the case of the President - Financial Markets, Treasury and Investment Bank, 33% of his annual bonus is paid in the form of
DSUs for Officers. ‘

Since 2002, the President and Chief Executive Officer has been paid a portion [30%]) of his long-term compensation in the form
of DSUs for Officers replacing stock options in part. in addition, since 2003, the Senior Vice-Presidents on the Executive Committee
have been able, at their option, to receive up to 30% of their long-term compensation in the form of DSUs for Officers rather
than stock options.

Restricted Stock Unit Plan

A Restricted Stock Unit Plan {"RSU Plan”) was approved to ensure that the compensation of certain Officers is competitive and
to foster retention. Under the Plan, a fixed percentage of the annual bonus is paid in the form of RSUs. The value of these units
corresponds to the closing market price of the common shares of the Bank on the Toronto Stock Exchange on the day preceding
the grant. The units vest only at the end of the third year after the grant date, which is also their maturity date. A cash payment
will be equal to the number of vested units multiplied by the price corresponding to the average closing market price of the
common shares of the Bank on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 days preceding the date the units vest. This Plan came
into effect at the beginning of the 2004-2005 financial year.

Stock Option Plan

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is also to encourage Officers and other designated persons of the Bank or its subsidiaries
to contribute to the growth of shareholder investment by giving them the opportunity to benefit from the appreciation in the
value of the common shares of the Bank. Each year, when granting options, the Committee reviews the number and term of
previously granted options. After setting the terms and conditions, the Committee grants options, on an annual basis, to Officers
and other designated persons of the Bank and its subsidiaries. Options vest over four years and may be exercised in whole or
in part before the expiration date determined by the Committee at the time they are granted, up to a maximum of 10 years.
Options expire on their expiration date or, in the event of certain circumstances provided for in the Stock Option Plan, within
prescribed periods. No options may be exercised in the first year after they are granted. Officers can exercise their vested
options between the 2nd and 30th calendar day following publication of the Bank's quarterly financial statements.

In order to further align the interests of the Officers on the Bank's Executive Committee with those of shareholders, the Board
added a condition to the exercise of option grants. Accordingly, each Officer on the Bank's Executive Committee must, upon
exercising any stock options granted since December 2002, hold the amount equivalent to the gain, after tax considerations, in
the form of common shares of the Bank for one year. Moreover, Officers on the Bank's Executive Committee must also disclose
their intention to exercise any stock options of the Bank, regardless of the grant date, by way of a news release, five business
days prior to the exercise date.
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As at October 31, 2004, 6,180,960 options were outstanding with strike prices ranging from $11.00 to $41.00 and expiring between
December 2005 and December 2013. During the most recently completed financial year, 1,376,900 options were granted and
1,240,055 options were exercised at strike prices ranging from $11.00 to $30.95. As at October 31, 2004, 2,826,403 options could
be exercised at prices ranging from $11.00 to $30.95. The maximum number of common shares that may be issued under the
Stock Option Plan is 18,930,437. This maximum number was approved by the shareholders at the annual meeting of shareholders
on March 7, 2001. As at October 31, 2004, 16,155,918 common shares were reserved under the Plan.

The maximum number of common shares reserved for a participant may not exceed 5% of the total number of common shares
issued and outstanding. The Bank abides by this rule. No participant is reserved a number of common stock options that exceeds
5% of the total number of shares issued and outstanding.

The Stock Option Plan was revised by the Board on October 24, 2002.

Stock Appreciation Rights Plan

The Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (the "SAR Plan"} has the same objectives as the Stock Option Plan. The Committee grants
common stock appreciation rights ("SARs”) to Officers and other designated persons of the Bank and its subsidiaries. Plan
participants may receive, on the exercise date of the SAR, a cash amount equal to the difference between the market price of
a common share on the exercise date of the SAR and the exercise price of the SAR.

During the most recently completed financial year, only certain Officers and supervisory managers who were not Canadian
residents were granted SARs.

The SAR Plan was revised by the Board on December 14, 2000.

Employee Share Ownership Plan

The Bank encourages share ownership by its employees through its Employee Share Ownership Plan. Under this Plan, employees
who meet the eligibility criteria may contribute up to 8% of their gross salary per year by way of payroll deductions. The Bank’s
contribution consists in paying an amount equal to 25% of the employee’s contribution, up to $1,500 per year. After one year of
continuous participation, the Bank’s contributions are vested in the employee. Moreover, any subsequent contribution is vested
as soon as it is made.

Share Ownership

Since 2002, the Bank has requested that its Officers maintain minimum holdings of Bank common shares, including DSUs for
Officers, vested SARs and stock options, proportionate to each Officer's compensation and position. The value of the minimum
holdings of common shares equals the previous three years’ average base salary received by a given Officer, multiplied by a
factor established by the Bank's guidelines, as follows:

(i} 5.0 for the President and Chief Executive Officer
(ii) 2.0 for Executive Committee members

(iii) 1.5 for Senior Vice-Presidents

{ivl 1.0 for Vice-Presidents

Existing Officers have been given a period of three years as of December 20, 2002 to meet these minimum shareholding
requirements. In the case of new Officers hired or promoted after this date, this period is extended to five years.

Compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer

The Committee assesses the overall performance of the President and Chief Executive Officer on the basis of his contribution to:

+  the financial results obtained by the Bank versus the objectives set at the beginning of the financial year and the results
obtained by the five other major Canadian banks;

» thedevelopment of competitive advantages enabling the Bank to consolidate its strategic positioning within the financial industry;

s the continued devetopment of customer service quality;

s  therisk profile and credit quality of the Bank;

s the existence of appropriate management information systems and a risk classification system for purposes of risk
management control;

*  the relationships with shareholders, customers, employees, governments and communities.
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fn August 2004, the Committee members reviewed the total direct compensation package of the President and Chief Executive
Officer to ensure that it was competitive with the median of the Bank's reference market, adjusted to take into account the
characteristics specific to the Bank. Decisions were based on a study conducted by an outside consulting firm.

Réal Raymond’s annual base salary was therefore set at $1,000,000. This adjustment takes into account the retirement of Jean
Turmel, President - Financial Markets, Treasury and Investment Bank, and consequently Mr. Raymond's greater involvement in
managing these business segments. The annual bonus target was maintained at 100% of base salary while the value of his long-
term variable compensation was raised from 350% to 400% of base salary, 275% of which is paid in the form of options and 125%
in DSUs.

Under the annual bonus program, Mr. Raymond received a bonus of $1,500,000 for exceeding pre-established performance
objectives and to underscore his contribution to the Bank's outstanding results in fiscal 2003-2004. Mr. Raymond was also granted
198,400 stock options and 25,950 DSUs for Officers. The “Summary of Total Compensation of Named Executive Officers” tabte
presents Mr. Raymond’'s compensation in detail.

Comparison of Financial Results with the Objectives of the President and Chief Executive Officer

The Bank recorded very solid results for the financial year ended October 31, 2004, posting record net income of $725 million,
up 16% over $624 million in 2003. The Bank met alt its financial objectives. Accordingly, earnings per share rose to $4.10, a 22%
increase over $3.37 in 2003, compared to its objective of between 5% and 10% growth. The 20% drop in specific credit losses
accounted for a reversal in the general allowance for credit risk. Credit losses totalled $86 million in 2004, down substantially
by $%1 million or 51% from the previous year. The allowance for credit losses exceeded impaired loans by $190 million. At 18.8%,
return on common shareholders’ equity was also above the target range of 15% to 17% and was comparable to the return of
16.9% in the 2003 financial year and to the average of 19.4% for the other banks in 2004. The Bank maintained its capitalization,
with the Tier 1 capital ratio standing at 9.6%, which was also above the target range of 8.75% to 9.50%. The dividend payout ratio
in 2004 was 35%, in line with the target range of 35% to 45%.

Under Mr. Raymond's leadership, the Bank was able to make more than satisfactory progress in a fast-changing financial industry.
The Bank in fact posted results commensurate with industry levels, thus earning market recognition for the quality of its current
and future performance achieved as a result of the determination, diligence and professionalism with which it pursued its strategy
to be a super-regionat bank. All business segments contributed to these results by increasing their respective net income.
Similarly, there was generalized enhancement in portfolio quality, reflected in an across-the-board drop in allowances for credit
losses and in impaired loans.

Inthe Personal and Commercial segment, the partnership strategy for the delivery of banking products was a resounding success,
as seen in the rapid growth of loans made through this distribution channel. There was also strong growth in our niche market
of loans to the energy industry. Sustained efforts by the branch network in sales of wealth management products resulted in
increased share of wallet for the Bank and its subsidiaries.

in the area of Wealth Management activities, full-service brokerage made a strong comeback after a fairly difficult few years.
Moreover, owing to branches’ fine sates efforts, National Bank Mutual Funds turned in the best performance in the banking
industry, and the second best among the big fund families in terms of net inflows to assets under management. Finally, Private
Investment Management, a high-end product that has given the Bank a strong presence on the discretionary wealth management
market, was an unmitigated success.

In the Financial Markets segment, five years after acquiring First Marathon, National Bank Financial has risen to become one
of Canada’s top-tier investment dealers, especially in advisory services and merger and acquisition financing, adding to its enviable
position as a distributor of equities and fixed-income securities. This year's results for the Financial Markets segment once again
showed that the strategy of building a vast, diversified portfolio of activities, where risk is effectively managed, was the best way
to ensure solid medium-term growth with acceptable volatility in the short term.
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With respect to customer satisfaction, Mr. Raymond’s sustained efforts to mobilize atl employees to provide superior customer
service throughout the Bank have yielded the desired results. The development of products such as new GICs and the Strategic
Portfolios, extended branch business hours, enhanced functionalities through electronic detivery channels such as the Internet,

and targeted action to eliminate the most obvious irritants have resulted in significantly higher satisfaction levels among individuals
and businesses.

Mr. Raymond maintained a high profile in business circles and the community by participating in over 40 public events during
the year, including 27 meetings which brought together more than 630 investors and analysts.

In closing, given the performance of Mr. Raymond and his team, the Bank’s share price rose by 19.2% in one year, for a total
return to shareholders, including dividends, of 23% during the year.

This report is submitted by the Human Resources Committee.

Jean Gaulin, Chair
Gérard Coulombe
Shirley A. Dawe
Marcel Dutil
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PERFORMANCE OF COMMON SHARES OF THE BANK

The following performance graph shows the cumulative total return for $100 invested in common shares of the Bank on
October 31, 1999, as compared to the total cumutative return of the S&P/TSX Banks and Trusts subindex and the S&P/TSX
Composite Index for the five most recently completed financial years, assuming dividends are fully reinvested at the market

price on each dividend payment date.

Five-Year Cumulative Total Return on a $100 Investment

320 | - National Bank of Canada
300 | —# SXP/TSX Banks and Trusts
-l S&P/TSX Composite Index

Ll L} L]
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Oct. 1999 ($} Qct. 2000 ($) Qct. 2001 ($) Oct. 2002 ($} Oct. 2003 ($] Oct. 2004 ($i

National Bank of Canada 100.00 144,48 144.74 180.72 259.26 318.82
S&P/TSX Banks and Trusts 100.00 140.25 138.53 144.39 199.92 233.67
S&P/TSX Composite Index 100.00 134.41 97.50 90.01 114.17 132.58




NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA

l Management Proxy Circular [ﬂ?i

SECTION 3

TOTAL COMPENSATION OF NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE BANK

Summary of Total Compensation of Named Executive Officers

The following table, presented in accordance with Canadian securities legislation, shows the total compensation paid by the Bank and
its subsidiaries to each of the individuals named therein ["Named Executive Officers”), during each of the three most recently completed
financial years.

All
Other
Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation ~ Compensation 4

Awards Payouts

Other Annual Securities  Long-Term

Salary Bonus Compen- Under Bonus
Name and Principal Position Year [$) [$1m  sation{$) @ Options #]W Program I$) i$)
Réal Raymond 2004 879,123= 1,500,000 0 198,400 1,250,790 N/A
President and 2003 764,821 1,300,000 0 169,600 947,100 N/A
Chief Executive Officer 2002 692,137 - 800,000 4,339 149,940 450,000 N/A
Michel Labonté 2004 300,328 wi 275,000 810 31,500 140,384 @ N/A
Senior Vice-President 2003 248,548 250,000 370 33,500 N/A N/A
Finance, Technology and Corparate Affairs 2002 222,082 170,000 355 25300 N/A N/A
Jean Turmel 2004 500,000 4,138,485 832 85400 2,069,536 @ N/A
President - Financial Markets, 2003 500,000 3,833,200 36 113,000 1,916,598 N/A
Treasury and Investment Bank 2002 500,000 3,567,333 4,037 124900 1,783,667 N/A
Louis Vachon 2004 250,000 2,309,440 2,619 28,000 N/A 989,760
Senior Vice-President 2003 250,000 2,519,641 892 37,000 N/A 1,079,847
Treasury and Financial Marketstel 2002 250,000 2,009,582 169 28,300 N/A 861,250
G.F. Kym Anthony 2004 400,000 3,283,333 35,094 28,000 N/A 1,641,667
President and Chief Executive Officer 2003 400,000 1,577,333 11,016 37,000 N/A 788,667
National Bank Financialis 2002 370,000 2,750,273 15,808 12 42,800 N/A 900,000

(1) The figuresin this column have been revised, as regards Mr. Vachon and Mr. Anthony, to designate the annual bonus earned during each financial
year ended October 31.

{2)  Theamountsin this column only represent benefits relating to loans granted at preferred interest rates to Named Executive Officers. The Named
Executive Officers also have the use of a leased car and may, at their option, participate in the Employee Share Ownership Plan of the Bank.
The aggregate value of these other benefits for the most recently compteted financial year does not exceed the lesser of: $50,000 or 10% of the
salary and bonuses paid annually to the Named Executive Officers. It should be noted that for Mr. Anthony, this amount was paid to him under
the EdgeStone Affiliate Fund co-investment program.

{31 These securities were granted under the Stock Option Plan of the Bank. For further information, refer to the “Stock Option Plan” section of this
Circular.

{4)  The figures in this column represent the portion of the annual bonus earned but not vested during each financial year ended October 31. Vesting
and payment of these amounts are deferred for up to three years.

[8]  On August 30, 2004, the base salary of Mr. Raymond was increased from $8460,000 to $1,000,000.

(61 On August 30, 2004, the base salary of Mr. Labonté was increased from $300,000 to $307,500.

(7). Under the Deferred Stock Unit Plan for Officers [for more information, please refer to the “Deferred Stock Unit Plan” section of this Circular), a
portion of the long-term compensation of Mr. Raymond was paid in DSUs for Officers in December 2004, representing 25,950 DSUs for Officers
based on a price of $48.20. The total number of DSUs for Officers held by Mr. Raymond as at October 31, 2004 was 38,989, valued at $1,901,883,
based on the share price as at October 31, 2004 [$48.78). This aggregate amount excludes the November 2004 dividend payment and the December
2004 grant.

(8} Mr. Labonté chose to receive 30% of his long-term compensation in DSUs for Officers in December 2003, representing 3,424 DSUs for Officers
based on a price of $41.00. The total number of DSUs for Officers held by Mr. Labonté as at October 31, 2004 was 3,505, valued at $170,974,
based on the share price as at October 31, 2004 ($48.78).

(9] With regard to the bonus for 2004, Mr. Turmel received 33% of his bonus in the form of DSUs for Officers in two instaliments, representing
28,360 DSUs for Officers based on a price of $43.86 per share, and 17,130 DSUs for Officers based on a price of $48.2C per share. The total
number of DSUs for Officers held by Mr. Turmel as at October 31, 2004 was 202,709, valued at $9,888,145, based on the share price as at
October 31, 2004 ($48.78). This aggregate amount excludes the November 2004 dividend payment and the December 2004 grant. For further
information, refer to the "Variable Compensation Programs” section of this Circular.

{10) Mr. Vachon has held the position of Chairman of the Board of National Bank Financial Group, Chairman of the Board of Natcan investment
Management [nc. and Senior Vice-President of the Bank since January 1, 2005.

{11) Mr. Anthony has held the position of President and Chief Executive Officer of National Bank Financial Group and Senior Vice-President of the
Bank since January 1, 2005.

{12] This amount has been revised. It represents the amount paid to him under the EdgeStone Affiliate Fund co-investment program.
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Summary of Long-Term Variable Compensation of Named Executive Officers

The table below specifies the number of options granted to Named Executive Officers under the Stock Option Plan for the year ended
October 31, 2004. These options are exercisable by their holders as follows: 25% as of December 2004; with an additional 25%
exercisable as of December 2005, another 25% exercisable as of December 2006, and the remainder as of December 2007. These
options expire on December 11, 2013. During the 30 business days prior to the options being granted, the closing price of the common
shares of the Bank on the Toronto Stock Exchange fluctuated between $40.17 and $42.05.

Per cent of Total Market Value of a

Options/SARs Common Share

Granted to on the

Number of Options Employees in Option Exercise Date Preceding
Name Granted Financial Year Price ($) the Grant ($ Expiration Date
Réal Raymond 198,400 14.2 41.00 41.00 11/12/2013
Michel Labonté 31,500 2.3 41.00 41.00 11/12/2013
Jean Turmel 85,400 6.2 41.00 41.00 11/12/2013
Louis Vachon 28,000 2.0 41.00 41.00 11/12/2013
G.F. Kym Anthony 28,000 2.0 41.00 41.00 11/12/2013

Since the initial approval of the Stock Option Plan and the SAR Plan, as well as during the most recently completed financial year,
the Bank has not repriced downward any options or freestanding SARs held by its Officers and Named Executive Officers.

The following table lists, for each of the Named Executive Officers, the number of securities affected by options or SARs exercised
during the most recently completed financial year, the aggregate value realized and, lastly, the number and value of unexercised
in-the-money options and SARs outstanding as at October 31, 2004. The value of unexercised options at financial year-end is equal
to the difference between the exercise price of the options and the closing price of common shares of the Bank on the Toronto Stock
Exchange on the last business day of the financial year, namely, $48.78 per common share. The value of unexercised SARs at financial
year-end is equal to the difference between the exercise price of the SARs and the closing price of common shares of the Bank on
the Toronto Stock Exchange on the last business day of the financial year, namely, $48.78 per common share.

Value of Unexercised

Unexercised Options/ In-the-Money Options/SARs

Number of Securities SARs at Financial Year-End at Financial Year-End i

Affected by Exercised Aggregate Value Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable

Name Options/SARs Realized ($) {4 {#) [$! 1%
Réal Raymond 122,000 (2) 3,452,600 206,595 422,645 4,436,912 5,895,806
Michel Labonté 11,700 2 365,760 109,775 76,025 2,952,067 1,116,979
Jean Turmel 0 0 460,425 254,675 12,255,917 3,999,742
Louis Vachon 0 0 90,700 _ 77,400 2,284,873 1,185,618
G.F. Kym Anthony 1 0 30,650 77,150 609,406 1,157,101

1) The amounts indicated are based on a price of $48.78 per common share, namely, the closing price on the last business day of the financial
year ended October 31, 2004.
{2 Mr. Raymond and Mr. Labonté exercised SARs only during the most recently completed financial year.
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Under the Bank’s long-term compensation programs, only the Stock Option Plan allows issuance of the Bank’s equity securities.
The following table contains the required information pursuant to Canadian securities legislation.

[c] Number of Securities
Remaining Available for

fal Number of Securities to be (b) Weighted-Average Future Issuance under

Issued upon Exercise Exercise Price Equity Compensation

of Cutstanding Options, of Qutstanding Options, Plans {Excluding Securities

Plan Category Warrants or Rights Warrants and Rights [$} Reflected in Column {al

Equity compensation plans approved

by securityholders 6,180,960 30.20 6,522,447
Equity compensation plans not approved

by securityholders N/A N/A N/A

Total 6,180,960 30.20 6,522,447

Report of the Human Resources Committee of National Bank Financial on the Compensation of the Named Executive Officer
The Named Executive Officer of National Bank Financial receives a base salary, an annual bonus, long-term variable compensation
and a competitive benefits package.

His compensation is approved by the Human Resources Committee of National Bank Financial & Co. Inc., which is comprised of
outside, independent directors. The Committee members are Jean Gaulin, who is the Chair, Pierre Ducros, Paul Gobeit and Robert
Parizeau. The recommendation of the Committee is ratified by the Board of Directors of National Bank Financiat & Co. Inc.

Base Salary

inorder to establish the base salary, National Bank Financial refers to the salaries of its comparison market, which consists of national
brokerage firms associated with the major Canadian banks. It also takes into consideration the characteristics specific to National
Bank Financial as well as the Officer’s level of responsibility, experience and performance. Since the emphasis is on incentive
compensation, the officer’s base salary is adjusted in line with the comparison market on an ad hoc basis.

Annual Bonus Program

The annual bonus program is an important part of the Named Executive Officer's compensation. Its purpose is to reward his
contribution to results and his performance throughout the financial year. The Named Executive Officer is rewarded through the
bonus fund reserved for members of the Policies Committee of National Bank Financial. This bonus fund is funded by setting aside
a certain percentage of the income before income taxes and long-term bonuses of the company. The percentage of income may
vary up or down depending on the return on equity. A defined portion of these funds is reserved for the Named Executive Officer.

The Committee may also adjust the level of bonuses up or down by a maximum of 15% of the amount available to reflect the
Named Executive Officer’s performance, based on the assessment of a series of criteria predetermined with the Officer at the
beginning of the financial year and as warranted by the financial performance of the company.

Under this program, bonuses are paid every six manths and also include a deferred portion. The Named Executive Officer is
required to defer one third of his bonus, which is paid in equal cash installments over & three-year period.

Long-Term Variable Compensation Program .
The Named Executive Officer is eligible each year for a stock option grant in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Bank’s
Stock Option Plan.

Comparison of Financial Resutts with the Objectives of the Named Executive Officer of National Bank Financial
Net income at National Bank Financial for the 2004 financial year amounted to $82 million, up $24 million or 41% from net income
of $58 million recorded the previous year. Results for 2004 exceeded the target of $76 million by nearly 8%.
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Revenues for the year totalled $891 million compared to $808 million for the 2003 financial year, for an increase of $83 million or
10%. Growth was divided atmost equally between Individual Investor Services and the Institutional and Corporate and Investment
Banking groups. At Individual Investor Services, the first half of the year was marked by a significant rise in business during the bull
market that had begun in the summer of 2003. After a lull during the summer of 2004, a renewed surge in the stock market buoyed
by strong corporate profits in North America and a positive outlook for growth worldwide pushed up revenues once again. Higher
revenues at Corporate and Investment Banking were attributable to National Bank Financials role as advisor and/or financial
arranger for a number of merger and acquisition projects undertaken by long-time clients. In many cases, U.S. companies were
the targets and the transactions were among the largest involving Canadian companies in 2004. Based on transaction data compiled
by Bloomberg L.p., National Bank Financial ranked amang the premier firms in the Canadian mergers and acquisitions market
in 2004.

Moreover, National Bank Financial improved its productivity during the financial year. Income before income taxes represented 14%
of revenues in 2004 as against 11% for the previous year.

fn conclusion, excellent revenue growth and improved productivity enabled Nationat Bank Financial to post return on capital of 14%
in 2004 compared to 11.1% in 2003 and the target of 13% for 2004.

This report is submitted by the Human Resources Committee of National Bank Financial & Ce. Inc.

Jean Gaulin, Chair

Pierre Ducros

Paul Gobeit !
Robert Parizeau

RETIREMENT BENEFITS FOR NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE BANK

Pension Plan and Post-Retirement Allowance Program

The Named Executive Officers of the Bank participate in a defined benefit pension plan and the Post-Retirement Allowance

Program. A pension, up to the maximum pension prescribed by law, is payable under the registered pension plan, while the

Post-Retirement Allowance Program provides for any supplemental pension, where applicable. The combined effect of these

two plans can be defined as follows:

»  Foreach year of service credited, the plans grant a life pension equal to 2% of the average pensionable earnings, defined
as the average earnings for the 60 highest-paid consecutive -months. Pensionable earnings include the salary and the
bonus, depending on conditions that vary according to level:

¢ For Named Executive Officers at the level of President, the calculation is based on the full salary and the eligible
annual bonus is limited to:
- 100% of the salary for the President and Chief Executive Officer, and
- $571,000 for the President - Financial Markets, Treasury and Investment Bank.

¢  For Named Executive Officers at the Senior Vice-President level, the calculation is based on the salary, and
25% of the annual bonus (up to 20% of salaryl. The aggregate of the salary and the eligible bonus is limited to
$250,000 each year.

The normal retirement age is 60. However, these pension plans allow for early retirement, with the employer’s consent, as of
55 years of age. The pension is reduced by the lesser of:

* 4% for each year prior to age 60, or

» 2% for each year by which the sum of the age and years of service falls short of 90.

Moreover, the Named Executive Officers of the Bank, at the level of President or Senior Vice-President, contribute 9% of their
salary to the pension plan, or up to $12,130 per annum, and at retirement, the accumulated sum is converted to a supplementary
pension, subject to the application of legal restrictions.
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Estimated Annual Benefits Payable at Retirement
The following tables contain the estimated annual benefits payable under the Bank's pension p
Allowance Program to the Named Executive Officers of the Bank at the tevel of President and Sen

Estimated Pensions Payable as of Age 60!t}

lan and the Post-Retirement
ior Vice-President.

President

Average
Pensionable Years of Membership 3} 14
Earnings 2 15 20 25 30 35
(%) ($) %) ($) 1$} ($)
1,000,000 296,797 396,260 495,724 595,187 694,954
1,250,000 371,797 496,260 620,724 745,187 869,954
1,500,000 446,797 596,260 745,724 895,187 1,044,954
1,750,000 521,797 696,260 870,724 1,045,187 1,219,954
2,000,000 596,797 796,260 995,724 1,195,187 1,394,954
Senior Vice-President

Average
Pensionable Years of Membership (31 14)(5]
Earnings (2} 15 20 25 30 35
(%) ($) ($) () ($) (%)
200,000 56,797 76,260 95,724 115,187 134,954
225,000 64,297 86,260 108,224 130,187 152,454
250,000 71,797 96,260 120,724 145,187 169,954
300,000 71,797 96,260 120,724 145,187 169,954

are used to calculate the average pensionable earnings, subject to the maximums set out above.

The estimated pensions do not take into account the pension generated by the additional contributions accumulated by the Named Executive Officer.
The amounts in the "Salary™ and "Bonus” columns of the “Summary of Totat Compensation of Named Executive Officers” table in this Circular

[3]  Years of service credited as at October 31, 2004 and estimated on the normal retirement date are as follows:
Estimated Years
Years of Service of Service
Credited as at Credited on Normal
Name October 31, 2004 Retirement Date
Réal Raymond 29.7 35.0
Jean Turmel 34.8 35.0
Louis Vachon 6.8 24.6
Michel Labonté 1.6 12.7
G.F. Kym Anthony* 0 10.5

The maximum number of years recognized for the purposes of the Post-Retirement Allowance Program is 35.

[4)  The pension is payable for life, but reduced to take into account the amount payable under the Canada Pension Plan or the QGuebec Pension
Plan. Upon the member’s death, 60% of the pension is payabte to the member’s spouse. If there is no spouse, part of the pension is payable to
the dependent children.

[8]  The years of membership in the Post-Retirement Allowance Program are recognized only as of January 1, 1987. However, the figures in this

table assume that all the years of membership of the Officer will be recognized under the Post-Retirement

Allowance Program at retirement

because none of the Named Executive Officers at the Senior Vice-President level were members in the Program before January 1, 1987,

On the basis of current compensation and the years projected until age 40, the estimated annual pensions payable at age 60 are as
follows: R. Raymond, $879,000; J. Turmel, $744,000; L. Vachon, $118,000; M. Labonté, $64,000; and G.F.K. Anthony*, $50,000.
The pension payable upon conversion of the accumulated contributions of the Named Executive Officer at retirement will be added

to each of these amounts.

* G.F. Kym Anthony was not a member of these plans as at October 31, 2004; he has become eligible since November

1, 2004,
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TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT POLICY

On November 30, 2000, the Board adopted a policy whereby certain executive officers would receive a separation allowance in the
event their employment was terminated by the Bank following a change in control. A change in control notably means any change in
the ownership of Bank shares following the acquisition of shares, a merger or a business combination, resulting in one shareholder
beneficially owning in excess of 20% of the voting shares of the Bank. Under the terms of this policy, the President and Chief Executive
Officer would be entitled to a separation allowance equal to his base salary and average annual bonus for the previous three years
{or the target annual bonus for eligible executive officers who have been in their position for less than three years} for a period of 36
months, up to the normal retirement age. Certain other executive officers of the Bank are also covered by this policy and would be
entitled to receive a separation allowance equal to their base salary and average annual bonus for the previous three years (or the
target annual bonus in the case of eligible executive officers who have been in their position for less than three years) for a period of
18 to 24 months, up to the normal retirement age. In all cases, the separation allowance would also include an amount equal to the
estimated value of the stock options and SARs that would have been granted to them had their employment not been terminated.
Moreover, under the terms of this policy, all stock options and SARs atready granted would vest immediately and the executive officers
would have up to 12 months in which to exercise the options or SARs.

The Bank and G.F. Kym Anthony have entered into an agreement which sets out the terms and conditions of his compensation in the
event that his employmentis terminated either by the Bank or following a change in control. The terms and conditions of this agreement
arein line with the policy described above, and would provide a separation allowance equal to his base salary and his average annual
bonus for the previous two years for a period of 24 months, up to the normal retirement age.

No other termination of employment agreement has been concluded by the Bank.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES
In the normal course of business, the Bank grants loans to its directors, Executive Officersi!l and employees.

As at December 3, 200412), aggregate indebtedness outstanding to the Bank or any of its subsidiaries [other than loans repaid in full
and routine indebtedness as defined by Canadian securities legislation} of directors, Executive Officers, employees, and former
directors, Executive Cfficers and employees of the Bank or any of its subsidiaries was as follows:

Aggregate Indebtedness ($)

To the Bank or

Purpose ts Subsidiaries ($] To Ancther Entity {$)
Share purchases 2,007,505 0
Other . 464,362,652 0

(1) Forthe purposes hereof, the term “Executive Officers” has the meaning assigned in paragraph 1.1(1] of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations and includes the President and Chief Executive Officer, the President - Financial Markets, Treasury and Investment Bank,
the Senior Vice-Presidents, the Vice-Presidents in charge of a principal business unit, division or function of the Bank as well as any members
of management of the Bank or its subsidiaries who perform a policy-making function in respect of the Bank.

(2] Information about the aggregate indebtedness was obtained during the period from November 29 through December 3, 2004.
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The table below shows the indebtedness to the Bank, during the most recentty completed financial year, of each individual who is,
or during the most recently completed financial year was, a director or Executive Officer of the Bank, of each proposed nominee for
election as a director of the Bank, and of each associate of any such director, Executive Officer or proposed nominee. The loans are
granted either by the Bank or any of its subsidiaries, or any other entity, if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee provided by
the Bank or any of its subsidiaries.

Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers Under Securities Purchase and Other Programs

Financially Assisted
Securities Amount Forgiven
Largest Amount Purchases During
Outstanding During Amount During Financial Financial
Involvernent of Bank Financial Year Ended QOutstanding as at Year Ended Security for Year Ended
Name and Principal Position or Subsidiary October 31, 2004 (%} December 3, 2004 $) October 31, 2004 Indebtedness  October 31, 2004 (3]
Securities Purchase
Programs
Salvatore Reda
President and
Chief Operating Officer Indebtedness to
Natcan Investment National Bank
Management Inc. of Canada 445,526 1 445,526 11 N/A N/A N/A
Other Programs .
G.F. Kym Anthony
President and
Chief Executive Officer Indebtedness to
National Bank National Bank
Financial Inc.[2! of Canada 884,525 (3l 1,315,459 N/A N/A N/A
Marc Godin Indebtedness to
Vice-President National Bank
Finance and Control of Canada and 258,541 () 258,170 @ N/A N/A N/A
National Bank Discount
Brokerage Inc. 142,645 (8] 159,518 51
Charles Guay
President and
Chief Operating Officer indebtedness to 205,328 {4) 216,428 4 N/A N/A N/A
National Bank Nationat Bank
Securities Inc. of Canada 238,517 14l 231,416 18
Ricardo Pascoe Indebtedness to
Senior Vice-President National Bank
Capital Markets!?) of Canada 4,190,125 14 4,165 637 t4) N/A N/A N/A

(1] Thisamount represents a loan granted by the Bank to acquire commaon shares in the capital stock of 9130-1564 Québec Inc. This loanis granted
under the long-term bonus program of Natcan Investment Management Inc. and is secured by a movable hypothec for repayment of the loan.
The principal bears interest at the prime rate of the Bank less 2% and, subject to the usual prepayment ctauses, at least 5% of the principal is
repayable on December 31 of each year.

(2} G.F. Kym Anthony has held the positions of President and Chief Executive Officer of National Bank Financial Group and Senior Vice-President
of the Bank since January 1, 2005.
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(3] This amount represents ane or more personal leveraged loans (the “Leveraged Loans”} granted to finance the participant’s equity commitments
under the EdgeStone Affiliate Fund co-investment program. AUl Leveraged Loans bear interest at the federal prescribed rate published monthly
and are secured by a pledge of the participant’s interests in the limited partnerships comprising the EdgeStone Affiliate Fund co-investment
program. This program provides Officers and eligible employees of the Bank and of entities that are part of the same group as the Bank the
opportunity to ca-invest with EdgeStone Capital Equity Fund II-A, L.P., EdgeStone Capital Equity Fund [I-B, L.P., EdgeStone Capital Mezzanine
Fund I, L.P.,, EdgeStone Capital Venture Fund, L.P. and EdgeStone Capital Venture Fund l, L.P. (collectively, the "Main Funds”] and with the Bank
or a company in which the Bank holds an indirect interest. Participants are offered credit facilities by the Bank or the entities that are part of
the same group as the Bank (the “Lender”) through limited recourse Leveraged Loans. The Leveraged Loans bear interest and will mature on
the earliest of: (i) the 10th anniversary date of the establishment of the applicable Main Fund, (i} the termination of the applicable Affiliate Fund
limited partnership, liii) the sale or disposal of the applicable Affiliate Fund limited partnership interest held by a participant or [iv] the date the
principal amount under the Leveraged Loans otherwise becomes due and payable. The Lenderwilt have personal recourse against the participant
equal to 50% of the participant's total commitment lequity and leveraged portion]. The Lender’s recourse for the balance of the Leveraged Loans
is limited to the participant’s Affitiate Fund limited partnership interest and the distributions thereon.

{4} This amount represents one or more personal {oans granted to purchase sundry goods and investments, according to the standards applicable
to clients, except for the interest rate, which ranges between half of the prime rate and the Bank’s prime rate, or a loan under a relocation
agreement. For Ricardo Pascoe, this amount represents loans granted at market conditions, except for $100,000, which bears interest at half
of the Bank’s prime rate.

This amount may also represent the balance of a personal line of credit, granted according to the standards applicable to clients, except for the
interest rate, which ranges between the prime rate tess 3% lbut not less than the prime rate divided by 2) and the Bank’s prime rate.

The aggregate of the personal loans granted and the amounts authorized as a personal tine of credit is not to exceed 50% of the annual gross
salary of the borrower for the reduced-rate portion. The excess will be toaned at the prime rate for these products.

This amount may also represent any unpaid balance on the MasterCard account, bearing interest at the rate granted to the average client divided
by 2.

{51  This amount represents one or mare margin loans granted by National Bank Discount Brokerage Inc., allowing the borrower to borrow against
the value of the securities held in his portfolio. Portiolio securities are used as collateral security. Such a loan is granted according to standards
applicable to clients, including the interest rate, which may range between the prime rate and the prime rate plus 1.25%, depending on the
account type and the amount borrowed.

{6]  This amount represents one or more loans secured by a mortgage on the borrower’s main residence, which exceeds the borrower’s annuat

salary. Such a loan is granted according to the standards applicable to clients, except for the interest rate, which is the rate posted for the Bank's
clients less 2%; however, Executive Officers who obtained a loan prior to December 31, 2002 benefit from the previous conditions for a transition
period ending December 31, 2005; i.e., the loan is granted according to standards applicable to clients, except for the interest rate, which is
offered at one third of the client rate of the Bank on the first $50,000 and at the Bank's client rate less 5% on the amount in excess thereof, but
such rate shall at no time be lower than the rate applied to the first $50,000.
This amount may also represent one or more mortgages on the borrower’s secondary residence, granted at market terms and conditions.
Furthermore, this amount may represent an Ali-ln-One loan, a margin loan secured by @ mortgage on the borrower’s principal residence
(provided it is a single family dwelling]. Such a loan is granted at the prime rate less 2% (but not less than the prime rate divided by 2J.
All-In-One loans secured by a mortgage on any other real estate owned by the borrower are granted at market terms and conditions.

(7] Ricardo Pascoe has held the position of Senior Vice-President - Treasury and Trading since January 1, 2005.
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LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Bank is covered by public liability insurance for directors and Officers of the Bank and its subsidiaries. This policy provides
coverage of $100,000,000 with a deductible of $10,000,000 per claim.

This insurance covers directors and Officers of the Bank for acts committed in the performance of their duties as directors or
Officers. Illegal acts and those committed for personal gain are excluded from this coverage. The annual premium paid by the
Bank is $1,042,000.

REPURCHASE OF SHARES

The Bank currently has a normal course issuer bid (the “Issuer Bid"] in place under which it may repurchase for cancellation,
from time to time and during the period stipulated hereinafter, through the Toronto Stock Exchange, a maximum of 8,400,000
common shares representing approximately 5% of the outstanding common shares, which shares are subsequently cancetled.

In the opinion of the Board, the purchase of the common shares pursuant to the Issuer Bid constitutes an appropriate use of
the Bank's surplus funds. The Issuer Bid, which commenced on January 13, 2005, will run for a period ending on the earliest
of {i] the date on which the Bank repurchases the maximum number of common shares, i.e., 8,400,000 common shares, or
(i) the date on which the Bank decides not to repurchase further shares, or liii) on January 12, 2006, The price that the Bank
pays for any common share which it purchases shall be the prevailing market price of a common share on the Toronto Stock
Exchange on the purchase date.

Furthermore, the Bank repurchased 8,700,000 common shares as part of its previous normal course issuer bid, which expired
on December 7, 2004, representing approximately 5% of the common shares outstanding at the time the previsus normal course
issuer bid was accepted on December 3, 2003 by the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Shareholders may obtain, free of charge, a copy of the notice of intention regarding the current Issuer Bid of the Bank, which
notice of intention was approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange, by writing to the Corporate Secretary’s Office of the Bank at
600 de La Gauchetiere West, 4th Floor, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4L.2.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Effective corporate governance is an essential component of the Bank's operations. It is in the interest of shareholders, clients
and all partners of the Bank to have sound corporate governance policies and practices in place. The Bank therefore monitors
the latest developments in this area and, when necessary, adjusts its practices accordingly.

The chart below shows in detail how Bank practices comply with and sometimes go beyond the Toronto Stock Exchange
Guidelines. Canadian Securities Administrators have published corporate governance best practices for comment. Even though
the practices have not been finalized, the Bank complies with most of them.

In this section, you will also find the number of meetings held in the most recently completed financial year as well as a table
with the attendance record of directors at meetings of the Board and each of its committees and the remuneration received by
the directors for their participation.

Lastly, this section includes a summary of the mandates of the Board and its committees!!), a summary of the financial literacy
of Audit and Risk Management Committee members as well as a summary of the Bank’s guidelines for pre-approving the
non-audit services provided by the external auditor.

(1] The mandates of the Board of Directors and the Audit and Risk Management Committee are presented in their entirety for the most
recently completed financial year in the "Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of the National Bank of Canada Annual
Information Form.
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Toronto Stock Exchange Guidelines Corporate Governance Practices of the Bank

Responsibility for Stewardship

1. The board of directors should *  The Board's roleis to oversee the management of the Bank, safeguard its assets, and ensure its
explicitly assume responsibility viability, profitability, sustainability and development with a view to enhancing the return on
for the stewardship of the Bank shareholder investment. Furthermore, it is assured of sound management by requiring that

management implement and maintain a legislative compliance program.

. The Board assumes various duties related to strategic planning, risk assessment, assessment
of its effectiveness, succession planning for directors and senior management, as well as the
communication and disclosure of information. The Board also adheres to the rules of conduct
and ethics, notably by adopting a Code of Professional Conduct for directors, Officers and employees
of the Bank.

. The Board expects management to be respansible for the day-to-day management and conduct
of the Bank's operations. In order to facilitate the Board’s oversight role, management provides
the Board with an informed opinion specifically on the objectives, strategies, plans and major
poticies of the Bank.

. For further information on the mandate of the Board of Directors, please refer to the “Summary
of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of this Circular or the
i “Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of the Annual Information Form of the Bank.
and specifically for:

Strategic Planning Process

{al  the adoption of a strategic planning  * The Board periodically reviews and approves the strategic plan by which the Bank determines
process; its mission, vision, business objectives and strategy. To do so, the Board takes into account business
opportunities and risks for the Bank, as well as business plans concerning its major operations.

o The Board participated in the strategic planning exercise during which management submitted
a preliminary report on the main challenges, orientations and strategic objectives of the Bank.
At the end of this process, the corporate strategic plan and the strategic plans for the business
segments were approved by the Board.

Principal Risks

(b the identification of the principal ¢  The Board, through its Audit and Risk Management Committee, regularly identifies and assesses
risks associated with the business the principal risks of the Bank, amang which are credit risk, market risk and operational risk,
of the bank and ensuring the including outsourcing risk. The Board annually adopts and reviews policies regarding these risks,
implementation of appropriate while ensuring their implementation.

systems to manage these risks;
¢ The Board approves the report on compliance with Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation
Standards of Sound Business and Financial Practices.

Succession Planning

{c]  succession planning, including . The Board analyzes and approves the appointment and description of the functions of the President
appointing, training and monitoring and Chief Executive Officer and other Officers and oversees their training, coaching and succession
senior management; planning.

*  The Human Resources Committee annually reviews the profile of individuals who possess the
required competencies to hold senior management positions at the Bank, as well as the Bank's
succession plan, and determines development needs, as applicable.

*  The Human Resources Committee submits a report to the Board following the annual appraisal
of the performance of Officers and of the prudence with which they manage the Bank’s operations.

. The President and Chief Executive Officer annually submits a succession plan to the Human
Resources Committee, including the progress made by the individuals identified in the plan.

. For further information on the mandate of the Human Resources Committee, please refer to the
“Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of this Circular.
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Toronto Stock Exchange Guidelines Corporate Governance Practices of the Bank

Communications Policy

{d]  a communications policy; *  The Board advocates transparency in the communication of infarmation to all shareholders,
investors, clients and the general public.

. tn the most recently completed financial year, the Bank set up a Disclosure Committee, whose
mission is to supervise the internal control procedures regarding the disclosure of financial
information.

. A policy reviewed by the Bank’s Disclosure Committee and approved by the Beard in the most
recently completed financial year establishes the procedures for complete, accurate and timely
communication between the Bank and its shareholders, clients, financial analysts, the media
and the public, and prohibits the selective distribution of information by stipulating that information
must be distributed to the general public.

. The Audit and Risk Management Committee reviews in particular the Bank's annual and quarterly
consolidated financial statements, the related news releases, the Annual Information Form and
management’s analysis of the financial condition and operating results of the Bank before these
are approved by the Board. ’ ’

The Bank responds to requests from shareholders, investors and financial analysts through its
Investor Relations Department, its Corporate Secretary’s Office or National Bank Trust Inc., the
Bank's transfer agent and registrar. The Bank's quarterly reports and related conference calls
are made available in reat time on the Bank’s website.

+  Since 2003, the Bank has published anannual social responsibility report detailing its commitment
to the community.

. Clients with concerns or special needs may contact their branch or TelNat. In the event a dispute

cannot be settled through the existing administrative channels, clients may contact the Ombudsman
of the Bank.

Integrity of Internal Control

fe] the integrity of internal controland  *  The Board, through its Audit and Risk Management Committee, examines audit and internal
management information systems. control processes as well as management information systems to determine their integrity and
effectiveness. In consultation with the internat auditor and the Bank's management, the Committee

examines the effectiveness of the Bank's internat control policies and mechanisms.

. The Audit and Risk Management Committee reguires that the Internal Audit function is free of
any influence that could adversely affect its ability to assume its responsibilities objectively.

. An annual Internal Audit plan is submitted to the Committee for its consideration and approval,
ensuring the independence and effectiveness of Internal Audit.

. The Audit and Risk Management Committee ensures that the Bank's financial reporting process
is adequate.

. A formal procedure was developed by the Disclosure Committee to enable the President and
Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice-President - Finance, Technology and Corporate Affairs
to certify the integrity and accuracy of the financial information disclosed and the existence of
controls surrounding this disclosure.
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Toronto Stock Exchange Guidelines Corporate Governance Practices of the Bank

Board Independence

2. Amajority of the directors should be ¢  The majority of the directors on the Board and its committees are “unrelated” and independent
“unrelated”. directors.(1}

. Itis the responsibility of the Board, on the recommendation of the Conduct Review and Corporate
Governance Committee, to determine if each director is unrelated and independent. To do so, the
Board examines the relationships maintained by each director with the Bank and its subsidiaries.
In general, a director who does not otherwise have a major retationship with the Bank or its
subsidiaries will be considered to be unrelated and independent.

. Al the end of the most recently completed financial year, the Board determined that 11 of the 15
directors were unrelated and independent. The related directors who were not independent are
Lawrence S. Bloomberg, Réal Raymond and Jean Turmel, Officers or employees of the Bank or
any of its subsidiaries, as well as Gérard Coulombe since he is a partner of Desjardins Ducharme
[1] An unrelated director is a director Stein Monast, s.e.n.c., a law firm that provides legal services to the Bank and its subsidiaries.
wha is independent of management
and is free from any interest and any
business or other relationship which
could, or coutd reasonably be
perceived to, materially interfere with

. Atthe end of the most recently completed financial year, the Audit and Risk Management Committee
and the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee were entirely comprised of
unrelated and independent directors, whereas for the Human Resources Committee, four of the

the director’s ability to act with a view five members were unrelated and independent.

to the best interests of the corporation,

other than interests and relationships in order to enhance the independence of the Board, directors meet regularly without the Officers
arising from shareholding. of the Bank being present.

Unrelated Directors

3. The application of the definitionof ~ *  TheBoard, through the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, ensures compliance
“unrelated director” to the with the Toronto Stock Exchange Guidelines.
circumstances of each director should . K S
be the responsibility of the board, as *  The Committee analyzed the information provided by the directors and all the business and related
well as the disclosure on an annual party relationships maintained by the directors with the Bank or its subsidiaries to determine if
basis of the analysis of the application certain Bank directors met the criteria for the definition of an "unrelated director”.
of the principles supporting this
conclusion and whether the board . Please refer to Guideline 2 “Independence of the Board of Birectors” in this chart for more
has a majority of unrelated directors. information on the number and the name of the related directors.

Nominating Committee

4. The board should appointa ¢ The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, together with the Chairman of the
committee of direclors composed Board, administers the selection process for new directors and submits its recommendations to
exclusively of outside, i.e., non- the Board. This committee is composed exclusively of unrelated and independent directors.

management directors, a majority of
whom are unrelated, and assignto  *  The Committee recruits and proposes nominees for director. It recommends to the Board those

such committee the responsibility for having expertise that enables them to make an active, informed and profitable contribution to
proposing new nominees to the board managing the Bank, conducting its business and guiding its development. In its assessment of
and for assessing directors on an nominees, the Committee also takes into consideration their availability and reputation for honesty
ongoing basis. and integrity, as well as their knowledge of regional and national issues.

. The Committee periodically reviews setection criteria for directors to ensure that they take into
account regulatory requirements, expectations as well as the Board's current and future needs
with respect to the knowledge, competencies and experience of directors.

. The Committee annually reviews the eligibility and availability of directors who are nominated
for re-election. For more information on Board meeting attendance by directors, please refer to
the "Record of Attendance and Remuneration of Directors” section of this Circular.

. For further information on the mandate of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance
Committee, please refer to the "Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its
Committees” section of this Circular.
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Assessing the Board’s Effectiveness

5. The board should implement a

process, to be monitored by the ¢ The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee is delegated by the Board to implement
appropriate committee, for assessing a process allowing the Committee to assess the performance and effectiveness of the Board, its
the effectiveness of the board and committees and their members while carrying out their mandate.

the committees of the board, as well

as the contribution of individual e As part of this process, directors assessed their performance as well as that of the Board and
directors. the committees on which they sit. They evaluated in particular the availability of information

required for decision-making and the ability of the members of the Board and the committees
to process this information for each strategic activity of the Board and the committees. The
assessment also covered the general operation of the Board and its committees.

. In order to ensure an impartial process, an independent firm of experts compiled the results of
the assessment of the performance and effectiveness of the Board and its committees. The Chair
of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee notified the Committee members
of the results of the self-assessment, discussed them with the chairs of the other committees
of the Board and then reported on them to the Board. In addition, the Chairman of the Board met
with all Board members individually to discuss their respective self-assessments,

*  Since 1998, the term of office of non-executive directors has been thoroughly reviewed after 10
consecutive annual re-elections and has been limited to 15 consecutive annual re-elections. This
policy came into effect in 1998 for existing directors and applies to new directors as of the year
they take office.

Orientation and Education of Directors

6. Provide an orfentation and education ¢ The Bank offers its directors a comprehensive orientation and training program: orientation of
program for new recruits to the board. new directors, continued education in the form of information sessions, and individual meetings
with directors and members of senior management. The program is designed to provide an
overview of the Bank and its operations. Discussions with Executive Officers atlow directors to
become more familiar with the Bank and to identify its major challenges more clearly.

. The Directors” Handbook, which describes the responsibilities and obligations of directors, the
organizational structure and the mandates of the Board and its committees, and contains the
Code of Professional Conduct of the Bank, is distributed to all directors.

Effective Board Size

7. The board should examine its size . The Board, through the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, annually reviews

with a view to determining the impact its size and composition to maintain adequate geographic and industry representation as well
of the number of directors upon as complementary experience and expertise to foster exchange and discussion among directors
effectiveness, and undertake, where and effective decision-making.

appropriate, a program to reduce the

number of directors to a number . In this regard, during the financiat year ended October 31, 2004, the Board deemed it appropriate
which facilitates more effective to reduce its size, while respecting the minimum requirement of 12 directors as stipulated in the

decision-making. Bank's By-Laws. :
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Compensation of Directors

8. The board should review the . The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee periodically examines the adequacy
adequacy and form of the and form of directors’ remuneration based on their responsibilities, and makes recommendations
compensation of directors in light thereon to the Board. In that regard, the Committee takes into consideration the types of
of the risks and responsibilities compensation and the amounts paid to directors of Canadian financial institutions and comparable
involved in being an effective Canadian companies.
director.

. The directars, except for those who are also Officers of the Bank, do not benefit, and have never
benefited, from any stock option plan.

. In order to link the interests of directors more closely to those of shareholders, the Board has
reviewed share ownership requirements. Accordingly, directors must hold common shares of
the Bank and/or DSUs valued at not less than five times their annual retainer. For more information
on the remuneration paid to directors during the most recently completed financial year, please
refer to the "Remuneration of Directors of the Bank” section of this Circular

Committees and Outside Directors

9. Tfje committees of the board of ¢ Themajority of alt Board committees are comprised of outside, independent and unrelated directors.
directors should generally be For more information on the exact number of unrelated, independent directors on each committee
composed of outside directors!, of the Bank, please refer to Guideline 2 “Board Independence” in this chart.

a majority of whom are unrelated

directors. . For more informaticn on the composition and mandates of the committees, please refer to the

B ) “Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of this Circular.
(1] An “outside director” is a director who .

is a non-management member.

Approach to Corporate Governance

10.  The board of directors should *  The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for studying, preparing,
assume responsibility for developing implementing and overseeing corporate governance rules, procedures and policies for the Bank.
the approach to governance issues, More specifically, it is responsible for examining, on a regular basis, and approving the manner
or assign such responsibility to a in which the Bank responds to the Toronto Stock Exchange Guidelines.
committee of the board. The
committee would, among other s The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee stays abreast of any new regulations
things, be responsible for or guidelines concerning corporate governance best practices.

responding to the TSX Guidelines.
. For more information on the composition and mandates of this Committee, please refer to the
"Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of this Circular.

Position Descriptions

11. The board of directors, together . The Board and each committee act in accordance with a mandate that sets out their respective

with the CEO, should develop roles, duties and responsibilities.

position descriptions for the board

and for the CEQ, involving the . For more information on the composition and mandates of the Board and its committees, please
definition of the limits to refer to the "Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its Committees™ section of
management’s responsibilities. this Circular.

The board should approve or

develop the general objectives +  Adescription of the duties of the President and Chief Executive Officer is prepared by the Human
of the Bank which the CEQ is Resources Committee to define his responsibilities.

responsible for meeting.
*  The Board approves the general objectives of the Bank annually. On the basis of these objectives,
the Human Resources Committee determines the objectives to be achieved by the President and
Chief Executive Officer during the financial year, and then reviews his performance based on the
objectives achieved.

*  The Reportto Shareholders, distributed quarterly, includes an analysis of the Bank's results and
gauges performance based on the achievement of the objectives set for the current year. These
reports are available on the Bank’'s website.
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Board Independence

12, The board should have in place . in order to ensure the Board's independence from management, the duties of Chairman of the
appropriate structures and Board and of President and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank have been separated since
procedures to ensure that the board March 13, 2002. It should be noted in particular that since March 10, 2004, the Board has been
can function independently of chaired by Jean Douville, an unrelated and independent director. Mr. Douville has the mandate,
management. An appropriate together with the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee, to ensure that the
structure would be to: i appoint a Board discharges its responsibilities effectively and independentty.
chair of the board who is not a
member of management with *  The Ad Hoc Nominating Committee for the Chairman of the Board prepared the mandate of the
responsibility to ensure that the Chairman of the Board. This mandate was approved by the Board.
board discharges its responsibilities
or (i adopt alternate means suchas  * The directors periodically hotd meetings without the Officers of the Bank being present. These
assigning this responsibility to a meetings provide a forum for exchange and promote open discussion among the members. In
committee of the board orto 3 the most recently completed financial year, non-executive directors of the Bank met in camera
director, sometimes referred to five times.
as the "lead director”. Appropriate
procedures may involve that the . For more information, please refer to Guideline 2 "Board Independence” in this chart.
board meet on a regular basis without
management present or may involve
expressly assigning the responsibility
for administering the board's
relationship to management to a
committee of the board.

Audit Committee

13 The audit committee should be . The Audit and Risk Management Committee is composed exclusively of directors who are

composed only of outside directors.

The roles and responsibilities of the

audit committee should be specifically *
defined so as to provide appropriate
guidance to audit committee members
as to their duties. The audit committee
should have direct communication .
channels with the internal and external
auditors to discuss and review specific
issues as appropriate. The audit
committee dutfes should include .
oversight responsibility for

management reporting on internal
control. While it is management's
responsibility to design and implement
an effective syster of internal .
control, it is the responsibility of the

audit committee to ensure that
management has done so.

independent and unrelated to the Bank. :

The members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are financially literate and at least
one member has accounting or financial experience. For mare information on their financial
literacy, please refer to the “Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its Committees”
section of this Circular.

The Board reviewed and approved the mandate of the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
which sets out the duties and responsibilities assigned to the Committee members, both in audit
and risk management matters.

For more information on the composition and mandate of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, please refer to the “Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and lIts
Committees” section of this Circular or the “Board of Directors and its Committees” section of
the Annual Information Form of the Bank.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee makes recommendations to the Board regarding
the appointment of the external auditors and their compensation, reviews and discusses the
repart prepared by the external auditors on the elements likely to affect their independence
and objectivity.

As part of its audit responsibilities, the Committee reviews quarterly and annual consolidated
financial statements, and assesses, in consultation with the internal auditor and management,
the effectiveness of internal control policies and procedures.

As part of its risk management responsibilities, the Committee ensures that a proactive detection,
assessment and management process exists for material risks and compliance with policies and
control measures, in addition to reviewing and recommending to the Board the adoption of various
risk management policies for the material risks to which the Bank is exposed. The Committee
analyzes, examines and monitors issues related to the management of material financial and
non-financial risks to which the Bank is exposed.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee regularly meets with the internal and external
auditors, without members of management being present, in order to discuss specific issues.
The external auditors attend, as guests, the portion of alt meetings of the Committee dealing
with audit-related matters.
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Outside Advisors

14, The board of directors should . The Board and its three main committees can engage the services of outside advisors at the
implement a system which enables an expense of the Bank.
individual director to engage an
outside advisor at the expense of the
Bank in appropriate circumstances.
The engagement of the outside advisor
should be subject to the approval of an
appropriate committee of the board.

Summary of the Number of Board and Committee Meetings
held during the financial year ended October 31, 2004

Board of Directors 1
Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee (6) é
Human Resources Committee (HR) 6
Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARM) ‘ 14
Ad Hoc Strategic Planning Committee (aH1)

Ad Hoc Nominating Committee for the Chairman of the Board (aH2) 2
Waorking Group (wg) 1

Record of Attendance and Remuneration of Directors
for the financial year ended October 31, 2004

Remuneration

Attendance at : in the Total

Meetings Retainer Form of Meeting Remuneration

Director Board  Committees {$) Shares ($) Fees ($) %)
Lawrence S. Bloomberg 11/ - 25,000 7,500 16,500 49,000
Pierre Bourgie [ARM, G, AH1, WG] 11/11 21/21 43,167 17,500 48,000 108,667
Gérard Coulombe {HO, AH2) 11/M 8/8 29,375 10,000 28,500 67,875
Bernard Cyr (aRM} 1/1 14/14 28,500 10,000 37,500 76,000
Shirley A. Dawe (G, HO, AH2) 11/1 14014 32,875 12,500 37,500 82,875
Nicole Diamond-Gélinas (aARM) 1/M 14114 28,500 10,000 . 37,500 76,000
Jean Douville 11/1 24124 134,083 11,667 28,500 174,250
Marcel Dutil (Ho, aH1, AH2) 10/11 8/8 30,250 10,000 27,000 67,250
Jean Gaulin (Ho, ARM, AH1, WG} 11/M1 18/21 45,667 17,500 43,500 106,667
Paul Gobeil (G, ARM, AH1, AH2, WG) 11/11 23/23 42,375 15,417 51,000 108,792
Suzanne Leclair (6} 11/M1 6/6 28,500 10,000 25,500 64,000
E.A. [Dee} Parkinson-Marcoux (Ho) 1111 - 6/6 28,500 10,000 25,500 64,000
Réal Raymond 11/ - - - - -
Roseann Runte (6) 11/1 6/6 28,500 10,000 25,500 64,000
Jean Turmet 9/11 - - - - -
Total 525,292 152,084 432,000 1,109,376

Messrs. Raymond and Turmel are not compensated for serving on the Board.

Messrs. Bloomberg, Raymond and Turmel do not serve on any Board committee,

As Chairman of the Board, Mr. Douville attends all Board committee meetings but receives no meeting fees.

Mr. Douvitle was compensated for his duties as Chair and member of the Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee and as a member of

the Audit and Risk Management Committee from November 1, 2003 to March 10, 2004. Effective March 10, 2004, Mr. Douville was compensated as

Chairman of the Board.

. André Bérard resigned from the Board on March 10, 2004. During the financial year ended October 31, 2004, he attended four Board meetings.

s Francois J. Coutu resigned from the Board on January 22, 2004. During the financial year ended October 31, 2004, he attended two Board meetings
and one committee meeting.

. Dennis Wood resigned from the Board on March 10, 2004. During the financial year ended October 31, 2004, he attended four Board meetings and two
committee meetings.

. The Working Group was set up as part of the director self-assessment process.

. Directors do not receive stock-based remuneration when they serve on an ad hoc committee.
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Summary of the Mandates of the Board of Directors and Its Committees

Board

The main duty of the Board is to oversee the management of the Bank, safeguard its assets, and ensure its viability, profitability and
development. To do so, it is assisted by three committees: the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Conduct Review and
Corporate Governance Committee, and the Human Resources Committee.

The summary of the mandate presented below sets out the obligations and responsibilities of the Boardl1.

The mandate of the Board requires that it be comprised of directors who have extensive complementary knowledge, competencies
and skills, as well as relevant expertise enabling them to make an active, informed and profitable contribution to the management
of the Bank, the conduct of its business and the orientation of its development. The directors are bound by the provisions of the Code
of Professional Conduct and other rules of ethics, and are required to disclose any conflict of interest.

Mandate and Activities

In order to assume its responsibilities, the Board, inter alia: i

*  reviews, discusses and approves periodically the strategic plan through which the Bank establishes its mission, vision, business
objectives and strategy;

e reviews the Bank's actual operating and financial results in relation to projected results;

*  reviews and approves operating budgets;

s  reviews and approves the overall risk philosophy and risk tolerance of the Bank, recognizes and understands the major risks to
which the Bank is exposed and ensures that appropriate systems are set up for effective management of those risks;

e discusses and approves all the major policies of the Bank, particularly the rules pertaining to the acceptance, oversight,
management and reporting of material risks to which the Bank is exposed as well as changes thereto with respect to risk
management;

s approves the description of the functions of the Chairman of the Board:;

¢  approves the appointment of any new nominee for election as a director, reviews and approves directors’ remuneration, the form
of remuneration, and the allowances given to directors, and takes charge of the succession planning process for the Board of
Directors; '

¢ selects and evaluates the President and Chief Executive Officer, sets his compensation, and ensures succession planning;

*  approves the appaintment of members of senior management, sets their compensation, ensures their training and development,
and plans their succession;

¢ approves policies on the communication and disclosure of information to shareholders, investors and the general public;

¢ ensures that measures are in place to receive feedback from Bank shareholders;

¢ ensures that the rules of conduct and ethics are maintained, in particular by adopting a code of professional conduct for directors,
officers and employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries, and ensures that the Bank has an ongoing, appropriate and effective
process to guarantee compliance with these rules;

*  reviews and approves policies with respect to major initiatives and activities;

*  discussesand determines the structure and general corporate governance principles applicable to the Bank’s major subsidiaries;

+ maintains effective relationships and communicates openly with senior management.

Board Committees

The mandates of the three standing Board committees have a similar working structure, and members are appointed annually. In
addition, no officer or employee of the Bank or of a subsidiary of the Bank may be a member of a committee. Similar rules apply to
each committee concerning the presiding chair, the secretary and the holding and calling of meetings. All the committees require
that a majority of the members be present to constitute a quorum, and that all decisions be approved by a majority of the votes of the
members present. The mandates also provide that the Chair of each committee make an oral report, at a subsequent Board meeting,
on the deliberations of any committee meeting.

(1] This mandate is presented in its entirety in the "Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of the Bank's Annual Information Form for
the most recently completed financial year.
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AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated certain of its powers to the Audit and Risk Management Committee so that the Committee may assist
it in overseeing the management of the Bank in the area of internal controls, external auditors, financial reporting and analysis,
and corporate compliance, as well as in the area of risk, capital, liguidity, funding and credit management.

The Committee was entirely comprised of unrelated and independent directors at the end of the most recently completed
financial year. At Committee members are financially literate, and at least one member has accounting or financial expertise.
Their responsibilities are set out in detail in the summary of this committee’s mandate, which was reviewed this year, and is
presented belowll),

Members

Pierre Bourgie, Chair
Bernard Cyr

Nicole Diamond-Gélinas
Jean Gaulin

Paul Gobeil

Description of Financial Literacy of Members

All the Committee members are financially literate and can understand the accounting principles used by the Bank in its financial
statements, and assess the general application of such principles. They also have relevant experience preparing, auditing, analyzing
or evaluating financial statements that present a level of complexity generally comparable to the complexity of the financial statements
of the Bank, or supervising persons engaged in such activities. The members also understand the internal controls and procedures
for financial reporting.

Infact, alt the Committee members have & university degree in administration, commerce, accounting or a related field. Furthermore,
they have all acquired relevant experience in serving on boards of directors in addition to being heads of various companies or
comptrollers. A number of them also are, or have been, members of audit committees of various companies. They have all acquired
the experience and knowledge needed to properly fulfit their role as members of the Committee.

The Committee has at least one financial expert, namely, Paul Gobeil. He has two Master's degrees in accounting sciences and
accounting from the Université de Sherbrooke, as well as extensive experience in the area of business and finance. In addition,
Mr. Gobeil has been a member of the Ordre des comptables agréés du Québec since 1965 and a Fellow since 1986.

Mandate and Activities
In order to assume its responsibitities, the Committee, inter alia:

Audit

e receives reports directly from the external auditors of the Bank, who also report to the Board as representatives of the shareholders;

*  requires management to implement and maintain appropriate internal control procedures and reviews the effectiveness of these
procedures;

¢ recommends to the Board the appointment or dismissal of the internal auditor and makes recommendations regarding the
appointment and remuneration of the external auditors;

*  ensures cooperation between the Internal Audit sector and external auditors;

*  reviews and approves the annual internal audit plan;

*  reviews the nature and scope of the work of the external auditors of the Bank as well as their remuneration;

» isdirectlyresponsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor's
report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Bank, including the resotution of disagreements between
management and the external auditors regarding financial reporting;

*  reviews internal and external auditors’ reports on a quarterly or annual basis and ensures that the necessary measures are
taken to follow up the recommendations resulting from such reports;

*  reviews and discusses the report prepared by the external auditors detailing all factors that might have an impact on their
independence and objectivity, and recommends measures to be taken by the Board to ensure the independence of the external
auditors;

(1) This mandate is presented in its entirety in the “Board of Directors and Its Committees” section of the Bank's Annual Information Form for
the most recently completed financial year.
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*  pre-approves all non-audit services to be provided to the Bank or its subsidiary entities by the external auditors, unless it has
adopted specific policies and procedures to retain non-audit services and the following conditions have been met: (i) the policies
and procedures for pre-approval are detailed as to the targeted services; (i) the Committee is informed of each non-audit service;
and [jii) the procedures do not involve the delegation to management of Committee responsibilities;

*  reviews and approves the hiring policies of the Bank with regard to partners, employees and former partners and employees of
the present and former external auditors of the Bank; ‘

¢ reviews the annual report of management on the compliance of the Bank with the regulations governing it.

Financial Reporting and Analysis

*  reviews and recommends to the Board the approval of information documents containing audited or unaudited financial information,
notably the Annual Information Form and news releases for the publication of quarterly and annual consolidated financiat
statements of the Bank;

*  ensures that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the financial information the Bank discloses to the public;

»  reviews the quarterly and annual consolidated financial statements of the Bank and recommends their approvat to the Board,
and reviews the financial statements of certain subsidiaries;

*  reviews all investments and transactions that could adversely affect the financial well-being of the Bank, particutarly when
brought to its attention by the auditors or management; '

*  reviews management’s report on any dispute, notice of assessment or any other claim of a similar nature which could have a
material impact on the financial position of the Bank and ensures that such materiat claims are properly disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements;

* meets, at least annually, with representatives of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada.

Risk Management

s reviews the declarations and reports regarding compliance with the Standards of Sound Business and Financial Practices of the
Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation;

e requires management to report to the Committee on the existence of a control environment at the Bank that supports appropriate,
effective and prudent management of its operations and of the risks to which it is exposed and that contributes to the achievernent
of its business objectives, and reports thereon to the Board;

*  requires management to report to the Committee on the fact that the Bank is “in control”, namely, that its operations are managed
in accordance with strategic, risk, capital, liquidity and funding management processes; that such processes are carried out in
a control environment; that major problems are identified; and that the Bank takes timely action to address them, and reports
thereon to the Board;

*  reviews and recommends to the Board the adoption of policies for managing material risks, notably policies related to credit
risk, market risk and operational risk, and reviews these policies once a year;

*  reviews changes inimpaired loans, ensures that they are monitored and approves the taking of provisions for any impaired loans,
according to the rules established in the Credit Risk Management Policy of the Bank;

*  reviews and recommends to the Board, subject to the provisions set outin section 497 of the Bank Act any transaction contemplated
therein between the Bank and a related party.

Varia

*  establishes a policy and procedures for {il the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Bank regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and (i} the confidential, anonymous submission by employees
of the Bank of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

Guidelines for the Management of Services Provided by External Auditors

This year, the Committee reviewed the Guidelines for the Management of Services Provided by External Auditors, which state that a

mandate may be assigned to external auditors for non-audit services if the following conditions are met:

* the specific expertise of the external auditors or their intrinsic knowledge of the Bank’s activities allow them to carry out the
mandate in the best interests of the Bank, in a timely manner and at a competitive cost;

*  theaccepted mandate or the services rendered do not compromise the independence of the external auditors within the prevailing
regulatory framework;

¢ the mandate is authorized according to the conditions stated below.
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These services must in fact be pre-approved by the Committee. A policy containing specific provisions may be adopted provided it
meets the following conditions:

*  policies and procedures for pre-approval are detailed;

* the Committee is informed of each non-audit service;

* the procedures do not involve delegation of Committee responsibilities to management.

The Committee reviews the pre-approval mechanisms for mandates assigned to the external auditors for non-audit services and, if
it deems appropriate, renews them on an annual basis.

All the services offered to the Bank and its subsidiaries by the external auditors of the Bank must be pre-approved specifically by the
Committee. The various pre-approval terms and conditions are:

(al detailed annual approval of all audit services;

{b) approval of an annual envelope for obtaining comfort letters under financing programs;

[c] approval of an annual envelope to obtain interpretations on the application of generally accepted accounting principles;

[d) approval of an annual envelope for taxation mandates.

Audit mandates that are not presented in {a), non-audit mandates that exceed $100,000, and mandates that will exceed the envelopes
presented in (b}, {c) and {d) are subject to specific pre-approval, as described below.

The Committee has delegated the responsibility of approving the awarding of specific mandates to its Chair. Consequently, whenever
a specific pre-approval is required under these guidelines, Bank management will be required to submit a written request to the
Committee Chair.

It is management’s responsibility to determine whether a service is inctuded in the set of pre-approved services. Management must
consult the Committee Chair in all potentially ambiguous cases.

CONDUCT REVIEW AND CORPCRATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Conduct Review and Corporate Governance Committee assists the Board by overseeing the implementation of corporate
governance rules, procedures and policies as well as compliance therewith, in particular by establishing and reviewing the
functions of the Board and its committees, and those of the Chairman of the Board. It also periodicatly reviews the selection
and succession criteria and procedures for directors as well as conflicts of interest. Furthermore, it ensures that a process is
set up to assess the performance and effectiveness of the Board, the committees and their members.

Within the context of conduct review, it ensures compliance with rules of professional conduct, implementation of mechanisms
for the disclosure of information to clients and oversees related party transactions.

At the end of the most recently completed financial year, the Committee was comprised of independent directors who were
unrelated to the Bank. Their responsibilities are set out more fully in the summary of this Committee’s mandate presented
below, which was reviewed this year.

Members

Paul Gobeil, Chair
Pierre Bourgie
Shirley A. Dawe
Suzanne Leclair
Roseann Runte
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SECTION 4

Mandate and Activities
In order to assume its responsibilities, the Committee, inter alia:

Conduct Review

¢ reviews Bank procedures which ensure that transactions with related parties of the Bank comply with the Act, reviews Bank
practices in order to identify any transactions with related parties that may have a material effect on the stability or solvency of
the Bank and establishes criteria to define related party transactions of the Bank with a nominal value;

e overseesthe mechanisms and procedures established by the Board governing conflicts of interest, use of confidential information,
disclosure of information to clients required to be disclosed under the Act, and the consideration of client complaints;

e reviews the code of ethics applicable to directors, officers and employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries.

Corporate Governance

¢  makes recommendations to the Board concerning the adoption of the Bank's corporate governance orientations, policies and
practices and ensures compliance therewith;

*  prepares and reviews the mandate of the Chairman of the Board, which sets out the functions to be assumed by the Chairman,
and recommends approvat thereof to the Board; )

*  reviews the mandate of the Board, which sets out its expectations for directors and management and defines the role and
responsibilities of the Board, and recommends approval thereof to the Board;

*  prepares and reviews the selection criteria for directors as well as the procedure for selecting new directors and makes
recommendations thereon to the Board, and periodically reviews the mandate and composition of Board committees;

s oversees the process of assessing the performance and effectiveness of the Board and its committees and the directors;

e organizes orientation programs for new directors of the Bank as well as ongoing education programs on the operations of the
Bank and its subsidiaries;

*  periodically reviews the size of the Board in order to ensure its effectiveness;

*  makes recommendations concerning the remuneration and allowances for directors;

e  approves the Annual Report of the Bank with respect to corporate governance, taking into account regulatory requirements;

¢ reviews and recommends to the Board that it approve the Management Proxy Circular, excluding the portion relating to human
resources and compensation.

HUMAN RESOQURCES COMMITTEE
The Board has delegated certain powers to the Human Resources Committee so that the Committee may assist it in overseeing the
management of the Bank. in this regard, the Committee reviews and approves the human resources policies and practices of the Bank.

The Committee annually reviews the salary policy, the approach to total compensation and other employment conditions. In addition
to appraising the performance of the President and Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers annually, the Committee
periodically reviews the management succession plan of the Bank and its subsidiaries. It also annually reviews pension plan
operation and performance.

At the end of the most recently completed financial year, the Committee was comprised of five directors, four of whom were
unrelated and independent. Their responsibilities are set out in the summary of this Committee’'s mandate presented below.

Members

Jean Gaulin, Chair

Gérard Coulombe

Shirley A. Dawe

Marcel Dutil

E.A. [Dee) Parkinson-Marcoux!1}

{11 E.A.[Dee) Parkinson-Marcoux resigned as a director and a member of the Human Resources Committee on December 17, 2004.
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Mandate and Activities

In order to assume its responsibilities, the Committee, inter alia:

*  reviews and approves the description of the functions of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the annual objectives he
must achieve;

»  periodically reviews the management succassion plan of the Bank, the succession planning process for senior management of
the Bank as well as the profile of officers possessing the necessary competencies to hold senior management positions at the
Bank;

» annually appraises the performance of Officers and reviews their total compensation based on the objectives assigned to them
and the results achieved;

*  reviews and recommends annually to the Board, the adoption of the salary policies and the approach with respect to total
compensation applicable to the Named Executive Cfficers, other Officers and employees of the Bank;

s studies the various components of compensation for the Officers and makes recommendations to the Board, when appropriate;

* reviews and recommends to the Board that it approve an annual report on the compensation paid to Officers;

e  approves the amendments made from time to time to the terms and conditions of the Stock Option Plan, the Stock Appreciation
Rights Plan and the Deferred Stock Unit Plan for Officers;

+  reviews and recommends to the Board, where applicable, amendments to the Employee Pension Plan and the Pension Plan for
Designated Employees;

+ revises and approves the mandate of the Retirement Committee and appoints the internal and external members;

«  approves the financial statements of the pension plans and the Poot Fund of the Participating Pension Plans of the Bank.

AD HOC STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE AND A0 HOC NOMINATING COMMITTEE FOR THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
The Ad Hoc Strategic Planning Committee was set up by the Board as part of strategic planning for the 2003-2004 financial year
in order to work together with the President and Chief Executive Officer thereon.

The Committee is comprised of unrelated and independent directors of the Bank.

Members

Jean Gaulin, Chair
Pierre Bourgie
Jean Douville
Marcet Dutit

Paul Gobeit

The Ad Hoc Nominating Committee for the Chairman of the Board was created by the Board during the 2003-2004 financiat year to
recommend a candidate for Chairman of the Board, and to establish his mandate.

The Committee was comprised of non-executive directors, with only one director related within the meaning of the Toronto Stock
Exchange Guidelines.

Members

Paut Gobeit, Chair
Gérard Coulombe
Francois J. Coutull)
Shirley A. Dawe
Marcel Dutil

(1} Francois J. Coutu resigned as a director and a member of the Human Resources Committee and the Ad Hoc Nominating Committee on
January 22, 2004.
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MINUTES
A copy of the minutes of the Annual Meeting of Common Shareholders of the Bank held on March 10, 2004 has been mailed to
shareholders, together with this Circular.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Further information about the Bank may be obtained from its website at www.nbc.ca and from the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com.

Financial information concerning the Bank can be found in the consolidated financial statements and Management's Discussion and
Analysis for the Bank’s most recently completed financial year.

The Bank will provide to any person, upon request, a copy of the Annual Report, a copy of the Annual information Form together with
a copy of any document incorporated therein by reference, a copy of the annual consolidated financial statements for the financial
year ended October 31, 2004 with the accompanying auditor’s report, a copy of any subsequent quarterly report and a copy of the
Management Proxy Circular of the Bank in respect of its most recent Meeting that involved the election of directors. To obtain copies
of these documents, please send your request to the Corporate Secretary’s Office of the Bank, 600 de La Gauchetiére West, 4th Floor,
Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4L2.

APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
On January 13, 2005, the Board approved the contents of this Management Proxy Circular and the mailing thereof to the shareholders.

Linda Caty
Vice-President and Corporate Secretary

January 13, 2005
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SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS
Proposals Nos. 1 and 2 have been submitted to the management of the Bank by Yves Michaud, a shareholder residing at
4765 Méridian Avenue, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3W 2C3.

Proposal No. 1
Proposal and statement of the shareholder:
"It is proposed that the Bank close down its subsidiary or subsidiaries in tax havens.

Tax havens are serious threats to a sound market economy because they open the door to tax evasion and tax scams, as well
as money laundering operations and other financial transactions conducted by criminal elements.

All Canadian taxpayers are adversely affected by this situation. Encouraging this practice and being a participant on a large
scale, as is the case for banks, means depriving Canada and federated states of revenues that otherwise would have been
directed to health, education and economic research and development. In April 2001, the OECD published a report on the
question of offshore centres, in which Member countries were requested “to develop measures to counter the distorting effects
of harmful tax competition on investment decisions and the consequences for national tax bases.” Denis Desautels, the former
Auditor General of Canada, and Sheila Fraser also pointed out the serious problems relating to tax treaties with countries that
practise harmful tax competition such as Barbados, the Bahamas and Bermuda.”

Position of the Bank

Various controls have beenintroduced by the Canadian authorities in order to regulate the domestic and international operations
of the Bank and other players in the Canadian financial system including, for instance, the implementation of the Financial
Transactions and Reports Analysis Centre of Canada and the adoption of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist
Financing Act.

Thisis partially why, in “The OECD's Project on Harmful Tax Practices: The 2004 Progress Report” published on February 4, 2004,
the OECD, which advocates an environment in which fair competition can take place in tax matters, considered that the presence
of Canada in international banking centres was not harmful because Canada applies “very high standards regarding transparency
and exchange of information for tax purposes.”

The Bank’s international operations are subject to Canadian legislative and regulatory provisions as well as to those of each
country in which it conducts business, regardless of whether the provisions are tax-related or against money laundering. The
Bank abides by these rules, and intends to continue to do so. It has therefore adopted procedures and mechanisms for verifying
and detecting suspicicus financial transactions. Bank personnel are also trained to recognize, in particular, money laundering
activities and other fraudulent transactions; in addition, compliance officers are responsible for monitoring and ensuring
compliance with the applicable rules.

In a context of globalization and the pursuit of customer service excellence, the Bank considers it necessary to maintain a
presence in international banking centres. This decision is taken in the best interest of the Bank’s shareholders and clients and
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.

For these reasons, management recommends voting AGAINST this proposal.
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Proposal No. 2

Proposal and statement of the shareholder:

“Itis proposed that the Board of Directors of the Bank set a ceiling on the salaries of executive officers of the Bank and its subsidiaries,
including all forms of compensation and benefits.

Executive officers’ shameless compensation revolts tens of thousands, perhaps hundreds of thousands of shareholders who
stand by powerlessly and watch the scramble for unjust enrichment, which is not tied to any real corporate progress. 'The
market system is based on a myth for the greater profit of a few,” writes John Kenneth Galbraith in his latest book, THE ECONOMICS
OF INNOCENT FRAUD. ... managers set their own compensation... This, not surprisingly, can be munificent. In this world of innocent
fraud, the inaction of stock market regulators, the powerlessness of shareholders, the collusion of interests and the incompetence
of many financial experts are not likely to reverse the trend.’

Outrageous salaries constantly lure officers to seek their own personal interest before that of shareholders. Reports of so-
called compensation experts, to which shareholders are not privy, are just window dressing. It is in the interest of such experts
to play along with management, as is the case for compensation committee members. The primary mandate of the Board of
Directors is to safeguard shareholder interests. Directors have an absolute obligation to put an end to this mad rush toward
increasingly outrageous and provocative compensation.”

Position of the Bank

One of the principal mandates delegated by the Bank’s Board of Directors to its Human Resources Committee is to recommend
an approach to total compensation. With this end in mind, the Committee members annually review the compensation policy
and programs for officers and ensure that they are in line with the Bank's business objectives and that they are competitive, an
essential aspect in recruiting and retaining key personnel. The Committee members also annually review the compensation
paid to each officer, in particular the base salary, annual bonuses and stock option awards, based on the level of duties and
responsibilities assumed, the degree of experience and the contribution to the Bank’s success.

This Circular contains a detailed description of the total compensation policy for Executive Officers as well as the report of the
Human Resources Committee on the subject.

The portion of Named Executive Officers’ variable compensation, which is essentially based on the Bank's financial results,
represents more than 67% of their total direct compensation. In this way, the Bank’s compensation programs are linked to
shareholders’ interests.

The Bank’s Board of Directors considers that it is in the interest of shareholders to maintain a total compensation policy based
on the Bank's financial results. In fact, the Bank's shares posted a total return of 23.0% in 2004, versus a return of 16.9% by
the S&P/TSX Banks Index, and 20.7% by the S&P/TSX Financial Services Index. In the past five years, the total average annual
return of the Bank's shares was 26.1%, higher than the returns of the S&P/TSX Banks Index and the S&P/TSX Financial Services
Index. The Bank's shares recorded the best total return over the past five years and the third best total return for the financial
year ended October 31, 2004 of Canada’s six major banks. In addition, in the past two years, the Bank’s net income has grown
by 9%, while return on equity rose from 11.3% in 2002 to 16.5% in 2003, and to 18.8% in 2004, allowing the Bank to narrow the
gap with the other five major Canadian banks.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Bank's compensation policies serve the interest of shareholders and that
arbitrary salary ceilings would not be in best interest of sharehoiders.

For these reasons, management recommends voting AGAINST this proposal.
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Proposals Nos. 3, 4 and 5 have been submitted to the management of the Bank by the Association for the Protection of Quebec
Savers and Investors [APEIQ), a shareholder, located at 82 Sherbrooke West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H1X 2X3.

Proposal No. 3
Proposal and statement of the shareholder:
"It is proposed that National Bank of Canada limit the time that an independent director can serve on the Board of Directors to 10 years.

Given the complexity of the economic, technological and political environment in which companies operate, new directors require
a period of familiarization. It is therefore normal for a director to serve on a board for a number of years after gaining a good
understanding of the challenges facing the corporation.

Change is also part and parcel of corporate development. It is therefare in the interest of companies to bring new blood to their
boards of directors on a regular basis by recruiting individuals who will not only provide new skills but who can also stand back
and examine corporate challenges more objectively. Warren Buffett, who is very familiar with how boards of directors work,
has been repeatedly critical of the acquiescent attitude in boardrooms, and he has pointed out the problems related to directors’
loss of objectivity and independent thought. A constant turnover in independent directors aims to counter the harmful effects
of extended directorships for a corporation, such as a dulled ability to perceive and analyze and the suppression of bothersome
views for colleagues or officers.”

Pasition of the Bank

Under a Bank policy implemented in 1998, the term of office of non-executive directors is subject to a thorough review after
10 consecutive annual re-elections and is limited to 15 consecutive annual re-elections. This policy has applied to existing
directors since 1998 and applies to new directors as of the year they take office.

Moreover, the performance of Board members is assessed annually based on parameters established by the Conduct Review
and Corporate Governance Committee.

Management is of the opinion that the aim of the proposal submitted has already been achieved, and management recommends
voting AGAINST this proposal.

Proposal No. 4

Proposal and statement of the shareholder:

“It is proposed that National Bank of Canada set up a cumulative voting system to elect members of the Board of Directors, thus
giving minority shareholders a much more active role in appointing directors.

Electing the members of the Board of Directors is one of the fundamental rights of shareholders. The codes of good governance
adopted by various countries encourage enhancing the process to choose and elect directors. Cumulative voting is provided for
in Canadian legislation to promote the expression of the will of minority shareholders in the electoral process for corporate
directors. Under this system, all or some of the votes held by a shareholder can be cast for one or more nominees for director.
Before shareholders can exercise cumulative voting, a company must set up such a system. Given the responsibilities of the
Board of Directors in overseeing senior management and its duty to protect the interests of shareholders and the company, it
is critical that shareholders be able to participate much more actively in selecting directors.”
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Position of the Bank

Cumulative voting gives each shareholder a number of votes to elect directors equal to the number of common shares held
multiplied by the number of directors to be elected. Each shareholder may cast all his or her votes for a single nominee or
allocate them among the nominees for the position of director as he or she pleases. If a shareholder fails to provide instructions
on how to allocate his or her votes among the nominees, the votes will then be distributed equally among the nominees selected
by the shareholder. Should the number of nominees for the position of director exceed the number of positions to be filled, the
nominees with the lowest number of votes will be eliminated until such time as there is only the required number of nominees
teft to fill all the vacant positions of director.

The main purpose of cumulative voting is to protect minority shareholders from one or more majority shareholders. In the
Bank's case, no shareholder owns more than 10% of the shares in any class of shares conferring voting rights on the holders.
Cumulative voting is not frequently used in widely held companies.

The Bank believes that if a cumulative voting system were set up, the impartiality of a director elected by a group of shareholders
with special interests could be challenged and his or her ability to work collaboratively with the other members of the Board
in the interests of all sharehotders could be jeopardized.

For these reasons, management recommends voting AGAINST this proposal.

Proposal No. 5

Proposal and statement of the shareholder:

“Itis proposed that Nationat Bank of Canada replace the Stock Option Plan for Officers by a restricted stock plan where stock must
be held for a minimum of two years.

Stock option plans must be eliminated because they have compromised the credibility of corporate compensation policies.
These plans are inequitable for shareholders as a whole, and they have been shown to be incompatible with long-term
management.

From the shareholders’ standpoint, restricted stock grants will become an incentive for officers to manage a company as though
they were the owners, focusing on longer-term objectives. Furthermore, the cost of executive officer compensation will be
easier to identify in financial statements. It is important to allocate restricted stock that must be held for at least two years,
thus forcing officers to keep such stock for a minimum period of time before trading it. In this way, officers will be less inclined
to seek short-term profit. This explains why a number of companies in the United States have chosen to replace their stock
option plans with restricted stock plans.”

Position of the Bank
The Bank’s Officers must be motivated to attain the objective of increasing shareholder value. In addition, recruiting, retaining
and motivating talented and skilled executives are critical to achieving the return and performance objectives of the Bank.

The Stock Option Plan, exclusively for Officers and certain key Bank employees, is an incentive tool aimed at encouraging them
to enhance the return on shareholder investment by linking a portion of their compensation to the Bank's performance. In this
way, the interests of Officers are directly tied to those of the Bank’s shareholders, which is to shareholders’ advantage.

The mandate of the Human Resources Committee is to approve the Bank’s compensation policies and practices, including, in
particular, the Stock Option Plan, The Committee is therefore responsible for assessing Officers’ performance and for granting
stock options under the Plan.

The Human Resources Committee also assesses, on an annual basis, the pertinence of using different vehicles of long-term
compensation incentives, including stock options and restricted stock-based compensation. For information purposes, the
Committee approved, for 2004-2008, the introduction of a restricted stock unit plan under which a pre-set percentage of the
annual bonus of certain Officers could be paid in the form of deferred stock units {DSUs). This Circular contains a detailed
description of the plan. The Committee concluded that the existing plan is still the most appropriate.
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In the past few years, the Bank has implemented procedures governing share ownership by the Bank’s Officers. According to
these guidelines, Officers must own a minimum number of common shares of the Bank, the value of which is proportional to
the base salary received and the position held. Officers who are members of the Executive Committee must, upon exercising
stock options awarded since December 2002, hold the amount equivalent to the gain, after tax considerations, in the form of
common shares of the Bank for one year. They must also provide prior notice of five business days of their intention to exercise
stock options of the Bank. Lastly, they are allowed to trade in Bank securities only during certain predetermined periods of the
year. This Circular contains a detailed description of these procedures.

For these reasons, management recommends voting AGAINST this proposal.
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Stock exchange listings

The common shares of the Bank as well as the First Preferred Shares, Series 13 and 15, are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

lssue or Class Ticker Symbols Newspaper Abbreviations
Common Shares NA Nat Bk or Natl Bk
First Preferred Shares
Series 13 NA.PR.J Nat Bk s13 or Natl Bk s13
Series 15 NA.PR.K Nat Bk s15 or Natl Bk s15
Dividends
Dividend dates in fiscal 2004-2005
(subject to approval by the Board of Directors of the Bank]
Ex-dividend dates Record dates Payment dates

Common Shares
December 23, 2004
March 22, 2005
June 23, 2005
September 20, 2005

December 27, 2004
March 24, 2005
June 27, 2005
September 22, 2005

February 1, 2005
May 1, 2005
August 1, 2005
November 1, 2005

First Preferred Shares, Series 13 and 15
January 5, 2005

April 6, 2005

July 6, 2005

October 5, 2005

January 7, 2005
April 8, 2005
July 8, 2005
October 7, 2005

February 15, 2005
May 15, 2005
August 15, 2005
November 15, 2005

Quarterly report publication dates in fiscal 2004-2005
First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

February 24, 2005
May 26, 2005
August 25, 2005
December 8, 2005
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HEAD OFFICE

National Bank of Canada

National Bank Tower

600 de La Gauchetiére West
Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4.2
Telephone: (514) 394-5000

Telex: 0525181

{Nabacan Montreal}

www.nbc.ca

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

For information about stock transfers, address
changes, dividends, lost stock certificates, tax
forms and estate transfers, shareholders are
requested to contact the Transfer Agent, National
Bank Trust Inc., at the address and telephone
numbers below.

National Bank Trust Inc.

Share Ownership Management

1100 University, 9th Floor

Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 2G7

Telephone: (514) 871-7171
1-800-341-1419

Fax: (514) 871-7442

For any correspondence:

National Bank Trust Inc.

Share Ownership Management

P.0. Box 888, Station B

Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 929

Other shareholder inquiries

can be addressed to:

Investor Relations

National Bank of Canada

National Bank Tower

600 de La Gauchetiére West, 7th Floor
Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4L2
Telephone: {514] 394-0294

Fax: [514] 394-6196

E-mail: investorrelations@nbc.ca
Website: www.nbc.ca/investorrelations
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DISTRIBUTION NOTICE OF THIS ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

This Annual information Form must be accompanied by copies of all documents incorporated therein by reference
when it is provided to security holders or other interested parties. ’

Partions of the Annual Information Form are presented in the following documents and are incorporated herein
by reference:

+  the annual report to shareholders {the “Annual Report '] including Managément's Discussion and Analysis for the

fiscal year ended October 31, 2004; and
»  the Management Proxy Circular dated as at December 29, 2004 {"Circular”).

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

From time to time, Nationa!l Bank of Canada (the "Bank”} makes written and oral forward-looking statements,
included in this Annual Information Form, as well as in the Annual Report and in Management's Discussion and
Analysis to which it refers. All such statements are made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of the United
States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include, among others,
statements with respect to the economy, market changes, the achievement of strategic objectives, certain risks
as well as statements with respect to our beliefs, plans, expectations, anticipations, estimates and intentions.
These forward-{ooking statements are typically identified by the words "may,” "could,” “should,” "would,”
“suspect,” "outlook,” “believe,” “anticipate,” "estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” "plan,” and words and expressions
of similar import.

By their very nature, such forward-looking statements require us to make assumptions and involve inherent risks
and uncertainties, both general and specific. There is significant risk that express or implied projections contained
in such statements will not materiatize or will not be accurate. A number of factors could cause actual future
results, conditions, actions or events to differ materially from the targets, expectations, estimates or intentions
expressed in the forward-looking statements. Such differences may be caused by factors, many of which are
beyond the Bank's control, which include, but are not limited to, changes in Canadian and/or global economic
and financial conditions (particularly fluctuations in interest rates, currencies and other financial instruments},
liquidity, market trends, regulatory developments and competition in geographic areas where the Bank operates,
technological changes, consolidation in the Canadian financial services sector, the possible impact on our
businesses of international conflicts and other developments including those relating to the war on terrorism
and the Bank's anticipation of and success in managing the risks implied by the foregoing.

The Bank cautions that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. Investors and others who base
themselves on the Bank's forward-looking statements should carefully consider the above factors as well as the
uncertainties they represent and the risk they entail. The Bank therefore cautions readers not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements. The Bank does not undertake to update any forward-tooking
statements, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time by or on behalf of the Bank.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

NAME, ADDRESS AND INCORPORATION

The Bank is a chartered bank governed by the Bank Act {Canadal. The Bank's roots date back to 1859 with the founding of Banque
Nationale in Quebec City. The Bank's current charter is the result of a series of amalgamations, first with Bangue d'Hochelaga
in 1924 to form Bank Canadian National, which then merged with The Provincial Bank in 1979 to form National Bank of Canada.
In 1985, National Bank of Canada acquired The Mercantile Bank of Canada. The head office of the Bank is located at 600 de La
Gauchetiere West, 4th Floor, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, H3B 4L2.

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

THREE-YEAR HISTORY

Fiscal 2001-2002: The Bank strengthened its position in potentially lucrative markets through major partnership agreements
and acquisitions, particularly that of Altamira, a Canadian mutual fund manager and distributor. In addition, the Bank significantly
improved the quality of its lending portfolio as evidenced by the level of gross private impaired loans outstanding, which amounted
to $479 million as at October 31, 2002 compared to $932 million as at October 31, 2001.

Fiscal 2002-2003: The Bank pursued its strategy to be a super-regional bank in Quebec while being highly selective in choosing
its activities outside its core market. It executed this strategy with determination, diligence and discipline as evidenced by the
record netincome of $624 million for fiscal 2002-2003. The Bank achieved allits financial objectives and even surpassed several.
Moreover, shareholders enjoyed an excellent return on their investment, with total shareholder return reaching 43% for the year
ended October 31, 2003.

Fiscal 2003-2004: The Bank posted record net income of $725 million for fiscal 2003-2004. In addition, return on common
shareholders’ equity was 18.8% compared to 16.5% in 2003. Each segment contributed to the Bank's results in fiscal 2003-2004.
The increase in the volume of consumer loans for the Retail and Commercial segment was mainly attributable to the contribution
of partnerships. With regard to Wealth Management, stock market transactions grew, as did sales of mutual funds and Private
Investment Management products. For the Financial Markets segment, revenues from Corporate and Investment Banking and
gains on securities largely offset trading activities, demonstrating the soundness of the diversification strategy. Lastly, credit
quality remained excellent, as reflected by the reduction in credit losses and irhpaired loans.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

EFFECTS OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS

In order to minimize environmental risk, several years ago the Bank implemented a procedure setting out its environmental
responsibilities when granting credit and taking possession of assets. To date, the risks involved have not had a material impact
on the Bank’s operations.
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STRUCTURE OF SHARE CAPITAL AND MARKET FOR SECURITIES

Structure of Share Capital
The Bank's share capital consists of common shares and two series of First Preferred Shares, Series 13 and 15.

Stock exchange listings
The common shares of the Bank as well as the First Preferred Shares, Series 13 and 15 and the notes described below are
listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange [the “TSX"].

Issue or Class Ticker Symbot Newspaper Abbreviation
Common Shares NA Nat Bk or Natl Bk
First Preferred Shares

Series 13 NA.PR.J Nat Bk s13 or Natl Bk 13

Series 15 NA.PR.K Nat Bk s15 or Natl Bk 515
Notes .

Nikkei 225 (2009} NANT.J

Nikkei 225 (2007} NANT.K

Common Shares

Holders of common shares of the Bank are entitled to one vote per share. They are entitled to receive dividends, in such amounts and
payable at such times as the directors determine. in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Bank, after payment
to the holders of First Preferred Shares of the amounts described in paragraph 3 under “First Preferred Shares” below, the remaining
property of the Bank will be distributed equally and rateably among the holders of common shares.

First Preferred Shares
The First Preferred Shares, as a class, carry and are subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set out below:

1. lssuance in Series
The First Preferred Shares may be issued in series. The directors may, by resolution, fix the number of shares in, and determine
the respective designations, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions of each series of First Preferred Shares, including the
terms and conditions of redemption, purchase or conversion and sinking fund or purchase fund provisions.

2. Dividends
The holders of First Preferred Shares are entltled to receive dividends in such amounts and payable at such times as the directors
determine. In respect of dividends, the holders of any series of First Preferred Shares have priority over the holders of common
shares or any other class of shares of the Bank ranking junior to the First Preferred Shares. The holders of any series of First
Preferred Shares are not entitled to any dividends other than those expressly provided for in the rights, privileges, restrictions and
conditions attached to such series of First Preferred Shares.

3. Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Bank, before any amount is paid for any property distributed to the
holders of common shares or shares of any other class of shares ranking junior to the First Preferred Shares, the holders of each
series of First Preferred Shares are entitled to receive (i} an amount equal to the price at which such shares were issued, {ii} such
premium, if any, as has been provided for with respect to such series, and [iiil in the case of cumulative First Preferred Shares,
all cumulative accrued and unpaid dividends, and in the case of non-cumulative First Preferred Shares, all non-cumulative dividends
declared and remaining unpaid on and including the date of distribution. After payment to the holders of the First Preferred Shares
of the amounts so payable to them, they may not participate in any further distribution of the property or assets of the Bank.
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4. Voting Rights
The holders of First Preferred Shares do not, as such, have any voting rights for the election of directors of the Bank or for any
other purpose.

Each series of First Preferred Shares has its own set of terms and conditions.

Series 13 [Series J] INA.PR.J)

The First Preferred Shares, Series 13, are redeemable in cash at the Bank’s option, subject to obtaining the consent of the Superintendent
of Financial Institutions (Canada) and upon notice of not more than 60 and not less than 30 days, (il on August 15, 2005 and on the last day
of each period of five years plus one day thereafter [the “conversion date”), in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a price of
$25 per share, plus all declared and unpaid dividends at the date fixed for redemption and, {iil after August 15, 2005, other than on a
conversion date, in whole but not in part, at a price equal to $25.50 per share, plus all declared and unpaid dividends at the date fixed for
redemption; holders of First Preferred Shares, Series 13 are entitled to receive non-cumutative preferential dividends, payable guarterly
in an amount of $0.40 per share for the first five years and variable thereafter.

They are convertible at the holder's option on August 15, 2005, or a subsequent conversion date, into fully paid First Preferred Shares,
Series 14, .

Series 15 [Series K} INA.PR.K) ‘

Subject to obtaining the consent of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions {Canadal, the Bank may, at its option, redeem for cash the
First Preferred Shares, Series 15 on or after May 15, 2008, in whole or in part, at any time at a price equal to $26.00 per share if they are
redeemed prior to May 15, 2009, at $25.75 per share if they are redeemed during the 12 months prior to May 15, 2010, at $25.50 per share
if they are redeemed during the 12 months prior to May 15, 2011, at $25.25 per share if they are redeemed during the 12 months prior to
May 15, 2012, and at $25.00 per share'if they are redeemed on or after May 15, 2012, in each case together with all declared and unpaid
dividends thereon up to the date fixed for redemption.

The holders of First Preferred Shares, Series 15 will be entitled to receive a quarterly non-cumulative preferential cash dividend, as and
when declared by the Board of Directors of the Bank [the “Board”], on the 15th day of February, May, August and November of each year,
at a quarterly rate equal to $0.365625 per share. The first of such dividends was paid on May 15, 2003. It was $0.416712 per share, based
on the closing date of January 31, 2003.

Description of notes listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange

Nikkei 225 Protected Index Notes Due 2009 (NA.NT.J]

The Nikkei 225 Protected Index Notes [the "Notes”] will mature on April 30, 2009 {"Maturity”). As at January 18, 2005, 1,300,000 Notes were
issued at a price of $10 per Note. The Notes may not be called for redemption by the Bank prior to Maturity. At Maturity, each holder of
Notes will receive in respect of each Note held the greater of (a] $10 and (b} the repurchase price {as defined below) which will be computed
by reference to the Nikkei 225 Index. The repurchase price of each Note will be equal to the aggregate of $10 and the amount obtained by
multiplying $10 by 100% of the appreciation rate of the Nikkei 225 Index fram the date of issue to the date of Maturity ([rounded down to the
nearest cent]. No interest will be paid on the Notes, if any, except at Maturity.

Nikkei 225 Protected index Notes Due 2007 {NA.NT.K)
The Nikkei 225 Protected Index Notes {the "Notes”] will mature on March 30, 2007 {"Maturity”). As at January 18, 2005, 1,000,000 Notes

were issued at a price of $10 per Note. The Notes may not be called for redemption by the Bank prior to maturity. At Maturity, each holder
of Notes will receive in respect of each Note held the greater of {a] $10 and (b} the repurchase price (as defined below} which will be
computed by reference to the Nikkei 225 Index. The repurchase price of each Note will be equal to the aggregate of $10 and the amount
obtained by multiplying $10 by 100% of the appreciation rate of the Nikkei 225 Index from the date of issue to the date of Maturity [rounded
down to the nearest cent}. No interest will be paid on the Notes, if any, except at Maturity.




NATIONAL BANK OF CANADA

] Annual Information Form

Monthly prices of securities traded on stock exchanges during
the fiscal year ended October 31, 2004

Deposit and Debenture Ratings

The table below provides the credit ratings assigned to the Bank's

Common Shares {NA)

securities by rating agencies.

Date High {$} Low (3} Volume 1. Moody's Nationat Bank of Canada
2004/10 48.78 43.65 7,902,487 Short-Term P-1
2004/09 44.02 42.31 11,143,587 LT Bank Deposits Al
2004/08 45.20 42.82 5,701,403 LT Debt Senior Al
2004/07 45.09 42.52 7,094,219 LT Debt Subordinated A2
2004/06 4L.84 42.65 8,474,074  lssuer Rating Al
2004/05 45.50 4£2.21 10,491,247  Financial Strength B-
2004/04 47.99 42.72 9,173,737
2004/03 4671 44.59 11,294,031 2. Standard & Poar's
2004/02 45.87 43.40 14,264,231 Short-Term Counterparty A-1
2004/01 45.30 42.41 12,965,044  Long-Term Counterparty A
2003/12 43.48 40.40 12,645,238  Senior Unsecured Debt A
2003/11 42.49 40,03 11,879,657 Subordinated Debt A-
; Commercial Paper {Canadian scale) A-1{Mid}
First Preferred Shares, Series 13 (NA.PR.J] Commercial Paper (Global scale) A-1
Preferred Stock [Canadian scale) P-2 (Highl
Date High [$] Low (§I Volume  Preferred Stock [Global scale) BBB+
2004/10 26.45 2555 165,496
2004/09 26.70 25.75 34,001 3.0BRS
2004/08 26.61 26.25 70,153 Short-Term Instruments R-1 {Low]
2004/07 26.74 26.40 54,156 Deposits & Senior Debt A
2004/06 26.69 26.51 387,360 Subordinated Debt A {Low|
2004/05 26.78 26.28 143,019 Cumulative Preferred Shares Pfd-2
2004/04 27.20 26.25 378,620 Non-Cumulative Preferred Shares Ptd-2n
2004/03 27.35 26.76 125,920
2004/02 27.35 27.01 507.420  LFitchiBCA
2004/01 27.47 26.87 157,905  Short-Term 1
2003/12 27.33 26.96 18,435  Long:Term At
2003/11 27.11 26.70 113,535 Individuat B
Support 2
First Preferred Shares, Series 15 [NA.PR.K] .
The ratings should not be construed as a recommendation to buy, sell
Date High [$] Low ($) Volume or hold Bank securities. Ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time
2004/10 27.00 26.18 110,596 by the rating agencies.
2004/09 26.83 26.17 111,804
2004/08 26.85 26.30 126850 A gefinition of the categories of each rating as at October 31, 2004 has
2004/07 26.70 25.50 93,422 . . . o . )
2004/06 26.00 2550 507,189 been obtained from the respective rating organization's website and is
2004/05 26.15 25.03 320,353  outlinedin Appendix A.
2004/04 27.87 25.25 659,115
2004/03 27.95 27.36 590,974
2004/02 27.85 27.10 118.486
2004/01 27.33 26.65 107.244
2003/12 27.49 26.41 92,832
2003/1 26.97 26.47 86,255
NIKKE! 225 NOTE (2009) (NA.NT. J]
Date High $] Low (4} Volume
2004/10 8.38 8.31 2,100
2004/0% 8.35 8.15 6,946
2004/08 8.25 8.25 1,300
NIKKEI 225 NOTE {2007} [NA.NT.K]
Date Righ ($1 Low ($) Volume
2004/10 9.26 9.15 3,700
2004/09 9.20 9.05 19,400
2004/08 9.16 9.16 500
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Number of Shareholders

As at October 31, 2004, there were 26,961 registered holders of common shares listed with the Registrar.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

DIRECTORS

Since November 1, 1999, the directors whose names appear on page 134 of the Annual Report have held the principal functions
described in the "Election of Directors” section of the Circular and in the Management Proxy Circular dated January 22, 2004.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Since November 1, 1999, the officers mentioned on pages 137 and 138 of the Annual Report have held various management,
executive or senior executive positions at the Bank, with the exception of the following:

Guy Benoit:
Jean Blouin:

Jean-Francois Bureau:

Linda Caty:
Rene Collette:
Eric Girard:
Marc Godin:
Jacynthe Hotte:

Lynn Jeanniot:
Alice Keung:

Olivier H. Lecat:

Benoit Marcotte:

Jacques Naud:
Luc Papineau:
Ricarde Pascoe:

Greg A. Reed:
Chantale Reid:

Kevin Smith:

from 1998 to 2003, Vice-President - Central District, TD Bank Financial Group

from 1998 to 2000, Manager - Investment and Interest Rate Department, Fédération des caisses Desjardins
du Québec .

from 1996 to 2001, Vice-President ~ Corporate Finance, Le Groupe Vidéotron Ltée; from 2001 to 2002,
Vice-President - Mezzanine Loans and Investments, EdgeStone Capital Partners; from 2002-2003,
Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer, Cable Satisfaction International Inc.

from 1998 to 2003, Vice-President and Corporate Secretary, National Bank of Canada; from 2003 to
2004, Corporate Secretary, BCE Inc.

from 1994 to 2000, Account Manager, New Brunswick, Royal Bank of Canada

from 1998 to 2000, Chief Trader, Financiat Engineering Group, National Bank Financiat

from 1997 to 2000, Chief Financial Officer, Western Europe, Telesystem Ltd.; from 2000 to 2001, Partner,
IUGO Venture Inc.; and from 2001 to 2003, President, Marc Godin & Associés Inc.

from 1997 to 2002, Assistant Vice-President ~ Corporate Banking, National Bank of Canada; in 2002,
Managing Director, Bank Financing, National Bank Financial

from 1998 to 2002, Executive Director, Institute of Canadian Bankers

from 1999 to 2000, Senior Director —'Commercial Business Units, Information Technology, Air Canada;
and from 2000 to 2003, Vice-President - information Technology and Chief Information Officer, Air Canada
from 1997 to 2001, Vice-President - Corporate and Investment Banking, Internal Audit Services, Royal Bank
from 1994 to 2003, Senior Vice-President - Sales Management and Network Administration, National
Bank Financiat

from 1996 to 2000, Regional Manager, Bank of Montreal

from 1998 to 2001, Vice-President and Branch Manager, Merrill Lynch Canada Inc.

from 1996 to 2000, Managing Partner, Veritas Capital Management LLC, Greenwich, CT; from 2000 to
2002, Executive General Manager - Americas, Commerzbank Capital Markets Corp., New York and
Global Head of Fixed Income Trading and Global Head of Alternative investment Strategies, Commerzbank
Securities; and from 2002 to 2003, Globat Head of Markets, Commerzbank Securities, London, England
from 1997 to 2002, Director, McKinsey & Company; and from 2002 to 2003, Senior Director,
McKinsey & Company

from 1998 to 2001, MBA student and self-employed consultant; and from 2001 to 2002, Vice-President -
Operations, MédiSolution Ltée '

from 1997 to 2001, Vice-President - Human Resources, GATX Rail Canada; and from 2001 to 2004,
Manager - Employee Relations, Air Canada
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The Directors and Executive Gfficers of the Bank as a group beneficially own less than 1% of the outstanding common shares
of the Bank.

CEASE TRADE ORDERS OR BANKRUPTCIES

To the knowledge of the Bank, no officer mentioned on pages 137 and 138 of the Annual Report of the Bank and no director
mentioned on page 134 of the Annual Report of the Bank has been, in the 10 years prior to the date of this Annual Information
Form, a director or an officer of any other company, that while that person was acting in that capacity, (al was the subject of a
cease trade or simitar order or an order that denied it access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more
than 30 consecutive days, or {b] became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency,
or became subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver-
manager or trustee appointed to hold assets of the director or officer, except for:

e Marcel Dutil, a director of the Bank, who was on the board of directors of Total Containment Inc. when it was placed under
the protection of Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on March 4, 2004; and

¢ E.A {Dee) Parkinson-Marcoux, a director of the Bank until December 17, 2004, who was on the board of Southern Pacific
Petroleum when it was placed in receivership in December 2003.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

National Bank Trust Inc.

Share Qwnership Management

1100 University, 9th Floor

Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 2G7

Telephone: 1-800-341-1419
{514)871-7171

Fax: (514} 871-7442

For any correspondence:
National Bank Trust Inc.
Share Ownership Management

P.0. Box 888, Station B
Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 9Z9

INTEREST OF EXPERTS

Samson Bélair/Deloitte & Touche, S.E.N.C.R.L. are the auditors whe prepared the Auditors’ Report and the report on Canadian
generally accepted audit standards.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ITS COMMITTEES

The main duty of the Board is to oversee the management of the Bank, safeguard its assets, and ensure its viability, profitabitity and
development. To do so, it is assisted by three committees: the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Conduct Review and
Corporate Governance Committee, and the Human Resources Committee.

A summary of the mandate of the Board and its three committees is included in the Circular in the “Corporate Governance” section.
in addition, the mandates of the Board and of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are reproduced below in their entirety.
These mandates may be amended from time to time without prior notice. Consequently, we invite you to contact the Corporate
Secretary’s Office of the Bank at 600 de La Gauchetiére West, 4th Floor, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4L2 in order to obtain the
most recent version of these mandates.

The composition of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the description of the financial expertise of its members and a
summary of the policies and procedures for awarding contracts for non-audit services offered by the external auditors are presented
in the "Corporate Governance™ section of the Circular. Moreover, the breakdown of the fees by category for the services offered by
the external auditors is presented under the “Auditor Fees” section of the Circular.

Mandate of the Board
“1.  Composition and Characteristics of the Board

1.1 The Board of Directors is composed of directors who possess extensive complementary knowtedge, competencies and
skills, as well as retevant expertise enabling them to make an active, informed and profitable contribution to the management
of the Bank, the conduct of its business and the orientation of its development.

1.2 Directors have the necessary time and interest to perform their duties effectively.

13 Directors act with integrity and exercise impartial judgment in performing their duties and fulfilling their responsibilities.
Directors are bound by the provisions of the Code of Professional Conduct and other rules of ethics applicable to directors,
officers and employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries.

2. Independence of the Board

21 A majority of the members of the Board are directors who are not persons affiliated with the Bank, within the
meaning of the Bank Act (hereinafter the "Act”] and are "unrelated directors” within the meaning of the applicable
guidelines of the TSX.

2.2 The Board, either directly or through one of its committees, adopts structures and procedures to ensure the Board
functions independently of management.

23 Directors are required to disclose any conflict of interest to the Chairman of the Board or to the Chair of the Conduct
Review and Corporate Governance Committee.

3. Duties and Responsibilities
The Board of Directors oversees the management of the Bank either directly or through its committees, The responsibility of
the Board is to safeguard the assets of the Bank, ensure.its viability, profitability, sustainability and development, and obtain
assurance that a control environment exists. The Board assigns responsibility for managing and directing the operations of the
Bank to management. The Board expressly assumes the fallowing functions:

Strateqic Planning Process

3.1 Review, discuss and approve pericdically the strategic plan through which the Bank establishes its mission, vision,
business objectives and strategy, taking into account the opportunities and risks for the Bank, as well as the business
plans relating to the main operations of the Bank. '’

3.2 Review and approve the business plans relating to the Bank's main operations and update them regularly to ensure they
remain appropriate and prudent given the Bank's éconor‘ni'c"and business environment, its resources and its results.

3.3 Review the Bank’s actual operating and financial results in relation to projected results based on its business objectives,
its strategic plan and its business plans.

3.4 Review and approve operating budgets.
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Assessing Risks

3.5 Review and approve the overall risk philosophy and risk tolerance of the Bank, recognize and understand the major risks
to which the Bank is exposed and ensure that appropriate systems are set up for effective management of those risks.

3.6 Require that management report on the major risks to which the Bank is exposed, the integrity of procedures and controts
to manage those risks and the overall effectiveness of the risk management process.

3.7 Require that management adopt a process aimed at determining the Bank’s appropriate level of capital in terms of the
risks assumed. . .

3.8 Discuss and approve all the major policies of the Bank, particularly the rules pertaining to the acceptance, oversight,
management and reporting of material risks to which the Bank is exposed as well as changes thereto with respect to
risk management.

3.9 Approve the declarations and reports relating to compliance with Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation {CDIC) Standards
of Sound Business and Financial Practices or any declaration required by other regulatory authorities.

Description of the Functions of the Chairman of the Board
3.10  Approve the description of the functions of the Chairman of the Board without directors who are members of management
and the Chairman of the Board being present.

Succession Planning and Remuneration for Directors

3.11  Approve the appointment of any new nominee for election as director, review and approve directors’ remuneration, the
form of remuneration, and the allowances given to directors, and take charge of the succession planning process for the
Board of Directors.

Assessing the Effectiveness of the Board of Birectors
312 Assess the effectiveness of the Board and of its committees, based on a pracess implemented by the Conduct Review
and Corporate Governance Committee,

Succession Planning for Senior Management

313 Select and evaluate the President and Chief Executive Officer, set his compensation, and ensure succession planning.

3.14  Approve the appointment of qualified and competent members of senior management, set their compensation, ensure
their training and development, and plan their succession..

Hiring of Outside Advisors )
3.15  The Board of Directors can retain the services of outside advisors, at the Bank's expense.

External Auditors :
3.16  Recommend to the shareholders the appointment of the external auditors and approve their remuneration.

Communication and Disclosure
3.17  Approve policies on the communication and disclosure of information to shareholders, investors and the general public.
3.18  Ensure that measures are in place to receive feedback from Bank shareholders.

Integrity and Ethics
3.19  Ensure that the rules of conduct and ethics are maintained, in particular by adopting a code of professional conduct for

directors, officers and employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries and ensure that the Bank has an ongoing, appropriate
and effective process to guarantee compliance with these rules.

3.20 Require that management set up a compliance program to ensure that the Bank complies with the Act, applicable
regulations and any other obligations.

Material Transactions

3.21  Discussand approve any activity, contract or agreement of any nature whatsoever which is not compatible with the Bank’s
mission or does not fall within its normal course of business.

3.22  Review and approve policies with respect to major initiatives and activities.
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Related Party Transactions
3.23  Approve any related party transaction under section 497 of the Act which would cause the aggregate of loans and
guarantees granted by the Bank or its subsidiaries to such related party to exceed 2% of the Bank's regulatory capital.

Governance of Major Subsidiaries

3.24  Discuss and determine the structure and general corporate governance principles applicable to the Bank's major
subsidiaries in order to enhance the effectiveness of the oversight carried out by the Bank's Board of Directors.

3.25  Ensure that procedures are in place for communication between the boards and committees of the Bank's main subsidiaries
and those of the Bank.

Exclusive Powers
3.26  Approve all matters that the Act assigns exclusively to directors, in particular the approval of dividends and procedures
to resolve conflicts of interest.

Residual Powers
3.27  Assume any responsibility not delegated to management.

Board Committees

Types of Committees

4.1 The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Bank and may set up the appropriate committees to
assist it in this role.

4.2 The Board may review the types of committees from time to time, appoint members thereto, delegate the appropriate
powers thereof and approve the mandate therefor. .

Composition

43  The Board committees are composed of directors who are not members of management.

4.4 Candidates who have been Board members for at least one year are eligible to sit on a committee, unless otherwise
decided by the Board of Directors.

Committee Mandates o .

4.5 Each Board committee has a mandate describing the role and responsibilities of the committee which is approved by the
Board of Directors.

4.6 The mandates define the responsibilities of the committees and determine whether the committees are to make decisions
or formulate recommendations to the Board.

Minutes of Committees
4.7 Each Board committee records the minutes of each committee meeting, which are subseguently made available
to the Board.

Ad Hoc or Special Committees
48  The Board may, from time to time, set up appropriate ad hoc committees.

Expectations of the Board Regarding Management

Duty to Report

5.1 Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Bank’s operations pursuant to the powers delegated
by the Board and in accordance with the laws and regulations applicable to the Bank.

5.2 Management facilitates the Board's oversight role regarding the business operations and internal administration of the
Bank by submitting accurate, complete, relevant and timely information and reports to the members of the Board.
Management must report to the Board by providing informed opinions regarding, for example, the Bank’s main objectives,
strategies, plans and policies.” '
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Mandate of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

9.

(1]

Missjon
1.1 The Audit and Risk Management Committee {the “Committee”] assists the Board of Directors by:
al  reviewing financial statements, processes for presenting and disclosing financial information, internal controls, audit
processes and management information systems in order to determine their integrity and effectiveness;
bl  acting as intermediary between the Board of Directors and the independent oversight functions finternal and external
audit and compliancel; and
¢} carrying out a detailed review of risk management and the control methods used therefor.
1.2 The external auditors of the Bank are required to report directly to the Committee and to submit reports to the Board of
Directors and to the Committee as representatives of the shareholders.
1.3 The Committee fulfills its responsibilities in place of the Board and the shareholders by assuming the functions set out in
section 10 hereof.

Composition

2.1 The Committee is composed of no less than three members appointed annually by the Board of Directors from among the
directors of the Bank. ,

2.2 Amajority of the members of the Committee are directors who are not persons affiliated with the Bank within the meaning
of the Bank Act {hereinafter "BA") and all are "unrelated directors” within the meaning of the rules of the Toronto Stock
Exchange {"TSX").

2.3 Eachof the members of the Committee is “independent” in accordance with Regulation 52-110 Respecting Audit Committees
("52-1107).

2.4 No officer or employee of the Bank or of a subsidiary of the Bank may be a member of the Committee.

2.5 Each of the Committee members is “financially literate” within the meaning of 52-110!%, and at least one member has
“accounting or related financial expertise” within the meaning of the TSX rules(2.

Chair

3.1 The Chair of the Committee is designated by the Board of Directors. If the designated Chair is unable to chair a meeting of
the Committee, said Committee selects one of the members of the Committee present to act as Chair for that meeting.

3.2 Any member who has sat on the Committee for two years is eligible to become the Chair, unless otherwise decided by the
Board of Directors.

3.3 The term of a Committee member appointed Chair of the Committee may not exceed four years, unless otherwise decided
by the Board of Directors.

3.4 The Chair of the Committee may ask the Chairman of the Board fo have certain matters for which the Committee is
responsible discussed at meetings of the Board of Directors.

Secretary
4.1 The Secretary of the Bank, an Assistant Secretary or any other person designated by the Secretary acts as Secretary of the
Committee.

Meetings and Calling of Meetings

5.1 Meetings of the Committee are held on the date and at the time and place set by the Board of Directors, and the members
of the Committee are informed thereof annually and in writing, with no further notice required.

5.2 Anunscheduled meeting may be called at any time by the Chair of the Committee, the Chairman of the Board, the President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank, one of the members of the Commiittee, the Senior Vice-President - Risk Management,
the external auditors as well as the chief internal auditor.

Anotice specifying the purpose, place, date and time of each unscheduled meeting shall be sent to each of the Committee
members by mail or by any other means of telephonic or electronic communication no tess than 24 hours prior to the time
and date set for the meeting. ; S

According to 52-110, “financially literate” means the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and
level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be
expected to be raised by the Bank's financial statements.

According to TSX rules, "accounting or related financial expertise is the ability to anatyze and interpret a full set of financial statements including
the notes attached thereto, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
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Unscheduled meetings of the Committee may be held without notice, when all the members of the Committee are present
or when members who are absent waive in writing the notice of such meeting.

5.3 Meetings of the Committee may be held by telephone or any other means which enables all participants to communicate
with each other adequately and simultaneously. Persons participating in a meeting by telephone or by any other means of
communication are deemed to have attended that meeting.

5.4 The external auditors are entitled to receive the notices calling meetings of the Committee, to attend the audit and risk
management portions thereof and to be heard at such meetings.

5.5 The Committee may call a meeting of the Board of Directors to consider any matters that are of concern to the Committee.

5.6 The Committee members may meet in camera, as needed, under the direction of the Chair of the Committee.

Quorum

6.1 A majority of the Committee members constitutes a quorum.

6.2 Quorum shall exist for the entire meeting so that the Committee members may legitimately deliberate and make a decision.
However, any director who is not present at any particular time during the meeting for the purposes of subsection 203(1)
BA (disclosure of interest]) shall be considered as attending for the purposes of quorum.

6.3 Subjecttosections 6.1 and 6.2 above, the decisions made by the Committee concerning matters submitted for its consideration
shall be made by a majority vote of the members present.

Minutes

7.1 The minutes of each meeting of the Committee are entered by the Secretary in a register specially held for such purpose.

7.2 The minutes of each meeting of the Committee, duly approved by the Committee, are attached to the agenda of a subsequent
meeting of the Board of Directors, for information.

7.3 The Chair of the Committee makes an oral report on the deliberations of each meeting at a subsequent meeting of the
Board of Directors.

Vacancy
8.1 Avacancy on the Committee is filled by the Board of Directors as it deems appropriate. Faiture to fill a vacancy does not
invalidate the decisions of the Committee, provided there is a quorum.

Hiring of Outside Advisors

2.1 The Committee has the following powers:
al toengage independent legal counsel or other advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties;
b)  tosetand pay the compensation for any advisors employed by the Committee; and
¢} to communicate directly with the internal and external auditors.

Functions and Responsibilities
The functions of the Committee are as follows:
10.1 Audit

Internat Controt

10.1.1 Review, on an annual basis, the mandate of the internal audit function and ensure that it has the necessary
resources to fulfill its mandate and the responsibilities established.

10.1.2  Require management to implement and maintain appropriate internal control procedures; review, evaluate and
approve those procedures. o ' '

10.1.3  Reviewthe effectiveness of the internal cqr'wt'rol policies and procedures of the Bank with the Senior Vice-President
- Internal Audit or any officer or employee of the Bank acting in a similar capacity.

10.1.4  Review the internal auditors’ reports on a guarterly or annual basis. Ensure that the necessary measures are
taken to follow up the suggestions resulting from such report(s).

10.1.5  Take cognizance of the recommendations of management of the Bank with respect to the appointment or dismissat
of the Senior Vice-President - Internal Audit or any officer or employee of the Bank acting in a similar capacity,
and make the appropriate recommendations to the Board thereon.

10.1.6  Review and approve the annual internal audit plan and ensure the independence and effectiveness of this function.

10.1.7 Require that the internal audit function be free of all influences that might adversely affect its ability to assume
its responsibilities in an objective manner.

10.1.8  Ensure cooperation between the internal and external auditors of the Bank.

10.1.9  Meet with the Senior Vice-President - Internal Audit of the Bank without management being present.
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10.1.10

10.1.11

10.1.12
10.1.13
10.1.14
10.1.15
10.1.16
10.1.17

10.1.18
10.1.19

10.1.20

10.1.21

Review any document specified by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions and the recommendations made
by regulatory authorities or the internal or external auditors and report thereon to the Board of Directors.

External Auditors

Be directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditors engaged for the purpose of preparing or
issuing an auditor's report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Bank, including the resolution
of disagreements between management and the external auditors regarding financial reporting.

Make recommendations to the Board of Directors of the Bank regarding the appointment of external auditors
and their remuneration.

Review and discuss the written report prepared by the external auditors detailing all factors that might have an
impact on their independence and objectivity; recommend measures to be taken by the Board of Directors to
ensure the independence of the external auditors.

Review the nature and scope of the work of the externat auditors for the Bank as well as their remuneration.
Meet with the external auditors and management to discuss the annual financial statements, the documents
required by the Superintendent or transactions that could adversely affect the financial well-being of the Bank.
Discuss with the external auditors the quality and acceptability of the accounting principles applied in financial
reports. o B

Review the annual management letter on internal control from the external auditors of the Bank and ensure that
measures subsequently taken by management are followed up.

Meet regularly with the external auditors of the Bank without management being present.

Assess the overall performance of the externat auditors, including all audit and non-audit services, and analyze
the impact of such services on the independence of the auditors.

Pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Bank or its subsidiary entities by the external auditors,
unless it has adopted specific policies and procedures to retain non-audit services and the following conditions
have been met:

al  the policies and procedures for pre-approval are detailed as to the targeted services;

bl the Committee is informed of each non-audit service; and

¢)  the procedures do not involve the delegation to management of Committee responsibilities.

Review and approve the hiring policies of the Bank with regard to partners, employees and former partners and
employees of the present and former external auditors of the Bank.

Financial Reporting and Analysis

10.1.22

10.1.23

10.1.24

10.1.25

10.1.26

10.1.27

10.1.28

10.1.29

10.1.30

Review, on an annuat basis, the mandate of the financial analysis function and ensure that it has the resources
needed to carry out its mandate and the responsibilities established.

Review the quarterly and annual consolidated financial statements of the Bank, the corresponding Management's
Discussion and Analysis and relevant news releases, and recommend approval thereof to the Board of Directors
of the Bank prior to their publication. Review the unaudited financial statements of certain subsidiaries.

Review allinvestments and transactions that could adversely affect the financial well-being of the Bank, particularly
when brought to its attention by the external auditors or management.

Review and recommend to the Board of Directors the approval of information documents containing earnings
guidance or audited or unaudited financiat information, notably the annual information form and news releases
for the publication of quarterly and annual consolidated financial statements of the Bank.

Periodically ensure that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Bank's public disclosure of financial
information. .

Obtain from management information about material changes introduced by organizations such as stock exchanges
or the Canadian Securities Administrators.and changes made to accounting principles and standards which could
have an impact on the preparation and/or disclosure of the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries
and inform the Board of Directors accordingly, if applicable.

Review management’s report on any dispute, notice of assessment or any other claim of a similar nature which
could have a material impact on the financial position of the Bank and ensure that such material claims are
properly disclosed in the financial statements.

Meet with representatives of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial institutions at the request of that
organization and report to the Board of Directors.

Take cognizance of the minutes of the meetings of the Audit Committee of National Bank Financial Inc. and, if
necessary, of any other Bank subsidiary with an audit committee.
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Corporate Compliance

10.1.31  Review, onan annual basis, the mandate of the corporate compliance function and ensure that it has the resources
needed to carry out its mandate and the responsibilities established.

10.1.32  Review management's annual report on the Bank's level of compliance with the BA, applicable regulations and
any other obligations, and recommend approvat thereof to the Board.

10.1.33  Review the annual report of the corporate compliance function on compliance at the Bank's subsidiaries.

10.2 Risk Management

10.21  Review, on an annual basis, the mandate of the risk management function and ensure that it has the resources
needed to carry out its mandate and the responsibilities established.

10.2.2  Review the declarations and reports regarding compliance with the CDIC Standards of Sound Business and
Financial Practices or any other declaration reqmred by other regulatoryauthormes and recommend the approval
thereof to the Board of Directors.

10.2.3  Require management to report to the Committee on the existence of a control environmenti3 at the Bank that
supports appropriate, effective and prudent management of its operations and of the risks to which it is exposed
and that contributes to the achievement of its. business objectives. Report thereon to the Board of Directors.

10.2.4  Require management to report to the Committee on the fact that the Bank is “in control,” namely, that its operations
are managed in accordance with strategic, risk, capital, liquidity and funding management processes; that such
processes are carried out in a control envifonment; that major problems are identified; and that the Bank takes
timely action to address them. Report thereon to the Board of Directors.

Risk Management
10.2.5  Identify the material risks to which the Bank is exposed.

10.2.6 Ensure that the risk management function has sufficient independence, status and visibility, and that it is reviewed
periodically. '

10.2.7  Review and recommend to the Board of Directors the adoption of policies for managing material risks, notably
policies related to credit risk, market risk, structurat risk, fiduciary risk and operational risk including outsourcing
risk, and ensure that they are implemented. Review these policies at least once a year.

10.28  Require management to report to the Committee on the existence at the Bank of a process for proactively detecting,
assessing and managing material risks and on compliance with policies and control measures. Report thereon
to the Board of Directors.

Capital, Liquidity and Funding Management

10.2.9 ldentify the Bank's capital, liquidity and fundmg needs.

10.2.10  Review and recommend to the Board of Directors the adoption of liguidity and funding management and capital
management policies. Review these policies at least once a year.

10.2.11  Require management to report to the Committee on the existence at the Bank of capital, liquidity and funding
management processes and on compliance with policies and control measures. Report thereon to the Board
of Directors. ’

Credit

10.2.12  Subject tosubsection 10.2.14 below, approx/e the credits of clients, by borrower and by group of borrowers, which
exceed the powers delegated to Bank 0ff|cers and which are defined in the credit risk management policies of
the Bank.

10.2.13  Review and recommend to the Board of Dlrectors subject to the provisions set out in section 497 BAl4), any
transaction between the Bank and a related party as defined in the BA, except transactions of nominal or immaterial
value, personal loans, mortgage loans, lines of credit and financial services granted to officers, as set out in the
Conditions of loans and financial services applicable to transactions with senior officers and their related parties which
forms an integral part of the Policy Governing the Management and Monitoring of National Bank of Canada Related
Party Transactions.

Control environment: The environment that results from the following factors: approach to governance, management style, organizational
structure, resource commitments, communication style, procedures and controls and the level of adherence thereto, the conduct of personnel,

and human resource policies and practices.

Any transaction with a related party must be approved by the Board of Directors.if such transaction results in increasing the aggregate loan

and guarantees granted by the Bank or its subsidiaries to a related party to more than 2% of the regulatory capital of the Bank.
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10.2.14  Review changes in impaired loans, ensure that they are monitored and approve the taking of provisions for any
impaired loans, according to the rules established in the Credit Risk Management Policy of the Bank.

10.2.15  Approve the uncommitted credit facilities of financial institutions, governments, corporations and other
similar Canadian or foreign borrowers, arranged by the Bank for internal control, which exceed the loaning
limits of Bank officers.

10.2.16  Receive reports analyzing the economic situation of a given sector of activity in which the Bank has a certain
exposure and review portfolio Limits in this sector of activity on the basis of management’s recommendations,

10.2.17 Receive and examine the quarterly reports of the Bank on loan losses and non-performing loans.

10.3 Varia

10.3.1 Establish a policy and procedures for (i] the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Bank
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and [iil the confidential, anonymous
submission by employees of the Bank of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

10.3.2  Actasanaudit and risk management committee for Natcan Trust Company or, if necessary, for any other subsidiary
of the Bank where allowed under its incorporating act, and exercise all the duties incumbent upon such committee
in accordance with the Trust and Loan Companies Act or any other applicable legislative or regulatory provision.

10.33  Exercise any other duty assigned to it by the Board of Directors and submit to it the recommendations it deems
appropriate with respect to matters which fall within its purview.”

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information on the Bank is available on its website at www.nbc.ca and on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com.
Financial information on the Bank appears in the consolidated financial statements and in Management's Discussion and
Analysis for the most recently completed fiscal year.

The Bank undertakes to provide to any person, upan request, a copy of the Annual Infarmation Form tagether with a copy of
any document incorporated therein by reference, a copy of the annual consolidated statements for the fiscal year ended October 31,
2004 together with the accompanying auditors’ report, a copy of any subsequent quarterly report, a copy of the Circular in
respect of its most recent Annual Meeting of Shareholders that involved the election of directors, and a copy of any document
that is incorporated by reference into a preliminary short form prospectus or a short form prospectus whenever the securities
of the Bank are part of a distribution. The Circular dated December 29, 2004 enclosed with the Notice of the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders dated January 13, 2005 for the meeting scheduled for March 2, 2005 contains additional information such as the
remuneration and indebtedness of directors and executive officers, the principat holders of Bank shares and stock options.
Copies of these documents may be obtained upon request from the Corporate Secretary’s Office of the Bank, 600 de La Gauchetiére
West, 4th Floor, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4L.2.
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APPENDIX A - RATING DEFINITIONS

1. Moody's

Short Term - P-1 ' . S
Issuers [or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 have a superior ability
to repay short-term debt obligations.

LT Debt Senior - A1
Al debts are judged to be of high quality by all standards.

LT Debt Subordinated - A2

Banks rated A possess exceptional intrinsic financial strength. Typically,
they will be major institutions with highly valuable and defensible
business franchises, strong financial fundamentals, and a very attractive
and stable operating environment,

LT Bank Deposits - Rating A1

Banks rated A for deposits offer good credit quality. However, elements
may be present that suggest a susceptibility to impairment over the
long term.

Financial Strength - Rating B-

Banks rated B possess strong intrinsic financial strength. Typically,
they will be institutions with valuable and defensible business franchises,
good financial fundamentals, and a predictable and stable operating
environment.

A "-" modifier will be appended to ratings above the "E” category to
distinguish those banks that fall in intermediate categories.

Issuer Ratings A1

Determines the ability of the Bank to honour senior unsecured financial
obligations and contracts. Obligations rated A are considered upper-
medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.

Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating
classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 1 indicates that the
obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the
modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates
aranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.

2. Standard & Poor's

Aand A-

An obligation rated "A" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse
effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than
obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obtigor's capacity
to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is still strong.

P-2 [High] corresponds to BBB+

An obligation rated "BBB" exhibits adequate protection parameters.
However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are
more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its
financial commitment on the obligation.

A-1

A short-term obligation rated "A-1" is rated in the highest category by
Standard & Poor's. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial
commitment on the obligation is strong.

Ptus [+] or minus (-} :
The ratings from "AA" to "CCC” may be modified by the addition of a
plus or minus sign to show relative standing within the major rating
categories.

A-1.(Mid]

Short-term cbligations rated "A-1 (Mid)" reflect a strong capacity for
the abligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.
Obligations rated “A-1 (Mid])" on the Canadian commercial paper rating
scale would qualify for a rating of "A-1" on Standard & Poor's global
short-term rating scale.

3. DBRS

R-1{Low}

The DBRS short-term debt rating is meant to give an indication of the
risk that a borrower wilk not fulfill its near-term obligations in a timely
manner. Every DBRS rating is based on quantitative considerations
relevant to the borrowing entity. Each rating category is denoted by the
subcategories “high,” "middle” and “{ow.”

Short term rated R-1 (Low] is of satisfactory credit quality. The overall
strength and outlook for key liguidity, debt and profitability ratios is not
normally as favourable as with higher rating categories, but these
considerations are still respectable. Any qualifying negative factors that
exist are considered manageable, and the entity is normally of sufficient
size to have some influence in the industry.

Aand A {Low}

The DBRS long-term rating scales meant to give an indication of the
risk that a borrower will not fulfitl its full cbligations in a timely manner,
with respect to both interest and principal commitments. Every DBRS
rating is based on quantitative and qualitative considerations relevant
to the borrowing entity. Each rating category is denoted by the
subcategories “high” and “low.” The absence of either 2 "high” or "tow”
designation indicates the rating is in the "middle” of the category. The
AAA and D categories do not utilize "high,” "middle” and “low"” as
different grades.

Long-term rated A is satisfactory credit quality. Protection of interest
and principalis still substantial, but the degree of strength is less than
that of AA rated entities. While "A”" is a respectable rating, entities in
this category are considered to be more susceptible to adverse economic
conditions and have greater cyclical tendencies than higher-rated
securities,

Pfd-2 and Pfd-2n

The OBRS preferred share rating scale is used in the Canadian securities
market and is meant to give an indicatian of the risk that a borrower
will not fulfill its full obligations in a timely manner, with respect to
both dividend and principal commitments. Every DBRS rating is based
on quantitative and qualitative considerations relevant to the borrowing
entity. Each rating category is denoted by the subcategories "high” and
“low.” The absence of either a "high” or "low" designation indicates the
rating is in the "middle” of the category.

Preferred shares rated Pfd-2 are satisfactory credit quality. Protection
of dividends and principal is still substantial, but earnings, the balance
sheet, and coverage ratios are not as strong as Pfd-1 rated companies.
Generally, Pfd-2 ratings correspond with companies whose senior
bonds are rated in the A category.

The "n” designation will be attached to all ratings for securities that
are non-cumulative. DBRS believes that the risk added under the non-
cumulative covenant is a market risk and not a credit risk. This supports
the DBRS view that ratings on equally ranking cumulative and non-
cumulative securities should be the same, with the "n” used to alert
subscribers to the additional potential for missed dividend payments
that exist with non-cumulative issues, if default should occur.

(@]
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4. Fitch

Short term '
A short term rating has a time horizon of less than 12 months for most
obligations or up to three years for U.S. public finance securities, and
thus places greater emphasis on the liquidity necessary to meet
commitments in a timely manner. International credit ratings assess
the capacity to meet foreign or local currency commitments. Both
foreign and local currency ratings are internationally comparable
assessments,

Shortterm F1
Highest credit quality. Indicates the strongest capacity for timely payment
of financial commitments.

Long term

International credit ratings assess the capacity to meet foreign or local
currency commitments. Both foreign and tocal currency ratings are
internationally comparable assessments.

A

High credit quality. "A" rating denotes a low expectation of credit risk.
The capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is considered
strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to changes
in circumstances or in economic conditions than is the case for higher
ratings.

individual

Individual ratings are assigned only to banks. These ratings, which are
internationally comparable, attempt to assess how a bank would be
viewed if it were entirely independent and could not rely on externat
support. These ratings are designed to assess a bank's exposure to,
appetite for, and management of risk, and thus represent our view on
the likelihood that it would run into significant difficulties such that it
would require support. -

The principal factors we analyze to evaluate the bank and determine
these ratings include profitability and balance sheet integrity lincluding
capitalization}, franchise, management, operating environment, and
prospects. Finally, consistency is an important consideration, as is a
bank's size (in terms of equity capital] and diversification {in terms of
involvement in a variety of activities in different economic and
geographicat sectors).

B

The "B" rating denotes a strong bank. There are no major concerns
regarding the bank. Characteristics may include strong profitability and
balance sheet integrity, franchise, management, operating environment
or prospects.

Support

2

The "2" rating denotes a bank for which there is a high probability of
external support. The potential provider of supportis highly rated in its
own right and has a high propensity to provide support to the bank in
guestion. This probability of support indicates a minimum t{ong-term
rating floor of "BBB-."




